Lecture Notes in Chemistry 80

# Yasushi Nishihara Editor

# Applied Cross-Coupling Reactions



# Lecture Notes in Chemistry

### Volume 80

Series Editors

B. Carpenter, Cardiff, UK
P. Ceroni, Bologna, Italy
B. Kirchner, Leipzig, Germany
A. Koskinen, Helsinki, Finland
K. Landfester, Mainz, Germany
J. Leszczynski, Jackson, MS, USA
T-Y. Luh, Taipei, Taiwan
C. Mahlke, Erlangen, Germany
R. Salzer, Dresden, Germany
N. C. Polfer, Germany

For further volumes: http://www.springer.com/series/632

#### The Lecture Notes in Chemistry

The series Lecture Notes in Chemistry (LNC) reports new developments in chemistry and molecular science–quickly and informally, but with a high quality and the explicit aim to summarize and communicate current knowledge for teaching and training purposes. Books published in this series are conceived as bridging material between advanced graduate textbooks and the forefront of research. They will serve the following purposes:

- provide an accessible introduction to the field to postgraduate students and nonspecialist researchers from related areas,
- provide a source of advanced teaching material for specialized seminars, courses and schools, and
- be readily accessible in print and online.

The series covers all established fields of chemistry such as analytical chemistry, organic chemistry, inorganic chemistry, physical chemistry including electrochemistry, theoretical and computational chemistry, industrial chemistry, and catalysis. It is also a particularly suitable forum for volumes addressing the interfaces of chemistry with other disciplines, such as biology, medicine, physics, engineering, materials science including polymer and nanoscience, or earth and environmental science.

Both authored and edited volumes will be considered for publication. Edited volumes should however consist of a very limited number of contributions only. Proceedings will not be considered for LNC.

The year 2010 marks the relaunch of LNC.

Yasushi Nishihara Editor

# Applied Cross-Coupling Reactions



*Editor* Yasushi Nishihara Department of Chemistry Okayama University Okayama Japan

Library of Congress Control Number: 2012947063

#### © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. Exempted from this legal reservation are brief excerpts in connection with reviews or scholarly analysis or material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the Copyright Law of the Publisher's location, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Permissions for use may be obtained through RightsLink at the Copyright Clearance Center. Violations are liable to prosecution under the respective Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

## Preface

The cross-coupling reactions, developed for the first time in the 1970s, were acknowledged by the award of the Nobel Prize in Chemistry to three researchers in December, 2010. These cross-coupling reactions have been developed remarkably over the past 40 years vis-à-vis a variety of transition metal catalysts, organome-tallic reagents, and organic halides. They have enabled the formation of carbon–carbon bonds between unsaturated organic compounds, which is the fundamental framework of organic synthesis. It has become possible to produce extremely complex molecules through the development of the cross-coupling reactions, and as a result, highly selective carbon–carbon-bonding reactions have been achieved.

The large number of publications concerning cross-coupling is continually increasing. The kinds of transition metals used as catalysts, and the organometallic reagents used as coupling partners have also widely expanded in recent years. It has become possible to form a variety of very specific types of carbon–carbon bonds through appropriate selection of the reagents.

Although there are numerous books and reviews on the cross-coupling reactions, until now most of these books have been mainly categorized according to the eponymous (named) reactions. The cross-coupling reactions have had a tremendous impact not only in academic arenas but also in industry. These catalyzed reactions are accomplished using the transition metal complexes with extremely high utility. In this book, from the viewpoint of application, the authors select several representative cross-coupling reactions and classify the types of compounds using the most up-to-date references available. The authors refer to the historical background of the cross-coupling reactions and to the reaction mechanisms. Then the categories of compounds are outlined in order of natural products, pharmaceuticals, liquid crystals, and conjugate polymers. Finally, recent progress is introduced in the form of the new cross-coupling reactions involving aryl chlorides and alkyl halides bearing  $\beta$ -hydrogen as coupling electrophiles.

The authors hope that this book will provide the fundamental basics to both undergraduate and graduate-student readers, but also wish to inspire continued development and innovation of the cross-coupling reactions. Finally, thanks goes out to Dr. Roderick O'Brien for his helpful input during the preparation of this manuscript and to the editorial team at Springer DE, in particular, Elizabeth Hawkins and Beate Siek for their patience and guidance during the entire projects.

Okayama, Japan, 2012

Yasushi Nishihara

# Contents

#### Part I Metal-Catalyzed Cross-Coupling Reactions

1	ΑH	listoric	Overview of the Metal-Catalyzed					
	Cro	ss-Cou	pling Reactions.	3				
	1.1	-	al Introduction	3				
	1.2 The Cross-Coupling Reactions Addressed in this Textbook							
		1.2.1		5				
		1.2.2	Murahashi Coupling	6				
		1.2.3	Sonogashira–Hagihara Coupling	7				
		1.2.4	Negishi Coupling	7				
		1.2.5	Migita–Kosugi–Stille Coupling	8				
		1.2.6	Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling	8				
		1.2.7	Hiyama Coupling	9				
	1.3	Perspe	ectives	10				
	Refe	-		11				
2	Mec	hanism	s and Fundamental Reactions	17				
	2.1	Transı	metalation in Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling	17				
		2.1.1	Stoichiometric Reactions of Suzuki-Miyaura					
			Coupling	19				
		2.1.2	Base-Assisted Transmetalation	20				
		2.1.3	The Turnover Limiting Step in Suzuki-Miyaura					
			Coupling	22				
		2.1.4	Pathways for Transmetalation.	23				
		2.1.5	Computational Studies of the Transmetalation					
			Step in Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling	25				
		2.1.6	An Interconversion Between Trifluoroborate					
			and Boronic Acid	28				

2.2	The "Copper Effect" in Migita-Kosugi-Stille Coupling						
	2.2.1	A Cine Substitution Reaction	30				
	2.2.2	The Copper Effect.	32				
	2.2.3	Perspectives	34				
2.3	Summa	ary	35				
Refe	rences.		35				

#### Part II Applications of the Cross-Coupling Reactions

3	Natı	ural Product Synthesis	43
	3.1	Introduction	43
	3.2	Kumada–Tamao–Corriu Coupling (sp <sup>3</sup> –sp <sup>2</sup> )	44
	3.3	Sonogashira–Hagihara Coupling (sp–sp <sup>2</sup> )	46
	3.4	Negishi Coupling.	49
		3.4.1 $sp^2-sp^2$ Negishi Coupling	49
		3.4.2 $sp^3-sp^2$ Negishi Coupling	50
		3.4.3 $sp-sp^2$ Negishi Coupling	52
		3.4.4 Carbometalation and Negishi Coupling Sequences	52
		3.4.5 Utility of Negishi Coupling toward Carbonyl	
		Compound Synthesis	54
	3.5	Migita–Kosugi–Stille Coupling	56
		3.5.1 Synthetic Methods of Organotin Compounds	56
		3.5.2 $sp^2-sp^2$ Migita–Kosugi–Stille Coupling	57
		3.5.3 Other Migita–Kosugi–Stille Couplings	62
	3.6	Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling	63
		3.6.1 sp <sup>2</sup> -sp <sup>2</sup> Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling	64
		3.6.2 $sp^3-sp^2$ Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling	69
	3.7	Hiyama Coupling $(sp^2-sp^2)$ .	71
	3.8	Summary	74
	Refe	erences	74
4	Pha	rmaceuticals	85
•	4.1		85
	4.2	Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling	86
	4.3	Negishi Coupling.	94
	4.4	Migita-Kosugi-Stille Coupling.	99
	4.5		101
	4.5 4.6	1 0	101
	4.0 4.7		105
		5	105
	Rele	erences	100

5	Liquid Crystals				
	5.1	Introduction	111		
	5.2	Kumada-Tamao-Corriu Coupling	113		
	5.3	Migita-Kosugi-Stille Coupling.	115		
	5.4	Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling	118		
	5.5	Sonogashira-Hagihara Coupling.	125		
	5.6	Summary	132		
	Refe	rences	133		
6	Conj	jugated Polymers	137		
	6.1	Introduction	137		
	6.2	Kumada-Tamao-Corriu Coupling	138		
	6.3	Negishi Coupling	144		
	6.4	Migita-Kosugi-Stille Coupling.	147		
	6.5	Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling	152		
	6.6	Sonogashira–Hagihara Coupling	158		
	6.7	Hiyama Coupling	166		
	6.8	Summary	168		
	Refe	rences	168		

#### Part III Recent Advances in Cross-Coupling Reactions

7	Recent Advances in Cross-Coupling Reactions							
	with Aryl Chlorides, Tosylates, and Mesylates							
	7.1	Introduction						
	7.2	Kumada–Tamao–Corriu Coupling						
	7.3	Negishi Coupling						
	7.4	Migita–Kosugi–Stille Coupling						
	7.5	Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling						
	7.6	Hiyama Coupling						
	7.7	Sonogashira–Hagihara Coupling						
	7.8	Summary						
	Refe	rences						
8	Rec	ent Advances in Cross-Coupling Reactions						
	with	Alkyl Halides						
	8.1	Introduction						
	8.2	Kumada-Tamao-Corriu Coupling						
	8.3	Negishi Coupling						
	8.4	Migita–Kosugi–Stille Coupling						
	8.5	Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling						

Contents
----------

8.6	Hiyama Coupling	221			
8.7	Sonogashira–Hagihara Coupling	223			
8.8	Summary	225			
Refer	ences	225			
Erratum to: A Historic Overview of the Metal-Catalyzed Cross-Coupling Reactions					
Erratum	2	E1			
	2				

# Part I Metal-Catalyzed Cross-Coupling Reactions

# Chapter 1 A Historic Overview of the Metal-Catalyzed Cross-Coupling Reactions

Yasushi Nishihara

**Abstract** The main focus of this publication is the innovation of new synthetic reactions that can form various carbon–carbon bonds with high selectivity. The use of transition-metal-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of organic electrophiles with organometallic nucleophiles started with the discovery of Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling in 1972—the reaction of organic halides and organomagnesium compounds under nickel catalysis. Combining fragments with a series of carbon centers into one segment, the transition-metal-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions have long been industrially utilized toward the synthesis of functional materials such as agricultural chemicals, pharmaceuticals, and polymers.

**Keywords** Cross-coupling • Transition metal catalysts • Organic halides • Organometallic nucleophiles • Carbon-carbon bond formation

#### **1.1 General Introduction**

The 2010 Nobel Prize in Chemistry was given to Professor Emeritus Richard F. Heck, Delaware University, USA, Professor Ei-ichi Negishi, Purdue University, USA, and Professor Emeritus Akira Suzuki, Hokkaido University, Japan. These scholars greatly contributed to the creation of palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling

Y. Nishihara (🖂)

The original version of this chapter was revised: There was a change in the first name of the contributor in Chap. 1. The erratum to this chapter is available at DOI ???10.1007/978-3-642-32368-3\_9???

Division of Earth, Life, and Molecular Sciences, Graduate School of Natural Science and Technology, Okayama University, 3-1-1 Tsushimanaka, Kita-ku, Okayama 700-8530, Japan

reactions in organic synthesis. The cross-coupling reactions completely changed the concepts for the carbon–carbon bond formation in synthetic organic chemistry and invented a large number of eponymous reactions. This chapter provides an overview of the historical background of cross-coupling reactions.

The palladium-mediated carbon–carbon-bond-forming reactions started with the pioneering work reported by Tsuji in 1965 [1]. A mixture of a PdCl<sub>2</sub>(cyclooctadiene) complex and ethyl malonate under basic conditions successfully generated the carbopalladation product at room temperature. This discovery led to the worldwide development of the powerful palladium chemistry. Subsequently, in 1965 Tsuji investigated the reaction of the  $\pi$ -allylpalladium complex with ethyl malonate forming ethyl allyl malonate [2]. In conjunction with a great contribution to this chemistry by Trost who succeeded in 1973 in an asymmetric version of Tsuji's reaction [3], these palladium-catalyzed substitution reactions via the  $\pi$ allylpalladium complex as a key intermediate have been widely recognized as "Tsuji-Trost" reactions (Eq. 1.1) [4, 5].

$$X + NuH \xrightarrow{Pd cat.} Nu$$

$$X = OAc, Cl, etc$$
(1.1)

Mizoroki [6] and Heck [7] independently investigated the palladium-catalyzed reactions of alkenes with aryl or alkenyl halides in the presence of a base to afford the corresponding coupled products through a substitution of hydrogen in the alkenes (Eq. 1.2). Afterwards, this reaction was aggressively researched by Heck, becoming acknowledged as an excellent carbon–carbon bond-forming class of reactions catalyzed by palladium [8]. In 1995, Herrmann et al. reported that when the palladacycle catalyst, prepared from the commercially available  $P(o-tol)_3$  ligand and palladium acetate, was used for the Mizoroki-Heck reaction, the turnover numbers reached one million [9]. Recently, remarkable improvements have been realized by using the bulky alkylphosphine and *N*-heterocyclic carbene (NHC) ligands; these ligands enable Mizoroki-Heck reactions of aryl bromides at room temperature. With the use of these bulky ligands, even the inactive aryl chlorides can be utilized when harsh reaction conditions are applied [10–12].



X = halogens, OTf, etc

Although these reactions are highly important to understanding the history of the palladium-catalyzed carbon–carbon bond-forming reactions, a large number of reviews covering these reactions have already been published. A list of such reviews and books of the cross-coupling reactions can be found in the appendix. Thus, these early cross-coupling reactions will not be reviewed in depth here.

#### **1.2 The Cross-Coupling Reactions Addressed** in this Textbook

This textbook mainly introduces the *cross-coupling reactions*, which are the reactions of organic electrophiles ( $R^2$ -X) such as organic halides and pseudohalides (triflates, mesylates, and tosylates) with the organometallic reagents ( $R^1$ -m; m = Mg, Li, Cu, Zn, Al, Zr, Sn, B, and Si), catalyzed by complexes of a transition metal (M) such as nickel and palladium, to form the cross-coupled products ( $R^1$ - $R^2$ ) with newly formed *carbon–carbon bonds*, generating salts (m-X) as by-products [13–15]. A representative reaction is shown in Eq. 1.3.

R <sup>1</sup> -m + R <sup>2</sup>	-X (addtive	$\rightarrow$ R <sup>1</sup> -R <sup>2</sup> + m <sup>-</sup> X	(1.3)
$R^1$ = $R^2$ = alkenyl, aryl, alkyl, etc X = I, Br, Cl, TfO, etc M = transition metals (Ni, Pd, etc)	m = Mg m = Li m = AI, Zr, Zn m = Sn m = B m = Si	Kumada-Tamao-Corriu Murahashi Negishi Migita-Kosugi-Stille Suzuki-Miyaura Hiyama	
R <sup>1</sup> = alkynyl, m = H, and copper (I) sa		Sonogashira-Hagihara	

An advantageous feature of these cross-coupling reactions is substitution with retention of the configuration at the sp<sup>2</sup> carbon, which had not been possible by conventional organic reactions. These reactions can also selectively couple specific points even in complicated molecules with many reactive sites. These innovations have facilitated the synthesis of  $\pi$ -conjugated compounds such as natural products (???Chap. 3???), pharmaceuticals (???Chap. 4???), liquid crystals (???Chap. 5???), and conjugated polymers (???Chap. 6???) as well as luminescence materials and the organic semiconductors.

#### 1.2.1 Kumada–Tamao–Corriu Coupling

Historically, *cross-couplings* started in 1972 (date received, October 28, 1971) from the research of Corriu at Montpellier University, France using Grignard reagents (m = MgX) and a catalytic amount of Ni(acac)<sub>2</sub> to construct carbon(sp<sup>2</sup>)–carbon(sp<sup>2</sup>) bonds [16]. This is the first instance of the cross-coupling reactions and is conceptually the same as the research of Kharash [17] and Kochi [18] adding transition-metal salts to Grignard reagents to form the carbon–carbon bonds.

Near the same time, Kumada and Tamao at Kyoto University, Japan reported the reactions of Grignard reagents and aryl or alkenyl halides in the presence of a nickel-dppp (dppp = bis(1,3-diphenylphosphinopropane)) complex as the catalyst

(date received, February 15, 1972) [19], based on the stoichiometric version reported by Yamamoto [20, 21]. In Kumada's paper, the catalytic cycle was proposed for the first time, which consists of three basic reactions identified as: "oxidative addition," "transmetalation," and "reductive elimination." The catalyst cycle indicated by this research completely changed the concept of the carbon–carbon bond-forming reactions.

Kumada discussed, for the first time, the concept of a molecular catalyst by showing a correlation between the nickel–phosphine complexes and the catalytic activity, which greatly depends on the structure of the phosphine ligand. When the dppp ligand was employed on nickel, the highest catalytic activity was observed. It is also noteworthy that when alkyl Grignard reagents bearing  $\beta$ -hydrogens were used as the substrates, carbon–fluorine bond activation in fluorobenzene was attained [22].

Later, an asymmetric version of Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling was independently achieved by the Consiglio [23] and Kumada–Tamao [24] groups in 1973 and 1974, respectively. Moreover, the remarkable improvement of enantioselectivity was reported by Hayashi–Tamao–Kumada using asymmetric ferroceneincorporating ligands in 1976 [25]. Even today, substituted styrene continues to be manufactured by this protocol [26, 27].

One of the drawbacks of the Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling reaction is that highly reactive electrophiles such as carbonyl compounds cannot be used due to their high reactivity toward organomagnesium reagents, but these reactions are improved again from the viewpoint of the recent "element strategy" [28–31]. These types of reactions are contemporarily referred to as "Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling."

#### 1.2.2 Murahashi Coupling

Although the utility of the palladium catalyst had already been confirmed in the Mizoroki-Heck reaction, the palladium catalyst was not used in the early C–M (M = metal)/C–X (X = halides or pseudohalides) type cross-coupling reactions. Murahashi reported the cross-coupling reactions of organic halides using the palladium catalyst instead of the nickel catalyst for the first time in 1975 [32]. Murahashi and colleagues also described the potential of organolithium compounds for use in the cross-coupling reactions.

It is an advantageous feature that organolithium compounds can be prepared by the treatment of organic halides with lithium metal or by the direct transmetalation of hydrocarbons with BuLi. In addition, the palladium catalyst extended the coverage of the  $sp^2$ -carbon-containing nucleophiles of the cross-coupling reactions. As the result, under palladium catalysis, organomagnesium and organolithium reagents generate olefins and biaryls by the reactions of vinyl and aryl halides in high yields [33–35].

Recently, Yoshida et al. investigated the selective Murahashi coupling in a microreactor [36]; a Br–Li exchange of an aryl bromide with BuLi generated an aryllithium compound in situ, which reacted with a different aryl bromide in the microreactor in the presence of the palladium catalyst to give the corresponding asymmetric biaryl as the cross-coupled product within 1 min. This methodology could greatly expand the applicable ranges of the cross-coupling reactions of organolithium compounds.

#### 1.2.3 Sonogashira-Hagihara Coupling

In 1975, Sonogashira and Hagihara reported on the cross-coupling reactions of acetylene gas or the terminal alkynes with aryl or alkenyl halides in the presence of palladium catalysts and copper (I) salts [37]. They demonstrated that the reactions improved the yields of the products under milder conditions by using the copper (I) salts as co-catalysts, although Cassar [38] and Heck [39] have reported on similar reactions that used only the palladium catalysts. In Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling, copper(I) salts and amines are necessary as additives, in addition to the Pd catalyst, to generate alkynylcopper species from terminal alkynes; this is an important intermediate for smooth transmetalation to Pd [40–42]. This reaction has the advantage that the desired products can be obtained in excellent yields under comparatively milder reaction conditions.

The Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling has become arguably the most useful method for preparing natural products, agrochemicals, pharmaceuticals, and conjugated polymers through the coupling of terminal alkynes and sp<sup>2</sup>-hybridized carbons (e.g., aryl, heteroaryl, and alkenyl halides). The applications of Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling have been recently reviewed by Chinchilla and Nájera [43–45].

#### 1.2.4 Negishi Coupling

In 1976, Negishi found new cross-coupling reactions other than organomagnesium and organolithium compounds by using various unprecedented metals. Negishi succeeded in a cross-coupling reaction through the combination of the palladium catalyst with organoaluminum reagents [46]. Because alkenylaluminum compounds can be readily synthesized by hydroalumination of alkynes, its combination with the cross-coupling reaction is a very useful process; this was the first example of combining hydrometalation with the cross-coupling reactions [47]. Negishi also thoroughly examined the combination of the transition metal catalysts and the main-group organometallic reagents involving boron [48], zirconium [49, 50], and finally organozinc reagents, which he determined to be the best in combination with the palladium catalysts [51–55]. This reaction, "Negishi coupling," is used in a variety of synthetic organic reactions all over the world. The organozinc compounds can be readily prepared by the treatment of Grignard reagents or organolithium compounds with zinc halides. There is an excellent feature in terms of functional group tolerance because the organozinc compounds do not react with esters, ketones, or nitriles. In addition, the corresponding ketones can be synthesized by the cross-coupling of alkylzinc reagents and alkanoyl halides, which can be synthons of the carbonyl compounds. In particular, the  $sp^2-sp^2$  Negishi coupling has been used for the synthesis of biaryls and conjugate dienes, which are often found in natural products [56–58]

#### 1.2.5 Migita-Kosugi-Stille Coupling

In 1977, the research group of Migita and Kosugi at Gunma University, Japan found that the organotin compounds can be incorporated in the palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions [59]. The late Stille of Colorado State University also independently reported on the cross-coupling of organotin compounds in 1979 [60, 61]. This "Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling" has the advantage of high functional group compatibility, i.e., the carbonyl group remains intact. Since organotin reagents are comparatively stable and an experimental operation is also often practical, they are widely used for synthesis at the laboratory level. Because organotin compounds are widely used as sterilizers, insecticides, and radical reducing agents, the adverse effects from chronic toxicity of alkylated tin compounds to the human body and the environment might be worrisome.

Despite the challenge that the toxicity of organotin compounds poses to industrial usage, there is still high demand for organotin reagents for Migita– Kosugi–Stille coupling. Owing to the mild and neutral reaction conditions, Migita–Kosugi–Stille has often been used, especially at key stages, in the naturalproduct synthesis. Close attention must be paid to the presence of organotin contaminants while applying the synthesized natural products to the pharmaceutical industry.

#### 1.2.6 Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling

The most widely exploited cross-coupling reaction protocol, developed by Suzuki and Miyaura at Hokkaido University, Japan in 1979, uses organoboron compounds under palladium catalysis [62, 63]. This coupling reaction is commonly called "Suzuki–Miyaura coupling." Since boron is a non-metallic element (and thus the carbon–boron bond is an almost completely covalent bond) the carbon–boron bond of the organoboronic acids is too inert to undergo protonation with water and the acids. Although the reactivity of organoboron compounds is low, the reactivity can

9

be improved greatly by adding the bases; this was a breakthrough for the crosscoupling reactions. Pharmaceutical companies all over the world brought to market various organoboron reagents which have the advantage of stability (even to oxygen and moisture), and many industries have been manufacturing these on the scale of tons. Since stereoselective hydroboration of alkynes can be used to prepare various alkenylboron reagents, the syntheses of the stereodefined conjugate olefins have been highly realized. Presently, Suzuki–Miyaura coupling is one of the representative reactions of carbon–carbon bond formation; it is found in virtually every textbook covering the topic [64].

The cross-coupling reactions of arylboronic acids, reported in 1981, further improved Suzuki–Miyaura coupling [65]. Recently, a variety of organoboron reagents, e.g., trifluoroborates [66], trialkoxyborates [67], trihydroxyborates [68], and triolborates [69, 70], as isolable tetracoordinated "-ate" (anionic) complexes have been developed. These boron-containing salts are stable toward air and water and can be used for typical Suzuki–Miyaura coupling.

On the other hand, some recent advances include the preparation of organoboronic acid derivatives which are inert toward cross-coupling, albeit with facile protection-deprotection qualities. Suginome has reported that the boronic acid amide derivatives obtained from 1,8-diaminonaphthalene can be purified by column chromatography [71]. This protecting group can be detached to form the original boronic acids upon treatment with acid. Moreover, Burke has developed the protection method of organoboronic acids using *N*-methyliminodiacetic acid (MIDA) [72]. The synthesized MIDA-masked organoborates are air stable and their reactions can be monitored by TLC. Conveniently, this protecting group can readily be deprotected under basic conditions.

#### 1.2.7 Hiyama Coupling

In 1982, a new carbon–carbon bond-forming reaction was achieved by Kumada, Tamao, and Yoshida, in which organopentafluorosilicates and organic halides were reacted at high temperature with the palladium catalyst [73]. Because saturated hexacoordinated organosilicates are inactive for transmetalation, the removal of one fluoride ion was necessary to generate the more active pentacoordinated silicate, which facilitates transmetalation. Because heating under harsh conditions was necessary, this reaction did not become a widely used protocol. On the other hand, in 1988, Hiyama et al. reported that the tetracoordinated vinyltrimethylsilanes cross-coupled with phenyl and alkenyl iodides in the presence of a fluoride ion and the palladium catalyst [74].

Organosilicon compounds have many advantages: low toxicity, environmental benignness, a natural abundance of silicon (the 2nd Clark's number), low cost, and excellent functional group selectivity. Since the organosilicon compounds are known to be extremely inert, in Hiyama coupling, it is a key issue to activate the organosilicon compounds to achieve smooth transmetalation. Transmetalation hardly takes place with the trialkylsilyl group, even if activators are added; thus one or more aryl or hydroxy groups are generally introduced as a substituent on silicon. With this strategy, organosilanols (with the hydroxy group on a silicon atom) were reported to be activated by common bases in the Hiyama coupling [75].

Recently, Hiyama et al. prepared the more useful HOMSi reagent by using intramolecular nucleophilic attack of a hydroxy group to activate silicon instead of an added fluoride ion [76, 77]. When this hydroxy group is protected by common protecting groups, the silicon functionality showed no reactivity at all. After an appropriate transformation reaction, deprotection of the hydroxy group enables the smooth cross-coupling. In addition, because the silicon-containing by-products are recovered, overall manipulations are environmentally friendly from the viewpoint of *green chemistry*.

#### **1.3 Perspectives**

In addition to the carbon–carbon bond-forming reactions, other cross-couplings forming *carbon–nitrogen bonds* (amination) of aryl halides have been achieved by Hartwig [78, 79] and Buchwald [80, 81] in 1994 (Eq. 1.4). This reaction has rapidly spread all over the world because the triarylamines have received attention as electron transport materials.

 $\begin{array}{c} R^{1} \\ \swarrow \\ R^{2} \\ H^{3} \\ R^{3} \end{array} \xrightarrow{\begin{array}{c} Pd \ cat. \\ base \\ R^{3} \end{array}} \begin{array}{c} R^{1} \\ R^{2} \\ R^{3} \end{array}$ (1.4)

Recent advances have been made in the cross-coupling reactions utilizing decarboxylation of carboxylic acids as well as the direct activation of carbonhydrogen bonds of arenes as nucleophiles in place of organometallic reagents. An array of leaving groups involving triflates, tosylates, and mesylates, has been successfully utilized in addition to the traditional organic halides (???Chap. 7???). Moreover, since 2000, cross-coupling reactions of alkyl electrophiles with  $\beta$ -hydrogens have successfully been conducted (???Chap. 8???).

Through appropriate selection of the transition metal catalysts, vinyl ethers, aryl ethers, thioethers, and cyanides can be used as coupling partners. In addition, efforts to develop the inexpensive and ubiquitous cobalt and iron catalysts (rather than the noble nickel and palladium catalysts) have been underway. However, because radical reactions exclusively take place with these metal catalysts, it remains a future task to determine how the configuration could be controlled during such reactions.

The outstanding feature in the cross-coupling reactions of organic halides with organometallic reagents is that carbon–carbon bonds can be formed on a specific desired position while maintaining the parent molecules' configurations, as shown in Eq.1.1. The demand for the development of the cross-coupling that can finely control the bond-forming positions and the configuration of the products will continue to grow.

#### References

- 1. Tsuji J, Takahashi H (1965) Organic syntheses by means of noble metal compounds. XII.1 Reaction of the cyclooctadiene-palladium chloride complex with ethyl malonate. J Am Chem Soc 87:3275–3276
- 2. Tsuji J, Tanaka H, Morikawa M (1965) Organic syntheses by means of noble metal compounds. XVII. Reaction of  $\pi$ -allylpalladium chloride with nucleophiles. Tetrahedron Lett, 4387–4388
- Trost BM, Fullerton TJ (1973) New synthetic reactions Allylic alkylation. J Am Chem Soc 95:292–294
- 4. Tsuji J (1969) Carbon-carbon bond formation via palladium complexes. Acc Chem Res 2:144–152
- 5. Trost BM, Van Vranken DL (1996) Asymmetric transition metal-catalyzed allylic alkylations. Chem Rev 96:395–422
- Mizoroki T, Mori K, Ozaki A (1971) Arylation of olefin with aryl iodide catalyzed by palladium. Bull Chem Soc Jpn 44:581–581
- 7. Heck RF, Nolley JP Jr (1972) Palladium-catalyzed vinylic hydrogen substitution reactions with aryl, benzyl, and styryl halides. J Org Chem 37:2320–2322
- 8. Heck RF (1982) Palladium-catalyzed vinylation of organic halides. Org React 27:345-390
- Hermann WA, Brossmer C, Öfele K, Reisinger CP, Priermeier T, Beller M, Fischer H (1995) Palladacycles as structurally defined catalysts for the Heck olefination of chloro- and bromoarenes. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 34:1844–1848
- Xu L, Chen W, Xiao J (2000) Heck reaction in ionic liquids and the in situ identification of N-heterocyclic carbene complexes of palladium. Organometallics 19:1123–1127
- 11. Stambuli JP, Stauffer SR, Shaughnessy KH, Hartwig JF (2001) Screening of homogeneous catalysts by fluorescence resonance energy transfer. Identification of catalysts for roomtemperature Heck reactions. J Am Chem Soc 123:2677–2678
- Littke AF, Hartwig JF (2001) A versatile catalyst for Heck reactions of aryl chlorides and aryl bromides under mild conditions. J Am Chem Soc 123:6989–7000
- Morita DK, Stille JK, Norton JR (1995) Methyl/phenyl exchange between palladium and a phosphine ligand, consequences for catalytic coupling reactions. J Am Chem Soc 117:8576–8581
- 14. Goodson FE, Wallow TI, Novak BN (1997) Mechanistic studies on the aryl-aryl interchange reaction of  $ArPdL_2I$  (L = triarylphosphine) complexes. J Am Chem Soc 119:12441–12453
- 15. Stanforth SP (1988) Catalytic cross-coupling reactions in biaryl synthesis. Tetrahedron 54:263–303
- Corriu RJP, Masse JP (1972) Activation of Grignard reagent by transition-metal complexes. A new and simple synthesis of trans-stilbenes and polyphenyls, J Chem Soc Chem Commun, 144
- Kharasch MS, Fuchs CF (1943) Factors influencing the course and mechanisms of Grignard reactions. XI. The effect of metallic halides on the reaction of Grignard reagents with vinyl halides and substituted vinyl halides. J Am Chem Soc 65:504–507
- Tamura M, Kochi JK (1971) Vinylation of Grignard reagent. Catalysis by iron. J Am Chem Soc 93:1487–1489
- Tamao K, Sumitani K, Kumada M (1972) Selective carbon-carbon bond formation by crosscoupling of Grignard reagents with organic halides. Catalysis by nickel-phosphine complexes. J Am Chem Soc 94:4374–4376

- 20. Uchino M, Yamamoto A, Ikeda S (1970) Preparation of a phenyl—nickel complex, phenyl(dipyridyl)nickel chloride, an olefin dimerization catalyst. J Organomet Chem 24:C63–C64
- Tamao K, Kiso Y, Sumitani K, Kumada M (1972) Alkyl group isomerization in the crosscoupling reaction of secondary alkyl Grignard reagents with organic halides in the presence of nickel-phosphine complexes as catalysts. J Am Chem Soc 94:9268–9269
- 22. Saeki T, Takashima Y, Tamao K (2005) Nickel- and palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction of polyfluorinated arenes and alkenes with Grignard reagents. Synlett, 1771–1774
- 23. Consiglio G, Botteghi C (1973) Stereoselektive Bildung der C-C-Bindung in der Kopplungsreaktion zwischen sek. Alkylmagnesiumbromiden und ungesättigten Halogeniden: asymmetrische Induktion durch einen optisch aktiven Diphosphin-Nickel-Komplex. Helv Chim Acta 56:460–463
- 24. Kiso Y, Tamao K, Miyake N, Yamamoto K, Kumada M (1974) Asymmetric cross-coupling reaction of sec-alkyl Grignard reagents with organic halides in the presence of a chiral phosphine-nickel complex as a catalyst. Tetrahedron Lett 15:3–6
- Hayashi T, Tajika M, Tamao K, Kumada M (1976) High stereoselectivity in asymmetric Grignard cross-coupling catalyzed by nickel complexes of chiral (aminoalkylferrocenyl) phosphines. J Am Chem Soc 98:3718–3719
- Kumada M, Tamao K, Sumitani K (1978) Phosphine-nickel complex catalyzed crosscoupling of Grignard reagents with aryl and alkenyl halides:1,2-dibutylbenzene. Org Synth 58:127–133
- 27. Banno T, Hayakawa Y, Umeno M (2002) Some applications of the Grignard cross-coupling reaction in the industrial field. J Organomet Chem 653:288–291
- Terao J, Kambe N (2008) Cross-coupling reaction of alkyl halides with Grignard reagents catalyzed by Ni, Pd, or Cu complexes with π-carbon ligand(s). Acc Chem Res 41:1545–1554
- 29. Vechorkin O, Proust V, Hu X (2009) Functional group tolerant Kumada-Corriu-Tamao coupling of nonactivated alkyl halides with aryl and heteroaryl nucleophiles: catalysis by a nickel pincer complex permits the coupling of functionalized Grignard reagents. J Am Chem Soc 131:9756–9766
- 30. Yoshikai N, Matsuda H, Nakamura E (2008) Ligand exchange as the first irreversible step in the nickel-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction of Grignard reagents. J Am Chem Soc 130:15258–15259
- Yoshikai N, Matsuda H, Nakamura E (2009) Hydroxyphosphine ligand for nickel-catalyzed cross-coupling through nickel/magnesium bimetallic cooperation. J Am Chem Soc 131:9590–9599
- 32. Yamamura M, Moritani I, Murahashi S (1975) The reaction of  $\sigma$ -vinylpalladium complexes with alkyllithiums. Stereospecific syntheses of olefins from vinyl halides and alkyllithiums. J Organomet Chem 91:C39–C42
- Murahashi S, Yamamura M, Yanagisawa K, Mita N, Kondo K (1979) Stereoselective synthesis of alkenes and alkenyl sulfides from alkenyl halides using palladium and ruthenium catalysts. J Org Chem 44:2408–2417
- 34. Murahashi S, Naota T, Tanigawa Y (1984) Palladium-phosphine-complex-catalyzed reaction of organolithium compounds and alkenyl halides: (Z)-β-[2-(N, Ndimethylamino)phenyl]styrene. Org Synth 62:39–47
- 35. Murahashi S (2002) Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction of organic halides with Grignard reagents, organolithium compounds and heteroatom nucleophiles. J Organomet Chem 653:27–33
- 36. Nagaki A, Kenmoku A, Moriwaki Y, Hayashi A, Yoshida J (2010) Cross-coupling in a flow microreactor: Space integration of lithiation and Murahashi coupling. Angew Chem Int Ed 49:7543–7547
- 37. Sonogashira K, Tohda Y, Hagihara N (1975) A convenient synthesis of acetylenes: catalytic substitutions of acetylenic hydrogen with bromoalkenes, iodoarenes and bromopyridines. Tetratedron Lett 16:4467–4470

- Cassar L (1975) Synthesis of aryl- and vinyl-substituted acetylene derivatives by the use of nickel and palladium complexes. J Organomet Chem 93:253–257
- Dieck HA, Heck RF (1975) Palladium catalyzed synthesis of aryl, heterocyclic and vinylic acetylene derivatives. J Organomet Chem 93:259–263
- 40. Sonogashira K, Yatake T, Tohda Y, Takahashi S, Hagihara N (1977) Novel preparation of  $\sigma$ -alkynyl complexes of transition metals by copper(I) iodide-catalysed dehydrohalogenation. J Chem Soc Chem Commun, 291–292
- Sonogashira K, Takahashi S, Hagihara N (1977) A new extended chain polymer, poly[transbis(tri-n-butylphosphine)platinum 1,4-butadiynediyl]. Macromolecules 10:879–880
- 42. Sonogashira K (2002) Development of Pd–Cu catalyzed cross-coupling of terminal acetylenes with sp2-carbon halides. J Organomet Chem 653:46–49
- 43. Chinchilla R, Nájera C (2007) The Sonogashira reaction: a booming methodology in synthetic organic chemistry. Chem Rev 107:874–922
- 44. Heravi MM, Sadjadi S (2009) Recent advances in the application of the Sonogashira method in the synthesis of heterocyclic compounds. Tetrahedron 65:7761–7775
- Chinchilla R, Nájera C (2011) Recent advances in Sonogashira reactions. Chem Soc Rev 40:5084–5121
- 46. Negishi E, Baba S (1976) Novel stereoselective alkenyl-aryl coupling via nickel-catalysed reaction of alkenylalanes with aryl halides. J Chem Soc Chem Commun, 596–597
- 47. Baba S, Negishi E (1976) A novel stereospecific alkenyl-alkenyl cross-coupling by a palladium- or nickel-catalyzed reaction of alkenylalanes with alkenyl halides. J Am Chem Soc 98:6729–6731
- 48. Negishi E (1978) Selective carbon–carbon bond formation via transition metal catalysis: is nickel or palladium better than copper? In: Brewster JH (ed) Aspects of mechanism and organometallic chemistry. Plenum Press, New York
- 49. Negishi E, Van Horn DE (1977) Selective carbon–carbon bond formation via transition metal catalysis. 4. A novel approach to cross-coupling exemplified by the nickel-catalyzed reaction of alkenylzirconium derivatives with aryl halides. J Am Chem Soc 99:3168–3170
- 50. Okukado N, Van Horn DE, Klima WL, Negishi E (1978) A highly stereo-, regio-, and chemoselective synthesis of conjugated dienes by the palladium-catalyzed reaction of (E)-1-alkenylzirconium derivatives with alkenyl halides. Tetrahedron Lett 19:1027–1030
- 51. King AO, Okukado N, Negishi E (1977) Highly general stereo-, regio-, and chemo-selective synthesis of terminal and internal conjugated enynes by the Pd-catalysed reaction of alkynylzinc reagents with alkenyl halides. J Chem Soc Chem Commun, 683–684
- 52. Negishi E, King AO, Okukado N (1977) Selective carbon–carbon bond formation via transition metal catalysis. 3. A highly selective synthesis of unsymmetrical biaryls and diarylmethanes by the nickel- or palladium-catalyzed reaction of aryl- and benzylzinc derivatives with aryl halides. J Org Chem 42:1821–1823
- 53. Negishi E (1982) Palladium- or nickel-catalyzed cross coupling. A new selective method for carbon-carbon bond formation. Acc Chem Res 15:340–348
- 54. Erdik E (1992) Transition metal catalyzed reactions of organozinc reagents. Tetrahedron 48:9577–9648
- 55. Huang Z, Qian M, Babinski DJ, Negishi E (2005) Palladium-Catalyzed Cross-Coupling Reactions with Zinc, Boron, and Indium Exhibiting High Turnover Numbers (TONs): use of Bidentate Phosphines and Other Critical Factors in Achieving High TONs. Organometallics 24:475–478
- Negishi E, Hu Q, Huang Z, Qian M, Wang G (2005) Palladium-catalyzed alkenylation by the Negishi coupling. Aldrichimica Acta 38:71–88
- 57. Zhu G, Negishi E (2008) 1,4-Pentenyne as a five-carbon synthon for efficient and selective syntheses of natural products containing 2,4-dimethyl-1-penten-1,5-ylidene and related moieties by means of Zr-catalyzed carboalumination of alkynes and alkenes. Chem Eur J 14:311–318

- Wang G, Mohan S, Negishi E (2011) Highly selective synthesis of conjugated dienoic and trienoic esters via alkyne elementometalation-Pd-catalyzed cross-coupling. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 108:11344–11349
- 59. Kosugi M, Sasazawa K, Shimizu Y, Migita T (1977) Reactions of allyltin compounds allylation of aromatic halides with allyltributyltin in the presence of tetrakis(triphenylphosphine)-palladium(0). Chem Lett, 301–302
- 60. Milstein D, Stille JK (1978) A general, selective, and facile method for ketone synthesis from acid chlorides and organotin compounds catalyzed by palladium. J Am Chem Soc 100:3636–3638
- 61. Milstein D, Stille JK (1979) Palladium-catalyzed coupling of tetraorganotin compounds with aryl and benzyl halides. Synthetic utility and mechanism. J Am Chem Soc 101:4992–4998
- 62. Miyaura N, Suzuki A (1979) Stereoselective synthesis of arylated (*E*)-alkenes by the reaction of alk-1-enylboranes with aryl halides in the presence of palladium catalyst. J Chem Soc Chem Commun, 866–867
- 63. Miyaura N, Yamada K, Suzuki A (1979) A new stereospecific cross-coupling by the palladium-catalyzed reaction of 1-alkenylboranes with 1-alkenyl or 1-alkynyl halides. Tetrahedron Lett 20:3437–3440
- 64. Miyaura N, Suzuki A (1995) Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of organoboron compounds. Chem Rev 95:2457–2483
- 65. Miyaura N, Yanagi T, Suzuki A (1981) The palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction of phenylboronic acid with haloarenes in the presence of bases. Synth Commun 11:513–519
- 66. Molander GA, Canturk B (2009) Organotrifluoroborates and monocoordinated palladium complexes as catalysts—a perfect combination for Suzuki–Miyaura coupling. Angew Chem Int Ed 48:9240–9261
- Billinsley KL, Bachwald SL (2008) A general and efficient method for the Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of 2-pyridyl nucleophiles. Angew Chem Int Ed 47:4695–4698
- Cammidge AN, Goddard VHM, Gopee H, Harrison NL, Hughes DL, Schubert CJ, Sutton BM, Watts GL, Whitehead AJ (2006) Aryl trihydroxyborates: easily isolated discrete species convenient for direct application in coupling reactions. Org Lett 8:4071–4074
- Yamamoto Y, Takizawa M, Yu XQ, Miyaura N (2008) Cyclic triolborates: air- and waterstable ate complexes of organoboronic acids. Angew Chem Int Ed 47:928–931
- Yamamoto Y, Takizawa M, Yu XQ, Miyaura N (2010) Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction of heteroaryltriolborates with aryl halides for synthesis of biaryls. Heterocycles 80:359–368
- Noguchi H, Hojo K, Suginome M (2007) Boron-masking strategy for the selective synthesis of oligoarenes via iterative Suzuki-Miyaura coupling. J Am Chem Soc 129:758–759
- 72. Gillis EP, Burke MD (2007) A simple and modular strategy for small molecule synthesis: Iterative Suzuki-Miyaura coupling of B-protected haloboronic acid building blocks. J Am Chem Soc 129:6716–6717
- Yoshida J, Tamao K, Yamamoto H, Kakui T, Uchida T, Kumada M (1982) Organofluorosilicates in organic synthesis. 14. Carbon-carbon bond formation promoted by palladium salts. Organometallics 1:542–549
- 74. Hatanaka Y, Hiyama T (1988) Cross-coupling of organosilanes with organic halides mediated by a palladium catalyst and tris(diethylamino)sulfonium difluorotrimethylsilicate. J Org Chem 53:918–920
- 75. Denmark SE, Sweis RF (2001) Fluoride-free cross-coupling of organosilanols. J Am Chem Soc 123:6439–6440
- 76. Nakao Y, Imanaka H, Sahoo AK, Yada A, Hiyama T (2005) Alkenyl- and aryl[2-(hydroxymethyl)phenyl]dimethylsilanes: an entry to tetraorganosilicon reagents for the silicon-based cross-coupling reaction. J Am Chem Soc 127:6952–6953
- Nakao Y, Hiyama T (2011) Silicon-based cross-coupling reaction: an environmentally benign version. Chem Soc Rev 40:4893–4901

- Paul F, Hartwig JF (1994) Palladium-catalyzed formation of carbon-nitrogen bonds. Reaction intermediates and catalyst improvements in the hetero cross-coupling of aryl halides and tin amides. J Am Chem Soc 116:5969–5970
- 79. Hartwig JF (1998) Carbon-heteroatom bond-forming reductive eliminations of amines, ethers, and sulfides. Acc Chem Res 31:852–860
- Guram AS, Buchwald SL (1994) Palladium-catalyzed aromatic aminations with in situ generated aminostannanes. J Am Chem Soc 116:7901–7902
- Surry DS, Buchwald SL (2008) Biaryl phosphane ligands in palladium-catalyzed amination. Angew Chem Int Ed 47:6338–6361

# Chapter 2 Mechanisms and Fundamental Reactions

Masayuki Iwasaki and Yasushi Nishihara

**Abstract** It is widely accepted that the catalytic cycle of cross-coupling reactions of organometallic reagents with aryl halides catalyzed by transition metals consists of three fundamental processes: oxidative addition, transmetalation, and reductive elimination. Although the details of oxidative addition and reductive elimination have been extensively studied, little research on detailed mechanisms for transmetalation has been exploited until recently. In this chapter, recent examples of the transmetalation process (a transfer of organic groups to palladium) are generally outlined, vis-à-vis the intermediate complexes after transmetalation in Suzuki–Miyaura coupling and the effect of added copper salts in Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling.

**Keywords** Reaction mechanism • Transmetalation • Suzuki–Miyaura coupling • Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling • Copper effect

#### 2.1 Transmetalation in Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling

The cross-coupling reactions of organometallic reagents with organic halides catalyzed by transition metals such as palladium and nickel are extremely useful and reliable methods for the construction of carbon–carbon bonds [1, 2]. The cross-coupling reactions can be applicable to a variety of organometallic compounds from Grignard reagents to organosilicon compounds. In particular, Suzuki–Miyaura coupling (as shown in Eq. 2.1) [3], using organoboron reagents

M. Iwasaki · Y. Nishihara (🖂)

Division of Earth, Life, and Molecular Sciences, Graduate School of Natural Science and Technology, Okayama University, 3-1-1 Tsushimanaka, Kita-ku, Okayama 700-8530, Japan

e-mail: ynishiha@okayama-u.ac.jp

(especially organoboronic acids) with the aid of a base as an activator, is extensively utilized for the synthesis of natural products and biologically active substances. Suzuki–Miyaura coupling is also widely used for the production of functional organic materials with biaryl motifs in a variety of research fields. This versatility is due to: (1) the stability of organoboronic acids to water, air, and heat; (2) the high functional group tolerance of organoboron compounds; and (3) a lower toxicity of the boron-containing by-products produced by the reactions.

$$Ar^{1}-X + Ar^{2}-B(OH)_{2} \xrightarrow{Pd cat.} Ar^{1}-Ar^{2}$$
 (2.1)

However, unlike the more reactive Grignard and organozinc reagents, the transfer of the organic groups (transmetalation) from boron to the palladium center is limited by the poor nucleophilicity of organoboronic acids. In 1979, Suzuki and Miyaura disclosed that the addition of a base to the reaction system enhances transmetalation between organoboron reagents and palladium to undergo the reaction efficiently [4]. Since that time, Suzuki–Miyaura coupling has been significantly refined and has brought important technical improvements to the field of carbon–carbon bond formation.

Generally, the cross-coupling reactions are believed to occur through three fundamental steps: oxidative addition, transmetalation, and reductive elimination, in a catalytic cycle as shown in Scheme 2.1. In Suzuki–Miyaura coupling, as well as in other cross-coupling reactions, both the oxidative addition and reductive elimination stages have been well studied; on the other hand, the mechanisms of transmetalation involving an accelerating effect by the addition of bases have scarcely been examined until lately. Recently, many experimental and theoretical aspects of the transmetalation mechanisms in Suzuki–Miyaura coupling have been explored. Herein, the transmetalation step in Suzuki–Miyaura coupling is reviewed from the perspective of a series of crosscoupling reactions, examining the effects of the bases on transmetalation.



Scheme 2.1 A catalytic cycle of the palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions

#### 2.1.1 Stoichiometric Reactions of Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling

To provide mechanistic insight into the transmetalation, each stoichiometric reaction of Suzuki–Miyaura coupling is elucidated, as depicted in Scheme 2.2. Oxidative addition of organic halides to palladium is already known, and the formed halogeno(aryl)palladium(II) complexes can be isolated [5–9], whereas diarylpalladium(II) complexes as intermediates have not been isolated until recently due to spontaneous reductive elimination after transmetalation. Osakada has succeeded in the isolation and structural determination of the diarylpalladium(II) complexes after transmetalation by using arylboronic acids substituted with fluorine in the ortho position, leading to a retardation of the reductive elimination [10–12]. Upon heating of the isolated diarylpalladium(II) complexes, reductive elimination occurs smoothly to afford biaryls as cross-coupled products. These experimental results suggest that the rate-determining step in Suzuki–Miyaura coupling is transmetalation. Moreover, it is noteworthy that in this stoichiometric transmetalation reaction, the reaction does not occur at all when no  $Ag_2O$  additive is added.



Scheme 2.2 Three fundamental reactions

#### 2.1.2 Base-Assisted Transmetalation

An accelerating effect on the transmetalation step of Suzuki–Miyaura coupling was observed when the bases were added to the reactions of halogeno(aryl)palladium(II) complexes with trialkylboranes or organoboronic acids. This is not seen in other types of cross-coupling reactions. Organoboronic acids are generally inert toward halogeno(aryl)palladium(II) complexes without any assistance of bases. However, highly nucleophilic organoborates can enhance transmetalation across halogeno(aryl)palladium(II) complexes without bases, and reductive elimination spontaneously follows to form the cross-coupled products, as shown in Eq. 2.2 [13–19].

R <sup>1</sup> -X	+	R <sup>2</sup> — <b>B</b>	No Base	$R^{1}-R^{2}$

[R-C≡ C-BR <sub>3</sub> ]Li	[R <sub>3</sub> B-OMe]Na	R <sub>4</sub> BLi	[Ar-BR <sub>3</sub> ]Li	
Negishi	Suzuki and Miyaura	Suzuki and Miyaura	Suzuki and Miyaura	()
(1982)	(1989)	(1995)	(1995)	(2.2)
[Ar-B(R)(OR) <sub>2</sub> ]Li	[ArBF <sub>3</sub> ]K	Ph <sub>4</sub> BNa	[ArB(OH) <sub>3</sub> ]Na	
Kobayashi	Genêt	Bumagin ( <b>1999</b> )	Cammidge	
(1996)	(1997)	Haddach ( <b>1999</b> )	(2006)	

On the other hand, Suzuki and Miyaura have reported that when the oxo complexes such as methoxo-, hydroxo-, and acetoxopalladium complexes (Fig. 2.1) were used as the starting compounds, the transmetalation with boronic acids occurred smoothly even under neutral conditions [20, 21].



Fig. 2.1 Various oxopalladium complexes

Other examples of Suzuki–Miyaura coupling have been reported under neutral conditions by using the electrophiles shown in Fig. 2.2, because the oxopalladium complexes were immediately obtained by oxidative addition of these reagents [22–27]. In sharp contrast, oxidative addition of Ph<sub>2</sub>IX, PhI(OH)OTf, or ArN<sub>2</sub>BF<sub>4</sub> generates the cationic palladium species, which also rapidly undergo transmetalation without the addition of bases [28–31].



Fig. 2.2 Organic electrophiles directly yielding oxopalladium complexes via oxidative addition

An example of the above-mentioned reactions, the Liebeskind–Srogl coupling, is shown in Scheme 2.3 [22]. The coupling reactions of the arylboronic acids with thioesters afforded the corresponding ketones under the palladium catalysis with the assistance of copper(I) 2-thiophenecarboxylate (CuTC) under neutral conditions. The reaction is thought to occur without the base because thiolatopalladium(II) complexes are converted into the carboxylatopalladium complexes by copper(I) carboxylates [32–42].



Scheme 2.3 Reaction of arylboronic acids with thioesters

#### 2.1.3 The Turnover Limiting Step in Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling

Transmetalation is believed to be the rate-determining step in most Suzuki-Miyaura couplings from the research on substituent effect of organic halides and organoboronic acids [43, 44]. This hypothesis is also supported from theoretical calculations; but, the presumption that transmetalation is the rate-determining step in all Suzuki-Miyaura couplings has become uncertain in recent years owing to the diversity of substrates and reaction conditions. For instance, Buchwald achieved cross-coupling reactions at room temperature by promoting transmetalation with sterically bulky phosphine ligands bearing biaryl backbones [45–47]. Furthermore, Fu reported that the less reactive alkyl chlorides can be used as electrophiles in Suzuki–Miyaura couplings [48]. Fu et al. proposed that the rate-determining step of these reactions is not transmetalation but oxidative addition. However, in most Suzuki-Miyaura couplings, under typical reaction conditions, transmetalation is the rate-controlling reaction in the catalytic cycle. Because a smooth transmetalation is essential for an efficient cross-coupling reaction, future investigation to improve this class of reactions should pay close attention to the transmetalation process. Brown compared the reaction rates by using arenes substituted with both triflates and bromides in a series of cross-coupling reactions. The results disclosed that the bromide chemoselectively reacted in Suzuki-Miyaura coupling, whereas the triflates preferentially reacted in Negishi, Kumada-Tamao-Corriu, and Migita-Kosugi-Stille couplings and Buchwald-Hartwig aminations (Scheme 2.4) [49]. It is clear that these very different results are ascribed to the transmetalation process in each coupling reaction, because the oxidative addition step is reversible [50].



Scheme 2.4 Transformations of 3-bromophenyl triflate

#### 2.1.4 Pathways for Transmetalation

Two possible mechanisms of transmetalation in the base-accelerated Suzuki– Miyaura coupling can be considered. One involves the formation of the nucleophilic borates from the reactions of boronic acids with the added bases, which leads to a nucleophilic attack on the halogenopalladium(II) complexes (Scheme 2.5, Path A); the other contains a nucleophilic attack of the base (a hydroxyl ion) on halogenopalladium(II) complexes to generate the hydroxopalladium(II) intermediate, which further reacts with the neutral organoboron compounds to complete transmetalation (Scheme 2.5, Path B). Although to date there has been no definitive evidence to explain which transmetalation mechanism is correct, recently Hartwig et al. provided insight on the process [51].



Scheme 2.5 Two possible pathways of transmetalation in Suzuki-Miyaura coupling

First of all, Hartwig examined a series of stoichiometric reactions of isolated arylpalladium(II) complexes with several organoboron reagents; the results indicated that the respective reactions of an arylboronic acid with a hydroxopalladium(II) complex (Eq. 2.3) and of an arylborate with an iodopalladium complex (Eq. 2.4) are much faster than the net catalytic reaction (Eq. 2.5). Therefore, both of the mechanisms (Paths A and B) may be involved in the catalytic cycle of Suzuki–Miyaura coupling.





Next, the concentrations of the boronic acid, the borate, the halogenopalladium(II), and the hydroxopalladium complexes were measured by monitoring the <sup>31</sup>P and <sup>11</sup>B NMR spectra in the reactions. As a result, it was found that the ratio between boronic acid and borate is 1:1 to 1:3 under general conditions, i.e., a slightly basic condition in the organic solvent containing water (Eq. 2.6).



It was also clarified that there was no difference in the ratio between iodopalladium and hydroxopalladium complexes at equilibrium (shown in Eq. 2.7).



#### 2 Mechanisms and Fundamental Reactions

Finally, the reaction rates of a boronic acid with a hydroxopalladium complex and of a borate with a bromopalladium complex were compared. When each reaction was monitored by <sup>31</sup>P NMR, a rate constant for the reaction of a boronic acid and a hydroxopalladium complex was found to be  $2.4 \times 10^{-3} \text{ s}^{-1}$  (Eq. 2.8); whereas that of a bromopalladium complex and a potassium borate was  $1.7 \times 10^{-7} \text{ s}^{-1}$  (Eq. 2.9), giving rise to significantly different ratios by a factor of  $1.4 \times 10^4$ .



These experimental results thus indicate that the transmetalation progresses via Path B in Scheme 2.5. However, it is noteworthy that: (1) this experimental data cannot be applied to all of Suzuki–Miyaura reactions; (2) although weak bases such as carbonates and phosphates are used in most cases of Suzuki–Miyaura reactions, Path B would compete with Path A when stronger bases are employed, leading to the prior generation of the borates; and (3) these data do not reflect any detailed mechanism for a transfer of the organic groups from boron to palladium.

#### 2.1.5 Computational Studies of the Transmetalation Step in Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling

The theoretical calculations for the mechanism of the transmetalation process in Suzuki-Miyaura coupling support the experimental evidence provided by Hartwig [51]. Maseras has performed the DFT calculations and the energy profiles corresponding to Paths A and B are shown in Figs. 2.3 and 2.4, respectively [52]. The energy profile of the reaction of a bromopalladium complex with vinylborate shown in Fig. 2.3, indicates that transmetalation proceeds exothermically, and the largest activation barrier in this route is rather small at 4.2 kcal/mol. Therefore, this calculation result supports that the bromo(vinyl)palladium complex can react with vinylborate in a catalytic cycle.



Fig. 2.3 An energy profile for Path A

On the other hand, Fig. 2.4 shows an energy profile for the reaction of vinylboronic acid with a hydroxo(vinyl)palladium(II) complex. This route is also exothermic, and the activation barrier was found to be only 0.6 kcal/mol. Comparison of the respective energy profiles for paths A and B, shown in Figs. 2.3 and 2.4, indicates that the energy of the transmetalation product **TSC3**, divinylpalladium(II) complex in Fig. 2.4, is much smaller. Therefore, path B is favored, which is consistent with the experimental outcomes by Hartwig.

#### 2 Mechanisms and Fundamental Reactions

In addition, Maseras calculated the direct reaction of a bromo(vinyl)palladium(II) complex with vinylboronic acid in the absence of the base. The most probable structures in this mechanism are shown in Fig. 2.5. This reaction pathway consists of the following processes: (1) a coordination of the double bond of the boronic acid to the palladium center; (2) a transfer of the bromide from palladium



Fig. 2.4 An energy profile for Path B

to boron; and (3) a transfer of the vinyl group from boron to palladium to generate the divinylpalladium complex. Calculated results shown in Fig. 2.5 suggest that this path is endothermic (31.6 kcal) and that there is a large energy barrier (39.3 kcal) from the intermediate **IO2** to the transition state **TS02**. This result signifies that the direct transmetalation between the bromopalladium complex and boronic acid in the absence of a base does not occur, which is also supported by experimental data.


Fig. 2.5 An energy profile for the reaction of a  $\ensuremath{\mathsf{bromo}}(\ensuremath{\mathsf{vinyl}})\ensuremath{\mathsf{palladium}}(\ensuremath{\mathrm{II}})$  complex with vinylboronic acid

### 2.1.6 An Interconversion Between Trifluoroborate and Boronic Acid

Very recently, Lloyd-Jones experimentally clarified that in Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of potassium trifluoroborate, hydrolysis of the trifluoroborate takes place to generate the corresponding boronic acid, which further reacts with a hydroxopalladium(II) complex (Scheme 2.6) [53]. This evidence indicates that the transmetalation of potassium trifluoroborate proceeds through Path B shown in Fig. 2.4.



Scheme 2.6 Hydrolysis of potassium trifluoroborate



Scheme 2.7 Competitive reaction between an arylborate and an arylboronic acid

In addition, the mechanism of Suzuki–Miyaura coupling was investigated by using different molar ratios of an arylborate  $[D_0]$ -1 and a deuterated arylboronic acid  $[D_4]$ -4 (Scheme 2.7). When the mixture of a 1:1 ratio of  $[D_0]$ -1 and  $[D_4]$ -4 was used, the formation of the deuterated cross-coupled product  $[D_4]$ -3 had a priority over  $[D_0]$ -3. Surprisingly, even when a 9:1 mixture of  $[D_0]$ -1 and  $[D_4]$ -4 was used, the deuterated product  $[D_4]$ -3 was obtained preferentially over  $[D_0]$ -3. These results indicate that trifluoroborates can be a precursor of the corresponding boronic acids in the presence of a base in water.

Amatore and Jutand experimentally proved that the reaction becomes slower as the concentration of the hydroxide ion increases in the reaction of phenylboronic acid with a bromopalladium complex, as shown in Scheme 2.8 [54]. This observation is consistent with the experimental results from Hartwig and Lloyd-Jones, considering that Path B becomes inferior as the concentration of borates increases over boronic acids (under stronger basic conditions).



Scheme 2.8 The reaction of phenylboronic acid with a bromopalladium complex in the presence of the hydroxide ion

Herein the effect of the added bases and possible reaction paths in the Suzuki– Miyaura coupling have been discussed. However, the results of experiments by Hartwig and calculations by Maseras must be interpreted carefully. First, the data shown herein are not applicable to all reaction systems using various transition metals/ligands. Second, under the reaction conditions that use a stronger base, Path A competes with Path B because the concentration of the existing borates increases in the reaction mixture. Overall, these results have greatly contributed to the understanding of the transmetalation process because in most cases Suzuki–Miyaura coupling employs relatively weak bases such as carbonates and phosphates.

### 2.2 The "Copper Effect" in Migita-Kosugi-Stille Coupling

The Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling, the palladium-catalyzed coupling reactions of organotin reagents with organic halides, as well as Suzuki–Miyaura coupling, are very useful carbon–carbon bond-forming reactions (Eq. 2.10) [55–57].

$$Ar^{1}-X + Ar^{2}-SnR_{3} \xrightarrow{Pd cat} Ar^{1}-Ar^{2}$$
 (2.10)

#### 2.2.1 A Cine Substitution Reaction

Mechanistic investigation of the Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling has persisted since its discovery. The traditional cycle of oxidative addition, transmetalation, and reductive elimination, prevalent in transition metal catalyzed carbon–carbon bondforming reactions, has been widely accepted. When the bulky alkenyltin reagents are employed, a side reaction, the *cine* substitution reaction, is observed due to slow transmetalation (Eq. 2.11) [58].

$$R^{1}-X + N^{2}-SnBu_{3} \xrightarrow{Pd cat.} R^{1}-R^{2} + R^{1}-R^{2}$$

$$(ipso) \qquad (cine) \qquad (2.11)$$

 $R^1$  = aryl, vinyl; X = Cl, Br, I, OTf, OTs  $R^2$  = phenyl, alkyl, ester

#### 2 Mechanisms and Fundamental Reactions

Kikukawa et al. found in 1986 that the reaction of  $ArN_2BF_4$  with trialkyl( $\alpha$ -styryl)stannanes selectively produces the desired stereodefined (*Z*)-stilbene derivatives in high yields, not the  $\alpha$ -arylated styrenes (Eq. 2.12) [59]. Due to slow transmetalation, this unexpected *cine* substitution reaction is observed in Migita–Kosugi– Stille coupling by using the bulky organotin reagents. In addition, it is reported that when an excess of diazonium salts are added, isomerization to the Z-stereoisomer becomes more substantial. The hydridopalladium complex plays an important role in this isomerization, which does not occur at all in the absence of the palladium catalyst.

$$Ar - N_{2}BF_{4} + P_{h} SnR_{3} \xrightarrow{Pd(dba)_{2}} Ph Ar$$

$$(2.12)$$

$$Ar = C_{6}H_{4}X, X = H, 4-Me, 4-I, 4-COMe, 4-CO_{2}Et, 3-NO_{2}, 4-NO_{2}$$

$$R = Me, Et, n-Bu$$

At present, two different reaction mechanisms giving rise to the *cine* substitution products are postulated, as shown in Scheme 2.9. One is the addition–elimination mechanism (path a) and the other is via the palladium carbene complex (path b). In both mechanisms, the reaction starts from a regioselective addition of the arylpalladium complex to the double bond of the  $\alpha$ -substituted alkenylstannane.



Scheme 2.9 Two reaction pathways of the cine substitution reaction

In the addition–elimination mechanism shown in Scheme 2.10, first carbopalladation occurs to the alkenylstannane regioselectively to generate intermediate 5. The carbon–carbon bond in 5 rotates to give the *syn* configuration, from which  $\beta$ -hydrogen elimination takes place. The hydridopalladium complex adds to the generated alkenylstannane at the opposite position to give intermediate 6. Finally, the Z-alkene is formed by the *anti*-elimination of a trialkylstannyl group and palladium, regenerating the catalyst [59]. However, definitive evidence to support this hypothesis has not been found to date, although many attempts to detect and identify the in situ formed alkenylstannanes have been made.



Scheme 2.10 The addition-elimination mechanism of the cine substitution reaction

Another considered mechanism is via a palladium carbene complex. The regioselective insertion of an alkenylstannane into a carbon–palladium bond of the arylpalladium complex gives intermediate 7. Iodostannane is released by  $\alpha$ -elimination from the four-centered transitional state to generate the palladium carbene complex 8. A 1,3-hydrogen shift from complex 8 forming the hydridopalladium complex 9 and the subsequent reductive elimination can afford the *cine* product (Scheme 2.11) [60]. The occurrence of the 1,3-hydrogen shift was confirmed by experiments with deuterated alkenyltin reagents.



Scheme 2.11 Mechanism of the *cine* substitution reaction via a palladium carbene complex

#### 2.2.2 The Copper Effect

Although many reaction condition variables (including electrophiles, solvents, ligands, additives, etc.) were evaluated to avoid the *cine* substitution reaction as a side reaction in Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling, the improvements of the product yields were not attained. The use of the bulky alkenyltin compounds and the slow transmetalation contribute to the *cine* substitution reactions. Only acceleration of transmetalation, the rate-determining step, can enable the desired reaction. The unambiguous improvement of the *ipso* selectivity and an accelerating effect for transmetalation have been observed by adding copper iodide and other copper(I) salts (Eq. 2.13) [61–73].

#### 2 Mechanisms and Fundamental Reactions

Ar<sup>1</sup>-X + Ar<sup>2</sup>-SnR<sub>3</sub> 
$$\xrightarrow{\text{Pd cat.}}$$
 Ar<sup>1</sup>-Ar<sup>2</sup> (2.13)

In 1993, for example, Levin reported that the reaction takes place in the *ipso* selective manner in Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling when the sterically bulky alkenyltin reagents are employed with the copper iodide as a co-catalyst; no formation of the *cine* substitution product was observed (Eq. 2.14) [74].

This so-called "copper effect" was researched first by Farina and Liebeskind [75]. They compared the reaction rates of the cross-coupling of vinyltributyltin with iodobenzene in the presence and in the absence of copper iodide. As a result, it has been disclosed that the reaction with the addition of copper iodide  $(k_{obs} = 5.90 \times 10^{-3} \text{ min}^{-1})$  is about 100 times faster than that without any copper additive  $(k_{obs} = 2.66 \times 10^{-5} \text{ min}^{-1})$  (Eq. 2.15).

$$\begin{array}{c|c} & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & &$$

...

The rate-determining step in Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling is believed to be the transmetalation process based on recent research [76, 77]. Farina and Liebeskind explained the "copper effect" as follows. The added copper(I) salt traps the triphenylphosphine dissociated from the metal center in oxidative adduct **10** to generate the unsaturated palladium complex **11**, and promotes the transmetalation process (Scheme 2.12). It is noteworthy that the added copper iodide does not promote the dissociated after oxidative adduct **10**, but it traps the ligand dissociated after oxidative addition. Also, the addition of copper salts was reported to prevent the progress of the reverse reaction from **11** to **10**.

$$Ar^{1}-I \xrightarrow{PdL_{4}} Ar^{1}-Pd-I + L \xrightarrow{CuI} CuIL_{n} + Ar^{1}-Pd-I \xrightarrow{Ar^{2}-SnR_{3}} Ar^{1}-Ar^{2}$$

$$I0 \qquad I1$$

Scheme 2.12 "Copper effect" in Migita-Kosugi-Stille coupling

The soft arsine ligands did not show any accelerating effect, compared with the harder phosphine ligands, as shown in Eq. 2.16. This is because copper iodide has a stronger interaction with phosphine ligands than with arsine ligands [78, 79]. Moreover, when  $Pd(AsPh_3)_4$  is used as a catalyst, the association rate of free ligands to the metal center becomes slower than that observed in the case of  $Pd(PPh_3)_4$ .

$$C_{6}Cl_{2}F_{3}-I + Bu_{3}Sn \xrightarrow{//} \underbrace{\text{cat. trans-}[Pd(C_{6}Cl_{2}F_{3})I(L)_{2}]}_{L = PPh_{3} \text{ or } AsPh_{3}} C_{6}Cl_{2}F_{3} \xrightarrow{//} + I-SnBu_{3}$$

$$(2.16)$$

It is known that the organic groups transmetalate from tin to copper in polar solvents (Scheme 2.13) [80]. The generation of tin halides was confirmed by measuring the <sup>119</sup>Sn NMR in NMP as the solvent. The newly formed organo-copper(I) species showed a higher activity of transmetalation to palladium than the corresponding organotin reagents. Therefore, the generated organocopper reagents take part in transmetalation in Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling.

$$Ar^2-SnR_3$$
  $\xrightarrow{CuX}$   $Ar^2-Cu$   $\xrightarrow{Ar^1-Pd-X}$   $Ar^1-Pd-Ar^2$   $Ar^1-Pd-Ar^2$ 

Scheme 2.13 Transmetalation from tin to copper

#### 2.2.3 Perspectives

Clearly, there is an accelerating effect in Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling when copper(I) salts are added. In the future, considering the effect of copper(I) salts, expanded use of Migita–Kosugi–Stille-type carbon(sp<sup>3</sup>)–carbon(sp<sup>3</sup>) bond-forming reactions is expected. These types of reactions are very challenging because alkyl electrophiles are undesirable for oxidative addition and the synchronal  $\beta$ -hydrogen elimination competitively takes place. However, unprecedented carbon(sp<sup>3</sup>)–carbon(sp<sup>3</sup>) couplings in the Migita–Kosugi–Stille reaction can be achieved by accelerating transmetalation, the rate-determining step, with the addition of copper(I) salts (Eq. 2.17).

$$\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \mathsf{Pd} \mathsf{cat.} \\ \mathbf{C} - \mathsf{X} + \mathsf{R}_3 \mathsf{Sn} - \mathsf{C} \end{array} & \begin{array}{c} \mathsf{CuX} \\ \mathbf{C}(sp^3) - \mathcal{C}(sp^3) \ coupling \end{array} & \begin{array}{c} \mathsf{C} - \mathsf{C} \end{array} & (2.17) \end{array}$$

#### 2.3 Summary

This chapter focuses on the transmetalation of Suzuki–Miyaura and Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling reactions, the various pathways and the mechanisms involved, and the effect of the bases and of copper(I) salts. It has been concluded that the reactions of the arylboronic acids with a hydroxopalladium complex are much faster than that of arylborates with a halogenopalladium(II) complex from experimental and theoretical findings. However, it cannot be asserted that the mechanism in *all* Suzuki–Miyaura reactions has been proven because only the general reaction conditions have been examined at this present stage. In the future, it can be expected that further research on the mechanisms will develop from the studies clarified to date. This will lead to the development of more efficient crosscoupling reactions.

#### References

- 1. de Meijere A, Diedrich F (2004) Metal-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions, 2nd edn. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim
- 2. Li JJ (2009) Name reactions for homologations. Wiley, Hoboken
- Miyaura N, Suzuki A (1995) Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of organoboron compounds. Chem Rev 95:2457–2483
- 4. Miyaura N, Yamada K, Suzuki A (1979) A new stereospecific cross-coupling by the palladium-catalyzed reaction of 1-alkenylboranes with 1-alkenyl or 1-alkynyl halides. Tetrahedron Lett 20:3437–3440
- 5. de Graaf W, Boersma J, Smeets WJJ, Spek AL, van Koten G (1989) Dimethyl(N, N, N', N'tetramethylethanediamine)palladium(II) and dimethyl[1,2-bis(dimethylphosphino)ethane] palladium(II): syntheses, x-ray crystal structures, and thermolysis, oxidative-addition and ligand-exchange reactions. Organometallics 8:2907–2917
- 6. de Graaf W, Boersma J, van Koten G (1990) Cross-coupling versus homocoupling in the reactions of dimethyl(N, N, N', N'-tetramethylethanediamine)palladium with organic halides. Organometallics 9:1479–1484
- Alsters PL, Engel PF, Hogerheide MP, Copijn M, Spek AL, van Koten G (1993) Rigid five- and six-membered C, N, N'-bound aryl-, benzyl-, and alkylorganopalladium complexes: sp<sup>2</sup> vs. sp<sup>3</sup> carbon-hydrogen activation during cyclopalladation and palladium(IV) intermediates in oxidative addition reactions with dihalogens and alkyl halides. Organometallics 12:1831–1844
- Markies BA, Canty AJ, de Graaf W, Boersma J, Janssen MD, Hogerheide MP, Smeets WJJ, Spek AL, van Koten G (1994) Synthesis and structural studies of phenyl(iodo)- and methyl(phenyl)palladium(II) complexes of bidentate nitrogen donor ligands. J Organomet Chem 482:191–199
- Yagyu T, Hamada M, Osakada K, Yamamoto T (2001) Cationic arylpalladium complexes with chelating diamine ligands, [PdAr(N–N)(solv)]BF<sub>4</sub> (N–N=N, N, N', N'tetramethylethylenediamine, 2,2'-bipyridine, 4,4'-dimethyl-2,2'-bipyridine). Preparation, intermolecular coupling of the aryl ligands, and insertion of alkyne and allene into the Pd-C bond. Organometallics 20:1087–1101
- Nishihara Y, Onodera H, Osakada K (2004) Synthesis and structural characterization of the first unsymmetrical diarylpalladium complex trans-Pd(C<sub>6</sub>F<sub>5</sub>)(2,4,6-C<sub>6</sub>F<sub>3</sub>H<sub>2</sub>)(PEt<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>, derived from transmetallation between 2,4,6-trifluorophenylboronic acid and trans-Pd(C<sub>6</sub>F<sub>5</sub>)I(PEt<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>. Chem Commun, 192–193

- 11. Osakada K, Onodera H, Nishihara Y (2005) Diarylpalladium complexes with a cis structure. Formation via transmetalation of arylboronic acids with an aryliodopalladium complex and intramolecular coupling of the aryl ligands, affording unsymmetrical biaryls. Organometallics 24:190–192
- Suzaki Y, Osakada K (2006) Chemical properties of mononuclear and dinuclear phenylplatinum(II) hydroxo complexes with cod ligands. Transmetalation of arylboronic acids, coupling of the phenyl ligands, and carbonylation. Organometallics 25:3251–3258
- 13. Negishi E (1982) Palladium- or nickel-catalyzed cross coupling. A new selective method for carbon–carbon bond formation. Acc Chem Res 15:340–348
- 14. Miyaura N, Ishiyama T, Sasaki H, Ishikawa M, Satoh M, Suzuki A (1989) Palladiumcatalyzed inter- and intramolecular cross-coupling reactions of B-alkyl-9borabicyclo[3.3.1]nonane derivatives with 1-halo-1-alkenes or haloarenes. Syntheses of functionalized alkenes, arenes, and cycloalkenes via a hydroboration-coupling sequence. J Am Chem Soc 111:314–321
- Kobayashi Y, Mizijiri R (1996) Nickel-catalyzed coupling reaction of lithium organoborates and aryl mesylates possessing an electron withdrawing group. Tetrahedron Lett 37:8531–8534
- Darses S, Genêt J-P, Brayer J-L, Demoute J-P (1997) Cross-coupling reactions of arenediazonium tetrafluoroborates with potassium aryl- or alkenyltrifluoroborates catalyzed by palladium. Tetrahedron Lett 38:4393–4396
- Haddach M, McCarthy JR (1999) A new method for the synthesis of ketones: the palladiumcatalyzed cross-coupling of acid chlorides with arylboronic acids. Tetrahedron Lett 40:3109– 3112
- Bumagin NA, Korolev DN (1999) Synthesis of unsymmetric ketones via ligandless Pdcatalyzed reaction of acyl chlorides with organoboranes. Tetrahedron Lett 40:3057–3060
- Andrew N, Cammidge AN, Goddard VHM, Gopee H, Harrison NL, Hughes DL, Schubert CJ, Sutton BM, Watts GL, Whitehead AJ (2006) Aryl trihydroxyborates: easily isolated discrete species convenient for direct application in coupling reactions. Org Lett 8:4071– 4074
- Miyaura N, Yamada Y, Suginome H, Suzuki A (1985) Novel and convenient method for the stereo- and regiospecific synthesis of conjugated alkadienes and alkenynes via the palladiumcatalyzed cross-coupling reaction of 1-alkenylboranes with bromoalkenes and bromoalkynes. J Am Chem Soc 107:972–980
- 21. Miyaura N (2002) Cross-coupling reaction of organoboron compounds via base-assisted transmetalation to palladium(II) complexes. J Organomet Chem 653:54–57
- 22. Miyaura N, Tanabe Y, Suginome H, Suzuki A (1982) Cross-coupling reactions of 1alkenylboranes with 3,4-epoxy-1-butene catalyzed by palladium or nickel complexes. J Organomet Chem 233:C13–C16
- 23. Sasaya F, Miyaura N, Suzuki A (1987) Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction of (E)-1alkenyl-1,3,2-benzo-dioxaboroles with allylic phenoxides. A simple route 1,4-alkadienes from alkynes via hydroboration. Bull Korean Chem Soc 8:329–332
- 24. Moriya T, Miyaura N, Suzuki A (1994) Synthesis of allenes by palladium-catalyzed crosscoupling reaction of organoboron compounds with propargylic carbonates: transmetallation of organoboron compounds with (alkoxo)palladium complexes under neutral conditions. Synlett, 149–151
- 25. Liebeskind LS, Srogl J (2000) Thiol ester-boronic acid coupling. A mechanistically unprecedented and general ketone synthesis. J Am Chem Soc 122:11260–11261
- 26. Kakino R, Shimizu A, Yamamoto A (2001) Synthesis of trifluoromethyl ketones by palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction of phenyl trifluoroacetate with organoboron compounds. Bull Chem Soc Jpn 74:371–376
- 27. Kakino R, Narahashi H, Shimizu I, Yamamoto A (2002) Palladium-catalyzed direct conversion of carboxylic acids into ketones with organoboronic acids promoted by anhydride activators. Bull Chem Soc Jpn 75:1333–1345
- 28. Kang S-K, Lee H-W, Jang S-B, Ho P-S (1996) Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling of organoboron compounds with iodonium salts and iodanes. J Org Chem 61:4720–4724

- Dares S, Jeffery T, Genêt J-P, Brayer J-L, Demoute J-P (1996) Cross-coupling of arenediazonium tetrafluoroborates with arylboronic acids catalysed by palladium. Tetrahedron Lett 37:3857–3860
- Sengupta S, Bhattacharyya S (1997) Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling of arenediazonium salts with arylboronic acids. J Org Chem 62:3405–3406
- 31. Willis DM, Strongin RM (2000) Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling of aryldiazonium tetrafluoroborate salts with arylboronic esters. Tetrahedron Lett 41:6271–6274
- Savarin C, Srogl J, Liebeskind LS (2001) Substituted alkyne synthesis under nonbasic conditions: copper carboxylate-mediated, palladium-catalyzed thioalkyne-boronic acid crosscoupling. Org Lett 3:91–93
- Savarin C, Liebeskind LS (2001) Nonbasic, room temperature, palladium-catalyzed coupling of aryl and alkenyl iodides with boronic acids mediated by copper(I) thiophene-2-carboxylate (CuTC). Org Lett 3:2149–2152
- Liebeskind LS, Srogl J (2002) Heteroaromatic thioether-boronic acid cross-coupling under neutral reaction conditions. Org Lett 4:979–981
- Kusturin CL, Liebeskind LS, Neumann WL (2002) A new catalytic cross-coupling approach for the synthesis of protected aryl and heteroaryl amidines. Org Lett 4:983–985
- Alphonse F-A, Suzenet F, Keromnes A, Lebret B, Guillaumeta G (2002) Palladium-catalyzed 3-thiomethyltriazine-boronic acid cross coupling: easy access to 3-substituted-1,2,4-triazines. Synlett, 447–450
- Lengar A, Kappe CO (2004) Tunable carbon–carbon and carbon-sulfur cross-coupling of boronic acids with 3,4-dihydropyrimidine-2-thiones. Org Lett 6:771–774
- Nishihara Y, Inoue Y, Fujisawa M, Takagi K (2005) Room-temperature palladium-catalyzed and copper(I)-mediated coupling reactions of acid chlorides with boronic acids under neutral conditions. Synlett, 2309–2312
- Arshad N, Hashim J, Kappe CO (2009) Palladium(0)-catalyzed, copper(I)-mediated coupling of cyclic thioamides with alkenylboronic acids, organostannanes, and siloxanes. J Org Chem 74:5118–5121
- Kmentova I, Sutherland HS, Palmer BD, Blaser A, Franzblau SG, Wan B, Wang Y, Ma Z, Denny WA, Thompson AM (2010) Synthesis and structure-activity relationships of aza- and diazabiphenyl analogues of the antitubercular drug (6S)-2-nitro-6-{[4-(trifluoromethoxy)benzyl]oxy}-6,7-dihydro-5H-imidazo[2,1-b][1,3]oxazine (PA-824). J Med Chem 53:8421–8439
- Modha SG, Trivedi JC, Mehta VP, Ermolat'ev DS, Van der Eycken EV (2011) An expeditious route toward pyrazine-containing nucleoside analogues. J Org Chem 76:846–856
- Calter MA, Korotkov A (2011) Catalytic, asymmetric, interrupted Feist-Bénary reactions of α-tosyloxyacetophenones. Org Lett 13:6328–6330
- Zim S, Lando VR, Dupont J, Monterio AL (2001) NiCl<sub>2</sub>(PCy<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>: a simple and efficient catalyst precursor for the Suzuki cross-coupling of aryl tosylates and arylboronic acids. Org Lett 3:3049–3051
- 44. Moreno-Mañas M, Pérez M, Pleixats R (1996) Palladium-catalyzed Suzuki-type selfcoupling of arylboronic acids, a mechanistic study. J Org Chem 61:2346–2351
- Wolfe JP, Singer RA, Yang BH, Buchwald SL (1999) Highly active palladium catalysts for Suzuki coupling reactions. J Am Chem Soc 121:9550–9561
- 46. Ngyuen HN, Huang X, Buchwald SL (2003) The first palladium catalyst for Suzuki-Miyaura and carbonyl enolate coupling of aryl arenesulfonates. J Am Chem Soc 125:11818–11819
- 47. Martin R, Buchwald SL (2008) Palladium-catalyzed Suzuki-Miyaura cross-coupling reactions employing dialkylbiaryl phosphine ligands. Acc Chem Res 41:1461–1473
- Lu Z, Fu GC (2010) Alkyl-alkyl Suzuki cross-coupling of unactivated secondary alkyl chlorides. Angew Chem Int Ed 49:6676–6678
- 49. Espino G, Kurbangalieva A, Brown JM (2007) Aryl bromide/triflate selectivities reveal mechanistic divergence in palladium-catalysed couplings; the Suzuki-Miyaura anomaly. Chem Commun, 1742–1744

- 50. Roy AH, Hartwig JF (2003) Directly observed reductive elimination of aryl halides from monomeric arylpalladium(II) halide complexes. J Am Chem Soc 125:13944–13945
- Carrow BP, Hartwig JF (2011) Distinguishing between pathways for transmetalation in Suzuki-Miyaura reactions. J Am Chem Soc 133:2116–2119
- Braga AAC, Morgan NH, Ujaque G, Maseras F (2005) Computational characterization of the role of the base in the Suzuki-Miyaura cross-coupling reaction. J Am Chem Soc 127:9298– 9307
- 53. Butters M, Harvey J, Jover J, Lloyd-Jones G (2010) Aryl trifluoroborates in Suzuki-Miyaura coupling: the roles of endogenous aryl boronic acid and fluoride. Angew Chem Int Ed 49:5156–5160
- 54. Amatore C, Jutand A, Le Duc G (2011) Kinetic data for the transmetalation/reductive elimination in palladium-catalyzed Suzuki-Miyaura reactions: unexpected triple role of hydroxide ions used as base. Chem Eur J 17:2492–2503
- Kosugi M, Sasazawa K, Shimizu Y, Migita T (1977) Reactions of allyltin compounds III. Allylation of aromatic halides with allyltributyltin in the presence of tetrakis(triphenylphosphine)palladium(0). Chem Lett, 301–302
- 56. Milstein D, Stille JK (1978) A general, selective, and facile method for ketone synthesis from acid chlorides and organotin compounds catalyzed by palladium. J Am Chem Soc 100:3636– 3638
- 57. Stille JK (1986) The palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of organotin reagents with organic electrophiles. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 25:508–524
- 58. Suwinski Swierczek K (2001) cine- and tele-Substitution reactions. Tetrahedron 57:1639-1662
- 59. Kikukawa K, Umekawa H, Matsuda T (1986) Reaction of diazonium salts with transition metals: XII. Palladium-catalyzed aryldestannylation of α-styrylstannanes by arenediazonium salts. J Organomet Chem 311:C44–C46
- 60. Busacca CA, Swestock J, Johnson RE, Bailey TR, Musza L, Roger CA (1994) The anomalous Stille reactions of methyl  $\alpha$ -(tributylstannyl)acrylate: evidence for a palladium carbene intermediate. J Org Chem 59:7553–7556
- 61. Liebeskind LS, Fengl RW (1990) 3-Stannylcyclobutenediones as nucleophilic cyclobutenedione equivalents. Synthesis of substituted cyclobutenediones and cyclobutenedione monoacetals and the beneficial effect of catalytic copper iodide on the Stille reaction. J Org Chem 55:5359–5364
- 62. Farina V, Krishnan B (1991) Large rate accelerations in the Stille reaction with tri-2furylphosphine and triphenylarsine as palladium ligands: mechanistic and synthetic implications. J Am Chem Soc 113:9585–9595
- Gómez-Bengoa E, Echavarren AM (1991) Synthesis of isoascididemin, a regioisomer of the marine alkaloid ascididemin. J Org Chem 56:3497–3501
- 64. Ye J, Bhatt RK, Falck JR (1993) Stereospecific  $\alpha$ -alkoxystannane couplings with acyl chlorides: total synthesis of (+)-goniofufurone. Tetrahedron Lett 34:8007–8010
- 65. Liebeskind LS, Riesinger SW (1993) Substituted quinone synthesis by palladium-copper cocatalyzed cross-coupling of stannylquinones with aryl and heteroaryl iodides. J Org Chem 58:408–413
- 66. Saá JM, Martorell G (1993) Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling synthesis of hindered biaryls and terphenyls. Cocatalysis by copper(I) salts. J Org Chem 58:1963–1966
- 67. Ye J, Bhatt RK, Falck JR (1994) Stereospecific palladium/copper cocatalyzed cross-coupling of  $\alpha$ -alkoxy- and  $\alpha$ -aminostannanes with acyl chlorides. J Am Chem Soc 116:1–5
- 68. Farina V (1996) New perspectives in the cross-coupling reactions of organostannanes. Pure Appl Chem 68:73–78
- 69. Farina V, Roth GP (1996) Recent advances in the Stille reaction. Adv Met-Org Chem 5:1-53
- Soheili A, Albaneze-Walker J, Murry JA, Dormer PG, Hughes DL (2003) Efficient and general protocol for the copper-free Sonogashira coupling of aryl bromides at room temperature. Org Lett 5:4191–4194

- 2 Mechanisms and Fundamental Reactions
- Gelman D, Buchwald SL (2003) Efficient palladium-catalyzed coupling of aryl chlorides and tosylates with terminal alkynes: use of a copper cocatalyst inhibits the reaction. Angew Chem Int Ed 42:5993–5996
- 72. Mozzola RD, Giese S, Benson CL, West FG (2004) Improved yields with added copper(I) salts in carbonylative Stille couplings of sterically hindered vinylstannanes. J Org Chem 69:220–223
- 73. Wang Y, Burton J (2006) Copper(I)-only catalyzed reactions of (*E*)-2,3-difluoro-3stannylacrylic ester with acid chlorides and mechanistic studies of the "copper effect" in Stille coupling reactions. Org Lett 8:1109–1111
- 74. Levin JI (1993) Palladium-catalyzed coupling of an  $\alpha$ -stannyl acrylate to aryl iodides and triflates. A one-step synthesis of aryl propenoic esters. Tetrahedron Lett 34:6211–6214
- 75. Farina V, Kapadia S, Krishnan B, Wang C, Liebeskind LS (1994) On the nature of the "copper effect" in the Stille cross-coupling. J Org Chem 59:5905–5911
- 76. Wang M, Lin Z (2010) Stille cross-coupling reactions of alkenylstannanes with alkenyl iodides mediated by copper(I) thiophene-2-carboxylate: a density functional study. Organometallics 29:3077–3084
- 77. Peng Y, Li W-DZ (2010) *cine* Substitution and the Cu effect in Stille cross-coupling reactions: mechanistic perspectives and synthetic utility. Eur J Org Chem, 6703–6718
- 78. Casadro AL, Espinet P (2003) Quantitative evaluation of the factors contributing to the "copper effect" in the Stille reaction. Organometallics 22:1305–1309
- Espinet P, Echavarren AM (2004) The mechanism of the Stille reaction. Angew Chem Int Ed 43:4704–4734
- Mee SPH, Lee V, Baldwin JE (2004) Stille coupling made easier-the synergic effect of copper(I) salts and the fluoride ion. Angew Chem Int Ed 43:1132–1136

# Part II Applications of the Cross-Coupling Reactions

# **Chapter 3 Natural Product Synthesis**

Yasuhiro Okuda and Yasushi Nishihara

**Abstract** The synthetic routes to the natural products are designed with consideration of the structures of the reagents, functional group tolerance, total yields, and the environmental benignness of wastes. In natural product syntheses, the cross-couplings as carbon–carbon bond-forming reactions have been widely utilized for the construction of fragments as the key steps in the total syntheses.

**Keywords** Natural product • Total synthesis • Selectivity • Convergent synthesis • Hybridization

### 3.1 Introduction

Natural organic compounds with specific chemical structures and bioactivities have intimate relationships with pharmaceuticals, dyes, spices, etc., and are thus extremely important industrially. Frequently, only a small amount of a natural product can be harvested from its naturally occurring source; in these cases, organic synthesis is necessary if a large amount of the natural product is required. Furthermore, the synthetic route is often simply more cost-effective or practical. Some naturally occurring products with unique physical and chemical properties are preferable for the production of fine chemicals. In fact, the proportion of these products supplied from nature is only about 5 %. This extensive demand implies that partial or total synthesis is necessary and indispensable [1].

Although a variety of organic reactions (e.g., aldol reactions and Grignard reactions) have been conventionally used for carbon–carbon bond formation in natural product syntheses, these reactions are not able to satisfy some demands due

Y. Okuda (🖂) · Y. Nishihara

Division of Earth, Life, and Molecular Sciences Graduate School of Natural, Science and Technology, Okayama University, 3-1-1 Tsushimanaka, Kita-ku 700-8530 Okayama, Japan e-mail: ynishiha@okayama-u.ac.jp

to a low selectivity and due to substrate limitations. However, the cross-coupling reactions are widely accepted as carbon–carbon bond-forming methodologies that can achieve high selectivity and functional group tolerance in the synthesis of natural products with complicated chemical structures [2].

Considering the establishment of convergent synthesis and the easy availability of starting materials in natural product syntheses, the cross-coupling methods introduced in this publication are very powerful strategic tools for carbon–carbon bond formation. However, when the target molecules are synthesized with these cross-coupling reactions, appropriate selection of substrates and reagents is essential. This chapter will review recent examples of how the cross-coupling reactions have been used in practical natural product syntheses.

### 3.2 Kumada–Tamao–Corriu Coupling (sp<sup>3</sup>–sp<sup>2</sup>)

Because the highly reactive Grignard reagents can be employed in Kumada– Tamao–Corriu coupling, these reactions have been applied to natural product syntheses in recent years. Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling is advantageous due to the utility of commercially available Grignard reagents. For example, a precursor of (-)-hennoxazole A was synthesized selectively and quantitatively by methylation of the substrate bearing a protected hydroxy group with methylmagnesium bromide under palladium catalysis (Scheme 3.1) [3].



Scheme 3.1 Total synthesis of (-)-hennoxazole A

Since Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling lacks functional group tolerance, its utilization in the final stages of synthesis of the natural products is rare. However, there is a natural abundance of magnesium with the eighth Clark's number (1.93 wt %), and the preparation of Grignard reagents is relatively easy. Thus, Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling can play an important part in synthesis if the substrates are stable enough toward Grignard reagents. Hereafter, more examples of Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling as the key step in an overall synthesis will be introduced.

E/Z stereoisomerization is known to be one of the side reactions in the nickelcatalyzed Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling of alkenyl halides with Grignard reagents. However, this isomerization has been utilized for the selective synthesis of (–)-zampanolide by manipulating the steric effect of the substituent (Scheme 3.2) [4]. In this method, a selective synthesis of the trisubstituted dienyne as a target product was attained by the introduction of an alkynyl group stereoselectively through Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling and the subsequent isomerization of an olefinic moiety during the Ni-catalyzed Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling. Thus, this example shows the advantageous features of the Ni-catalyzed Kumada–Tamao– Corriu coupling—appropriate selection of the substituents and ligands enable control of the stereoselectivity of the products. In this reaction, the undesired side reaction does not take place at all, even under basic conditions, and the cross-coupling of aryl halides with achiral Grignard reagents can be achieved without isomerization.



Scheme 3.2 Total synthesis of (-)-zampanolide using (-)-dactylolide as a precursor with an inversion of the olefin geometry

Furthermore, in the next synthetic pathway, the catalyst was carefully selected. Ni(acac)<sub>2</sub>, which does not contain the phosphine ligands, was used for the enantioselective synthesis of (S)-macrostomine (Scheme 3.3) [5]. This result suggests that Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling has the drawbacks of poor selectivity and of substrate limitations. However, this reaction is an economical and preparative approach to natural product syntheses when substrates that are highly reactive toward Grignard reagents are not involved.



Scheme 3.3 Total synthesis of (S)-macrostomine from (S)-nicotine

### 3.3 Sonogashira–Hagihara Coupling (sp–sp<sup>2</sup>)

Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling is often employed in the natural product syntheses owing to its ability to construct enyne frameworks through the formation of carbon(sp)–carbon(sp<sup>2</sup>) bonds. In general, in the natural product synthesis, the reactive substrates are first masked by a protecting group and economical bases such as triethylamine or diisopropylamine and copper iodide (CuI) are often used as essential reagents. Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling proceeds with high functional group tolerance under mild conditions, and often gives excellent results to afford molecules with complex structures. The total synthesis of paracentrone, shown in Scheme 3.4, is a representative example showing that Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling can be applied to a substrate bearing a reactive epoxide moiety which remains intact during the reaction [6].



Scheme 3.4 A synthetic route to paracentrone

The air-stable  $PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2$  is often used for the palladium catalyst of Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling, instead of a Pd(0) complex, because  $PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2$  is reduced promptly during the reaction to form the Pd(0) species. Scheme 3.5 shows the demonstration of  $PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2$  as a Pd precursor in the total synthesis of (–)disorazole  $C_1$  [7].





In the total synthesis of bongkrekic and isobongkrekic acids shown in Scheme 3.6, conjugate enynes were first synthesized by Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling. Then, chemoselective reduction of the alkyne moiety transformed the coupled product into the conjugate diene 1 and 2 [8]. In this reductive reaction, an excess amount of copper/silver activated with zinc was found to be the best synthetic method, since the chemoselectivity was fairly low when the *syn* reduction of the conjugate enyne by Lindlar's catalyst was attempted [9, 10].



Scheme 3.6 A synthetic route to iso- and bongkrekic acids

Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling of aryl halides/triflates with terminal arylethynes is one of the most useful synthetic methods to afford an array of diarylethynes which are important frameworks applicable to liquid crystals and pharmaceuticals. The total synthesis of  $(\pm)$ -tylophorine shown in Scheme 3.7 is a representative example using diarylethynes as a synthetic intermediate [11].



Scheme 3.7 A synthetic route to  $(\pm)$ -tylophorine

Moreover, an intramolecular Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling enables the construction of large-membered rings; however, the yields of the cross-coupled products are generally very low, as shown in Scheme 3.8 [12]. Therefore, for the construction of large-membered rings, ring-closing metathesis by the Ru or Mo catalysts [13, 14] and macrolactonization [15] is often used rather than intramolecular Sonogashira–Hagihara couplings.



Scheme 3.8 A synthetic route to penarolide sulfate  $A_1$ 

Additionally, the following are examples of total syntheses utilizing Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling reported after 2000: frondosin B [16], callipeltoside A [17], mucocin [18], borrelidin [19], tetrodotoxin [20], 34-hydroxyasimicin [21], oximidine II [22], (–)-siphonodiol, (–)-tetrahydrosiphonodiol [23], peroxyacarnoates A and D [24], leucascandrolide A [25], macbecin I [26], moracin O, moracin P [27] (+)-neopeltolide [28], furopyrans [29], leiodolide B [30], iso- and bongkrekic acids [31], *cis*- and *trans*- bupleurynol [32], and lukianol A [33].

#### 3.4 Negishi Coupling

### 3.4.1 sp<sup>2</sup>-sp<sup>2</sup> Negishi Coupling

Negishi coupling has also been widely used as a highly selective, efficient crosscoupling reaction in the natural product syntheses. The total synthesis of brevisamide as a natural product can be accomplished using the sp<sup>2</sup>–sp<sup>2</sup> Negishi coupling (Scheme 3.9) [34]. Negishi coupling is often used in combination with hydrozirconation of alkynes by a Schwartz reagent, because hydrozirconation of alkynes generates an alkenylzirconium complex in a highly regioselective manner; the iodination and treatment with zinc salts of that complex yield the corresponding alkenyl iodides and alkenylzinc reagents, respectively, in one pot.



Scheme 3.9 A synthetic route to brevisamide

The sp<sup>2</sup>–sp<sup>2</sup> Negishi coupling has been recently reported as applicable to other total syntheses: *cis* and *trans* bupleurynol [32] (–)-motuporin [35], xerulin [36], pitiamide A [37], FR901464 [38, 39], eunicenone A [40], bisabolene [41], xerulinic acid [42], callystatin A [43, 44], anguinomycin C [45], anguinomycin C and D [46], and 6,7-dehydrostipiamide [47].

## 3.4.2 sp<sup>3</sup>-sp<sup>2</sup> Negishi Coupling

Herein, the natural product syntheses by Negishi cross-coupling of alkenyl or aryl halides (pseudo-halides) (sp<sup>2</sup>) with alkylzinc reagents (sp<sup>3</sup>) are described. In general, alkyl halides are converted into alkylzinc compounds by halogen–zinc exchange, as shown in Eq.3.1. In addition, a transformation with *tert*-BuLi of alkylzinc halides into dialkylzinc compounds is widely used, because the *tert*-butyl functionality can be used as a dummy group for Negishi coupling, leading to the selective formation of the desired cross-coupled products by carbon(sp<sup>2</sup>)–carbon(sp<sup>3</sup>) bond formation.

$$2 R_X + ZnR'_2 \xrightarrow{-2R'X} R_Zn_R$$
(3.1)

As shown in Scheme 3.10, reactivity between the dialkylzinc compound and alkylzinc chloride was compared to the total synthesis of (+)-pumiliotoxin B [48]. Starting from substrate **4** in Path A, alkylzinc chloride was prepared by halogen–lithium exchange with *tert*-BuLi and the subsequent transmetalation using zinc

chloride. On the other hand, in Path B the dialkylzinc reagent was synthesized from iodine–zinc exchange between substrate **4** and zinc chloride, followed by addition of *tert*-BuLi. As a result, Path B of Negishi coupling with the dialkylzinc reagent was found to give the desired product in better yield (50 vs 28 %).



Scheme 3.10 Synthetic strategies of (+)-pumiliotoxin B

In recent years, the sp<sup>3</sup>–sp<sup>2</sup> Negishi cross-coupling has been a frequently used synthetic method for multi-substituted aliphatic olefins and the substituted aryl or heteroaryl compounds. Furthermore, the utility of the sp<sup>3</sup>–sp<sup>2</sup> Negishi cross-coupling has been recently observed in other total syntheses: borrelidin [19] (–)-callystatin A [43], anguinomycin C [45], anguinomycin C, D [46], (+)-discodermolide [49], dysiherbaine [50], bisabolene [41, 51], (–)-4a, 5-dihydrostreptazolin [52], a core structure of mycolactones [53], coenzyme Q<sub>10</sub>, (*E*,*Z*,*E*)-geranylgeranoil [54], *trans*-epothilone A [55], oleandolide [56], sphingofungin F [57], ionomycin [58], (–)-longithorone A [59], (–)-delactonmycin [60], capensifuranone [61], (+)-murisolin [62], a side chain of scyphostatin [63],

(+)-scyphostatin [64], (-)-stemoamide [65], dysiherbaine [66], maleic anhydride, maleimide [67], OF4949-III, K-13 [68], harveynone, tricholomenyn A [69], and in the synthesis of important intermediates of ionomycin and borrelidin [70].

## 3.4.3 sp-sp<sup>2</sup> Negishi Coupling

In Negishi coupling, the coupling partners (alkenyl or aryl halides/triflates and alkynylzinc reagents) are employed to form  $\operatorname{carbon(sp)-carbon(sp^2)}$  bonds. In the total synthesis of (–)-salicylihalamide shown in Scheme 3.11, Negishi coupling with the combination of the aforementioned substrates afforded the intermediate **5** in 90 % yield while retaining the *Z*-configuration [71].



Scheme 3.11 A synthetic route to salicylihalamide A and B

As shown above, the sp–sp<sup>2</sup> Negishi coupling is highly effective for the construction of the conjugate enyne frameworks. Although conjugate enynes can be synthesized by Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling, the functional group tolerance is dramatically improved with Negishi coupling because the addition of bases is not required. Other natural product syntheses by the sp–sp<sup>2</sup> Negishi coupling are known for the total syntheses of *cis*- and *trans*-bupleurynol [32], xerulin [36], 6,7dehydrostipiamide [47], and harveynone, tricholomenyn A [69].

#### 3.4.4 Carbometalation and Negishi Coupling Sequences

One of the applied Negishi cross-coupling reactions is the synthesis of a carotenoid having a conjugate polyene structure, e.g.,  $\beta$ -carotene (Fig. 3.1). Since these compounds possess multi-substituted polyene motifs, a synthetic strategy that selectively introduces the substituents in appropriate positions is necessary.



Fig. 3.1 Representative examples of carotenoids

Because these conjugated polyene-type natural products are organic compounds with valuable antioxidant property, efficient and selective innovation for synthetic methods is still actively sought. It is likely that a combination of regioselective carbometalation of alkynes and sequential Negishi coupling could be used for the synthesis of such natural products.

In the syntheses of  $\beta$ -carotene and vitamin A, the Zr-catalyzed regio- and stereoselective methylalumination across the terminal alkyne in precursor **6** is the first step [72], as shown in Scheme 3.12. The formed alkenylaluminum compound 7 is transmetalated to zinc to afford the corresponding alkenylzinc compound **8**, which reacts consecutively with a half molar amount of 1-bromo-2-iodoethene leading to the successful total synthesis of  $\beta$ -carotene. This method is very advantageous from the viewpoint of the facile formation of the organozinc reagents without the addition of the bases. Using the regioselective alkylmetalation of the alkynes and sequential Negishi coupling, the total syntheses of coenzyme Q<sub>10</sub>, (*E*,*Z*,*E*)-geranylgeranoil [54], and piericidin A<sub>1</sub> [73] have also been accomplished.



**Scheme 3.12** A synthetic route to  $\beta$ -carotene

In addition, when the terminal olefins are treated with chiral reagents, regioand stereoselective carbometalation can be achieved. The synthesis of a side chain in scyphostatin, shown in Scheme 3.13, is an applied example [63]. Moreover, the total synthesis of 6,7-dehydrostipiamide has been attained by regio- and stereoselective methylalumination and the subsequent Negishi coupling [47]. The applied synthetic methods for ionomycin, for the intermediate of borrelidin, and for the total synthesis of doliculide have also been achieved [74].



Scheme 3.13 A synthetic route to the scyphostatin side chain

### 3.4.5 Utility of Negishi Coupling toward Carbonyl Compound Synthesis

In Negishi coupling, acyl halides can be utilized as electrophiles to synthesize the corresponding ketones. This type of Negishi coupling has been used for the total synthesis of amphidinolide derivatives (Fig. 3.2), as shown in Scheme 3.14 [75].



Fig. 3.2 Structures of amphidinolide derivatives



Scheme 3.14 Synthetic route for amphidinolide T1, T3-T5

As mentioned above, because Negishi coupling possesses a large number of advantages (including a wide scope of substrate options, high regio- and stereoselectivities, and preparative reactions under mild conditions), it can be a very powerful tool in the natural product syntheses through its combination with the alkylmetalation of the terminal alkynes and alkenes.

#### 3.5 Migita–Kosugi–Stille Coupling

Although some cross-couplings might not be useful for highly reactive substrates bearing functional groups such as epoxides which are sensitive to both acids and bases, the mild and neutral Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling has often been used in the key steps of the natural product syntheses. This section introduces representative examples of how Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling can be used in natural product synthesis.

#### 3.5.1 Synthetic Methods of Organotin Compounds

When Migita–Kosugi–Stille is employed as a coupling reaction, synthesis of organotin compounds is required. Since the preparation of organotin compounds can be achieved by various synthetic methods, the reaction conditions and the reagents used in the natural product synthesis offer many choices for stannation. First, some recently reported stannation reactions used in the natural product synthesis will be introduced.

One well-known method for the preparation of organotin is via organolithium reagents; organotin reagents can be prepared by halogen–lithium exchange of alkenyl halides with n-BuLi, followed by treatment of the intermediate organolithium reagents with tin halides, as shown in Scheme 3.15. These organotin reagents can be conveniently synthesized due to the commercial availability of tin chlorides and organolithium compounds, but this synthetic method cannot be used for the substrates that have base-sensitive functional groups.



Scheme 3.15 Preparation of organostannanes from organolithium reagents

On the other hand, tin-containing functional groups can be introduced into unsaturated organic molecules in a highly regioselective fashion through hydrostannation and carbostannation reactions catalyzed by the transition metal complexes. A synthetic example of a precursor of nicandrenones by the Rh-catalyzed regioselective hydrostannation and the subsequent Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling is shown in Scheme 3.16 [76].



Scheme 3.16 A synthetic route to nicandrenones

### 3.5.2 sp<sup>2</sup>-sp<sup>2</sup> Migita-Kosugi-Stille Coupling

Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling is often used at the key stage when the convergently synthesized fragments are bonded in natural product syntheses. Most of the reactions involve  $sp^2–sp^2$  coupling to give the conjugate dienes and polyenes. The total syntheses of rutamycin B and oligomycin C are shown in Scheme 3.17 [77].



Scheme 3.17 A synthetic route to rutamycin B and oligomycin C

In Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling, LiCl and CuI are added to promote transmetalation (see, Chap. 2). In regard to the effect of these additives, it is assumed that the added copper salt can trap the excess phosphine ligands retarding transmetalation. The more nucleophilic organocopper species, generated via transmetalation from tin to copper, accelerate the transmetalation [78]. The total synthesis of deoxyvariolin B can be achieved by applying these reaction conditions (Scheme 3.18) [79, 80].



Scheme 3.18 A synthetic route to deoxyvariolin B

In some cases AsPh<sub>3</sub>, which has a moderate electron-donating ability, gives better results for the construction of  $sp^2-sp^2$  carbon–carbon bonds in Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling. For instance, such a ligand is used in the total synthesis of marinomycin A (Scheme 3.19) [81, 82].



Scheme 3.19 A synthetic route to a monomer of marinomycin A

As mentioned above, the mild Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling enables application to the substrates that are unstable under acidic and basic condition. Hence, this reaction is useful for the total synthesis of amphidinolide H, which bears an epoxide functionality (Scheme 3.20) [83]. A stoichiometric amount of copper(I)thiophene-2-carboxylate (CuTC) can enhance Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling as an activator [84].



Scheme 3.20 A synthetic route to amphidinolide H

Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling, using a stoichiometric amount of CuTC, can be used in the total synthesis of phoslactomycin A, while avoiding the side reaction of allylphosphate with the Pd catalyst (Scheme 3.21) [85]. Other stoichiometric

reactions mediated by a copper compound have been reported for the total synthesis of dictyostatin [86], formamicin [87], and amphidinolide A [88].



Scheme 3.21 A synthetic route to phoslactomycin A

The total synthesis of gambierol, shown in Scheme 3.22, is another example of a synthetic strategy utilizing Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling [89–92]. An important aspect of this synthesis is that a silyl protecting group was removed *before* the cross-coupling. This underscores the fact that Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling will not take place if the reaction site of the cross-coupling is sterically hindered by the presence of a bulky TBS group. Deprotection of the silyl group counteracts the steric congestion to smoothly accelerate the cross-coupling.



Scheme 3.22 A synthetic route to gambierol

The following are known examples of the utility of the sp<sup>2</sup>–sp<sup>2</sup> Migita–Kosugi– Stille coupling reactions for the natural product syntheses: paracentrone [6], iso- and bongkrekic acids [8], leiodolide B [30], (–)-callystatin A [43], sanglifehrin A [93–95], a biaryl moiety of TMC-95 [96], (–)-reveromycin B [97], manzamine A [98], quadrigemine C, psycholeine [99], pentacyclic skeletons [100], SNF4435 C, SNF4435 D [101], (–)-crispatene [102], (–)-SNF4435 C, (+)-SNF4435 D [103], 28-<sup>19</sup>F-amphotericin B methyl ester [104], FR252921, pseudotrienic acid B [105, 106], (–)-spirangien A and its methyl ester [107], amphidinolide H1 [108], (+)crocacin C [109], amphidinolides B1, B4, G1, H1 [110], (±)-havellockate [111], (±)-goniomitine [112], amphidinolide A [113], CD-D' rings in angelmicin B (hibarimicin B) [114], and brevenal [115, 116].

#### 3.5.3 Other Migita-Kosugi-Stille Couplings

In addition to the sp<sup>2</sup>–sp<sup>2</sup> coupling, sp<sup>2</sup>–sp<sup>3</sup> Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling is also utilized for natural product syntheses. The total syntheses of piericidin A1 and B1 [117] and  $(\pm)$ -neodolabellane-type diterpenoids [118] are shown in Schemes 3.23 and 3.24, respectively.



Scheme 3.23 A synthetic route to piericidin A1 and B1



Scheme 3.24 A synthetic route to  $(\pm)$ -neodolabellane-type diterpenoids

Because stable  $\pi$ -benzyl- and  $\pi$ -allylpalladium complexes are generated, these sp<sup>2</sup>–sp<sup>3</sup> Migita–Kosugi–Stille couplings can be utilized with a low risk of  $\beta$ -hydrogen elimination. The sp<sup>3</sup> organotin reagents have rarely been utilized in Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling because they cause  $\beta$ -hydrogen elimination (See also Chap. 8).

In addition, using the  $sp^3-sp^2$  Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling, the total syntheses of amphidinolide A [113], azaspiracid-1 [119, 120], tardioxopiperazine A, isoechinulin A, and variecolorin C [121] have been reported.

### 3.6 Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling

Suzuki–Miyaura coupling is extremely advantageous because the organoboron compounds have low toxicity and have stability toward water and air; this cross-coupling has been used extensively in natural product syntheses. However, Suzuki–Miyaura coupling requires the use of bases, thus functional groups that are unstable under basic conditions are incompatible. Herein, the applications of Suzuki–Miyaura coupling to natural product syntheses are described.

## 3.6.1 sp<sup>2</sup>-sp<sup>2</sup> Suzuki-Miyaura Coupling

Construction of biaryl and conjugate diene motifs using the  $sp^2-sp^2$  Suzuki–Miyaura coupling is particularly important in the natural product syntheses. Some examples include: 5,6-DiHETE methyl esters [122], (–)-chlorothricolide [123], and rutamycin B [124]. Although Negishi and Migita–Kosugi–Stille couplings can be used for  $sp^2-sp^2$  carbon–carbon bond formation, Suzuki–Miyaura coupling is more widely utilized owing to its versatility of ligands and its various types of boron-containing reagents. The total synthesis of lamellarin D shown in Scheme 3.25 is one such example employing pinacolborane as the boron moiety [125].



Scheme 3.25 A synthetic route to lamellarin D

 $Pd(PPh_3)_4$  is generally the most frequently used Pd(0) complex in Suzuki–Miyaura coupling, but  $PdCl_2(dppf)$  also shows high catalytic activity in the synthesis of (+)-complanadine A (Scheme 3.26) [126].



Scheme 3.26 A synthetic route to (+)-complanadine A

In general, as the substrate becomes larger, the achievement of cross-coupling becomes more difficult due to poor access to the reaction sites. However, Kishi reported in 1989 that the reactivity of a congested substrate was drastically improved by the use of thallium hydroxide as the base in the total synthesis of palytoxin [127]. More recently, TIOEt and  $Tl_2CO_3$  have been utilized as a precursor of thallium hydroxide because thallium hydroxide is difficult to handle due to its instability to light and air [128]. The example of the synthesis of apoptolidinone via Suzuki–Miyaura coupling with TIOEt as the base is shown in Scheme 3.27 [129].


Scheme 3.27 A synthetic route to apoptolidinone

Buchwald reported that the bulky phosphine ligands with a biaryl backbone such as SPhos have a high activity in Suzuki–Miyaura coupling [130]. In the total synthesis of eupomatilones, as little as 0.005 mol % of the Pd catalyst can afford the cross-coupled products in 93 % yield (Scheme 3.28) [131, 132].



Scheme 3.28 A synthetic route to eupomatilones

#### 3 Natural Product Synthesis

Furthermore, Suzuki–Miyaura coupling is practical because it offers a superior selection of bases and ligands. As the result of recent research utilizing the benefits of organoboronic acids, many progressive synthetic routes have been established. Herein, some examples of modified organoboron compounds used in natural product syntheses are introduced. As shown in Scheme 3.29, the total synthesis of oximidine II [22] is an example of the application of organotrifluoroborates [133] to the natural product synthesis. The construction of an unsaturated 12-membered ring with a large strain was achieved.



Scheme 3.29 A synthesis route to oximidine II

In addition, Suzuki–Miyaura couplings using *N*-methyliminodiacetic acid (MIDA) have been invented [134]. (–)-Peridinin has been synthesized by repeated reactions with MIDA-containing organoborates (Scheme 3.30) [135].



Scheme 3.30 A synthesis route to (-)-peridinin

Thus, the sp<sup>2</sup>–sp<sup>2</sup> Suzuki–Miyaura coupling has achieved selective and efficient carbon–carbon bond formation in natural product syntheses through the use of a wide variety of substrates. The following examples of natural product syntheses using sp<sup>2</sup>–sp<sup>2</sup> Suzuki–Miyaura coupling have been recently reported: iso- and bongkrekic acids [8, 31], furopyrans [29], lukianol A [33], maleic anhydride, maleimide [67], (+)-crocacin C [109], CD-D' rings in angelmicin B (hibarimicin B) [114], (+)-fostriecin [136], dragmacidin D [137], (–)-FR182877 [138, 139], nakadomarin A [140], styelsamine C [141], (±)-spiroxin C [142], diazonamide A [143], quinine, quinidine [144], lamellarin G trimethyl ether [145], (+)-dragmacidin F [146], eupomatilone diastereomers [147], biphenomycin B [148], (–)-

spirofungin A, (+)-spirofungin B [149], pulvinic acids [150], N-shifted and ringexpanded buflavine [151, 152], ( $\pm$ )-hasubanonine [153], altenuene, isoaltenuene [154], C-15 vindoline analogs [155], (–)-erythramine and 3-*epi*-(+)-erythramine [156], biaryl hybrids of allocolchicine and steganacin [157], ratanhine [158], palmerolide A [159], eupomatilones [160], butylcycloheptylprodigiosin [161], isotetronic acids [162], 1/2 of amphotericin B macrolide [163], GEX1A [164], ( $\pm$ )-cyclocolorenone, ( $\pm$ )- $\alpha$ -gurjunene [165], withasomnines [166], the vacidin A (*E*,*E*,*E*,*Z*,*Z*,*E*,*E*)-heptaene framework [167], fortuneanoside E [168], (–)-exiguolide [169], dunnianol [170], and hirtellanine A [171].

# 3.6.2 sp<sup>3</sup>-sp<sup>2</sup> Suzuki-Miyaura Coupling

Suzuki–Miyaura coupling has also been used to construct  $sp^3-sp^2$  carbon–carbon bonds (See also Chap. 8). One such example is the methylation using trimethylboroxine, which is a dehydrated trimer of methylboronic acid, toward aryl or alkenyl halides [172]. The total synthesis of (–)-FR182877 using the  $sp^3-sp^2$  Suzuki–Miyaura coupling is shown in Scheme 3.31 [138].



Scheme 3.31 A synthetic route to (-)-FR182877

In most cases, the sp<sup>3</sup>-sp<sup>2</sup> Suzuki–Miyaura coupling employs a typical hydroboration of the terminal olefin by 9-BBN and the subsequent B-alkyl Suzuki–Miyaura coupling. Since hydroboration using a bulky 9-BBN takes place in a highly regioselective fashion [173], B-alkyl Suzuki–Miyaura coupling has been widely utilized for the connection of fragments in the natural product syntheses, e.g., the total synthesis of brevenal (Scheme 3.32) [115, 116, 174].



Scheme 3.32 A synthetic route to brevenal

In addition, the B-alkyl Suzuki–Miyaura coupling can be applied to the intramolecular cyclization in the total synthesis of phomactin D; compared with other  $sp^3-sp^2$  cross-coupling reactions, the organoboron compounds have low toxicity and are highly stable (Scheme 3.33) [175].





Other synthetic examples using the  $sp^3-sp^2$  Suzuki–Miyaura coupling include the total synthesis of: anguinomycin C [45], anguinomycin C and D [46], transepothilone A [55], oleandolide [56], salicylihalamide [71], CP-225,917, CP-263,114 [176], epothilone A [55, 177], 12,13-desoxyepothilone F [178], FGH ring fragments of gambierol [179], sphingofungin E [180], GHIJKLM ring fragments in ciguatoxin (CTX1B) [181], ABCD ring fragments of ciguatoxin (CTX3C) and ciguatoxin (51-hydroxyCTX3C) [182], (-)-ebelactone A [183], gymnocin-A [184–187], (+)-phomactin [188], the C6–C21 segment of amphidinolide E [189], ( $\pm$ )-geigerin [190], (+)-oocydin A [191], 4-hydroxydictyolactone [192], jatrophane diterpenes [193], (+)-brefeldin C, (+)-nor-Me brefeldin A, (+)-4-*epi*-nor-Me brefeldin A [194], ABC ring fragments of brevesin [195], and (–)-brevisin [196].

# **3.7** Hiyama Coupling (sp<sup>2</sup>–sp<sup>2</sup>)

Finally, recent examples utilizing the  $sp^2-sp^2$  Hiyama coupling in the natural product syntheses will be briefly introduced. As shown in Scheme 3.34, silanol (the substrate bearing a hydroxyl group on silicon) is activated by TBAF to react with an alkenyl iodide in the total synthesis of isodomoic acid G [197].



Scheme 3.34 A synthetic route to isodomoic acid G

Another alkenylsilane substituted with a benzyldimethylsilyl group was successfully subjected to Hiyama coupling for the synthesis of a precursor of herboxidiene/ GEX 1A (Scheme 3.35) [198]. It should be noted that in this synthetic example, during the Hiyama coupling, the alcohol was protected by a silyl protecting group.



herboxidiene/GEX1A

Scheme 3.35 A synthetic route to herboxidiene/GEX 1A

In the total synthesis of papulacandin D, after a hydrosilane was converted into a silanol using the Ru catalyst, Hiyama cross-coupling of silanol was applied (Scheme 3.36) [199].



Scheme 3.36 A synthetic route to papulacandin D

In addition, a conjugate diene bearing two different silicon functional groups was subjected to the successive Hiyama coupling, achieving the total synthesis of RK-397, as shown in Scheme 3.37 [200].



Scheme 3.37 A synthetic route to RK-397

Moreover, the total synthesis of a highly strained 9-membered compound, (+)brasilenyne, has been achieved through intramolecular Hiyama coupling (Scheme 3.38) [201, 202].





Thus, Hiyama coupling has a large number of advantages from the viewpoints of high stability, low toxicity, and natural abundance of the organosilicon compounds. Thus, Hiyama coupling can be a powerful tool in the natural product syntheses. However, Hiyama coupling has not been advanced much, because the silyl functionalities require the introduction of hydroxyl or fluoride substituents to be activated, which limits the selection of substrates.

### 3.8 Summary

The cross-coupling reactions have facilitated the synthesis of complex organic compounds with high selectivity and reactivity in the natural product syntheses. In addition, recent advancement of technologies for cross-couplings includes: the expansion of organometallic reagents, increased reactivity and safety by the improvement of catalysts, and the reduction of chemical wastes. This remarkable progress has made the cross-coupling reactions increasingly easy to utilize. Complicated natural product syntheses that have not yet been achieved will likely be artificially synthesized by using the cross-coupling reactions in the future. More technological development is expected toward clarification and application of the biologically active compounds.

### References

- 1. Newman DJ, Cragg GM (2007) Natural products as sources of new drugs over the last 25 years. J Nat Prod 70:461–477
- Nicolaou KC, Bulger PG, Sarlah D (2005) Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions in total synthesis. Angew Chem Int Ed 44:4442–4489
- 3. Yokokawa F, Asano T, Shioiri T (2000) Total synthesis of the antiviral marine natural product (–)-hennoxazole A. Org Lett 2:4169–4172
- 4. Uenishi J, Iwamoto T, Tanaka J (2009) Total synthesis of (–)-zampanolide and questionable existence of (–)-dactylolide as the elusive biosynthetic precursor of (–)-zampanolide in an okinawan sponge. Org Lett 11:3262–3265
- Enamorado MF, Ondachi PW, Comins DL (2010) A five-step synthesis of (S)macrostomine from (S)-nicotine. Org Lett 12:4513–4515
- Murakami Y, Nakano M, Shimofusa T, Furuichi N, Katsumura S (2005) Total synthesis of paracentrone, C31-allenic *apo*-carotenoid. Org Biomol Chem 3:1372–1374
- 7. Wipf P, Graham TH (2004) Total synthesis of (-)-disorazole C1. J Am Chem Soc 126:15346–15347
- Francais A, Leyva A, Etxebarria-Jardi G, Ley SV (2010) Total synthesis of the antiapoptotic agents iso- and bongkrekic acids. Org Lett 12:340–343
- Boland W, Schroer N, Sieler C, Feigel M (1987) Sterospecific syntheses and spectroscopic properties of isomeric 2,4,6,8-undecatetraenes. New hydrocarbons from the marine brown alga giffordia mitchellae. Part IV. Helv Chim Acta 70:1025–1040
- Avignon-Tropis M, Pougny JR (1989) Improved stereoselective reduction of a E, E, conjugated dienyne to a E, E, Z conjugated triene. Tetrahedron Lett 30:4951–4952
- Rossiter LM, Slater ML, Giesert RE, Sakwa SA (2009) A concise palladium-catalyzed carboamination route to (±)-tylophorine. J Org Chem 74:9554–9557

#### 3 Natural Product Synthesis

- 12. Mohapatra DK, Bhattasali D, Gurjar MK, Khan MI, Shashidhara KS (2008) First asymmetric total synthesis of penarolide sulfate A1. Eur J Org Chem, 6213–6224
- 13. Mori M (2007) Synthesis of natural products and related compounds using enyne metathesis. Adv Synth Catal 349:121–135
- 14. Maier ME (2000) Synthesis of medium-sized rings by the ring-closing metathesis reaction. Angew Chem Int Ed 39:2073–2077
- Parenty A, Moreau X, Campagne JM (2006) Macrolactonizations in the total synthesis of natural products. Chem Rev 106:911–939
- Inoue M, Carson MW, Frontier AJ, Danishefsky SJ (2001) Total synthesis and determination of the absolute configuration of frondosin B. J Am Chem Soc 123:1878–1889
- Trost BM, Gunzner JL, Dirat O, Rhee YH (2002) Callipeltoside A: total synthesis, assignment of the absolute and relative configuration, and evaluation of synthetic analogues. J Am Chem Soc 124:10396–10415
- Takahashi S, Nakata T (2002) Total synthesis of an antitumor agent, mucocin, based on the "chiron approach". J Org Chem 67:5739–5752
- Duffey MO, LeTiran A, Morken JP (2003) Enantioselective total synthesis of borrelidin. J Am Chem Soc 125:1458–1459
- Ohyabu N, Nishikawa T, Isobe M (2003) First asymmetric total synthesis of tetrodotoxin. J Am Chem Soc 125:8798–8805
- Han H, Sinha MK, D'Souza LJ, Keinan E, Sinha SC (2004) Total synthesis of 34hydroxyasimicin and its photoactive derivative for affinity labeling of the mitochondrial complex I. Chem Eur J 10:2149–2158
- 22. Molander GA, Dchmel F (2004) Formal total synthesis of oximidine II via a Suzuki-type cross-coupling macrocyclization employing potassium organotrifluoroborates. J Am Chem Soc 126:10313–10318
- López S, Fernández-Trillo F, Midón P, Castedo L, Saá C (2005) First stereoselective syntheses of (-)-siphonodiol and (-)-tetrahydrosiphonodiol, bioactive polyacetylenes from marine sponges. J Org Chem 70:6346–6352
- 24. Xu C, Raible JM, Dussault PH (2005) Total synthesis of peroxyacarnoates A and D: metalmediated couplings as a convergent approach to polyunsaturated peroxides. Org Lett 7:2509–2511
- 25. Su Q, Dakin LA, Panek JS (2007) [4+2]-annulations of chiral organosilanes: application to the total synthesis of leucascandrolide A. J Org Chem 72:2–24
- 26. Belardi JK, Micalizio GC (2008) Total synthesis of macbecin I. Angew Chem Int Ed 47:4005–4008
- 27. Kaur N, Xia Y, Jin Y, Dat NT, Gajulapati K, Choi Y, Hong YS, Lee JJ, Lee K (2009) The first total synthesis of moracin O and moracin P, and establishment of the absolute configuration of moracin O. Chem Commun, 1879–1881
- Guinchard X, Roulland E (2009) Total synthesis of the antiproliferative macrolide (+)neopeltolide. Org Lett 11:4700–4703
- 29. Gockel B, Krause N (2010) Synthesis of bicyclic ethers by a gold/palladium/gold-catalyzed cyclization/cross coupling sequence. Eur J Org Chem, 311–316
- 30. Larivée A, Unger JB, Thomas M, Wirtz C, Dubost C, Handa S, Fürstner A (2011) The leiodolide B puzzle. Angew Chem Int Ed 50:304–309
- Français A, LeyvaPérez A, Etxebarria-Jardi G, Peńa J, Ley SV (2011) Total synthesis of iso- and bongkrekic acids: natural antibiotics displaying potent antiapoptotic properties. Chem Eur J 17:329–343
- 32. Ghasemi H, Antunes LM, Organ MG (2004) Use of olefin templates in queued chemical transformations using late transition metal catalysis. Total synthesis of *cis* and *trans* bupleurynol via a single multireaction sequence. Org Lett 6:2913–2916

- Liu J-H, Yang Q-C, Mak T-CW, Wong H-NC (2000) Highly regioselective synthesis of 2,3,4-trisubstituted 1H-pyrroles: a formal total synthesis of lukianol A. J Org Chem 65:3587–3595
- 34. Lee J, Panek JS (2009) Total synthesis of brevisamide. Org Lett 11:4390-4393
- Hu T, Panek JS (2002) Enantioselective synthesis of the protein phosphatase inhibitor (-)motuporin. J Am Chem Soc 124:11368–11378
- 36. Negishi E, Alimardanov A, Xu C (2000) An efficient and stereoselective synthesis of xerulin via Pd-catalyzed cross coupling and lactonization featuring (*E*)-iodobromoethylene as a novel two-carbon synthon. Org Lett 2:65–67
- 37. Ribe S, Kondru RK, Beratan DN, Wipf P (2000) Optical rotation computation, total synthesis, and stereochemistry assignment of the marine natural product pitiamide A. J Am Chem Soc 122:4608–4617
- Thompson CF, Jamison TF, Jacobsen EN (2000) Total synthesis of FR901464. Convergent assembly of chiral components prepared by asymmetric catalysis. J Am Chem Soc 122:10482–10483
- Thompson CF, Jamison TF, Jacobsen EN (2001) FR901464: total synthesis, proof of structure, and evaluation of synthetic analogues. J Am Chem Soc 123:9974–9983
- Lee TW, Corey EJ (2001) Enantioselective total synthesis of eunicenone A. J Am Chem Soc 123:1872–1877
- Vyvyan JR, Loitz C, Looper RE, Mattingly CS, Peterson EA, Staben ST (2004) Synthesis of aromatic bisabolene natural products via palladium-catalyzed cross-couplings of organozinc reagents. J Org Chem 69:2461–2468
- 42. Sorg A, Brückner R (2004) Total synthesis of xerulinic acid. Angew Chem Int Ed 43: 4523–4526
- 43. Langille NF, Panek JS (2004) Total synthesis of (-)-callystatin A. Org Lett 6:3203-3206
- Reichard HA, Rieger JC, Micalizio GC (2008) Total synthesis of callystatin A by titaniummediated reductive alkyne–alkyne cross-coupling. Angew Chem Int Ed 47:7837–7840
- Bonazzi S, Güttinger S, Zemp I, Kutay U, Gademann K (2007) Total synthesis, configuration, and biological evaluation of anguinomycin C. Angew Chem Int Ed 46:8707–8710
- 46. Bonazzi S, Eidam O, Güttinger S, Wach J-Y, Zemp I, Kutay U, Gademann K (2010) Anguinomycins and derivatives: total syntheses, modeling, and biological evaluation of the inhibition of nucleocytoplasmic transport. J Am Chem Soc 132:1432–1442
- 47. Zeng X, Zeng F, Negishi E (2004) Efficient and selective synthesis of 6, 7-dehydrostipiamide via Zr-catalyzed asymmetric carboalumination and Pd-catalyzed cross-coupling of organozincs. Org Lett 6:3245–3248
- Aoyagi S, Hirashima S, Saito K, Kibayashi C (2002) Convergent approach to pumiliotoxin alkaloids. asymmetric total synthesis of (+)-pumiliotoxins A, B, and 225F. J Org Chem 67:5517–5526
- Smith AB III, Beauchamp TJ, LaMarche MJ, Kaufman MD, Qiu Y, Arimoto H, Jones DR, Kobayasi K (2000) Evolution of a gram-scale synthesis of (+)-discodermolide. J Am Chem Soc 122:8654–8664
- 50. Masaki H, Maeyama J, Kamada K, Esumi T, Iwabuchi Y, Hatakeyama S (2000) Total synthesis of (-)-dysiherbaine. J Am Chem Soc 122:5216–5217
- 51. Anastasia L, Dumond YR, Negishi E (2001) Stereoselective synthesis of exocyclic alkenes by Cu-catalyzed allylmagnesiation, Pd-catalyzed alkylation, and Ru-catalyzed ring-closing metathesis: highly stereoselective synthesis of (*Z*)- and (*E*)-γ-bisabolenes. Eur J Org Chem, 3039–3043
- Cossy J, Pévet I, Meyer C (2001) Total synthesis of (-)-4a,5-dihydrostreptazolin. Eur J Org Chem, 2841–2850
- Benowitz AB, Fidanze S, Small PLC, Kishi Y (2001) Stereochemistry of the core structure of the mycolactones. J Am Chem Soc 123:5128–5129
- 54. Negishi E, Liou S-Y, Xu C, Huo S (2002) A novel, highly selective, and general methodology for the synthesis of 1,5-diene-containing oligoisoprenoids of all possible

geometrical combinations exemplified by an iterative and convergent synthesis of coenzyme Q10. Org Lett 4:261–264

- 55. Altmann K-H, Bold G, Caravatti G, Denni D, Flörsheimer A, Schmidt A, Rihs G, Wartmann M (2002) The total synthesis and biological assessment of trans-epothilone A. Helv Chim Acta 85:4086–4110
- 56. Hu T, Takenaka N, Panek JS (2002) Asymmetric crotylation reactions in synthesis of polypropionate-derived macrolides: application to total synthesis of oleandolide. J Am Chem Soc 124:12806–12815
- 57. Lee K-Y, Oh C-Y, Ham W-H (2002) Total synthesis of sphingofungin F. Org Lett 4: 4403–4405
- Lautens M, Colucci JT, Hiebert S, Smith ND, Bouchain G (2002) Total synthesis of ionomycin using ring-opening strategies. Org Lett 4:1879–1882
- 59. Layton ME, Morales CA, Shair MD (2002) Biomimetic synthesis of (–)-longithorone A. J Am Chem Soc 124:773–775
- 60. Corrêa IR Jr, Pilli RA (2003) Total synthesis and structural elucidation of (-)delactonmycin. Angew Chem Int Ed 42:3017–3020
- Williams DR, Nold AL, Mullins RJ (2004) Asymmetric conjugate addition for the preparation of *syn*-1,3-dimethyl arrays: synthesis and structure elucidation of capensifuranone. J Org Chem 69:5374–5382
- Zhang Q, Lu H, Richard C, Curran DP (2004) Fluorous mixture synthesis of stereoisomer libraries: total syntheses of (+)-murisolin and fifteen diastereoisomers. J Am Chem Soc 126:36–37
- 63. Tan Z, Negishi E (2004) An efficient and general method for the synthesis of  $\alpha$ ,  $\omega$ -difunctional reduced polypropionates by Zr-catalyzed asymmetric carboalumination: synthesis of the scyphostatin side chain. Angew Chem Int Ed 43:2911–2914
- 64. Inoue M, Yokota W, Murugesh MG, Izuhara T, Katoh T (2004) Total synthesis of (+)scyphostatin, a potent and specific inhibitor of neutral sphingomyelinase. Angew Chem Int Ed 43:4207–4209
- 65. Torssell S, Wanngren E, Somfai P (2007) Total synthesis of (–)-stemoamide. J Org Chem 72:4246–4249
- Takahashi K, Matsumura T, Ishihara J, Hatakeyama S (2007) A highly stereocontrolled total synthesis of dysiherbaine. Chem Commun, 4158–4160
- 67. Stewart SG, Polomska ME, Lim RW (2007) A concise synthesis of maleic anhydride and maleimide natural products found in antrodia camphorate. Tetrahedron Lett 48:2241–2244
- Nolasco L, Gonzalez MP, Caggiano L, Jackson RFW (2009) Application of Negishi crosscoupling to the synthesis of the cyclic tripeptides OF4949-III and K-13. J Org Chem 74:8280–8289
- 69. Negishi E, Tan Z, Liou S-Y, Liao B (2000) Strictly regiocontrolled a-monosubstitution of cyclic carbonyl compounds with alkynyl and alkyl groups via Pd-catalyzed coupling of cyclic α-iodoenones with organozincs. Tetrahedron 56:10197–10207
- 70. Novak T, Tan Z, Liang B, Negishi E (2005) All-catalytic, efficient, and asymmetric synthesis of  $\alpha$ ,  $\omega$ -diheterofunctional reduced polypropionates via "one-pot" Zr-catalyzed asymmetric arboalumination-Pd-catalyzed cross-coupling tandem process. J Am Chem Soc 127:2838–2839
- Fürstner A, Dierkes T, Thiel OR, Blanda G (2001) Total synthesis of (-)-salicylihalamide. Chem Eur J 7:5286–5298
- 72. Zeng F, Negishi E (2001) A novel, selective, and efficient route to carotenoids and related natural products via Zr-catalyzed carboalumination and Pd- and Zn-catalyzed cross coupling. Org Lett 3:719–722
- Lipshutz BH, Amorelli B (2009) Total synthesis of piericidin A1. Application of a modified Negishi carboalumination-nickel-catalyzed cross-coupling. J Am Chem Soc 131:1396–1397
- 74. Liang B, Novak T, Tan Z, Negishi E (2006) Catalytic, efficient, and *syn*-selective construction of deoxypolypropionates and other chiral compounds via Zr-catalyzed asymmetric carboalumination of allyl alcohol. J Am Chem Soc 128:2770–2771

- 75. A C, Riveiros R, Ragot J, Fürstner A (2003) Total syntheses of amphidinolide T1, T3, T4, and T5. J Am Chem Soc 125:15512–15520
- 76. Stoltz BM, Kano T, Corey EJ (2000) Enantioselective total synthesis of nicandrenones. J Am Chem Soc 122:9044–9045
- 77. Panek JS, Jain NF (2001) Total synthesis of rutamycin B and oligomycin C. J Org Chem 66:2747–2756
- Fürstner A, Funel JA, Tremblay M, Bouchez LC, Nevado C, Waser M, Ackerstaff J, Stimson CC (2008) A versatile protocol for Stille–Migita cross coupling reactions. Chem Commun, 2873–2875
- 79. Ahaidar A, Fernández D, Danelón G, Cuevas C, Manzanares I, Albericio F, Joule JA, Álvarez M (2003) Total syntheses of variolin B and deoxyvariolin B. J Org Chem 68:10020–10029
- Fernández D, Ahaidar A, Danelón G, Cironi P, Marfil M, Pérez O, Cuevas C, Albericio F, Joule JA, Álvarez M (2004) Synthesis of polyheterocyclic nitrogen-containing marine natural products. Monatsh Chem 135:615–627
- Amans D, Bellosta V, Cossy J (2007) An efficient and stereoselective synthesis of the monomeric counterpart of marinomycin A. Org Lett 9:1453–1456
- Amans D, Bareille L, Bellosta V, Cossy J (2009) Synthesis of the monomeric counterpart of marinomycin A. J Org Chem 74:7665–7674
- Fürstner A, Bouchez LC, Funel J-A, Liepins V, Porée F-H, Gilmour R, Beaufils F, Laurich D, Tamiya M (2007) Total syntheses of amphidinolide H and G. Angew Chem Int Ed 46:9265–9270
- Allred GD, Liebeskind LS (1996) Copper-mediated cross-coupling of organostannanes with organic iodides at or below room temperature. J Am Chem Soc 118:2748–2749
- Konig CM, Gebhardt B, Schleth C, Dauber M, Koert U (2009) Total synthesis of phoslactomycin A. Org Lett 11:2728–2731
- Paterson I, Britton R, Delgado O, Meyer A, Poullennec KG (2004) Total synthesis and configurational assignment of (–)-dictyostatin, a microtubule-stabilizing macrolide of marine sponge origin. Angew Chem Int Ed 43:4629–4633
- Durham TB, Blanchard N, Savall BM, Powell NA, Roush WR (2004) Total synthesis of formamicin. J Am Chem Soc 126:9307–9317
- Maleczka Jr RE, Terrell LR, Geng F, Ward III JS (2002) Total synthesis of proposed amphidinolide A via a highly selective ring-closing metathesis. Org Lett 4:2841–2844
- Fuwa H, Kainuma N, Tachibana K, Sasaki M (2002) Total synthesis of (-)-gambierol. J Am Chem Soc 124:14983–14992
- 90. Kadota I, Takamura H, Sato K, Ohno A, Matsuda K, Yamamoto Y (2003) Total synthesis of (–)-gambierol. J Am Chem Soc 125:46–47
- Kadota I, Takamura H, Sato K, Ohno A, Matsuda K, Satake M, Yamamoto Y (2003) Convergent total syntheses of gambierol and 16-epi-gambierol and their biological activities. J Am Chem Soc 125:11893–11899
- 92. Johnson HWB, Majumder U, Rainier JD (2005) The total synthesis of gambierol. J Am Chem Soc 127:848–849
- Nicolaou KC, Murphy F, Barluenga S, Ohshima T, Wei H, Xu J, Gray DLF, Baudoin O (2000) Total synthesis of the novel immunosuppressant canglifehrin A. J Am Chem Soc 122:3830–3838
- 94. Duan M, Paquette LA (2001) Enantioselective total synthesis of the cyclophilin-binding immunosuppressive agent sanglifehrin A. Angew Chem Int Ed 40:3632–3636
- Paquette LA, Duan M, Konetzki I, Kempmann C (2002) A convergent three-component total synthesis of the powerful immunosuppressant (–)-sanglifehrin A. J Am Chem Soc 124:4257–4270
- Albrecht BK, Williams RM (2001) Entry into the bi-aryl moiety of the TMC-95 proteasome inhibitors via the Stille protocol. Tetrahedron Lett 42:2755–2757

- 97. Cuzzupe AN, Hutton CA, Lilly MJ, Mann RK, McRae KJ, Zammit SC, Rizzacasa MA (2001) Total synthesis of the epidermal growth factor inhibitor (–)-reveromycin B. J Org Chem 66:2382–2393
- Humphrey JM, Liao Y, Ali A, Rein T, Wong Y-L, Chen H-J, Courtney AC, Martin SF (2002) Enantioselective total syntheses of manzamine A and related alkaloids. J Am Chem Soc 124:8584–8592
- Lebsack AD, Link JT, Overman LE, Stearns BA (2002) Enantioselective total synthesis of quadrigemine C and psycholeine. J Am Chem Soc 124:9008–9009
- 100. Brückner S, Abraham E, Klotz P, Suffert J (2002) Cascade cyclization: an easy access to highly unsaturated polycyclic ring systems through a tandem Stille/[4+2] reaction under mild conditions. Org Lett 4:3391–3393
- 101. Beaudry CM, Trauner D (2002) Synthetic studies toward SNF4435 C and SNF4435 D. Org Lett 4:2221–2224
- 102. Miller AK, Byun DH, Beaudry CM, Trauner D (2004) The total synthesis of (–)-crispatene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:12019–12023
- 103. Beaudry CM, Trauner D (2005) Total synthesis of (-)-SNF4435 C and (+)-SNF4435 D. Org Lett 7:4475–4477
- 104. Tsuchikawa H, Matsushita N, Matsumori N, Murata M, Oishi T (2006) Synthesis of 28– 19F-amphotericin B methyl ester. Tetrahedron Lett 47:6187–6191
- 105. Amans D, Bellosta V, Cossy J (2006) Total synthesis of pseudotrienic acid B: a bioactive metabolite from *pseudomonas* sp. MF 381-IODS. Angew Chem Int Ed 45:5870–5874
- 106. Amans D, Bellosta V, Cossy J (2009) Synthesis of two bioactive natural products: FR252921 and pseudotrienic acid B. Chem Eur J 15:3457–3473
- 107. Paterson I, Findlay AD, Noti C (2008) Total synthesis of (-)-spirangien A and its methyl ester. Chem Commun, 6408–6410
- Deng L, Ma Z, Zhao G (2008) Synthetic studies toward the total synthesis of amphidinolide H1. Synlett, 728–732
- 109. Gillis EP, Burke MD (2008) Multistep synthesis of complex boronic acids from simple MIDA boronates. J Am Chem Soc 130:14084–14085
- 110. Fürstner A, Bouchez LC, Morency L, Funel JA, Liepins V, Porée FH, Gilmour R, Laurich D, Beaufils F, Tamiya M (2009) Total syntheses of amphidinolides B1, B4, G1, H1 and structure revision of amphidinolide H2. Chem Eur J 15:3983–4010
- Beingessner RL, Farand JA, Barriault L (2010) Progress toward the total synthesis of (±)havellockate. J Org Chem 75:6337–6346
- 112. Mizutani M, Inagaki F, Nakanishi T, Yanagihara C, Tamai I, Mukai C (2011) Total syntheses of (-)- and (+)-goniomitine. Org Lett 13:1796–1799
- 113. Lam HW, Pattenden G (2002) Total synthesis of the presumed amphidinolide A. Angew Chem Int Ed 41:508–511
- 114. Narayan S, Roush WR (2004) Studies toward the total synthesis of angelmicin B (hibarimicin B): synthesis of a model CD-D' arylnaphthoquinone. Org Lett 6:3789–3792
- 115. Fuwa H, Ebine M, Sasaki M (2006) Total synthesis of the proposed structure of brevenal. J Am Chem Soc 128:9648–9650
- 116. Fuwa H, Ebine M, Bourdelais AJ, Baden DG, Sasaki M (2006) Total synthesis, structure revision, and absolute configuration of (–)-brevenal. J Am Chem Soc 128:16989–16999
- 117. Schnermann MJ, Boger DL (2005) Total synthesis of piericidin A1 and B1. J Am Chem Soc 127:15704–15705
- 118. Valente C, Organ MG (2008) Assessing synthetic strategies: total syntheses of ( $\pm$ )-neodolabellane-type diterpenoids. Chem Eur J 14:8239–8245
- 119. Nicolaou KC, Vyskocil S, Koftis TV, Yamada YMA, Ling T, Chen DYK, Tang W, Petrovic G, Frederick MO, Li Y, Satake M (2004) Structural revision and total synthesis of azaspiracid-1, Part 1: intelligence gathering and tentative proposal. Angew Chem Int Ed 43:4312–4318

- 120. Nicolaou KC, Koftis TV, Vyskocil S, Petrovic G, Ling T, Yamada YMA, Tang W, Frederick MO (2004) Structural revision and total synthesis of azaspiracid-1, Part 2: definition of the ABCD domain and total synthesis. Angew Chem Int Ed 43:4318–4324
- 121. Dai Q, Xie X, Xu S, Ma D, Tang S, She X (2011) Total syntheses of tardioxopiperazine A, isoechinulin A, and variecolorin C. Org Lett 13:2302–2305
- 122. Nicolaou KC, Ramphal JY, Palazon JM, Spanevello RA (1989) Stereocontrolled total synthesis of (5S,6R)-, (5S, 6S)-, (5R,6R)-, and (5R,6S)-(7E,9E,1 1Z,14Z)-5,6-dihydroxy-7,9,11,14-icosatetraenoic acid (5,6-DiHETE) methyl esters. Angew Chem Int Ed 28:587–588
- 123. Roush WR, Sciotti RJ (1994) Enantioselective total synthesis of (–)-chlorothricolide. J Am Chem Soc 116:6457–6458
- 124. Evans DA, Ng HP, Rieger DL (1993) Total synthesis of the macrolide antibiotic rutamycin B. J Am Chem Soc 115:11446–11459
- 125. Pla D, Marchal A, Olsen CA, Albericio F, Álvarez M (2005) Modular total synthesis of lamellarin D. J Org Chem 70:8231–8234
- 126. Fischer DF, Sarpong R (2010) Total synthesis of (+)-complanadine A using an iridiumcatalyzed pyridine C-H functionalization. J Am Chem Soc 132:5926–5927
- 127. Armstrong RW, Beau JM, Cheon SH, Christ WJ, Fujioka H, Ham W-H, Hawkins LD, Jin H, Kang SH, Kishi Y, Martinelli MJ, McWhorter Jr. WW, Mizuno M, Nakata M, Stutz AE, Talamas FX, Taniguchi M, Tino JA, Ueda K, Uenishi J, White JB, Yonaga M (1989) Total synthesis of palytoxin carboxylic acid and palytoxin amide. J Am Chem Soc 111:7525–7530
- 128. Frank SA, Chen H, Kunz RK, Schnaderbeck MJ, Roush WR (2000) Use of thallium(I) ethoxide in Suzuki cross coupling reactions. Org Lett 2:2691–2694
- 129. Wu B, Liu Q, Sulikowski GA (2004) Total synthesis of apoptolidinone. Angew Chem Int Ed 43:6673–6675
- Wolfe JP, Singer RA, Yang BH, Buchwald SL (1999) Highly active palladium catalysts for Suzuki coupling reactions. J Am Chem Soc 121:9550–9561
- 131. Martin R, Buchwald SL (2008) Palladium-catalyzed Suzuki-Miyaura cross-coupling reactions employing dialkylbiaryl phosphine ligands. Acc Chem Res 41:1461–1473
- 132. Rainka MP, Milne JE, Buchwald SL (2005) Dynamic kinetic resolution of  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ -unsaturated lactones through asymmetric copper-catalyzed conjugate reduction: application to the total synthesis of eupomatilone-3. Angew Chem Int Ed 44:6177–6180
- Darses S, Genet JP (2008) Potassium organotrifluoroborates: new perspectives in organic synthesis. Chem Rev 108:288–325
- 134. Knapp DM, Gillis EP, Burke MD (2009) A general solution for unstable boronic acids: slow-release cross-coupling from air-stable MIDA boronates. J Am Chem Soc 131:6961– 6963
- 135. Woerly EM, Cherney AH, Davis EK, Burke MD (2010) Stereoretentive Suzuki-Miyaura coupling of haloallenes enables fully stereocontrolled access to (-)-peridinin. J Am Chem Soc 132:6941–6943
- 136. Reddy YK, Falck JR (2002) Asymmetric total synthesis of (+)-fostriecin. Org Lett 4:969–971
- 137. Garg NK, Sarpong R, Stoltz BM (2002) The first total synthesis of dragmacidin D. J Am Chem Soc 124:13179–13184
- Evans DA, Starr JT (2002) A cascade cycloaddition strategy leading to the total synthesis of (-)-FR182877. Angew Chem Int Ed 41:1787–1790
- Evans DA, Starr JT (2003) A cycloaddition cascade approach to the total synthesis of (-)-FR182877. J Am Chem Soc 125:13531–13540
- 140. Nagata T, Nakagawa M, Nishida A (2003) The first total synthesis of nakadomarin A. J Am Chem Soc 125:7484–7485
- 141. Nakahara S, Kubo A (2003) Total synthesis of styelsamine C, a cytotoxic fused tetracyclic aromatic alkaloid. Heterocycles 60:2017–2018
- 142. Miyashita K, Sakai T, Imanishi T (2003) Total synthesis of (±)-spiroxin C. Org Lett 5:2683–2686
- 143. Nicolaou KC, Rao PB, Hao J, Reddy MV, Rassias G, Huang X, Chen DY-K, Snyder SA (2003) The second total synthesis of diazonamide A. Angew Chem Int Ed 42:1753–1758

- 144. Raheem IT, Goodman SN, Jacobsen EN (2004) Catalytic asymmetric total syntheses of quinine and quinidine. J Am Chem Soc 126:706–707
- 145. Handy ST, Zhang Y, Bregman H (2004) A modular synthesis of the lamellarins: total synthesis of lamellarin G trimethyl ether. J Org Chem 69:2362–2366
- 146. Garg NK, Caspi DD, Stoltz BM (2004) The total synthesis of (+)-dragmacidin F. J Am Chem Soc 126:9552–9553
- 147. Yu SH, Ferguson MJ, McDonald R, Hall DG (2005) Brønsted acid-catalyzed allylboration: short and stereodivergent synthesis of all four eupomatilone diastereomers with crystallographic assignments. J Am Chem Soc 127:12808–12809
- 148. Lépine R, Zhu J (2005) Microwave-assisted intramolecular Suzuki-Miyaura reaction to macrocycle, a concise asymmetric total synthesis of biphenomycin B. Org Lett 7:2981– 2984
- 149. Shimizu T, Satoh T, Murakoshi K, Sodeoka M (2005) Asymmetric total synthesis of (-)spirofungin A and (+)-spirofungin B. Org Lett 7:5573–5576
- 150. Ahmed Z, Langer P (2005) Synthesis of natural pulvinic acids based on a '[3+2] cyclization–Suzuki cross-coupling' strategy. Tetrahedron 61:2055–2063
- 151. Appukkuttan P, Dehaen W, Van der Eycken E (2005) Microwave-enhanced synthesis of N-shifted buflavine analogues via a Suzuki-ring-closing metathesis protocol. Org Lett 7: 2723–2726
- 152. Appukkuttan P, Dehaen W, Van der Eycken E (2007) Microwave-assisted transition-metalcatalyzed synthesis of N-shifted and ring-expanded buflavine analogues. Chem Eur J 13:6452–6460
- 153. Jones SB, He L, Castle SL (2006) Total synthesis of (±)-hasubanonine. Org Lett 8:3757–3760
- 154. Altemöller M, Podlech J, Fenske D (2006) Total synthesis of altenuene and isoaltenuene. Eur J Org Chem, 1678–1684
- 155. Johnson PD, Sohn J-H, Rawal VH (2006) Synthesis of C-15 vindoline analogues by palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions. J Org Chem 71:7899–7902
- 156. Stanislawski PC, Willis AC, Banwell MG (2007) Gem-dihalocyclopropanes as building blocks in natural-product synthesis: enantioselective total syntheses of ent-erythramine and 3-epi-erythramine. Chem Asian J 2:1127–1136
- 157. Joncour A, Décor A, Dau METH, Baudoin O (2007) Asymmetric synthesis of antimicrotubule biaryl hybrids of allocolchicine and steganacin. Chem Eur J 13:5450–5465
- 158. Gillis EP, Burke MD (2007) A simple and modular strategy for small molecule synthesis: iterative Suzuki-Miyaura coupling of B-protected haloboronic acid building blocks. J Am Chem Soc 129:6716–6717
- 159. Jiang X, Liu B, Lebreton S, De Brabander JK (2007) Total synthesis and structure revision of the marine metabolite palmerolide A. J Am Chem Soc 129:6386–6387
- Mitra S, Gurrala SR, Coleman RS (2007) Total synthesis of the eupomatilones. J Org Chem 72:8724–8736
- Reeves JT (2007) A concise synthesis of butylcycloheptylprodigiosin. Org Lett 9:1879– 1881
- 162. Chen HS, Ma XP, Li ZM, Wang QR, Tao FG (2008) An effective synthesis of  $\beta$ -aryl substituted isotetronic acids via Suzuki coupling. Chin Chem Lett 19:1309–1311
- 163. Lee SJ, Gray KC, Paek JS, Burke MD (2008) Simple, efficient, and modular syntheses of polyene natural products via iterative cross-coupling. J Am Chem Soc 130:466–468
- 164. Murray TJ, Forsyth CJ (2008) Total synthesis of GEX1A. Org Lett 10:3429-3431
- 165. Calancea M, Carret S, Deprés J-P (2009) Short access to the aromadendrane family: highly efficient stereocontrolled total synthesis of (±)-cyclocolorenone and (±)-α-gurjunene. Eur J Org Chem, 3134–3137
- 166. Foster RS, Huang J, Vivat JF, Browne DL, Harrity JPA (2009) A divergent strategy to the withasomnines. Org Biomol Chem 7:4052–4056
- 167. Lee SJ, Anderson TM, Burke MD (2010) A simple and general platform for generating stereochemically complex polyene frameworks by iterative cross-coupling. Angew Chem Int Ed 49:8860–8863

- 168. Bao K, Dai Y, Zhu Z-B, Tu F-J, Zhang W-G, Yao X-S (2010) Design and synthesis of biphenyl derivatives as mushroom tyrosinase inhibitors. Bioorg Med Chem 18:6708-6714
- 169. Fuwa H, Sasaki M (2010) Total synthesis of (-)-exiguolide. Org Lett 12:584-587
- 170. Denton RM, Scragg JT (2010) A concise synthesis of dunnianol. Synlett, 633–635
- 171. Zheng S-Y, Shen Z-W (2010) Total synthesis of hirtellanine A. Tetrahedron Lett 51:2883–2887
- 172. Gray M, Andrews IP, Hook DF, Kitteringham J, Voyle M (2000) Practical methylation of aryl halides by Suzuki-Miyaura coupling. Tetrahedron Lett 41:6237–6240
- 173. Chemler SR, Trauner D, Danishefsky SJ (2001) The B-alkyl Suzuki-Miyaura crosscoupling reaction: Development, mechanistic study, and applications in natural product synthesis. Angew Chem Int Ed 40:4544–4568
- 174. Ebine M, Fuwa H, Sasaki M (2008) Total synthesis of (–)-brevenal: A concise synthetic entry to the pentacyclic polyether core. Org Lett 10:2275–2278
- 175. Kallan NC, Halcomb RL (2000) Synthesis of the ring system of phomactin D using a Suzuki macrocyclization. Org Lett 2:2687–2690
- 176. Starr JT, Carreira EM (2000) Synthesis of CP-225,917 and CP-263,114. Angew Chem Int Ed 39:1415–1421
- 177. Zhu B, Panek JS (2000) Total synthesis of epothilone A. Org Lett 2:2575-2578
- 178. Lee CB, Chou T-C, Zhang X-G, Wang Z-G, Kuduk SD, Chappell MD, Stachel SJ, Danishefsky SJ (2000) Total synthesis and antitumor activity of 12,13-desoxyepothilone F: An unexpected solvolysis problem at C15, mediated by remote substitution at C21. J Org Chem 65:6525–6533
- 179. Fuwa H, Sasaki M, Tachibana K (2000) Synthetic studies on a marine polyether toxin, gambierol: stereoselective synthesis of the FGH ring system via *B*-alkyl Suzuki coupling. Tetrahedron Lett 41:8371–8375
- 180. Nakamura T, Shiozaki M (2001) Total synthesis of sphingofungin E. Tetrahedron Lett 42:2701–2704
- 181. Takakura H, Noguchi K, Sasaki M, Tachibana K (2001) Synthetic studies on ciguatoxin: a highly convergent synthesis of the GHIJKLM ring system based on *B*-alkyl Suzuki coupling. Angew Chem Int Ed 40:1090–1093
- 182. Sasaki M, Ishikawa M, Fuwa H, Tachibana K (2002) A general strategy for the convergent synthesis of fused polycyclic ethers via *B*-alkyl Suzuki coupling:synthesis of the ABCD ring fragment of ciguatoxins. Tetrahedron 58:1889–1911
- 183. Mandal AK (2002) Stereocontrolled total synthesis of (-)-ebelactone A. Org Lett 4:2043-2045
- 184. Sasaki M, Tsukano C, Tachibana K (2002) Studies toward the total synthesis of gymnocin A, a cytotoxic polyether: a highly convergent entry to the F-N ring fragment. Org Lett 4:1747–1750
- Sasaki M, Tsukano C, Tachibana K (2003) Synthetic entry to the ABCD ring fragment of gymnocin-A, a cytotoxic marine polyether. Tetrahedron Lett 44:4351–4354
- 186. Tsukano C, Sasaki M (2003) Total synthesis of gymnocin-A. J Am Chem Soc 125:14294–14295
- 187. Tsukano C, Ebine M, Sasaki M (2005) Convergent total synthesis of gymnocin-A and evaluation of synthetic analogues. J Am Chem Soc 127:4326–4335
- Mohr PJ, Halcomb RL (2003) Total synthesis of (+)-phomactin A using a *B*-alkyl Suzuki macrocyclization. J Am Chem Soc 125:1712–1713
- 189. Marshall JA, Schaaf G, Nolting A (2005) Synthesis of the C6–C21 segment of amphidinolide E. Org Lett 7:5331–5333
- 190. Carret S, Deprés J-P (2007) Access to guaianolides: highly efficient stereocontrolled total synthesis of (±)-geigerin. Angew Chem Int Ed 46:6870–6873
- 191. Roulland E, Dr. (2008) Total synthesis of (+)-oocydin A: application of the Suzuki–Miyaura cross-coupling of 1,1-dichloro-1-alkenes with 9-alkyl 9-BBN. Angew Chem Int Ed 47:3762–3765

- 192. Williams DR, Walsh MJ, Miller NA (2009) Studies for the synthesis of xenicane diterpenes. A stereocontrolled total synthesis of 4- hydroxydictyo-lactone. J Am Chem Soc 131:9038– 9045
- Schnabel C, Hiersemann M (2009) Total synthesis of jatrophane diterpenes from *euphorbia* characias. Org Lett 11:2555–2558
- 194. Archambaud S, Legrand F, Aphecetche-J K, Collet S, Guingant A, Evain M (2010) Total synthesis of (+)-brefeldin C, (+)-nor-Me brefeldin A and (+)-4-epi-nor-Me brefeldin A. Eur J Org Chem, 1364–1380
- 195. Ohtani N, Tsutsumi R, Kuranaga T, Shirai T, Wright JLC, Baden DG, Satake M, Tachibana K (2010) Synthesis of the ABC ring fragment of brevisin, a new dinoflagellate polycyclic ether. Heterocycles 80:825–830
- 196. Kuranaga T, Ohtani N, Tsutsumi R, Baden DG, Wright JLC, Satake M, Tachibana K (2011) Total synthesis of (-)-brevisin: a concise synthesis of a new marine polycyclic ether. Org Lett 13:696–699
- 197. Denmark SE, Liu JHC, Muhuhi JM (2009) Total syntheses of isodomoic acids G and H. J Am Chem Soc 131:14188–14189
- 198. Zhang Y, Panek JS (2007) Total synthesis of herboxidiene/GEX 1A. Org Lett 9:3141-3143
- 199. Denmark SE, Regens CS, Kobayashi T (2007) Total synthesis of papulacandin D. J Am Chem Soc 129:2774–2776
- 200. Denmark SE, Fujimori S (2005) Total synthesis of RK-397. J Am Chem Soc 127:8971-8973
- 201. Denmark SE, Yang S-M (2002) Intramolecular silicon-assisted cross-coupling: total synthesis of (+)-brasilenyne. J Am Chem Soc 124:15196–15197
- Denmark SE, Yang S-M (2004) Total synthesis of (+)-brasilenyne. Application of an intramolecular silicon-assisted cross-coupling reaction. J Am Chem Soc 126:12432–12440

# Chapter 4 Pharmaceuticals

Jiao Jiao and Yasushi Nishihara

**Abstract** This chapter describes the design and development of biologically active compounds using cross-coupling reactions as key steps. These biologically active compounds are of both academic and industrial importance. Drug candidates can be prepared from easily available substrates in a few steps through cross-coupling—underscoring the versatility, effectiveness, functional group tolerance, and mild reaction conditions of the cross-coupling methods. Due to these advantages, palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions are being utilized in the industrial production of pharmaceuticals.

Keywords Pharmaceutical · Large-scale synthesis · Functional group tolerance

# 4.1 Introduction

Owing to many pioneering chemists' unremitting efforts, recent innovations have replaced earlier protocols to achieve milder, broader, and more efficient catalytic methods for carbon–carbon bond formations [1–11]. The cross-coupling protocols are appropriately considered to be the cornerstones for the synthesis of pharmaceuticals. These reactions provide new entries into pharmaceutical ingredients of continuously increasing complexity. Transition-metal catalysts such as Ni, Cu, Rh, and Ru have been substantially developed in the synthesis of drugs or their precursors [12–16]; however, Pd catalysis, with its high activity and mild reaction conditions, has considerable potential in large-scale applications for pharmaceuticals.

J. Jiao · Y. Nishihara (🖂)

Division of Earth, Life, and Molecular Sciences, Graduate School of Natural Science and Technology Okayama University, 3-1-1 Tsushimanaka.Kita-ku, Okayama 700-8530, Japan

e-mail: ynishiha@okayama-u.ac.jp

### 4.2 Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling

The most representative coupling for the synthesis of pharmaceuticals is the Suzuki–Miyaura coupling, which has been widely studied in the past decade. One of the earliest examples of industrial-scale Suzuki–Miyaura coupling in pharmaceuticals was reported in 1999 [17], which described the synthetic pathway of SB-245570, a candidate for the treatment of depression (Scheme 4.1). This synthesis was efficient and inexpensive. The Pd/C-catalyzed Suzuki–Miyaura coupling provided access to the desired product, and reaction in MeOH/H<sub>2</sub>O gave an improved product yield with a residual Pd level of <6 ppm.



Scheme 4.1 A synthetic route to SB-245570

Cameron et al. published the preparation of a GABA<sub>A</sub>  $R_{2/3}$  agonist for the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder (Scheme 4.2) [18]. The biaryl system was assembled from the palladium-catalyzed Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of an aryl bromide with an arylboronic acid. The arylboronic acid was prepared via *ortho*-lithiation of 4-chlorofluorobenzene with lithium 2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine, followed by a B[O(*i*-Pr)]<sub>3</sub> quench and acidic workup [19, 20].



Scheme 4.2 A synthetic route to a GABA<sub>A</sub> R<sub>2/3</sub>-agonist

#### 4 Pharmaceuticals

3-Amino-2-phenylpiperidines are important pharmacophores because of their role as potent, non-peptidic NK1 receptor antagonists such as CP-99,994 and GR203040 (Fig. 4.1).



Fig. 4.1 3-Amino-2-phenylpiperidine derivatives

Caron and co-workers have reported Suzuki–Miyaura coupling to prepare 3amino-2-phenylpyridine, a key intermediate in the preparation of 3-amino-2phenylpiperidine [21]. The in situ protection of 3-amino-2-chloropyridine with benzaldehyde, followed by Suzuki–Miyaura coupling with phenylboronic acid and the subsequent acidic hydrolysis provides 3-amino-2-phenylpyridine (1) in a single, high-yielding step from inexpensive and commercially available starting materials (Scheme 4.3).



Scheme 4.3 Synthesis of 3-amino-2-phenylpyridine (1)

Jensen has described the synthesis of a GABA<sub>A</sub>  $R_{2,3}$ -selective allosteric modulator **2**, a potential treatment for central nervous system conditions, in high yield by Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of imidazopyrimidine with 3-pyridylboronic acid (Scheme 4.4) [22]. This synthetic method highlights the versatility of Pd-catalyzed Suzuki–Miyaura coupling.



Scheme 4.4 Synthesis of a GABA<sub>A</sub> R<sub>2,3</sub>-selective allosteric modulator 2

Itami and Yoshida have described a sequence of double Mizoroki–Heck reactions of the vinylboronate pinacol ester with aryl halides, followed by Suzuki– Miyaura coupling of the generated  $\beta$ , $\beta$ -diarylvinylboronates with alkyl halides (Scheme 4.5) [23], to very efficiently produce pharmaceutically important 1,1diaryl-1-alkenes **3** (Fig. 4.2). In the Pd-catalyzed Suzuki–Miyaura coupling step, the use of bulky electron-rich ligands such as P<sup>*t*</sup>Bu<sub>2</sub>Me and PCy<sup>*t*</sup><sub>2</sub>Bu was found to be very effective.



Scheme 4.5 Synthesis of 1,1-diaryl-1-alkenes 3



Fig. 4.2 Examples of pharmaceutically important 1,1-diaryl-1-alkenes

#### 4 Pharmaceuticals

A versatile methodology for the synthesis of 4-aminoquinoline derivatives 4 (antimalarial drugs) using  $C(sp^2)$ - $C(sp^2)$  Suzuki–Miyaura cross-coupling reactions as key steps is presented in Scheme 4.6 [24]. These methodologies provided the novel synthesis of a variety of aryl- and alkyl-substituted 4-aminoquinoline analogs by a general protocol, which allowed the convenient introduction of diversity using Suzuki–Miyaura couplings between aryl bromides and commercially available arylboronic acids.



Scheme 4.6 Synthesis of 4-aminoquinoline derivatives 4

A versatile and direct synthesis of multi-substituted olefins has been developed by the regioselective formation of zirconacyclopentenes, followed by Pd-catalyzed cross-coupling and sequential Suzuki–Miyaura coupling with various aryl iodides (Scheme 4.7) [25]. (Z)-Tamoxifen, a widely used treatment for all stages of breast cancer, can be successfully synthesized via this methodology with high regio- and stereoselectivities (>99 %).



Scheme 4.7 Synthesis of (Z)-tamoxifen

Wehn has demonstrated a novel approach to the synthesis of the substituted 5amino- and 3-amino-1,2,4-thiadiazoles beginning from a common precursor (Scheme 4.8). Derivatization by palladium-catalyzed Suzuki–Miyaura coupling enables an efficient supply of analogs around this pharmaceutically relevant core (Fig. 4.3) [26].



Scheme 4.8 Synthesis of the substituted 5-amino- and 3-amino-1,2,4-thiadiazoles



Fig. 4.3 Representative amino-1,2,3-thiadiazoles in natural products and potential pharmaceuticals

Saadeh has reported a one-pot synthesis of several 5-aryl-1-methyl-4-nitroimidazoles **5**, which exhibit potent lethality against Entamoeba histolytica and Giardia intestinalis, through Suzuki–Miyaura coupling between 5-chloro-1methyl-4-nitroimidazole and a variety of arylboronic acids (Scheme 4.9) [27].



Scheme 4.9 A one-pot synthesis of 5-aryl-1-methyl-4-nitroimidazoles 5

#### 4 Pharmaceuticals

Jiang and Prasad have used this methodology in the synthesis of a phosphodiesterase-4 inhibitor **6** for the treatment of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and asthma (Scheme 4.10) [28]. The desired drug substance **6** was obtained in 58 % yield. After recrystallization using 10 % water in acetonitrile, less than 1 % of the *cis*-isomer remained. The remaining 1 % of undesired *cis*-isomer was largely isomerized to the *trans*-isomer using phosphorus oxychloride at 110 °C.



Scheme 4.10 Synthesis of a phosphodiesterase-4 inhibitor 6

Vanelle has reported a synthetic pathway for diarylquinazolines **7**, which display significant pharmaceutical potential, starting from 4,7-dichloro 2-(2-methylprop-1-enyl)-6-nitroquinazoline and using microwave-promoted chemoselective Suzuki–Miyaura cross-coupling reactions (Scheme 4.11) [29].



Scheme 4.11 A synthetic route to diarylquinazolines 7

Very recently, Lee investigated a new catalytic system based on the palladiumamido-*N*-heterocyclic carbenes for Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of heteroaryl bromides and chlorides with 4-pyridylboronic acids to produce a precursor of milrinone (Scheme 4.12) [30].



Scheme 4.12 A synthetic route to a precursor of milrinone

Also, Qian recently designed and synthesized a series of 5 non-amino aromaticsubstituted naphthalimides **8** from naphthalic anhydride by three steps, including bromination, amination, and  $Pd(PPh_3)_4$ -catalyzed Suzuki–Miyaura coupling (Scheme 4.13) [31]. Compared with the current state-of-the-art antitumor agent, amonafide, these new naphthalimide derivatives not only exhibited better antitumor activity against HeLa and P388D1 cancer cell lines in vitro, but they also may have fewer side effects.



Scheme 4.13 A synthetic route to substituted naphthalimides 8

Zeni has reported the palladium-catalyzed Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of a variety of arylboronic acids with 4-iodo-2,3-dihydroselenophene derivatives

to afford 4,5-diaryl-2,3-dihydroselenophenes **9** (Scheme 4.14) [32]. The subsequent dehydrogenation of these 4,5-diaryl-2,3-dihydroselenophenes **9** were activated by DDQ, and the corresponding 2,3-diarylselenophenes were obtained in good yields. The 2,3-diarylselenophenes were found to be effective in counteracting lipid and protein oxidation as well as scavenging 2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid (ABTS) radicals. These findings indicate that 2,3-diarylselenophenes are prototypes for future drug development programs to treat disorders involving reactive oxygen species.



Scheme 4.14 4,5-Diaryl-2,3-dihydroselenophenes 9

Boranes and boronic esters can also be efficiently employed, rather than the boronic acids, as the coupling partners with aryl or alkyl halides [33–38]. Lipton has reported the large-scale synthesis of **10**, a potential central nervous system drug candidate. The key step was the Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reaction of methyl-3-bromophenylsulfone and diethyl-3-pyridylborane (Scheme 4.15) [39].



Scheme 4.15 Suzuki-Miyaura coupling reaction of methyl-3-bromophenylsulfone and diethyl-3-pyridylborane

# 4.3 Negishi Coupling

Negishi coupling, another widely applied synthetic pathway for building carboncarbon bonds in pharmaceuticals, has also undergone extensive advancements in the past decade [40–42]. Chemists such as Knochel [43] and Uchiyama [44, 45] have developed milder reaction conditions for the preparation of organozinc reagents bearing sensitive functional groups such as alcohols and aldehydes. These new methods should find broad applications in the synthesis of complex molecules.

Ku and coworkers incorporated Negishi coupling in the scalable synthesis of A-224817.0 1A, a non-steroidal ligand for the glucocorticoid receptor, which can be used for the treatment of inflammatory diseases and with fewer side effects than the preceding therapeutic agents. The synthesis was accomplished in a few steps, starting from 1,3-dimethoxybenzene. The biaryl intermediate was prepared by an optimized high-yield and high-throughput Negishi protocol (Scheme 4.16) [46].



Scheme 4.16 A synthetic route to A-224817.0 1A

Scott has described the synthesis of AG-28262 **11**, a promising VEGFR kinase inhibitor (Scheme 4.17) [47]. The precursor of this molecule was achieved via Pd-catalyzed Negishi coupling. This procedure was repeated for a total of seven batches; the crude product was purified to provide a total of 1.5 kg of **11** with >95 % purity in a 63 % overall yield.



Scheme 4.17 A synthetic route to AG-28262

Pannecoucke has developed a highly stereo-specific synthesis of (E)- or (Z)- $\alpha$ -fluoro- $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ -unsaturated ketones via a kinetically controlled Negishi coupling, providing easy and general access to valuable fluorinated intermediates for pharmaceuticals and peptide mimics (Scheme 4.18) [48].



Scheme 4.18 Synthesis of (*E*)- or (*Z*)- $\alpha$ -fluoro- $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated ketones

Liu and Xiang assembled adapalene (Differin<sup>®</sup>), a synthetic retinoid for the topical treatment of acne, psoriasis, and photoaging, via the ZnCl<sub>2</sub>-mediated Negishi coupling of a Grignard reagent and an aryl bromide (Scheme 4.19) [49].



Scheme 4.19 A synthetic route to adapalene (Differin<sup>®</sup>)

A scalable synthetic route to [4,7']bis-isoquinolinyl-1-yl-(2-*tert*-butyl-pyrimidine-5-yl)amine, an inhibitor of B-Raf kinase, was described by Bänziger and Yusuff (Scheme 4.20) [50]. The key step in this synthesis is the Pd-catalyzed Negishi coupling of 4-bromo-1-chloroisoquinoline with trifluoromethanesulfonic acid isoquinoline-7-yl ester to yield the molecule **12**. This cross-coupled intermediate was transformed to the desired drug by an amination reaction with 2-*tert*butyl-5-aminopyrimidine in the presence of NaH. Special care had to be taken to ensure complete removal of traces of Zn and Pd from the final drug substance.



Scheme 4.20 A synthetic route to [4,7']bis-isoquinolinyl-1-yl- (2-tert-butyl-pyrimidine-5-yl)amine

#### 4 Pharmaceuticals

Pérez-Balado has developed a practical and scalable synthesis of 2-chloro-5-(pyridin-2-yl)pyrimidine **13**, an intermediate to a selective PDE-V inhibitor (Scheme 4.21) [51]. Negishi cross-coupling between the in situ prepared 2-pyridylzinc chloride and 5-iodo-2-chloropyrimidine, catalyzed by  $Pd(PPh_3)_4$ , can afford the product **13** in one step.



Scheme 4.21 Synthesis of 2-chloro-5-(pyridin-2-yl)pyrimidine 13

Knochel has demonstrated that the acidic hydrogens of amines, alcohols, and phenols are compatible with Negishi cross-coupling conditions and do not require the use of protecting groups (Scheme 4.22) [52]. The reaction conditions use Buchwald's S-PHOS, which allows general Pd-catalyzed Negishi cross-coupling of functionalized alkyl, aryl, heteroaryl, and benzylic zinc reagents with aryl halides bearing amide or sulfonamide functionalities in spite of their acidic hydrogens.



Scheme 4.22 Negishi cross-coupling compatible with acidic hydrogens

Furthermore, many antiarrhythmic agents (Bristol–Myers Squibb) have been prepared by Knochel et al. in 92–97 % yields by the direct Negishi coupling of aromatic and heteroaromatic zinc reagents under standard conditions (Scheme 4.23).



Scheme 4.23 A synthetic route to antiarrhythmic agents (Bristol-Myers Squibb)

In addition, sodium channel blockers **14** (Merck) were synthesized from the corresponding primary amide and zinc reagents in 94–97 % yield (Scheme 4.24).



Scheme 4.24 A synthetic route to sodium channel blockers 14

Kwak has developed an efficient and convenient Negishi coupling protocol for the preparation of 3-aryl-2,2-dimethylpropanoates **15**, providing easy access to key pharmaceutical intermediates that would otherwise require multi-step syntheses using conventional enolate chemistry (Scheme 4.25) [53].



Scheme 4.25 A synthetic route to 3-aryl-2,2-dimethylpropanoates 15

#### 4 Pharmaceuticals

Kennedy-Smith and Sweeney have reported the synthesis of non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs), which are important components of antiretroviral therapy for the treatment of HIV infection [54]. A pyridone compound, which was found to strongly inhibit the polymerase activity of wild-type HIV reverse transcriptase, was successfully synthesized from compound **16** (Scheme 4.26). Negishi coupling was involved as one of the key steps to install the acetic acid functionality, giving rise to intermediate **17**.



Scheme 4.26 A synthetic route to an HIV reverse transcriptase

## 4.4 Migita-Kosugi-Stille Coupling

The Migita-Kosugi-Stille Coupling has not been widely used in the large-scale manufacturing of pharmaceuticals. This is mainly due to the toxicity of the organotin reagents and the difficulty of purging tin-containing by-products from drug intermediates and active pharmaceutical ingredients. Despite these issues, many organotin reagents used for Migita-Kosugi-Stille Coupling are widely available, stable to air and moisture, and compatible with a variety of functional groups.

Ragan has incorporated the Migita-Kosugi-Stille Coupling of imidazolylstannane and iodothienopyridine into the synthesis of a VEGFR kinase inhibitor **18**, a compound with promising antitumor activity (Scheme 4.27) [55]. An exhaustive survey of coupling reactions revealed this Migita–Kosugi–Stille approach to be the only robust and scalable method for the coupling of the imidazole and thienopyridine rings.



Scheme 4.27 A synthetic route to a VEGFR kinase inhibitor 18

Gundersen has reported the synthesis of 6-benzofuryl- and styrylpurines **19**, in which Migita-Kosugi-Stille coupling was involved as a synthetic strategy to achieve the target molecules with regioselectivity (Scheme 4.28) [56]. Several of these compounds displayed profound antimycobacterial activity with low toxicity toward mammalian cells.



Scheme 4.28 Synthesis of 6-benzofuryl- and styrylpurines 19

Wada developed cesium-fluoride-promoted Migita-Kosugi-Stille Coupling reactions of vinyl triflates with an alkenylstannane bearing an electron-withdrawing group. These methodologies were then adopted for the preparation of the 9Z-retinoic acid (9CRA) analogs (known metabolites of vitamin A and ligands of the retinoid X receptor) having a 2-substituted benzo[b]furan [57]. Treatment of 2-substituted 3-iodobenzofurans (derived from 2-alkynyl-1-(1-ethoxyethoxy)benzenes) with the alkenylstannane in the presence of cesium fluoride, copper iodide, and with  $Pd(PPh_3)_4$  as the catalyst, afforded the coupled products **20** in good yield without isomerization of the double bonds (Scheme 4.29).



Scheme 4.29 Synthesis of the 9Z-retinoic acid (9CRA) analogs 20

Gao has recently described an improved synthesis of precursors for the positron emission tomography (PET) radioligands [<sup>18</sup>F]XTRA and [<sup>18</sup>F]AZAN, involving a key Migita-Kosugi-Stille Coupling step, followed by deprotection of a Boc group and *N*-methylation sequences (Scheme 4.30) [58].



Scheme 4.30 Synthesis of precursors for [<sup>18</sup>F]XTRA and [<sup>18</sup>F]AZAN

## 4.5 Kumada-Tamao-Corriu Coupling

Because of the high reactivity of Grignard reagents relative to other organometallic species, the scope of Kumada-Tamao-Corriu Coupling for the large-scale synthesis of pharmaceuticals has been limited. Long has reported the coupling reaction of 2-bromopyridine and arylmagnesium bromide to prepare a biaryl



Scheme 4.31 A synthetic route to the HIV protease inhibitor atazanavir (Reyataz<sup>®</sup>)

compound, an intermediate in the synthetic route to the HIV protease inhibitor atazanavir (Reyataz<sup>®</sup>), as shown in Scheme 4.31 [59].

Manley has employed Kumada-Tamao-Corriu Coupling of 4-chloropyridine and arylmagnesium bromide to prepare a biaryl compound, followed by further reactions to prepare compound **21**, an inhibitor of the phosphodiesterase-4D isoenzyme that could potentially be used in the treatment of asthma (Scheme 4.32) [60].



Scheme 4.32 A synthetic route to an inhibitor 21 of the phosphodiesterase 4D isoenzyme

Marzoni and Varney applied the methylation of an aryl iodide under Kumada-Tamao-Corriu Coupling conditions for their improved synthesis of compound **22**. This is an intermediate to a thymidylate synthase inhibitor **23** which has potential for the treatment of cancer (Scheme 4.33) [61].



Scheme 4.33 Synthesis of an intermediate to a thymidylate synthase inhibitor 22
### 4.6 Sonogashira–Hagihara Coupling

Prasad has developed an elegant process for the one-pot coupling of an aryl bromide and a heteroaryl bromide via stepwise Sonogashira-Hagihara reactions with an acetylene linker masked as 2-methyl-3-butyn-2-ol for the synthesis of an antimitotic agent **24** (Scheme 4.34) [62].



Scheme 4.34 A synthetic route to an antimitotic agent 24

Hartner developed a series of Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling reactions, in which various alkynes were coupled with 2,5-dibromopyridine at both bromo positions, for the preparation of key intermediates to  $\alpha_V \beta_3$  antagonists **25** (Scheme 4.35) [63]. These are potential agents for the treatment for osteoporosis.



**Scheme 4.35** A synthetic route to  $\alpha V \beta_3$  antagonists 25

Ripin has described the synthesis of the anti-cancer agent (CP-724, 714) **26** on a multi-kilogram-scale using several different synthetic routes (Scheme 4.36) [64]. Applications of the Sonogashira–Hagihara and Mizoroki–Heck couplings to this synthesis have been investigated, seeking a safe, environmentally benign, and robust process for the production of this drug candidate.



Scheme 4.36 Synthesis of the anti-cancer agent (CP-724,714) 26

Peng has developed the synthesis of a series of 3-arylethynyltriazolyl ribonucleosides **27** via a microwave-assisted Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling reaction (Scheme 4.37); these products show promise vis-à-vis anti-cancer activity on the drug-resistant pancreatic cancer cell line MiaPaCa-2. The Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling reactions between the 3-bromo-triazole nucleoside and various alkynes were followed by ammonolysis to give the deprotected nucleosides **27** [65].



Scheme 4.37 Synthesis of a series of 3-arylethynyltriazolyl ribonucleosides 27

#### 4 Pharmaceuticals

Yu and coworkers commenced a synthetic route to the TRPV1 receptor antagonist **28** with Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling of an aryl chloride and *tert*butylacetylene (Scheme 4.38) [66]. In general, aryl chlorides exhibit poor reactivity in the Pd-catalyzed Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling reactions (See Chap. 7); however, an aryl chloride activated by the electron-withdrawing trifluoromethyl and nitrile groups smoothly couples with very low catalyst loading, using the sterically hindered and electron-rich DavePhos as the ligand [67].



Scheme 4.38 A synthetic route to the TRPV1 receptor antagonist 28

Berliner has developed a Sonogashira–Hagihara reaction of propyne gas and iodoresorcinol for the synthesis of 4-hydroxy-2-methylbenzofuran **29**, a core intermediate to several compounds of pharmaceutical interest (Scheme 4.39) [68].



Scheme 4.39 Synthesis of 4-hydroxy-2-methylbenzofuran 29;

### 4.7 Summary

Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling is clearly a powerful tool to synthesize pharmaceuticals not only for academic research but also for industrial applications. This chapter has demonstrated the versatility of these reactions. In the design and synthesis of biologically active molecules, serious consideration must be given to important factors such as: reactivity of functional groups, stereo- and regioselectivity, toxicity of potential residual contaminants, and efficiency of yield. These are all aspects in which the aforementioned cross-coupling models provide exceptional and innovative opportunities for the modern process chemist. In addition, considering the myriad of advancements seen in the past decade, many new discoveries should soon offer even more practical and reliable methods of cross-coupling for the large-scale manufacturing of pharmaceuticals.

# References

- 1. Li JJ, Gribble GW (2000) Palladium in heterocyclic chemistry. A Guide for the Synthetic Chemist. Pergamon Amsterdam, The Netherlands
- 2. Miyaura N (2001) Organoboron compounds. Top Curr Chem 219:11-59
- 3. Hassan J, Sévignon M, Gozzi C, Schulz E, Lemaire M (2002) Aryl—aryl bond formation one century after the discovery of the Ullmann reaction. Chem Rev 102:1359–1470
- 4. Littke A, Fu GC (2002) Palladium-catalyzed coupling reactions of aryl chlorides. Angew Chem Int Ed 41:4176–4211
- King AO, Yasuda N (2004) Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions in the synthesis of pharmaceuticals. Topics Organomet Chem 6:205–245
- Nicolaou KC, Bulger PG, Sarlah D (2005) Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions in total synthesis. Angew Chem Int Ed 44:4442–4489
- 7. Marion N, Nolan SP (2008) Well-defined N-heterocyclic carbenes—palladium (II) precatalysts for cross-coupling reactions. Acc Chem Res 41:1440–1449
- 8. Fu GC (2008) The development of versatile methods for palladium-catalyzed coupling reactions of aryl electrophiles through the use of P(t-Bu)3 and PCy3 as ligands. Acc Chem Res 41:1555–1564
- 9. Cahiez G, Moyeux A (2010) Cobalt-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions. Chem Rev 110:1435–1462
- Vo TC, Mitchell TA, Bode JW (2011) Expanded substrate scope and improved reactivity of ether-forming cross-coupling reactions of organotrifluoroborates and acetals. J Am Chem Soc 133:14082–14089
- 11. Bai Y, Zeng J, Cai S, Liu X (2011) Palladium-catalyzed direct cross-coupling reaction of glycals with activated alkenes. Org Lett 13:4394–4397
- Naso F, Babudr F, Farinola GM (1999) Organometallic chemistry directed towards the synthesis of electroactive materials: stereoselective routes to extended polyconjugated systems. Pure Appl Chem 71:1485–1492
- 13. Schlummer B, Scholz U (2004) Palladium-catalyzed C = N and C = O coupling—a practical guide from an industrial vantage point. Adv Synth Catal 346:1599–1626
- 14. Blaser HU, Indolese A, Naud F, Nettekoven U, Schnyder A (2004) Industrial R&D on catalytic C = C and C = N coupling reactions: a personal account on goals, approaches and results. Adv Synth Catal 346:1583–1598
- 15. Buchwald SL, Mauger C, Mignani G, Scholz U (2006) Industrial-scale palladium-catalyzed coupling of aryl halides and amines—a personal account. Adv Synth Catal 348:23–39
- Torborg C, Beller M (2009) Recent applications of palladium-catalyzed coupling reactions in the pharmaceutical, agrochemical, and fine chemical industries. Adv Synth Catal 351:3027– 3043
- Ennis DS, McManus J, Wood-Kaczmar W, Richardson J, Smith GE, Carstairs A (1999) Multikilogram-scale synthesis of a biphenyl carboxylic acid derivative using a Pd/Cmediated Suzuki coupling approach. Org Process Res Dev 3:248–252
- Cameron M, Foster BS, Lynch JE, Shi Y, Dolling UH (2006) The expedient synthesis of 4,2'difluoro-5'-(7-trifluoromethyl-imidazo[1,2-a]pyrimidin-3-yl)biphenyl-2-carbonitrile, a GABA α2/3 agonist. Org Process Res Dev 10:398–402

#### 4 Pharmaceuticals

- Snieckus V (1990) Directed ortho metalation. Tertiary amide and o-carbamate directors in synthetic strategies for polysubstituted aromatics. Chem Rev 90:879–933
- Kalinin AV, Bower JF, Riebel P, Snieckus V (1999) The directed ortho metalation—Ullmann connection. A new Cu(I)-catalyzed variant for the synthesis of substituted diaryl ethers. J Org Chem 64:2986–2987
- Caron S, Massett SS, Bogle DE, Castaldi MJ, Braish TF (2001) An efficient and costeffective synthesis of 2-phenyl-3-aminopyridine. Org Process Res Dev 5:254–256
- 22. Jensen MS, Hoerrner RS, Li W, Nelson DP, Javadi GJ, Dormer PG, Cai D, Larsen RD (2005) Efficient synthesis of a GABAA α2,3-selective allosteric modulator via a sequential Pdcatalyzed cross-coupling approach. J Org Chem 70:6034–6039
- Tonogaki K, Soga K, Itami K, Yoshida J (2005) Versatile synthesis of 1,1- diaryl-1-alkenes using vinylboronate ester as a platform. Synlett, 1802–1804
- Paunescu E, Matuszak N, Melnyk P (2007) Suzuki-Miyaura cross-coupling reaction as the key step for the synthesis of some new 4-aryl and alkyl substituted analogues of amodiaquine and amopyroquine. Tetrahedron 63:12791–12810
- Nishihara Y, Miyasaka M, Okamoto M, Takahashi H, Inoue E, Tanemura K, Takagi K (2007) Zirconocene-mediated highly regio- and stereoselective synthesis of multisubstituted olefins starting from 1-alkynylboronates. J Am Chem Soc 129:12634–12635
- Wehn PM, Harrington PE, Eksterowicz JE (2009) Facile synthesis of substituted 5-aminoand 3-amino-1,2,4-thiadiazoles from a common precursor. Org Lett 11:5666–5669
- Saadeh HA, Mosleh IM, El-Abadelah MM (2009) New synthesis and antiparasitic activity of model 5-aryl-1-methyl-4-nitroimidazoles. Molecules 14:2758–2767
- Jiang X, Lee G, Villhauer EB, Prasad K, Prashad M (2010) A scalable synthesis of a 1,7naphthyridine derivative, a PDE-4 inhibitor. Org Process Res Dev 14:883–889
- 29. Kabri Y, Verhaeghe P, Gellis A, Vanelle P (2010) Regioselective Suzuki-Miyaura reaction: application to the microwave-promoted synthesis of 4,7-diarylquinazolines. Molecules 15:2949–2961
- 30. Kumar MR, Park K, Lee S (2010) Synthesis of amido-*N*-imidazolium salts and their applications as ligands in Suzuki-Miyaura reactions: coupling of hetero-aromatic halides and the synthesis of milrinone and irbesartan. Adv Synth Catal 352:3255–3266
- 31. Xie L, Cui J, Qian X, Xu Y, Liu J, Xu R (2011) 5-Non-amino aromatic substituted naphthalimides as potential antitumor agents: synthesis via Suzuki reaction, antiproliferative activity, and DNA-binding behavior. Bioorg Med Chem 19:961–967
- 32. Schumacher RF, Rosário AR, Souza Ana.CG, Acker CI, Nogueira CW, Zeni G (2011) The potential antioxidant activity of 2,3-dihydroselenophene, a prototype drug of 4-aryl-2,3-dihydroselenophenes. Bioorg Med Chem 19:1418–1425
- 33. Urawa Y, Miyazawa M, Ozeki N, Ogura K (2003) A novel methodology for efficient removal of residual palladium from a product of the Suzuki—Miyaura coupling with polymersupported ethylenediamine derivatives. Org Process Res Dev 7:191–195
- 34. Keen SP, Cowden CJ, Bishop BC, Brands KMJ, Davies AJ, Dolling UH, Lieberman DR, Stewart GW (2005) Practical asymmetric synthesis of a non-peptidic  $\alpha v\beta 3$  antagonist. J Org Chem 70:1771–1779
- 35. Allwein SP, McWilliams JC, Secord EA, Mowrey DR, Nelson TD, Kress MH (2006) Efficient synthesis of chiral phenethylamines: preparation, asymmetric hydrogenation, and mild deprotection of ene-trifluoroacetamides. Tetrahedron Lett 47:6409–6412
- 36. Ager DJ, Anderson K, Oblinger E, Shi Y, VanderRoest J, (2007) An epoxidation approach to a chiral lactone: application of the Shi epoxidation. J Org Process Res Dev 11:44–51
- 37. Menzel K, Machrouhi F, Bodenstein M, Alorati A, Cowden C, Gibson AW, Bishop B, Ikemoto N, Nelson TD, Kress MH, Frantz DE (2009) Process development of a potent bradykinin 1 antagonist. Org Process Res Dev 13:519–524
- Whiting M, Harwood K, Hossner F, Turner PG, Wilkinson MC (2010) Selection and development of the manufacturing route for EP1 antagonist GSK269984B. Org Process Res Dev 14:820–831

- 39. Lipton MF, Mauragis MA, Maloney MT, Veley MF, VanderBor DW, Newby JJ, Appell RB, Daugs ED (2003) The synthesis of OSU 6162: efficient, large-scale implementation of a Suzuki coupling. Org Process Res Dev 7:385–392
- 40. Negishi E, King AO, Okukado N (1977) Selective carbon–carbon bond formation via transition metal catalysis. 3. A highly selective synthesis of unsymmetrical biaryls and diarylmethanes by the nickel- or palladium-catalyzed reaction of aryl- and benzylzinc derivatives with aryl halides. J Org Chem 42:1821–1823
- 41. King AO, Okukado N, Negishi E (1977) Highly general stereo-, regio-, and chemo-selective synthesis of terminal and internal conjugated enynes by the Pd-catalysed reaction of alkynylzinc reagents with alkenyl halides. J Chem Soc Chem Commun, 683–684
- 42. Phapale VB, Cardenas DJ (2009) Nickel-catalysed Negishi cross-coupling reactions: scope and mechanisms. Chem Soc Rev 38:1598–1607
- 43. Krasovskiy A, Malakhov V, Gavryushin A, Knochel P (2006) Efficient synthesis of functionalized organozinc compounds by the direct insertion of zinc into organic iodides and bromides. Angew Chem Int Ed 45:6040–6044
- 44. Uchiyama M, Furuyama T, Kobayashi M, Matsumoto Y, Tanaka K (2006) Toward a protecting-group-free halogen metal exchange reaction: practical, chemoselective metalation of functionalized aromatic halides using dianion- type zincate, *t*Bu4ZnLi2. J Am Chem Soc 128:8404–8405
- 45. Furuyama T, Yonehara M, Arimoto S, Kobayashi M, Matsumoto Y, Uchiyama M (2008) Development of highly chemoselective bulky zincate complex, <sup>7</sup>Bu<sub>4</sub>ZnLi<sub>2</sub>: design, structure, and practical applications in small-/macromolecular synthesis. Chem Eur J 14:10348–14356
- 46. Ku Y, Grieme T, Raje P, Sharma P, Morton HE, Rozema M, King SA (2003) A practical and scaleable synthesis of A-224817.0, a novel nonsteroidal ligand for the glucocorticoid receptor. J Org Chem 68:3238–3240
- Scott RW, Neville SN, Urbina A, Camp D, Stankovic N (2006) Development of a scalable synthesis to VEGFR inhibitor AG-28262. Org Process Res Dev 10:296–303
- Dutheuil G, Paturel C, Lei X, Couve-Bonnaire S, Pannecoucke X (2006) First stereospecific synthesis of (*E*)- or (*Z*)-α-fluoroenones via a kinetically controlled Negishi coupling reaction. J Org Chem 71:4316–4319
- Liu Z, Xiang J (2006) A High yield and pilot-scale process for the preparation of adapalene. Org Process Res Dev 10:285–288
- 50. Denni-Dischert D, Marterer W, Bänziger M, Yusuff N, Batt D, Ramsey T, Geng P, Michael W, Wang R, Taplin F Jr, Versace R, Cesarz D, Perez LB (2006) The Synthesis of a novel inhibitor of B-Raf kinase. Org Process Res Dev 10:70–77
- Pérez-Balado C, Willemsens A, Ormerod D, Aelterman W, Mertens N (2007) Development of a concise scaleable synthesis of 2-chloro-5-(pyridin-2-yl) pyrimidine via a Negishi crosscoupling. Org Process Res Dev 11:237–240
- 52. Manolikakes G, Dong MZ, Mayr H, Li J, Knochel P (2009) Negishi cross-couplings compatible with unprotected amide functions. Chem Eur J 15:1324–1328
- Kwak Y, Kanter AD, Wang B, Liu Y (2009) Efficient and convenient preparation of 3-aryl-2,2-dimethylpropanoates via Negishi coupling. Chem Commun, 2145–2147
- 54. Kennedy-Smith JJ, Arora N, Billedeau JR, Fretland J, Hang J, Heilek GM, Harris SF, Hirschfeld D, Javanbakht H, Li Y, Liang W, Roetz R, Smith M, Su GP, Suh JM, Villaseňor AG, Wu J, Yasuda D, Klumpp K, Sweeney ZK (2010) Synthesis and biological activity of new pyridone diaryl ether non-nucleoside inhibitors of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase. Med Chem Commun 1:79–83
- 55. Ragan JA, Raggon JW, Hill PD, Jones BP, McDermott RE, Munchhof MJ, Marx MA, Casavant JM, Cooper BA, Doty JL, Lu Y (2003) Cross-coupling methods for the large-scale preparation of an imidazole-thienopyridine: synthesis of [2-(3-methyl-3H-imidazol-4-yl)-b]pyridin-7-yl]-(2-methyl-1H-indol-5-yl)-amine. Org Process Res Dev 7:676–683
- Brændvang M, Bakken V, Gundersen L (2009) Synthesis, structure, and antimycobacterial activity of 6-[1(3H)-isobenzofuranylidenemethyl]purines and analogs. Bioorg Med Chem 17:6512–6516

- 57. Okitsu T, Nakazawa D, Nakagawa K, Okano T, Wada A (2010) Synthesis and biological evaluation of 9Z-retinoic acid analogs having 2-substituted benzo[b]furan. Chem Pharm Bull 58:418–422
- Gao Y, Wang H, Mease RC, Pomper MG, Horti AG (2010) Improved syntheses of precursors for PET radioligands [18F]XTRA and [18F]AZAN. Tetrahedron Lett 51:5333–5335
- 59. Fan X, Song Y, Long Y (2008) An efficient and practical synthesis of the HIV protease inhibitor atazanavir via a highly diastereoselective reduction approach. Org Process Res Dev 12:69–75
- 60. Manley PW, Acemoglu M, Marterer W, Pachinger W (2003) Large-scale Negishi coupling as applied to the synthesis of PDE472, an inhibitor of phosphodiesterase type 4D. Org Process Res Dev 7:436–445
- 61. Marzoni G, Varney MD (1997) An improved large-scale synthesis of benz[cd]indol-2(1H)one and 5-methylbenz[cd]indol-2(1H)-one. Org Process Res Dev 1:81–84
- 62. Königsberger K, Chen G, Wu R, Girgis MJ, Prasad K, Repic O, Blacklock TJ (2003) A practical synthesis of 6-[2-(2,5-dimethoxyphenyl)ethyl]-4-ethylquinazoline and the art of removing palladium from the products of Pd-catalyzed reactions. Org Process Res Dev 7:733–742
- 63. Hartner FW, Hsiao Y, Eng KK, Rivera NR, Palucki M, Tan L, Yasuda N, Hughes DL, Weissman S, Zewge D, King T, Tschaen D, Volante RP (2004) Methods for the synthesis of 5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-1,8-naphthyridine fragments for  $\alpha v \beta_3$  integrin antagonists. J Org Chem 69:8723–8730
- 64. Ripin DHB, Bourassa DE, Brandt T, Castaldi MJ, Frost HN, Hawkins J, Johnson PJ, Massett SS, Neumann K, Phillips J, Raggon JW, Rose PR, Rutherford JL, Sitter B, Stewart AM III, Vetelino MG, Wei L (2005) Evaluation of kilogram-scale Sonogashira, Suzuki, and Heck coupling routes to oncology candidate CP-724,714. Org Process Res Dev 9:440–450
- 65. Xia Y, Liu Y, Wan J, Wang M, Rocchi P, Qu F, Iovanna JL, Peng L (2009) Novel triazole ribonucleoside down-regulates heat shock protein 27 and induces potent anticancer activity on drug-resistant pancreatic cancer. J Med Chem 52:6083–6096
- Yu S, Haight A, Kotecki B, Wang L, Lukin K, Hill DR (2009) Synthesis of a TRPV1 receptor antagonist. J Org Chem 74:9539–9542
- 67. Old DW, Wolfe JP, Buchwald SL (1998) A highly active catalyst for palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions: Room-temperature Suzuki couplings and amination of unactivated aryl chlorides. J Am Chem Soc 120:9722–9723
- Berliner MA, Cordi EM, Dunetz JR, Price KE (2010) Sonogashira reactions with propyne: Facile synthesis of 4-hydroxy-2-methylbenzofurans from iodoresorcinols. Org Process Res Dev 14:180–187

# Chapter 5 Liquid Crystals

Ning-Hui Chang, Megumi Kinoshita and Yasushi Nishihara

**Abstract** Liquid crystalline molecules are extensively used for technological applications such as liquid crystal displays, and there is a great deal of research underway in various fields exploring other uses. The carbon–carbon bond-forming cross-coupling reactions can provide innovative synthetic methods for new liquid crystalline molecules with novel physical properties. Moreover, the organic molecules synthesized with the cross-coupling reactions may be used in new areas such as organic electroluminescence (EL) and thin film transistors (TFT).

**Keywords** Liquid crystals • Nematic phases • Smectic phases • Organic devices • Endotherms • Calamitic

# 5.1 Introduction

In 1888, Reinitzer discovered that cholesteryl benzoate had two melting points: it first melted into a turbid *liquid with crystalline properties*, and then at higher temperatures, it became clear [1]. Since then, a myriad of materials with liquid crystalline properties have been used in a wide variety of applications, including optical devices [2–7]. Research on liquid crystals is diverse, covering several

N.-H. Chang · M. Kinoshita · Y. Nishihara (🖂)

Division of Earth, Life, and Molecular Sciences, Graduate School of Natural Science and Technology, Okayama University, 3-1-1 Tsushimanaka, Kita-ku, 700-8530, Okayama, Japan

e-mail: ynishiha@okayama-u.ac.jp

scientific fields, such as chemistry, physics, and engineering. In the development of novel organic functional materials, liquid crystals often demonstrate substantial potential [8, 9].

With current technology, liquid crystalline compounds can be widely applied to a uniform and large display and can electrically control optical anisotropy, owing to their characteristic physical properties. Most liquid crystalline compounds used for displays must show the nematic phases. In order to apply the liquid crystals to optoelectronic materials, the temperature range showing the liquid crystal phases should encompass ambient temperatures.

In general, liquid crystals have several common characteristics. They are polarizable molecules having a rigid core unit (rod-like or disc-like) with an extended  $\pi$ -electron system and one or more flexible ends. There are two important types of the most frequently utilized liquid crystalline materials with high dielectric anisotropy: analogs of 4-pentyl-4'-cyanobiphenyl (5CB) and analogs of fluorinated tolane (FT) liquid crystals, shown in Fig. 5.1. These mesogenic rigid biphenyl and diarylethene cores along with polar electron-withdrawing groups (a cyano or a fluoride group) at the edges offer the anisotropy necessary for the composition of the liquid crystal phase, whereas the alkyl chains contribute to a decrease in melting point [10]. Recent developments in this field have included the use of naphthalene and stilbene derivatives, in addition to the traditional phenylene groups, to produce the required motifs to control transition temperatures and solubility which are influenced by the various substituents.



Fig. 5.1 Chemical structure of 5CB and FT

The transition metal-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions in synthetic organic chemistry can construct  $sp^2-sp^2$  or  $sp^2-sp$  carbon–carbon bonds for a variety of reactions in which two organic fragments are coupled with the aid of a catalyst. Because of the tremendous importance of the motifs of unsymmetrical biphenyls and diarylethenes, a series of catalytic reactions for synthesizing these types of molecules from two coupling partners in the cross-coupling reactions has been developed over the last three decades.

In sharp contrast to the rod-shaped (calamitic) liquid crystalline molecules, discotic liquid crystalline molecules consist of a tabular frame as the rigid molecular core, which is surrounded by long, flexible alkyl or alkoxy chains (Fig. 5.2). The planarity, symmetry, and attractive interactions in the direction perpendicular to the plane of the molecules are essential properties for a liquid crystalline molecule. The discotic liquid crystals have been shown to have a high mobility of charge because of the strong intermolecular interaction of the  $\pi$ -electrons. The discotic liquid crystals are able to improve display fineness by using their polymers as a film for the liquid crystal displays. Recently, discotic nematic liquid crystals have received significant attention because they can improve the viewing angle and the contrast ratio of the twisted nematic (TN) liquid crystal displays [11, 12].



Fig. 5.2 Representative examples of discotic liquid crystals

Recent research clarified that the high conductivity of liquid crystalline materials is caused by electrons and holes, with characteristics applicable to organic semiconductors [13]. Therefore, the liquid crystal materials can be expected to be applied to electronic devices such as organic EL and TFT. Since a variety of liquid crystals are presently utilized in an assortment of organic functional materials, the development of practicable synthetic methods is highly desirable. In this chapter, a brief introduction of the applied cross-coupling reactions in the field of liquid crystals will be provided.

### 5.2 Kumada-Tamao-Corriu Coupling

Kumada-Tamao-Corriu coupling is a longstanding methodology for the synthesis of oligothiophenes **1** that do not bear electrophilic functional groups, as shown in Scheme 5.1 [14]. Because the obtained products show smectic liquid crystal phases in the range of 98–168 °C, these compounds could be expected to be useful in field-effect transistors (FETs).



Scheme 5.1 Synthesis of oligothiophenes 1 by Kumada-Tamao-Corriu coupling

Cheng has synthesized 2,5-diarylated thiophene derivatives with liquid crystalline properties by using a combination of Kumada-Tamao-Corriu and Suzuki– Miyaura couplings (Scheme 5.2) [15]. The synthesized compounds 2 showed nematic phases below 71 (n = 6) and 60 °C (n = 12); however, the liquid crystal phase was not apparent in the case of n = 16. It is suspected that the obtained compounds form monotropic liquid crystals as a result of their bent structures.



Scheme 5.2 Synthesized 2,5-diarylated thiophene derivatives

Recently, Tao et al. have reported the synthesis of liquid crystalline compounds **3** with oligothiophene backbones also through the combination of Kumada-Tamao-Corriu and Suzuki–Miyaura cross-coupling reactions (Scheme 5.3) [16]. These oligothiophenes were found to behave as enantiotropic liquid crystals and have the smectic E and nematic phases. In particular, the compound (n = 10) was confirmed to have characteristics of a typical *p*-type organic semiconductor.



Scheme 5.3 Synthesis of liquid crystalline compounds 3

Herein, the Kumada-Tamao-Corriu coupling synthetic protocols of liquid crystals with a thiophene ring in the polymer main chains have been introduced. However, the number of these synthetic examples for liquid crystalline compounds is relatively small because Kumada-Tamao-Corriu coupling lacks functional group tolerance.

### 5.3 Migita-Kosugi-Stille Coupling

Naso has synthesized the liquid crystalline conductive polymers **4** with the bifunctional Migita-Kosugi-Stille coupling reactions of bis(tributylstannyl)ethene and diiodoarenes (Eq. 5.1) [17]. It was also clarified that these polymers showed the smectic phases in the temperature range of 110-210 °C.



Fluoropyrazines were subjected to Migita-Kosugi-Stille coupling to synthesize a cylinder-shaped liquid crystal **5** (Eq. 5.2) [18]. This compound showed the smectic C phases at 145–164  $^{\circ}$ C and the nematic phases at 164–196  $^{\circ}$ C, respectively.



Yoon has reported that the hexyl end-capped bis-terthienylanthracene oligomer **6**, with an anthracene core, showed a higher thermal stability compared to the corresponding oligothiophenes (Scheme 5.4) [19]. Oligomer **6** showed a liquid crystalline mesophase at 166 °C in the heating process. The thermal analyses as well as the electrochemical measurement indicated that these designed materials showed better thermal and oxidation stability than the corresponding oligothiophenes without the anthracene core.



Scheme 5.4 Synthesis of oligomer 6 with an anthracene core

The liquid crystalline molecule **7**, having the 3,3'-bipyridine skeleton shown in Scheme 5.5, has been synthesized via successive Negishi and Migita-Kosugi-Stille couplings [20]. This reaction was the first successful example for synthesizing a new type of liquid crystal bearing both thiophene and pyridine rings, simultaneously. Negishi coupling was performed on a substrate having the tin-containing functional group on the pyridine ring.



Scheme 5.5 Synthesis of liquid crystalline compound 7

Next, some examples for the synthesis of discotic liquid crystals by Migita-Kosugi-Stille coupling are described. Hsu has synthesized the centered thiophene core substituted by several alkynyl groups (Eq. 5.3) [21]. The obtained compound **8** exhibited a monotropic nematic liquid crystalline phase. The mesomorphic properties of **8** indicate that molecular dipole, molecular shape, and molecular symmetry, are all important factors. Manipulations of the dipoles as well as the overall molecular shapes (with a variety of substituents) have provided a better understanding of the structure–property correlations.



In 2009 a new type of discotic liquid crystal was synthesized by the introduction of thiophene units via Migita-Kosugi-Stille coupling and subsequent oxidative coupling to form triazatruxene 9, as shown in Scheme 5.6 [22]. The

synthesized compound 9 showed the enantiotropic liquid crystalline phase at room temperature and a single mesophase structure over a wide temperature range (including room temperature). Owing to this stability and the facile synthesis, the application of these derivatives to electronic devices is expected.



Scheme 5.6 Synthesis of liquid crystalline triazatruxene 9

# 5.4 Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling

Suzuki–Miyaura coupling is the typical method used to synthesize the liquid crystalline molecules with biphenyl core units. Suzuki–Miyaura coupling, followed by functionalization of a nitro group, produces the desired isothiocyanato-substituted product **10** (Scheme 5.7). In conjunction with the biphenyl core, the

introduction of the NCS terminal group would be expected to provide materials of high optical anisotropy. In fact, mesogenic and optical properties of compound **10** have been confirmed [23].



Scheme 5.7 Synthesis of liquid crystalline isothiocyanato-substituted biphenyl 10

The synthesis of a fluorinated biphenyl bearing a long alkyl chain was successfully achieved using the palladium(II) complex **11** ligated by a tridentate ligand in the presence of surfactants bearing long alkyl chains (Eq. 5.4) [24]. This approach can provide a practical procedure for the synthesis of fluorinated liquid crystals with industrial applications, such as compound **12**.



(5.4)

The half-salen palladium(II) complex **13** has proven to be a highly efficient catalyst (if activated) for Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of arylboronic acids with aryl bromides and even aryl chlorides to afford biphenyls (Eq. 5.5) [25]. This method provides a highly efficient synthetic method to prepare biphenyl liquid crystalline compounds such as **14**.



Seed has synthesized liquid crystals containing the 2-biphenylated thiophene rods (Eq. 5.6) [26]. Compounds **15** and **17** bear fluoride substituents on the benzene ring which lowers their melting points compared to the corresponding parent compounds. A high thermal stability in the smectic C and nematic phases was observed in compound **17**. On the other hand, compounds **15** and **16** have difluoroalkyl groups, and they showed high melting points.



Using Suzuki–Miyaura coupling, Kelly synthesized the pyrimidine-containing liquid crystals substituted by two alkoxylphenyl groups in the 2,5-positions (Scheme 5.8) [27]. Moreover, it was found that the introduction of a diene moiety

into the formed compound **18** enables photochemical polymerization, leading to applications for organic light-emitting diodes (OLEDs) with high electron mobility.



Scheme 5.8 Synthesis of liquid crystalline compound 18

Terphenyls **19** have been synthesized via Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions using aryl bromides with a bromoalkoxy groups in the 4-position of the benzene ring. (Eq. 5.7) [28]. These compounds are found to be thermotropic liquid crystals, and show the smectic phases in the range of 110-180 °C.



Suzuki–Miyaura coupling has also been utilized for the synthesis of discotic liquid crystals. The triphenylenes **20** offer a broad scope of investigation into unsymmetrically-substituted systems because of their inherent liquid crystalline character (Scheme 5.9) [29].



Scheme 5.9 Synthesis of liquid crystalline triphenylenes 20

The synthesis of columnar liquid crystals with a central crown ether unit has been reported (Eq. 5.8) [30]. In compounds **21** with alkyl chain lengths of C5 to C8, monotropic nature was observed; the liquid crystalline phases were observed only during rising temperatures, whereas liquid crystalline phases were observed in both directions in the case of compounds with C9 and C10 alkyl chains. Interestingly, when a potassium ion was captured by the crown ether core, the stability of the complex was improved and the phase transition temperatures of the original compounds were changed, and there was an elevation of the clearing point.



#### 5 Liquid Crystals

Suzuki–Miyaura couplings of diboronic acid with brominated spirooxazine under a nitrogen atmosphere and under aerobic conditions, gave the dispirooxazine-substituted binaphthyl product **23** and the monospirooxazine-substituted binaphthyl derivative **24**, respectively (Scheme 5.10) [31]. These chiral spirooxazines were found to impart their chirality to an achiral liquid crystal host at low doping levels, to form a self-organized photoresponsive helical superstructure.



Scheme 5.10 Synthesis of the dispirooxazine-substituted binaphthyl product 23 and the monospirooxazine-substituted binaphthyl derivative 24

The liquid crystalline terthiophene **25** has been synthesized and used in mesogenic pendant groups (Scheme 5.11) [32]. This terthiophene moiety was introduced in the side chain of siloxane polymers at the terminal olefinic part by the platinum-catalyzed hydrosilation.



Scheme 5.11 Synthesis of liquid crystalline terthiophene 25

Lee has developed a new strategy for improving the device performances of polymer photovoltaic cells by using Suzuki–Miyaura coupling with bifunctional boronic acids and aromatic bromides, as shown in Eq. 5.9 [33]. These polymers **26** showed liquid crystalline characteristics with two endotherms, at 62 and 230 °C. The various examples of Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions for polymer syntheses are independently described in Chap. 6.



Chen and Liu reported a similar manner of synthesis of the rod-coil type liquid crystalline polymers 27 with fluorene motifs (Eq. 5.10) [34]. The thermal stability of these polymers decreased with an increase in the length of the coil segments. The polymer (x = 1) displayed a characteristic strip liquid crystalline texture.

A change in the coil segments remarkably affected the thermal behavior and morphology of these rod-coil polymers.



Very recently, synthesis of liquid crystals with optical luminescence was reported through the copolymerization of bifunctional arylboronic acids and bromides (Eq. 5.11) [35]. By incorporating a rigid biphenyl core in the polymer main chains, these polymers **28** showed a high thermal stability and an elevated phase transition temperature (compared with the corresponding homopolymer), and the smectic phases enantiotropically appeared over a wide temperature range.



### 5.5 Sonogashira-Hagihara Coupling

Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling is a very powerful tool for synthesizing compounds with alkynyl moieties via  $sp^2$ -sp carbon–carbon bond-forming reactions. Accordingly, the disc-shaped mesogen **29** has been prepared by the palladiumcatalyzed Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling of a pentabromophenol derivative and the five-fold appropriate terminal alkynes as outlined in Eq. 5.12 [36].



In 2000, the liquid crystalline compound **30**, having an unsymmetrical diarylethene motif, was synthesized through a reaction of the starting (trimethylsilyl)ethyne with two different aryl triflates in one pot (Scheme 5.12) [37]. This unprecedented protocol for the synthesis of unsymmetrical diarylethenes provided a preparative method by the direct activation of the carbon–silicon bond of the in situ-formed alkynylsilane by the addition of copper(I) chloride.



Scheme 5.12 Synthesis of liquid crystalline unsymmetrical diarylethyne 30

#### 5 Liquid Crystals

Scheme 5.13 shows the first synthetic example in the chemistry of azulenes of a liquid crystalline compound **31** which exhibits both multiple melting points and columnar mesomorphism [38].



Scheme 5.13 Synthesis of liquid crystalline compound 31

Wu has reported the multistep synthesis of hexakis(4-iodophenyl)-*peri*-hexabenzocoronene, for use as a novel mesogenic building block. Wu achieved a series of highly ordered columnar liquid crystalline molecules **32**, synthesized via Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling, despite poor solubility in the common organic solvents (Eq. 5.13) [39].



The facile preparation and characterization of the first "unwrapped" hexa-*peri*hexabenzocoronene derivative **33** is presented in Scheme 5.14. This molecule forms a stable columnar liquid crystal mesophase with a practically accessible isotropization temperature [40].



Scheme 5.14 Synthesis of hexa-peri-hexabenzocoronene derivative 33

In order to explore the potential of the 2,5-pyridine derivatives as liquid crystal templates or dopants for liquid crystal mixtures, Merlo synthesized the chiral compound **34** by Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling (Eq. 5.14) [41]. Compound **34** has a chiral lactate tail; the differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) analysis revealed that this compound is stable under heating. The melting point and enthalpy values were collected from second heating scans. Their values were found to be 32 °C and 5.7 kcal·mol<sup>-1</sup>, respectively.



A standard Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling protocol has been applied to the preparation of a phenylacetylene **35**, incorporating terminal biphenyl substituents. Study of the mesomorphic properties of the target compounds revealed that the calamitic diarylethene **35** forms smectic liquid crystals (Scheme 5.15) [42].



Scheme 5.15 Synthesis of liquid crystalline compound 35

An unsymmetrical diarylethene with a pyridazine unit has been synthesized via Sonogashira-Hagihara and Suzuki–Miyaura cross-coupling sequences (Scheme 5.16) [43]. This compound **36** presented unique liquid crystal properties when investigated through DSC and polarized light microscopy.



Scheme 5.16 Synthesis of liquid crystalline compound 36

*X*-ray crystallographic analysis of 9,10-dialkylated anthracene **37** revealed that its solid-state structure mimics columnar liquid crystals with a  $\pi$ - $\pi$  stacking distance of 3.39 Å between the octafluoroanthracene cores (Eq. 5.15) [44].



A series of highly  $\pi$ -conjugated unsymmetrical liquid crystals **38**, based on the 3,5-(disubstituted)-1,2,4-oxadiazole core, were successfully synthesized by convergent Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling (Scheme 5.17) [45].



Scheme 5.17 Synthesis of liquid crystalline compound 38

A practical synthesis of liquid crystals **39** based on *trans*-cyclohexyltolans by Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling has been described (Eq. 5.16) [46]. The liquid crystals can be obtained in high yields as a solid with excellent purity by simple filtration. The filtrate can be reused several times, while still retaining a high catalytic activity of the palladium.



Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling has afforded the rod-like, unsymmetrical tolanes **40**; these were extended biphenyl mesogens substituted with different chiral alkoxy chains. Depending on the position of the chiral center and the polar nature of the target molecules (as determined by the electron-withdrawing end-groups), different types of smectic liquid crystals were obtained (Scheme 5.18) [47].



Scheme 5.18 Synthesis of liquid crystalline compound 40

Roy has succeeded in designing and synthesizing a new class of disc-like mesogens **41**, containing both cholesteryl and triphenylamine moieties, via Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling as a key step (Eq. 5.17) [48].



# 5.6 Summary

In this chapter, representative examples for the synthesis of liquid crystals via cross coupling have been introduced. The cross-coupling reactions are presently one of the most widely accepted methods for forming the carbon–carbon bonds in the synthesis of liquid crystals. Liquid crystalline compounds generally consist of a flexible side chain as well as a rigid core; Suzuki–Miyaura and Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling reactions are very useful for the construction of such motifs. In addition, various liquid crystalline compounds have been synthesized using Kumada-Tamao-Corriu and Migita-Kosugi-Stille couplings. Future novel molecules produced through these cross-coupling methods are likely to find applications in innovative technology such as organic LED and TFT.

### 5 Liquid Crystals

# References

- 1. Reinitzer F (1888) Beiträge zur kenntniss des cholesterins. Monatsh Chem 9:421-441
- 2. de Gennes PG (1975) The physics of liquid crystals. Clarendon Press, Oxford
- 3. Chandrasekhar S (1977) Liquid crystals. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- 4. Ciferri A, Krigbaum WR, Meyer RB (1982) Polymer liquid crystals. Academic Press, New York
- 5. Chapoy LL (1985) Recent advances in liquid crystalline polymers. Elsevier Applied Science Publishers, London
- 6. Blumstein A (1985) Polymeric liquid crystals. Plenum Press, New York
- 7. Gray GW (1987) Thermotropic liquid crystal. Wiley, New York
- Demus D, Goodby J, Gray GW, Spiess HW, Vill V (1998) Handbook of liquid crystals, vols. 1–4. Wiley, Weinheim
- 9. Goodby J (2007) Liquid crystals (theme issue). Chem Soc Rev 36:1845-2128
- Pakiari AH, Aazami SM, Ghanadzadeh A (2008) Electronic interactions of typical liquid crystal molecules with typical contacted species generated from the surface of different materials. J Mol Liq 139:8–13
- 11. Kumar S, Varshney K (2000) A room-temperature discotic nematic liquid crystal. Angew Chem Int Ed 39:3140–3142
- Kumar S, Bisoyi HK (2010) Discotic nematic liquid crystals: science and technology. Chem Soc Rev 39:264–285
- Adam D, Closs F, Frey T, Funhoff D, Harrer D, Ringsdorf J, Schuhmacher P, Siemensmeyer K (1993) Transient photoconductivity in a discotic liquid crystal. Phys Rev Lett 70:457–460
- 14. Ponomarenko S, Kirchmeyer S (2003) Synthesis and thermal behaviour of  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha$ '-didecyloligothiophenes. J Mater Chem 13:197–202
- Cheng XH, Dong X, Zheng T, Ye H, Wei GH (2008) Synthesis and mesomorphic behavior of 3-alkyl-2,5- bis[p-(hexa-2,4-dienoyloxy)phenyl]-thiophene derivatives. Chin J Chem 26:146– 149
- Meng Q, Sun XH, Lu Z, Xia PF, Shi Z, Chen D, Wong MS, Wakim S, Lu J, Baribeau JM, Tao Y (2009) Syntheses, phase behavior, supramolecular chirality, and field-effect carrier mobility of asymmetrically end-capped mesogenic oligothiophenes. Chem Eur J 15:3474–3487
- Babudri F, Cicco SR, Farinola GM, Naso F (1996) Synthesis, characterization and properties of a soluble polymer with a poly(phenylenevinylene) structure. Macromol Rapid Commun 17:905–911
- Toudic F, Heynderickx A, Plé N, Turck A, Quéguiner G (2003) Regioselective synthesis and metallation of tributylstannylfluoropyrazines. Application to the synthesis of some new fluorinated liquid crystals diazines. Part 34. Tetrahedron 59:6375–6384
- Choi JH, Cho DW, Jin SH, Yoon UC (2007) Synthesis and properties of hexyl end-capped thiophene oligomers containing anthracene moiety in the center. Bull Korean Chem Soc 28:1175–1182
- Getmanenko YA, Twieg RJ (2008) Unprecedented Negishi coupling at C-Br in the presence of a stannyl group as a convenient approach to pyridinylstannanes and their application in liquid crystal synthesis. J Org Chem 73:830–839
- Hsu HF, Kuo CH, Chen CF, Lin YH, Huang LY, Chen CH, Cheng KC, Chen HH (2004) Synthesis and mesomorphic properties of multiynylthiophenes: 2,3,4,5-tetrakis(4alkoxyphenylethynyl)thiophenes and 2,3,5-tris(4-alkoxyphenylethynyl)thiophenes. Chem Mater 16:2379–2385
- Luo J, Zhao B, Shao J, Lim KA, Chan HSO, Chi C (2009) Room-temperature discotic liquid crystals based on oligothiophenes-attached and fused triazatruxenes. J Mater Chem 19:8327– 8334
- 23. Hird M, Seed AJ, Toyne KJ, Goodby JW, Grayb GW, McDonnell DG (1993) Synthesis, transition temperatures and optical anisotropy of some isothiocyanato-substituted biphenyls. J Mater Chem 3:851–859

- 24. Liu P, Yan M, He R (2010) Bis(imino)pyridine palladium(II) complexes as efficient catalysts for the Suzuki–Miyaura reaction in water. Appl Organomet Chem 24:131–134
- 25. Liu P, Feng X, He R (2010) Salen and half-salen palladium(II) complexes: synthesis, characterization and catalytic activity toward Suzuki–Miyaura reaction. Tetrahedron 66:631–636
- 26. Kiryanov AA, Sampson P, Seed AJ (2001) Synthesis and mesomorphic properties of 1,1difluoroalkyl-substituted biphenylthienyl and terphenyl liquid crystals. A comparative study of mesomorphic behavior relative to alkyl, alkoxy and alkanoyl analogs. J Mater Chem 11:3068–3077
- 27. Vlachos P, Kelly SM, Mansoor B, O'Neill M (2002) Electron-transporting and photopolymerisable liquid crystals. Chem Commun, 874–875
- Larios-López L, Navarro-Rodríguez D, Donnio B, Guillon D (2006) Synthesis and liquidcrystalline properties of bromoalkyloxy-substituted terphenylenes. Chem Lett 35:652–653
- 29. Bhalla V, Singh H, Kumar M (2010) Facile cyclization of terphenyl to triphenylene: A new chemodosimeter for fluoride ions. Org Lett 12:628–631
- Schultz A, Laschat S, Saipa A, Gieβelmann F, Nimtz M, Schulte JL, Baro A, Miehlich B (2004) Columnar liquid crystals with a central crown ether unit. Adv Funct Mater 14:163–168
- Jin L, Li Y, Ma J, Li Q (2010) Synthesis of novel thermally reversible photochromic axially chiral spirooxazines. Org Lett 12:3552–3555
- 32. Matsui A, Funahashi M, Tsuji T, Kato T (2010) High hole mobility for a side-chain liquidcrystalline smectic polysiloxane exhibiting a nanosegregated structure with a terthiophene moiety. Chem Eur J 16:13465–13472
- 33. Lim E, Lee S, Lee KK (2011) Improved photovoltaic performance of P3HT: PCBM cells by addition of a low band-gap oligomer. Chem Commun, 914–916
- 34. Yang GZ, Chen XL, Wang LM, Shi JG, Li CZ, Liu T (2009) Synthesis and characterization of fluorene-based rod-coil liquid crystal polymers. Polym Adv Technol 20:104–110
- 35. Yao K, Chen Y, Chen L, Kong H, Zhou W, Li F, He X, Wei Y (2010) Photoluminescent, liquid-crystalline, and electrochemical properties of para-phenylene-based alternating conjugated copolymers. J Polym Sci Part A Polym Chem 48:434–442
- Kouwer PHJ, Jager WF, Mijs WJ, Picken SJ (2003) Specific interactions in discotic liquid crystals. J Mater Chem 13:458–469
- 37. Nishihara Y, Ikegashira K, Hirabayashi K, Ando J, Mori A, Hiyama T (2000) Coupling reactions of alkynylsilanes mediated by a Cu(I) salt: novel syntheses of conjugate diynes and disubstituted ethynes. J Org Chem 65:1780–1787
- Ito S, Inabe H, Morita N, Ohta K, Kitamura T, Imafuku K (2003) Synthesis of poly(6azulenylethynyl)benzene derivatives as a multielectron redox system with liquid crystalline behavior. J Am Chem Soc 125:1669–1680
- Wu J, Watson MD, Zhang L, Wang Z, Müllen K (2003) Hexakis(4-iodophenyl)-perihexabenzocoronene- a versatile building block for highly ordered discotic liquid crystalline materials. J Am Chem Soc 126:177–186
- Zhaohui W, Watson MD, Jishan W, Müllen K (2004) Partially stripped insulated nanowires: a lightly substituted hexa-perihexabenzo-coronene-based columnar liquid crystal. Chem Commun, 336–337
- 41. Vasconcelos UB, Merlo AA (2006) Synthesis and mesomorphic behavior of new Nheterotolane liquid crystals containing a naphthyl-pyridyl framework. Synthesis, 1141–1147
- Hennrich G, Ortiz PD, Cavero E, Hanes RE, Serrano JL (2008) Biphenyl-based disc- vs. rodshaped phenylacetylenes: Mesomorphism and electronic properties. Eur J Org Chem, 4575–4579
- 43. Achelle S, Plé N, Kreher D, Mathevet F, Turck A, Attias AJ (2008) Oligomers containing ethynylpyridazine moieties: Synthesis, fluorescence and liquid crystalline properties. Diazines 50. Heterocycles 75:357–374
- Tannaci JF, Noji M, McBee JL, Tilley TD (2008) 9,10-Disubstituted octafluoroanthracene derivatives via palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling. J Org Chem 73:7895–7900

- 5 Liquid Crystals
- 45. Gallardo H, Cristiano R, Vieira AA, Rawn F, Srivastava RM (2008) Sonogashira coupling applied in the synthesis of 1,2,4-oxadiazole-based nonsymmetrical liquid crystals. Synthesis, 605–609
- 46. Hongyong S, Ruimao H, Qingwei Z, Jianli Z, Xiao L, Qiming Z (2010) An improved practical Pd/C-catalyzed Sonogashira cross-coupling reaction for the synthesis of liquid crystals of trans-cyclohexyltolans. Appl Organomet Chem 24:473–476
- Vega LD, Ortiz PD, Hennrich G, Omenat A, Tejedor RM, Barberá J, Gómez-Lor B, Serrano JL (2010) Chiral biphenylacetylene smectic liquid crystals. J Phys Chem B 114:4811–4815
- Majumdar KC, Mondal S, De N, Sinha RK, Pal N, Roy B (2010) Synthesis and mesomorphic behaviour of new discotic liquid crystalline compounds containing triphenylamine as a core moiety via Sonogashira coupling. Tetrahedron Lett 51:521–524

# **Chapter 6 Conjugated Polymers**

Daisuke Ogawa and Yasushi Nishihara

Abstract The synthesis of  $\pi$ -conjugated polymers by cross-coupling-based polymerization is a practical method that has been widely employed. The obtained polymers have received considerable attention owing to their interesting properties that have applications as electrochemically conductive materials.

Keywords Conjugated polymers · Cross-coupling polymerization · Photoluminescence · Electroluminescence · Light-emitting diodes (LEDs)

# 6.1 Introduction

Over the past 30 years,  $\pi$ -conjugated polymers have received much attention because they possess high conductivity and have unique electrochemical qualities [1-5]. The properties of these polymers are influenced by the type of conjugated system, the maximum effective conjugation length, stereoregularity, regioregularity, and the character of substituents in the polymers. In general, optical and electric characteristics of these polymers are remarkably improved by incorporating the heteroaromatic rings in the polymer main chains.

Oxidative polymerization has been widely utilized for synthesizing a variety of  $\pi$ -conjugated polymers involving heteroaromatic rings. For instance, polypyrroles that bear the nitrogen-containing heteroaromatic rings have been obtained by electrochemical oxidative reactions of the corresponding monomers [6]. However,

D. Ogawa · Y. Nishihara (🖂)

Division of Earth, Life, and Molecular Sciences, Graduate School of Natural Science and Technology Okayama University, 3-1-1 Tsushimanaka.Kita-ku, Okayama, 700-8530 Japan

e-mail: ynishiha@okayama-u.ac.jp

the electrochemical polymerization methods have some drawbacks: the polymerization is adversely affected by the bulkiness of the substituents of the monomers, and thus structurally irregular polymers having cross-linked bonds are generated. To solve these problems, the transition-metal-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions have been applied to the polymer syntheses, and  $\pi$ -conjugated polymers with a variety of structures have been synthesized with regioregularity [7–9].

This chapter introduces recent research topics, focusing on the synthesis of  $\pi$ -conjugated polymers that have aromatic and heteroaromatic rings. Particular attention is given to the use of transition metal catalysts and organometallic reagents in the synthesis of  $\pi$ -conjugated polymers; representative examples are outlined.

### 6.2 Kumada-Tamao-Corriu Coupling

Kumada-Tamao-Corriu coupling has been used to synthesize  $\pi$ -conjugated polymers for decades. The polythiophenes have been paid particular attention among the conjugated polymers because they show a relatively small bandgap, excellent stability, and easy processability. The pioneering research in synthesizing insoluble polythiophenes by using transition metal catalysts and magnesium reagents was reported by Yamamoto in the 1980s [10–12].

Increasing the solubility of polythiophenes in common organic solvents, Elsenbaumer el al. facilitated the synthesis of the poly(3-alkylthiophene) in 1986 [13]. In this reaction, the alkyl-substituted 2,5-diiodothiophenes in the 3-position were converted to Grignard reagents, and the subsequent Kumada-Tamao-Corriu coupling reactions by the nickel catalyst gave the desired polythiophenes. These polymers become highly soluble in various organic solvents through the introduction of the alkyl group in the 3-position, and they showed high conductibility by doping with additives such as  $NOSbF_6$ ,  $FeCl_3$ , and  $I_2$ . Although this polymerization by Kumada-Tamao-Corriu coupling is highly preparative, regioregularity of the polymers cannot be controlled (Scheme 6.1).

$$I \longrightarrow S \xrightarrow{R} I \xrightarrow{Mg} THF \xrightarrow{Cat.} \xrightarrow{R} I \xrightarrow{R}$$

Scheme 6.1 Synthesis of the regiorandom poly(3-alkylthiophene)

In 1992, McCullough found an innovative synthetic strategy for poly(3-alkylthiophene) with regioregularity [14, 15]. In this protocol, the corresponding organomagnesium reagent was prepared by the selective lithiation at the 5-position of 2-bromo-3-alkylthiophene with lithium diisopropylamide (LDA), followed by

#### 6 Conjugated Polymers

treatment with magnesium bromide. The generated Grignard reagent was subjected to Kumada-Tamao-Corriu coupling by using NiCl<sub>2</sub>(dppp) as the catalyst to afford the corresponding polythiophenes with more than 90 % regioregularity (Scheme 6.2). This synthetic method was applied to the synthesis of polythiophenes having the ether group in the 3-position, and regioregular polythiophenes were obtained [16].



Scheme 6.2 Synthesis of the regioregular poly(3-alkylthiophene)

In addition to the regioregularly coupled polythiophenes, random copolymers have been similarly synthesized by the use of two different monomers bearing alkyl groups (Scheme 6.3) [17]. The physical properties of these head-to-tail (HT) random copolymers can be tuned by altering the ratio of the ingredients, leading to increases or decreases in conjugation. Altering the alkyl chains impacts the conductivity and performance of polymers; design and control of consistency in the formation of the copolymers is important.



Scheme 6.3 Synthesis of random copolymers of 3-alkylthiophene

Based on the synthetic protocols of McCullough, polythiophenes with optical activity were sequentially obtained by using the chiral 2-bromo 3-[2-(S-methyl-butoxy)ethyl]thiophene as the starting material (Scheme 6.4) [18, 19]. This polymer showed the complete disappearance of optical activity in the  $\pi$ - $\pi$ \* transition band at its melting point of 160 °C. However, a reversible thermochromism was observed, and the optical activity was recovered in the absorption band by slow cooling of the polymer films.



Scheme 6.4 Synthesis of optically active poly(3-alkylthiophene)

McCullough has also synthesized regioregular poly(3-alkylthiophene)s by the magnesium-halogen exchange reactions, a method known as Grignard metathesis (GRIM), in which 2,5-dibromo-3-alkylthiophene was treated with alkyl or vinyl Grignard reagents. This resulted in two metalated regioisomers, 2-bromo-3-alkyl-5-bromomagnesiothiophene and 2-bromomagnesio-3-alkyl-5-bromothiophene, in a ratio of 85:15 (Scheme 6.5). It is noteworthy that this ratio has no dependence on reaction temperature, reaction time, or even the amount of Grignard reagents. Poly(3-alkylthiophene)s with more than 95 % of regioregularity were obtained by adding a catalytic amount of NiCl<sub>2</sub>(dppp) to this isomeric mixture. This high regioregularity was explained by kinetic and thermodynamic effects generated from steric or electronic factors in the catalyzed reaction [20, 21]. In addition, McCullough has demonstrated that the in situ end-group functionalization of the regioregular poly(3-alkylthiophene)s is viable and facile by using the GRIM method [22, 23].



Scheme 6.5 Synthesis of poly(3-alkylthiophene)

As depicted in Fig. 6.1, the synthesis of polythiophene **1** has been reported with anthraquinone as a redox active pendant functional group in the side chain [24]. Cyclic voltammetric studies of the polymer-coated electrodes showed that the
observed response was coverage dependent. On the other hand, a polythiophene bearing a mercapto group 2 [25] was used in the thin film technology of soft lithography.



Fig. 6.1 Polythiophenes with a variety of functional groups

The palladium-catalyzed polycondensation, in the synthesis of the nitrogencontaining heterocyclic poly(9-alkylcarbazole-3,6-diyl), was achieved by Kumada-Tamao-Corriu coupling (Scheme 6.6) [26]. The steric effects of the alkyl groups on the carbazole rings dramatically affected the polymerization.



Scheme 6.6 Synthesis of poly(9-alkylcarbazole-3,6-diyl)

Naso et al. have synthesized various copolymers in moderate to good yields by the palladium-catalyzed Kumada-Tamao-Corriu coupling reactions between bifunctional organomagnesium reagents and various aromatic dibromides (Scheme 6.7). Molecular weights and molecular weight distributions of the obtained polymers were measured by size exclusion chromatography (SEC) and matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight (MALDI-TOF) mass spectroscopy. The number-average molecular weights ( $M_n$ ) were 4,000–8,000; and the ratio of weight-average molecular weights ( $M_w$ ) to number-average molecular weights ( $M_w/M_n$ ) were 1.44–1.67 [27, 28].



Scheme 6.7 Copolymerization of bifunctional organomagnesium reagents

In 2004, Yokozawa et al. reacted 2-bromo-3-hexyl-5-iodothiophene with i-propylmagnesium chloride and polymerized the resulting 2-bromo-5-chloromagnesio-3-hexylthiophene (**3**) via nickel catalysis with good regioselectivity (Scheme 6.8) [29, 30]. This polymerization was found to proceed by chain-growth polymerization; thus, HT-poly(3-hexylthiophene) (HT-P3HT) was obtained with narrow molecular weight distributions. It was found that the molecular weights of HT-P3HT could be controlled by changing the ratio of monomer to the Ni catalyst.



Scheme 6.8 Synthesis of the regioregular poly(3-alkylthiophene) by chain-growth polymerization

Later, Yokozawa clarified the mechanism of the chain-growth polymerization of 2-bromo-5-chloromagnesio-3-hexylthiophene (**3**) catalyzed by NiCl<sub>2</sub>(dppp). Measurements from MALDI-TOF mass spectroscopy indicated that HT-P3HT had a hydrogen atom at one end of the polymer and a bromine atom at the other end. One

#### 6 Conjugated Polymers

polymer chain was found to be formed by one Ni catalyst. The degree of polymerization and absolute molecular weights of the synthesized polymers was estimated from the <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra. In addition, the reaction of Grignard reagents with 50 mol % of NiCl<sub>2</sub>(dppp) disclosed that the bithiophene-bonded nickel complex is an important intermediate, generated by reductive elimination forming bithiophene and by oxidative addition of the C–Br bond in the bithiophene (Scheme 6.9). Based on this observation, this chain-growth polymerization has been referred to as "catalyst-transfer polycondensation," in which the Ni catalyst intramolecularly (step-by-step) shifts along the C–Br bond at the polymer's end [31].



Scheme 6.9 A mechanism of the chain-growth polymerization

Yokozawa has also found that this chain-growth polymerization is highly dependent on the ligands of the Ni catalyst; polymers with narrow polydispersities can be attained when the dppe ligand is employed at 0 °C [32]. McCullough has also independently explained the mechanism of the chain-growth polymerization catalyzed by NiCl<sub>2</sub>(dppp) [33, 34].

Very recently, Mori et al. carried out the nickel-catalyzed polymerization of 2chloro-3-hexylthiophene with a stoichiometric amount of a magnesium amide, TMPMgCl·LiCl via C–H functionalization (Scheme 6.10). The process could also be accomplished with the combination of Grignard reagents and a catalytic amount of a secondary amine in place of TMPMgCl·LiCl. They also demonstrated that when bromothiophene was used as a monomer, the highly active NiCl<sub>2</sub>(dppe) did not allow control of molecular weights. However, when the nickel catalyst was incorporated with an *N*-heterocyclic carbene ligand, control of molecular weights as well as molecular weight distributions was possible [35–37].



Scheme 6.10 The nickel-catalyzed polymerization of 2-chloro-3-hexylthiophene via C-H functionalization

Even more recently, Holdcroft synthesized polythiophenes having a tetrahydropyranyl (THP) group in the 3-position, giving rise to high solubility (Scheme 6.11) [38].

$$(n = 6, 8)$$

$$THP$$

$$THF$$

$$-78 °C to -40 °C$$

$$MgBr_2 \cdot Et_2O$$

$$THC$$

$$THC$$

$$-60 °C to -5 °C$$

$$THC$$

Scheme 6.11 Synthesis of polythiophenes having a tetrahydropyranyl (THP) group

Recent research suggests that  $\pi$ -conjugated polymers have potential applications in solar cells, and the introduction of the 3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene (EDOT) unit into the polymer chain increased absorption over the solar spectrum.

# 6.3 Negishi Coupling

In the early 1990s, Rieke polymerized the zincated 3-alkylthiophene (prepared from 2,5-dibromothiophene and highly active zinc) to give poly(3-alkylthiophene)s by Negishi coupling [39–41]. Interestingly, when NiCl<sub>2</sub>(dppe) was used as the catalyst, poly(alkylthiophene)s with regioregularity as high as 98.5 % were obtained; whereas the Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> catalyst produced poly(alkylthiophene) without regioregularity (50:50) (Scheme 6.12).



Scheme 6.12 Synthesis of poly(3-alkylthiophene)s by Negishi coupling

McCullough has also reported the synthesis of the regioregular poly(3-alkylthiophene)s by polymerization of 2-thienylzinc reagents [42–44]. In addition, the nickel-catalyzed Negishi coupling reactions of the synthesized polythiophenes with the functionalized 2-thienylzinc reagent further enabled the end functionalization (Scheme 6.13) [36].



Scheme 6.13 Reactions of polythiophenes with 2-thienylzinc reagent

In 2003, Li et al. reported the synthesis of highly conductive binaphthylenethiophene copolymers via the palladium-catalyzed Negishi coupling of a doubly zincated compound **4** in 70 % yield (Scheme 6.14) [45]. This polymer could be doped by both chemical and electrochemical methods; the chemical doping by NOPF<sub>6</sub> and the electrochemical doping increased their conductivities up to  $3 \times 10^{-5}$  and  $2.2 \times 10^{-5}$  S/cm, respectively.



Scheme 6.14 Synthesis of binaphthylene-thiophene copolymers

Recently, Stefan has synthesized polythiophenes bearing a terminal olefin moiety in the 3-position (Scheme 6.15) [46]. It is expected that the terminal olefin side chains can be transformed into various functional groups by preparative chemical modifications, leading to the synthesis of new types of polymers that can fine tune their optoelectronic characteristics.



Scheme 6.15 Synthesis of polythiophenes bearing a terminal olefin moiety

## 6.4 Migita-Kosugi-Stille Coupling

In 1991, Musco reported a preparative protocol to synthesize poly(thiophene-2,5diylvinylene) by the Migita-Kosugi-Stille-coupling-based polymerization of dihalogenated thiophene and bis(tributylstannyl)ethene (**5**) under palladium catalysis (Eq. 6.1) [47]. Doping and undoping cycles of the polymer resulted in a decrease of the intensity of the band due to the  $\pi$ - $\pi$ \* transition together with a shift toward higher energy. Conductivity measurements in iodine-doped powders after compression showed values close to  $10^{-2}$  S/cm.

Employing the aforementioned coupling protocol, the use of the previously prepared 5,5'-dibromo-2,2'-dithienylethene as the starting material allowed for control of regioregularity (Eq. 6.2) [48]. It is expected that these synthesized regioregular polymers could lead to very interesting new materials for transistors and other important conjugated polymer applications.



The Migita-Kosugi-Stille coupling reactions have been applied to the synthesis of a thiophene-silole copolymer (Eq. 6.3) [49]. This polymer shows characteristic absorption at 594 and 615 nm, and the absorption of long wavelengths is ascribed to the intramolecular electron-transfer from the thiophene ring to the silole ring.



Polythiophenes bearing the crown ethers have been synthesized by Migita-Kosugi-Stille coupling. The capture of various alkali metal ions ( $\text{Li}^+$ ,  $\text{Na}^+$ , and  $\text{K}^+$ ) in solution by the crown ether fragments in these polymers showed an ionochromic response (Eq. 6.4) [50].



The thiophene-dialkoxyphenylene and furan-dialkylphenylene alternating copolymers have been similarly synthesized, and their photogenic properties were evaluated (Eqs. 6.5 and 6.6) [51, 52]. These polymers showed desirable photogenic properties; their UV–vis, electronic luminescence, photoluminescence, and electric field characteristics have been researched, aiming at applications in LED devices.



The Migita-Kosugi-Stille coupling reactions of dibromopyridine with distannylpyridine in the Pd/Cu co-catalyst system afforded the functionalized polypyridines with alternating copolymers bearing two separate substituents (Scheme 6.16) [53]. Since these polymers were facially bridged with imine, they became planar after deprotection of the Boc group. Thus, electron-deficient ladder-type polymers were efficiently synthesized. The resulting planarity of the polymers shortened their band gaps.



Scheme 6.16 Synthesis of the functionalized polypyridines and ladder-type polymers

The palladium-catalyzed polycondensation of the electron-donating 2,5dibromo-4-alkylthiazole (6) with the electron-withdrawing 2,5-bis(trimethylstannyl) thiophene produced charge-transfer-type alternating copolymers with high regioregularity (Eq. 6.7) [54]. The XRD measurement revealed that the polymer chains have an intermolecular interaction with one another causing a stacking structure. Because steric adaptability may increase further by regioregularity of alkylthiazole and because of the charge transfer characteristics between the thiazole ring and the thiophene ring, this stacking structure is facially formed.

$$Me_{3}Sn - \underbrace{S}_{S} SnMe_{3} + Br - \underbrace{Br - N}_{S} Br - \underbrace{Pd(PPh_{3})_{4} cat.}_{0MF} - \underbrace{Fd(PPh_{3})_{4} cat.}_{0MF} - \underbrace{Fd($$

Heeny et al. have synthesized poly(3-alkyl-2,5-selenylenevinylene)s by the microwave-assisted Migita-Kosugi-Stille coupling reaction of 2,5-dibromo-3-alkylselenophene with (*E*)-1,2-bis(tributylstannyl)ethene (5) (Eq. 6.8) [55]. The polymers substituted with a decyl group showed excellent solubility in common organic solvents, and the <sup>1</sup>H NMR measurements indicated that regioregularity of the side chains reached more than 90 %. This polymer showed the wavelength of maximum absorption ( $\lambda_{max}$ ) at 621 nm in solution.



Song has synthesized random copolymers by the Migita-Kosugi-Stille coupling of 2,5-bis(trimethylstannyl)thiophene with electron-rich carbazoles or electronic-poor benzimidazoles (Eq. 6.9) [56].



As the ratios of head-to-tail regioregularity of the adjacent thiophene rings in poly(3-alkylthiophene)s increased, the planarity of the polymer chains improved. As the result, larger maximum effective conjugation lengths of the polymer backbones and lower band gaps were observed. In order to attain lower band gaps and higher conductivity, Migita-Kosugi-Stille coupling of the monomer 2-iodo-3-hexyl-5-tributylstannylthiophene (7) was used to produce highly regioregular (>96 %) poly(3-hexylthiophene)s (Eq. 6.10) [57].

$$\begin{array}{cccc} Bu_{3}Sn & \overbrace{S}^{C_{6}H_{13}} & \overbrace{Pd(PPh_{3})_{4} \text{ cat.}}_{\text{toluene}} & \overbrace{S}^{C_{6}H_{13}}_{n} \\ 7 & \overbrace{CH_{2}CICH_{2}CI}^{CH_{2}CICH_{2}CI} & \overbrace{M_{n}=2\ 200-7\ 400}_{M_{w}/M_{n}=1.19-1.82} \end{array}$$
(6.10)

Analogously, the synthesis of regioregular polythiophenes was achieved by Migita-Kosugi-Stille coupling of bithiophene with bromide and stannyl groups in the 5 and 5'-positions, respectively [58]. Also, regioregular polythiophenes bearing an oxazoline moiety were obtained in a high yield by the palladium-catalyzed Migita-Kosugi-Stille coupling using CuO as a co-catalyst (Eq. 6.11) [59]. The oxazoline moiety was found to be either easily hydrolyzed under acidic conditions or the polymers were found to change color, depending on the size of the cation. In addition, regioregular polythiophenes substituted with phosphonic acid were synthesized in a similar manner [60].



Bazan has synthesized the conjugated polymers of pyridal[2,1,3]thiadiazole (PT) with regioregularity (Eq. 6.12) [61]. This polymerization protocol produced polymers with two different regioregular structures: one is all the PTs aligning in the same direction, and the other is the structure aligning to the alternate direction for each repeating unit. Surprisingly, regiorandom polymers showed hole mobility of only 0.005 cm<sup>2</sup> V<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>, whereas the mobility of regioregular polymers was 0.6 cm<sup>2</sup> V<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>, which is ~2 orders of magnitude larger.



# 6.5 Suzuki-Miyaura Coupling

Schluter has synthesized the alternating copolymers that have phenylene and pyrrole rings from the benzenediboronic acid derivatives and the *N*-Boc-protected (Boc = *tert*-butoxycarbonyl) dibromopyrrolic monomers **8** via Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions (Scheme 6.17) [62]. The Boc protecting group does not retard the polymerization and is removable after polymerization.



Scheme 6.17 Synthesis of the alternating copolymers of p-phenylene with 2,5-pyrrole

Similarly, a conjugated copolymer was obtained from 2,7-bis(4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3,2-dioxaborolan-2-yl)-9,9-dioctylfluorene (9) and *N*-octyl-2,7-diiodocarbazole (10) (Eq. 6.13) [63]. The application of these conjugated polymers to various optoelectronic devices is expected.



The silole-thiophene alternating copolymers have been synthesized by Suzuki– Miyaura coupling of silole-2,5-diboronic acid (11) with 2,5-bis(5-bromo-2-thienyl)silole (12) (Eq. 6.14) [64]. In addition, the silole-phenylene, silole-pyridine, and silole-thiazole alternating copolymers have also been synthesized in similar manners [65]. The silole-based  $\pi$ -electron systems were found to show a unique photophysical property originating from characteristic electronic structures of the silole ring, and it is expected to be utilized as emissive materials for organic electroluminescent devices.



Fluorene/thiophene alternating copolymers were also obtained by Suzuki– Miyaura coupling (Eq. 6.15) [66]. This polymer was reported to have a blue-lightemitting quality, to dissolve in common organic solvents, and to show high thermal stability at glass transition temperatures. Optical, electrochemical, and thermal properties can be freely tuned by changing the substituents of the side chains on the aromatic rings.



A series of alternating copolymers of 1,10-phenanthroline/1,4-didodecyloxybenzene, 1,10-phenanthroline/9,9-dioctylfluorene, and pyridine/1,4-dialkoxybenzene have been synthesized by the palladium-catalyzed Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions in excellent yields (Eqs. 6.16–6.18) [67]. These polymers were reported to show high thermal stability.



The polymerization of p-phenylenebisboronic acid with a mixture of 4,7dibromo-2,1,3-benzothiadiazole and 2,7-dibromofluorene derivatives was conducted by Suzuki–Miyaura coupling to give the corresponding copolymers (Scheme 6.18) [68]. These polymers could be converted into water-soluble polycationic conjugated copolymers whose emission color was changed by their conformation and aggregation.



Scheme 6.18 Synthesis of the copolymers of p-phenylene with 4,7-benzothiadiazole and 2,7-fluorene

Ozawa et al. have succeeded in the stereoselective synthesis of (Z)-poly(arylenevinylene)s by Suzuki–Miyaura coupling-based polycondensation under the palladium catalysis (Eq. 6.19) [69]. When  $Bu_4NBr$  was added as the phase-transfer catalyst, the number-average molecular weights reached 5,700–9,500 and the stereoregularity of vinylene linkages in the polymer backbone was more than 95 %. Analogously, the polymers with the (*E*)-configurations were stereoselectively obtained by Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of (*E*)-styryl bromides and areneboronic acids (Eq. 6.20) [70].





Yokozawa et al. have developed a process for the polycondensation of 2-(7bromo-9,9-dioctyl-9*H*-fluoren-2-yl)-4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3,2-dioxaborolane (13) by the Suzuki–Miyaura coupling, employing Pd(Ph)Br(P'Bu<sub>3</sub>) as the catalyst (Scheme 6.19) [71]. The polymerization took place smoothly at room temperature, and well-defined polyfluorenes with narrow polydispersity and controlled molecular weight were obtained. It was clarified that the obtained polymers possess the phenyl end groups by the measurements of MALDI-TOF mass spectroscopy. The relationship of conversion- $M_n$  and feed ratio- $M_n$  is linear, indicating that this polycondensation proceeds by chain-growth polymerization caused by an initiator unit derived from the catalyst.



Scheme 6.19 Polycondensation of 13 by Suzuki-Miyaura coupling

In addition, Yokozawa has reported polymerization by the catalyst transfer-type Suzuki-Miyaura coupling of 2,5-bis(hexyloxy)-4-iodophenylboronic acid, catalyzed by Pd(Ph)Br(P'Bu<sub>3</sub>) [72]. This polymerization enabled the synthesis of poly(*p*-phenylene) with a narrow molecular weight distribution.

# 6.6 Sonogashira-Hagihara Coupling

Since the palladium/copper co-catalyzed Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling can form carbon(sp<sup>2</sup>)–carbon(sp) bonds, this polymerization methodology is extremely important for the synthesis of conjugated polymers that have a triple bond in the polymer main chain. The synthesis of the conjugated polymers via the Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling of dihaloheteroaryl compounds and diethynylarenes have been reported by using triethylamine, which has the dual role of solvent and base (Eq. 6.21) [73, 74].



Swager et al. have synthesized the poly(*p*-phenyleneethynylene) containing cyclophane through Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling in a palladium/copper cocatalyst system (Eq. 6.22) [75]. This polymer shows unusual solid-state aggregation behavior, giving rise to highly emissive materials.



#### 6 Conjugated Polymers

Liu et al. have synthesized poly(aryleneethynylene)s (PAE) that show electroluminescence (EL) via the palladium-catalyzed Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling of fluorene bearing sterically bulky alkyl substituents and aromatic rings such as carbazoles and thiophene that have holetransport units (Eq. 6.23) [76]. The luminescent property of the PAE-type polymers can be improved by introducing the holetransport units into the polymer main chain. Even a slight change of the structure in the main chain can readily control the electronic structures and the EL characteristics of polymers.



The synthesis of the poly(*p*-phenyleneethynylene) (PPE) brushes by Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling was reported by Swager (Scheme 6.20) [77]. First, the end-functionalized polymers were synthesized in the presence of iodoarenes incorporating the norbornene moiety. The sequential ruthenium-catalyzed ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP) on oxidized silicon surfaces led to the formation of high-density PPE brushes.



Scheme 6.20 Synthesis of the poly(p-phenyleneethynylene) (PPE)

In addition, poly(*p*-phenyleneethynylene)s have received attention as polarized photoluminescent materials due to the intrinsic anisotropy of their one-dimensional electronic structure and their ability to be processed in uniaxially oriented blends by various techniques (Eq. 6.24) [78].



Swager has also facilitated the synthesis of poly(phenyleneethynylene)s with fused pendant [2.2.2] ring structures having alkene bridges substituted with two ester groups. These polymers were obtained by Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling and showed broad and red-shifted emission spectra in the solid state (Eq. 6.25) [79].



Conjugated polymers with an anthryl group in the core have been synthesized by the palladium/copper co-catalyzed Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling (Eq. 6.26) [80]. These polymers are known to react selectively with dienophiles; Diels–Alder reactions promptly progress across the less bulky dienophiles like *N*-alkylated maleimide derivatives. Compared with their parent polymers, polymers generated by cycloaddition showed a remarkable increase of quantum yields as well as dramatic hypsochromic shifts of their emission and absorption maxima by up to 80 nm.



Chujo et al. have synthesized the donor-acceptor-type, conjugated poly (cyclodiborazane)s by Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling of 2,5-didodecyloxy-1,4-diethynylbenzene and bifunctional aryl bromides bearing cyclodiborazane (Eq. 6.27) [81]. The number-average molecular weights of these polymers were determined to be 8,500 by the GPC measurements. The UV-vis spectra in chloroform showed an absorption maximum at 414 nm. This originates from the

expanded  $\pi$ -conjugation enhanced by the empty p-orbital of the boron atom and the intramolecular charge transfer structure. This polymer intensely emits bluegreen light upon irradiation at 414 nm, and thus it has garnered attention for use as an emission polymer.



In addition, Chujo has succeeded in synthesizing the conjugated polymers bearing [2.2]paracyclophane skeletons in the main chain by Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling (Eq. 6.28) [82]. A deep orange fluorescent solution was obtained from the reaction of *p*-dibromo[2.2]paracyclophane with 2,5-dialkoxy-substituted diethynylbenzene. The GPC measurements revealed that the number-average molecular weights ( $M_n$ ) of the polymers was 8000 (R = n-dodecyl). Whereas in the reactions of *p*-dibromo[2.2]paracyclophane with diethynylbenzene (R = H) or dimethoxydiethynylbenzene (R = Me), only low-molecular weights were detected because of the low solubilities of the polymers 14. In the UV–vis spectra, the maximum absorption was approximately 310-380 nm in chloroform, where a red shift of absorption was observed because the extended  $\pi$ -conjugation via throughspace caused by the two-faced benzene rings of [2.2]paracyclophane.



Subsequently, the synthesis of analogous polymers was achieved through Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling in which a ferrocene unit was introduced into the main chain of these polymers (Eq. 6.29) [83]. Comparison revealed that a [2.2]paracyclophane unit was found to be more effective than a ferrocene unit for the delocalization of  $\pi$ -electrons. The polymer that bears both [2.2]paracyclophane and ferrocene units exhibited a broad and reversible oxidation potential with an  $E_{\rm pa}$ value of 0.62 V in the measurements of cyclic voltammetry. When the polymers were doped by iodine under standard conditions, the conductivity can reach a maximum of up to  $1.6 \times 10^{-4}$  S/cm.



Chujo has synthesized polymers that have the near-infrared (NIR) photoluminescence characteristics via the Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling of diiodobenzene-functionalized aza-borondipyrromethene **15** with 1,4-diethynyl-2,5-dihexadecyloxybenzene or 3,3'-didodecyl-2,2'-diethynyl-5,5'-bithiophene. (Eq. 6.30) [84]. Their polymers exhibited a significant red shift in the UV–vis absorption and photoluminescence spectra because of the effectively extended  $\pi$ -conjugation, and they showed near-infrared (NIR) light with narrow emission bands at 713–777 nm on excitation at each absorption maximum.



Subsequently, Chujo analogously synthesized polymers that have high luminescence through the polymerization of organoboron aminoquinolate-based monomers **16**, originating from the Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling (Eq. 6.31) [85]. The color and the emission intensity of these polymers could be finely tuned by the  $Ar^1$  and  $Ar^2$  units in the monomers, respectively. The absorption and emission bands in the region above 400 nm are strongly influenced by the two quinoline rings and the diethynylbenzene moieties. The polymers with a biphenyl group as the  $Ar_2$  unit showed high fluorescence absolute quantum yields, whereas no emission was observed with the perfluoroalkylated benzene or bithiophene moieties.



Polycondensation based on Sonogashira-Hagihara methods has been applied to the coupling of alkynylsilanes and aryl triflates as the bifunctional monomers; polymers with  $M_n$  of 11,700 were synthesized (Eq. 6.32) [86]. These polymers are expected to become new functional materials because they show the characteristic UV–vis and fluorescence spectra as well as thermal stability.



Mori et al. have conducted the polymerization by sila-Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling of bis(trimethylsilylethyne) (m = 1) or 1,4-bis(trimethylsilylbutadiyne) (m = 2) with diiodoarene bearing the fluorene unit, mediated by  $Pd(PPh_3)_4$  and silver(I) oxide as an activator, to afford poly(aryleneethynylene)s in excellent yields (Eq. 6.33) [87]. This method would be a valuable alternative to the parent Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling, which has to employ the gaseous acetylene and 1,3-butadiyne.



This reaction was applied sequentially by Naso, and a series of poly(aryleneethynylene)s containing the acetylated glucopyranosyl group has been synthesized (Eq. 6.34) [88]. This synthetic method has several advantageous features. The versatility afforded by the possibility of placing the sugar moiety on either the disilyl derivative or the aromatic diiodides leads to high yields in products.



## 6.7 Hiyama Coupling

Ozawa has investigated the palladium-catalyzed polycondensation based on Hiyama coupling of the bifunctional (E)- or (Z)-alkenylsilanes synthesized by the ruthenium-catalyzed stereodefined hydrosilylation of 1,4-diethynylbenzene

#### 6 Conjugated Polymers

(Scheme 6.21) [89]. During the polymerization of (*E*)-alkenylsilanes, the stereochemistry was retained (E/Z = > 99: < 1) to form the poly(arylenevinylene); whereas the cross-coupling polymerization of the (*Z*)-monomer gave rise to a mixture of stereoisomers (Z/E = 45:55-34:66) [90, 91].



Scheme 6.21 Synthesis of poly(arylenevinylene)s by Hiyama coupling

Marciniec has carried out the palladium-catalyzed Hiyama coupling of dihaloarenes with cyclic 1,1-bis(silyl)ethene (17) or (E)-1,2-bis(isopropoxydimethylsilyl)ethene (18), affording the corresponding (E)-poly(arylenevinylene)s stereoselectively (Eq. 6.35) [92]. This polymerization utilized Hiyama coupling to form a carbon–carbon bond by the conversion of a carbon–silicon bond. The favorable features of this new catalytic approach to stereodefined poly(arylenevinylene)s involve: the facile availability of organosilicon starting compounds, the simplicity of the experimental technique, and the alternative use of inexpensive aryl bromides in place of aryl diiodides.



## 6.8 Summary

In this chapter, recently investigated representative synthetic examples of the conjugated polymers using the cross-coupling reactions were summarized. Synthesis of a variety of conjugated polymers, which could not be obtained by electrochemical polymerization, became possible by utilizing the transition metal-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions. In particular, polymers containing the heteroaromatic rings such as thiophene are expected to function as optoelectronic materials with unique chemical and physical properties. The role of the cross-coupling reactions will continue to expand in the synthesis of these conjugated polymers in conjunction with the development and expansion of industrial applications for optoelectronics.

### References

- 1. Zhan X, Zhu D (2010) Conjugated polymers for high-efficiency organic photovoltaics. Polym Chem 1:409–419
- 2. Park DH, Kim MS, Joo J (2010) Hybrid nanostructures using  $\pi$ -conjugated polymers and nanoscale metals: synthesis, characteristics, and optoelectronic applications. Chem Soc Rev 39:2439–2452
- 3. Tuncel D (2011) Non-covalent interactions between carbon nanotubes and conjugated polymers. Nanoscale 3:3545–3554
- He M, Qiu F, Lin Z (2011) Conjugated rod-coil and rod-rod block copolymers for photovoltaic applications. J Mater Chem 21:17039–17048

6 Conjugated Polymers

- Pate R, McCormick R, Chen L, Zhou W, Stiff-Roberts AD (2011) RIR-MAPLE deposition of conjugated polymers for application to optoelectronic devices. Appl Phys A 105:555–563
- 6. Waltman RJ, Bargon J (1986) Electrically conducting polymers: a review of the electropolymerization reaction, of the effects of chemical structure on polymer film properties, and of applications towards technology. Can J Chem 64:76–95
- 7. Yamamoto T (2002) Cross-coupling reactions for preparation of  $\pi$ -conjugated polymers. J Organomet Chem 653:195–199
- Cheng Y-J, Luh T-Y (2004) Synthesizing optoelectronic heteroaromatic conjugated polymers by cross-coupling reactions. J Organomet Chem 689:4137–4148
- Osaka I, McCullough RD (2008) Advance in molecular design and synthesis of regioregular polythiophenes. Acc Chem Res 41:1202–1214
- Yamamoto T, Sanechika K, Yamamoto A (1980) Preparation of thermostable and electricconducting poly(2,5-thienylene). J Polym Sci Polym Lett Ed 18:9–12
- Yamamoto T, Sanechika K, Yamamoto A (1981) Preparation of poly(2,4-thienylene) and comparison of its optical and electrical properties with those of poly(2,5-thienylene). Chem Lett, 1079–1082
- Sanechika K, Yamamoto T, Yamamoto A (1982) Preparation of copolymers composed of 2,5-thienylene and 2,4-thienylene units. Effect of copolymer composition on electronic spectrum, electric conductivity, chemical properties. J Polym Sci Polym Lett Ed 20:365–371
- 13. Jen K-Y, Miller GG, Elsenbaumer RL (1986) Highly conducting, soluble, and environmentally-stable poly(3-alkylthiophenes). J Chem Soc Chem Commun, 1346–1347
- 14. McCullough RD, Lowe RD (1992) Enhanced electrical conductivity in regioselectively synthesized poly(3-alkylthiophenes). J Chem Soc Chem Commun, 70–72
- McCullough RD, Lowe RD, Jayaraman M, Anderson DL (1993) Design, synthesis, and control of conducting polymer architectures: Structurally homogeneous poly(3alkylthiophenes). J Org Chem 58:904–912
- McCullough RD, Williams SP (1993) Toward tuning electrical and optical properties in conjugated polymers using side chains: highly conductive head-to-tail heteroatomfunctionalized polythiophenes. J Am Chem Soc 115:11608–11609
- McCullough RD, Jayaraman M (1995) The tuning of conjugation by recipe: the synthesis and properties of random head-to-tail poly(3-alkylthiophene) copolymers. J Chem Soc Chem Commun, 135–136
- Bouman MM, Meijer EW (1995) Stereomutation in optically active regioregular polythiophenes. Adv Mater 11:385–387
- 19. Langeveld-Voss BMW, Waterval RJM, Janssen RAJ, Meijer EW (1999) Principles of "majority rules" and "sergeants and soldiers" applied to the aggregation of optically active polythiophenes: evidence for a multichain phenomenon. Macromolecules 32:227–230
- Loewe RS, Khersonsky SM, McCullough RD (1999) A simple method to prepare head-to-tail coupled, regioregular poly(3-alkylthiophenes) using Grignard metathesis. Adv Mater 11:250– 253
- Loewe RS, Ewbank PC, Liu J, Zhai L, McCullough RD (2001) Regioregular, head-to-tail coupled poly(3-alkylthiophenes) made easy by the GRIM method: Investigation of the reaction and the origin of regioselectivity. Macromolecules 34:4324–4333
- 22. Jeffries-El M, Sauvé G, McCullough RD (2004) In situ end-group functionalization of regioregular poly(3-alkylthiophene) using the Grignard metathesis polymerization method. Adv Mater 16:1017–1019
- Jeffries-El M, Sauvé G, McCullough RD (2005) Facile synthesis of end-functionalized regioregular poly(3-alkylthiophene)s via modified Grignard metathesis reaction. Macromolecules 38:10346–10352
- 24. Iraqi A, Crayston JA, Walton JC (1998) Covalent binding of redox active centres to preformed regioregular polythiophenes. J Mater Chem 8:31–36
- 25. Zhai L, Laird DW, McCullough RD (2003) Soft-lithography patterning of functionalized regioregular polythiophenes. Langmuir 19:6492–6497

- Iraqi A, Wataru I (2001) Preparation of poly(9-alkylcarbazole-3,6-diyl)s via palladium catalysed cross-coupling reactions. Synth Met 119:159–160
- Babudri F, Colangiuli D, Farinola GM, Naso F (2002) A general strategy for the synthesis of conjugated polymers based upon the palladium-catalysed cross-coupling of Grignard reagents with unsaturated halides. Eur J Org Chem, 2785–2791
- Naso F, Babudri F, Colangiuli D, Farinola GM, Quaranta F, Rella R, Tafuro R, Valli L (2003) Thin film construction and characterization and gas-sensing performances of a tailored phenylene-thienylene copolymer. J Am Chem Soc 125:9055–9061
- 29. Yokoyama A, Miyakoshi R, Yokozawa T (2004) Chain-growth polymerization for poly(3hexylthiophene) with a defined molecular weight and a low polydispersity. Macromolecules 37:1169–1171
- Miyakoshi R, Yokoyama A, Yokozawa T (2004) Synthesis of poly(3-hexylthiophene) with a narrower polydispersity. Macromol Rapid Commun 25:1663–1666
- Miyakoshi R, Yokoyama A, Yokozawa T (2005) Catalyst-transfer polycondensation. Mechanism of Ni-catalyzed chain-growth polymerization leading to well-defined poly(3hexylthiophene). J Am Chem Soc 127:17542–17547
- Adachi I, Miyakoshi R, Yokoyama A, Yokozawa T (2006) Synthesis of well-defined polythiophene with oxyethylene side chain: effect of phosphine ligands on catalyst-transfer polycondensation. Macromolecules 39:7793–7795
- Sheina EE, Liu J, Iovu MC, Laird DW, McCullough RD (2004) Chain growth mechanism for regioregular nickel-initiated cross-coupling polymerizations. Macromolecules 37:3526–3528
- 34. Iovu MC, Sheina EE, Gil RR, McCullough RD (2005) Experimental evidence for the quasi-"living" nature of the Grignard metathesis Method for the synthesis of regioregular poly(3alkylthiophenes). Macromolecules 38:8649–8656
- 35. Tamba S, Shono K, Sugie A, Mori A (2011) C-H functionalization polycondensation of chlorothiophenes in the presence of nickel catalyst with stoichiometric or catalytically generated magnesium amide. J Am Chem Soc 133:9700–9703
- 36. Tanaka S, Tanaka D, Sugie A, Mori A (2011) Synthesis of well-defined head-totail-type oligothiophenes by regioselective deprotonation of 3-substituted thiophenes and nickel-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction. J Am Chem Soc 133:16734–16737
- Tamba S, Tanaka S, Okubo Y, Meguro H, Okamoto S, Mori A (2011) Nickel-catalyzed dehydrobrominative polycondensation for the practical preparation of regioregular poly(3substituted thiophene)s. Chem Lett 40:398–399
- Brusso JL, Lilliedal MR, Holdcroft S (2011) π-Conjugated polymers with thermocleavable substituents for use as active layers in organic photovoltaics. Polym Chem 2:175–180
- 39. Chen T, Rieke RD (1992) The first regioregular head-to-tail poly(3-hexylthiophene-2,5-diyl) and a regiorandom isopolymer: Ni vs Pd catalysis of 2(5)-Bromo-5(2)-(bromozincio)-3-hexylthiophene polymerization. J Am Chem Soc 114:10087–10088
- 40. Chen T, O'Brien RA, Rieke RD (1993) Use of highly reactive zinc leads to a new, facile synthesis for polyarylenes. Macromolecules 26:3462–3463
- 41. Chen T, Wu X, Rieke RD (1995) Regiocontrolled synthesis of poly(3-alkylthiophenes) mediated by Rieke zinc: their characterization and solid-state properties. J Am Chem Soc 117:233–244
- Liu J, McCullough RD (2002) End group modification of regioregular polythiophene through postpolymerization functionalization. Macromolecules 35:9882–9889
- Sheina EE, Liu J, Iovu MC, Laird DW, McCullough RD (2004) Chain growth mechanism for regioregular nickel-initiated cross-coupling polymerization. Macromolecules 37:3526–3528
- 44. Sivula K, Luscombe CK, Thompson BC, Fréchet JMJ (2006) Enhancing the thermal stability of polythiophene: Fullerene solar cells by decreasing effective polymer regioregularity. J Am Chem Soc 128:13988–13989
- 45. Li J, Rajca A, Rajca S (2003) Synthesis and conductivity of binaphthyl-based conjugated polymers. Synth Metal 137:1507–1508

6 Conjugated Polymers

- 46. Hundt N, Palaniappan K, Sista P, Murphy JW, Hao J, Nguyen H, Stein E, Biewer MC, Gnade BE, Stefan MC (2010) Synthesis and characterization of polythiophenes with alkenyl substituent. Polym Chem 1:1624–1632
- Galarini R, Musco A, Potellini R, Bolognesi A, Destri S, Cetellani M, Mascherpa M, Zhuo G (1991) A new synthetic route to polyheteroarenediylvinylenes. J Chem Soc Chem Commun, 364–365
- Loewe RS, McCullough RD (2000) Effects of structural regularity on the properties of poly(3-alkylthienylenevinylenes). Chem Mater 12:3214–3221
- Tamao K, Yamaguchi S, Shiozaki M, Nakagawa Y, Ito Y (1992) Thiophene-silole cooligomers and copolymers. J Am Chem Soc 114:5867–5869
- Marsella MJ, Swager TM (1993) Designing conducting polymer-based sensors: selective ionochromic response in crown ether-containing polythiophenes. J Am Chem Soc 115:12214–12215
- 51. Bao Z, Chan W, Yu L (1993) Synthesis of conjugated polymer by the Stille coupling reaction. Chem Mater 5:2–3
- 52. Saadeh H, Goodson T III, Yu L (1997) Synthesis of a polyphenylene-co-furan and polyphenylene-co-thiophene and comparison of their electroluminescent properties. Macromolecules 30:4608–4612
- 53. Yao Y, Lamba JJS, Tour JM (1998) Synthesis of highly functionalized pyridines for planar polymers. Maximized  $\pi$ -conjugation in electron deficient macromolecules. J Am Chem Soc 120:2805–2810
- 54. Yamamoto T, Arai M, Kokubo H, Sasaki S (2003) Copolymers of thiophene and thiazole. Regioregulation in synthesis, stacking structure, and optical properties. Macromolecules 36:7986–7993
- Al-Hashimi M, Baklar MA, Colleaux F, Watkins SE, Anthopoulos TD, Stingelin N, Heeney M (2011) Synthesis, characterization, and field effect transistor properties of regioregular poly(3-alkyl-2,5-selenylenevinylene). Macromolecules 44:5194–5199
- 56. Song S, Kim G, Kang I, Jin Y, Kim I, Kim J, Suh H (2011) Synthesis and photovoltaic properties of conjugated copolymers based on benzimidazole and various thiophene. J Polym Sci, Part A Polym Chem 49:3751–3758
- Iraqi A, Barker GW (1998) Synthesis and characterisation of telechelic regioregular head-totail poly(3-alkylthiophenes). J Mater Chem 8:25–29
- 58. Bjørnholm T, Greve DR, Reitzel N, Hassenkam T, Kjear K, Howes PB, Larsen NB, Bøgelund J, Jayaraman M, Ewbank PC, McCullough RD (1998) Self-assembly of regioregular, amphiphilic polythiophenes into highly ordered  $\pi$ -stacked conjugated polymer thin films and nanocircuits. J Am Chem Soc 120:7643–7644
- McCullough RD, Ewbank PC, Loewe RS (1997) Self-assembly and disassembly of regioregular, water soluble polythiophenes: Chemoselective ionchromatic sensing in water. J Am Chem Soc 119:633–634
- Stokes KK, Heuzé K, McCullough RD (2003) New phosphonic acid functionalized, regioregular polythiophenes. Macromolecules 36:7114–7118
- 61. Ying L, Hsu BBY, Zhan H, Welch GC, Zalar P, Perez LA, Kramer EJ, Nguyen T-Q, Heeger AJ, Wong W, Bazan GC (2011) Regioregular pyridal[[2,1,3]thiadiazole π-conjugated copolymer. J Am Chem Soc 133:18538–18541
- 62. Martina S, Schlüter A-D (1992) Soluble polyarylenes with alternating sequences of alkylsubstituted phenylene and pyrrolic or terpyrrolic units. Macromolecules 25:3607–3608
- 63. Morin J-F, Leclerc M (2001) Syntheses of conjugated polymers derived from N-alkyl-2,7carbazoles. Macromolecules 34:4680–4682
- 64. Yamaguchi S, Goto T, Tamao K (2000) Silole-thiophene alternating copolymers with narrow band gaps. Angew Chem Int Ed 39:1695–1697
- 65. Yamaguchi S, Tamao K (2002) Cross-coupling reactions in the chemistry of silole-containing  $\pi$ -conjugated oligomers and polymers. J Organomet Chem 653:223–228
- 66. Liu B, Yu W, Lai Y, Huang W (2001) Blue-light-emitting fluorene-based polymers with tunable electronic properties. Chem Mater 13:1984–1991

- 67. Yasuda T, Yamamoto T (2003) Synthesis and characterization of new luminescent 1,10phenanthroline- and pyridine-containing  $\pi$ -conjugated polymers. Their optical response to protic acid,  $M^{n+}$ , and solvents. Macromolecules 36:7513–7519
- Liu B, Bazan GC (2004) Interpolyelectrolyte complexes of conjugated copolymers and DNA: platforms for multicolor biosensors. J Am Chem Soc 126:1942–1943
- 69. Katayama H, Nagao M, Nishimura T, Matsui Y, Fukuse Y, Wakioka M, Ozawa F (2006) Stereocontrolled synthesis and characterization of *cis*-poly(arylenevinylene)s. Macromolecules 39:2039–2048
- 70. Wakioka M, Mutoh Y, Takita R, Ozawa F (2009) A highly selective catalytic system for the cross-coupling of (*E*)-styryl bromide with benzeneboronic acid: application to the synthesis of all-trans poly(arylenevinylene)s. Bull Chem Soc Jpn 82:1292–1298
- 71. Yokoyama A, Suzuki H, Kubota Y, Ohuchi K, Higashimura H, Yokozawa T (2007) Chaingrowth polymerization for the synthesis of polyfluorene via Suzuki-Miyaura coupling reaction from an externally added initiator unit. J Am Chem Soc 129:7236–7237
- 72. Yokozawa T, Kohno H, Ohta Y, Yokoyama A (2010) Catalyst-transfer Suzuki-Miyaura coupling polymerization for precision synthesis of poly(*p*-phenylene). Macromolecules 43:7095–7100
- 73. Yamamoto T, Yamada W, Takagi M, Kizu K, Maruyama T, Ooba N, Tomaru S, Kurihara T, Kaino T, Kubota K (1994) π-conjugated soluble poly(aryleneethynylene) type polymers. Preparation by palladium-catalyzed coupling reaction, nonlinear optical properties, doping, and chemical reactivity. Macromolecules 27:6620–6626
- 74. Yamamoto T, Fang Q, Morikita T (2003) New soluble poly(aryleneethynylene)s consisting of electron-accepting benzothiadiazole units and electron-donating dialkoxybenzene units. Synthesis, molecular assembly, orientation on substrates, and electrochemical and optical properties. Macromolecules 36:4262–4267
- 75. Deans R, Kim J, Machacek MR, Swager TM (2000) A poly(*p*-phenyleneethynylene) with a highly emissive aggregated phase. J Am Chem Soc 122:8565–8566
- 76. Zhan X, Liu Y, Yu G, Wu X, Zhu D, Sun R, Wang D, Epstein AJ (2001) Synthesis and electroluminescence of poly(aryleneethynylene)s based on fluorene containing hole-transport units. J Mater Chem 11:1606–1611
- 77. Moon JH, Swager TM (2002) Poly(p-phenylene ethynylene) brushes. Macromolecules 35:6086–6089
- Breen CA, Deng T, Breiner T, Thomas EL, Swager TM (2003) Polarized photoluminescence from poly(*p*-phenylene–ethynylene) via a block copolymer nanotemplate. J Am Chem Soc 125:9942–9943
- 79. Kim Y, Bouffard J, Kooi SE, Swager TM (2005) Highly emissive conjugated polymer excimers. J Am Chem Soc 127:13726–13731
- Ishow E, Bouffard J, Kim Y, Swager TM (2006) Anthryl-based poly(phenylene ethynylene)s: Tuning optical properties with Diels—Alder reactions. Macromolecules 39:7854–7858
- Matsumi N, Chujo Y (2000) Synthesis of π-conjugated poly(cyclodiborazane)s by organometallic polycondensation. Macromolecules 33:8146–8148
- 82. Morisaki Y, Chujo Y (2002) Synthesis of novel  $\pi$ -conjugated polymers having [2.2]paracyclophane skeleton in the main chain. Extension of  $\pi$ -conjugated length via the through-space. Macromolecules 35:587–589
- 83. Morisaki Y, Chujo Y (2003) Synthesis and properties of a novel through-space conjugated polymer with [2.2]paracyclophane and ferrocene in the main chain. Macromolecules 36:9319–9324
- 84. Yoshii R, Nagai A, Chujo Y (2010) Highly near-infrared photoluminescence from azaborondipyrromethene-based conjugated polymers. J Polym Sci, Part A Polym Chem 48:5348–5356
- Tokoro Y, Nagai A, Chujo Y (2010) Synthesis of highly luminescent organoboron polymers connected by bifunctional 8-aminoquinolate. J Polym Sci, Part A Polym Chem 48:3693–3701

- Nishihara Y, Ando J, Kato T, Mori A (2000) A novel cross-coupling polycondensation of alkynylsilanes with aryl triflates catalyzed by CuCl/Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub>. Macromolecules 33: 2779–2781
- 87. Mori A, Kondo T, Kato T, Nishihara Y (2001) Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling polycondensation of bisalkynes with dihaloarenes activated by tetrabutylammonium hydroxide or silver(I) oxide. Chem Lett, 286–287
- Babudri F, Colangiuli D, Di Lorenzo PA, Farinola GM, Omar OH, Naso F (2003) Synthesis of poly(aryleneethynylene)s bearing glucose unit as substituent. Chem Commun, 130–131
- atayama H, Nagao M, Moriguchi R, Ozawa F (2003) Stereocontrolled synthesis of (*E*)- and (*Z*)-poly(*p*-phenylenevinylene)s via ruthenium-catalyzed hydrosilylation of *p*-diethynylbenzene. J Organomet Chem 676:49–54
- Katayama H, Nagao M, Ozawa F, Ikegami M, Arai T (2006) Stereoselective synthesis of *cis*and *trans*-oligo(phenylenevinylene)s via palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions. J Org Chem 71:2699–2705
- Wakioka M, Ikegami M, Ozawa F (2010) Stereocontrolled synthesis and photoisomerization behavior of all-cis and all-trans poly(m-phenylenevinylene)s. Macromolecules 43:6980–6985
- Prukata W, Pawluć P, Posala K, Marciniec B (2008) A new stereoselective approach to (*E*)-poly(arylenevinylene)s. Synlett, 41–44

# Part III Recent Advances in Cross-Coupling Reactions

# Chapter 7 Recent Advances in Cross-Coupling Reactions with Aryl Chlorides, Tosylates, and Mesylates

Shintaro Noyori and Yasushi Nishihara

**Abstract** In the past 10 years, the cross-coupling reactions of the relatively unreactive electrophilic aryl chlorides, -tosylates, and -mesylates have been extensively investigated. Strategies to promote oxidative addition toward inert chemical bonds have included the use of bulky, electron-rich ligands.

Keywords Aryl chlorides • Aryl tosylates • Aryl mesylates • Activation of unactivated bonds

# 7.1 Introduction

The palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of organometallic reagents with aryl halides are widely used in the field of synthetic organic chemistry. These reactions are very important for creating novel functional materials and bioactive substances [1, 2]. Although numerous cross-coupling reactions have achieved the formation of carbon–carbon bonds via the cleavage of the comparatively weak bonds of aryl iodides, bromides, and triflates ( $C(sp^2)$ -I, -Br, and -OTf), the synthetic success of the cross-coupling reactions cleaving the more inert bonds such as aryl chlorides, tosylates, and mesylates ( $C(sp^2)$ -Cl, OTs, and OMs) has lagged behind [3, 4]. In regard to the reaction mechanism, one of the reasons why the latter substrates have not been utilized in cross-couplings is that oxidative addition of aryl chlorides, tosylates, and mesylates to the palladium center does not readily

S. Noyori · Y. Nishihara (🖂)

Division of Earth, Life, and Molecular Sciences, Graduate School of Natural Science and Technology, Okayama University, 3-1-1 Tsushimanaka, Kita-ku, Okayama 700-8530, Japan

e-mail: ynishiha@okayama-u.ac.jp

occur under standard conditions. However, around 2000 it began to be reported that the appropriate combination of certain ligands with the transition metal catalysts enables cross-coupling reactions of aryl chlorides, tosylates, and mesylates as coupling partners [5–7]. This chapter outlines the examples of the Ni and Pdcatalyzed cross-coupling reactions of the relatively inactive aryl electrophiles reported in recent years, as shown in Eq. 7.1.

## 7.2 Kumada–Tamao–Corriu Coupling

In 1984, Tamao and Kumada synthesized the coupled product **1** by using 2,6chloropyridine and two different heteroaryl Grignard reagents as coupling partners under palladium catalysis (Scheme 7.1) [8].



Scheme 7.1 Kumada-Tamao-Corriu coupling of 2,6-chloropyridine with two different heteroaryl Grignard reagents

Later, Umeno and Katayama succeeded in the first cross-coupling reactions of alkyl Grignard reagents with aryl chlorides, rather than heteroaryl chlorides. The reactions of dichloroarenes with alkyl Grignard reagents afforded the corresponding monoalkylated products 2. The double alkylated products were formed, but only in very small amounts (Eq. 7.2) [9].



In 1999, Nolan et al. reported that Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling reactions, catalyzed by the palladium complexes having the *N*-heterocyclic carbene (NHC) ligands, took place across aryl chlorides bearing electron-donating groups to afford the
corresponding biaryls 3 (Eq. 7.3) [10]. However, they also reported that the reaction of a bulky 2,6-dimethylphenyl chloride with 2,4,6-trimethylphenyl Grignard reagents did not generate a corresponding product at all due to the steric hindrance.



In addition, in 2007 Organ et al. reported that a wide variety of the substrates could be applied to Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling reactions with various heteroaryl and aryl chlorides [11]. Recently, Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling reactions of aryl chlorides using nickel catalysts, rather than palladium, have been reported [12, 13]. Along that trend, Chen revealed that the nickel complexes **4**, ligated by a tetradentate ligand for the Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling reactions, showed a high catalytic activity to generate the desired cross-coupled products **5** (Eq. 7.4) [14, 15].



Endeavors to perform Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling reactions with aryl tosylates have been underway in recent years. For instance, Kumada–Tamao–Corriu couplings of electron-deficient aryl tosylates with arylmagnesium reagents were demonstrated by the research group of Leitner in 2002 [16]. Later, Hartwig et al. reported coupling reactions with the aryl tosylates having various substituents in 2005 (Eq. 7.5) [17, 18]. Using palladium catalysts ligated by the bidentate ligand **6**, they clarified the mechanism details of these reactions by elucidating stoichiometric reactions of the palladium complexes.



In 2006, Althammer et al. succeeded in Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling reactions of aryl tosylates under palladium catalysis by using the air-stable phosphonate ligands [19]. It is postulated that an equilibrium (shown in Scheme 7.2) exists for the phosphonate 7, and the active species can be stabilized through a hydrogen bond in the reaction system [20].



Scheme 7.2 Kumada-Tamao-Corriu coupling of aryl tosylates using the air-stable phosphonate ligands

Knochel et al. have accomplished the cobalt(II)-catalyzed Kumada–Tamao– Corriu coupling reactions of aryl tosylates [21] and heteroaryl tosylates [22] with directing groups, achieving the in situ generation of arylcuprates from aryl bromides, Grignard reagents, and copper(I) cyanide.

#### 7.3 Negishi Coupling

Negishi coupling reactions of organozinc compounds with aryl chlorides have been actively researched as well. In the 1980s, the studies started with the reactions of a variety of activated heteroaryl chlorides such as pyridines [23].

#### 7 Recent Advances in Cross-Coupling Reactions

In 1994, Bracher and Hildebrand achieved the synthesis of nitramarine (8) by Negishi coupling of heteroaryl chlorides (Eq. 7.6) [24]. Negishi coupling of heteroaryl chlorides is a viable tool in various natural product syntheses to construct an array of carbon–carbon bonds (see Chap. 3).



Negishi coupling reactions of the activated aryl chlorides bearing electronwithdrawing substituents was reported by Miller and Farrell in 1998 (Eq. 7.7) [25]. They accomplished Negishi coupling reactions of aryl chlorides substituted by cyano and ester groups catalyzed by palladium and nickel as the catalysts, giving rise to the corresponding biaryls **9**.



Dai and Fu explored Negishi couplings of electron-rich aryl chlorides with aryland alkylzinc reagents by using an electron-donating and bulky tri-*tert*-butylphosphine as the ligand under the palladium catalysis, giving rise to the corresponding biaryls and alkylated arenes **10** (Eq. 7.8) [26].



The analogous Negishi coupling reactions were found to take place, not only with the palladium catalysts [27–29], but also with the nickel catalysts [30]. For instance, Wang synthesized the NHC-ligated nickel complex **11** and applied this to Negishi coupling reactions with a variety of aryl chlorides [31, 32]. Recently, it was also reported that Negishi coupling of more inert aryl chlorides were smoothly accelerated under mild conditions by the palladium complex **12** bearing the NHC ligand (Fig. 7.1) [33, 34].



Fig. 7.1 Active catalysts for Negishi coupling reactions of various aryl chlorides

In contrast to the large number of Negishi coupling reactions of arylzinc reagents and aryl chlorides reported, in 2009 Buchwald succeeded in Negishi coupling reactions of secondary alkylzinc compounds and a variety of aryl chlorides by using CPhos as the ligand of the palladium catalyst (Eq. 7.9) [35].



#### 7.4 Migita–Kosugi–Stille Coupling

In 1998, Li et al. achieved the vinylation reactions of chloropyridine with the organotin compounds in the presence of the palladium catalyst; this was the key reaction in the synthesis of 3-AP (3-aminopyridine-2-carboxaldehyde thiosemicarbazonea) **13**, the ribonucleotide reductase inhibitor (Scheme 7.3) [36].



Scheme 7.3 Vinylation reactions of chloropyridine by Migita-Kosugi-Stille coupling

In 2001, Grasa and Nolan succeeded in the synthesis of the corresponding biaryls by the Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling reactions of aryl chlorides bearing electronpoor substituents with aryltin compounds, using the palladium catalysis ligated by NHC. However, a decrease in yield was observed in the coupling reactions with aryl chlorides having the electron-donating substituents (Eq. 7.10) [37].

$$R - CI + Bu_{3}Sn - Ph \xrightarrow{\text{THF/dioxane}} 100 \,^{\circ}C, \, 1-48 \, h \\ 15-91\% \qquad R = COMe \, 91\% \, (1 \, h) \\ R = OMe \, 34\% \, (48 \, h) \quad (7.10)$$

In 1999, Fu and Littke succeeded in the Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling of aryl chlorides bearing electronic-rich substituents under palladium catalysis by using an electron-donating and bulky tri-*tert*-butylphosphine as the ligand. In addition, it was disclosed that not only aryltin compounds but also alkenyltin and alkyltin compounds could be used as the substrates (Eq. 7.11) [38, 39].



In 2004 Verkade et al. reported active catalyst systems to accelerate the coupling reactions of more inert aryl chlorides [40]. The electronic density on the phosphorus atom of the proazaphosphatrane ligands 14-17 (as shown in Eq. 7.12) is rather large because: (1) the three nitrogen atoms around the phosphorus atom share the same plane with phosphorus, and (2) the phosphorus atom has an interaction with the unpaired electron of the nitrogen atom at the bridgehead. As a result, the palladium catalysts having this ligand generally show high catalytic activity toward inert aryl chlorides.

Pd<sub>2</sub>(dba)<sub>3</sub> (1.5 mol%) ligand 14-17 (3-6 mol%) CsF R<sup>1</sup>-Cl Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn-R<sup>2</sup>  $R^1-R^2$ dioxane 60-110 °C, 24-48 h  $R^1 = aryl$ , heteroaryl R<sup>2</sup> = aryl, heteroaryl 67-99% vinyl, allyl **14**:  $R^1$ ,  $R^2$ ,  $R^3 = {}^{i}Bu$ **15**:  $B^1$ ,  $B^2 = {}^{i}Bu$ ,  $B^3 = Bn$ **16**:  $R^1$ ,  $R^2 = Bn$ ,  $R^3 = {}^{i}Bu$ , **17**:  $R^1$ ,  $R^2$ ,  $R^3 = Bn$ (7.12)

Although the use of palladium as a catalyst is frequent in the cross-coupling reactions of aryl chlorides [41-43], in 2006 Zhang reported that copper(I) oxide can catalyze the coupling reactions of aryl chlorides and aryltin compounds through the assistance of appropriate activators (Eq. 7.13) [44].

$$\begin{array}{c} Cu_{2}O(10 \text{ mol}\%) \\ P(o\text{-tolyl})_{3}(20 \text{ mol}\%) \\ R^{1} \longrightarrow Cl + Bu_{3}Sn - R^{2} & KF, TBAB \\ R^{1} = H, 4\text{-NO}_{2}, 4\text{-OMe} & R^{2} = Ph, \text{vinyl}, \\ 4\text{-COMe}, 3,5\text{-Me}_{2}, & phenylethynyl & 90\text{-}92\% \\ (R^{1} = OMe : 10\%) \end{array}$$

# 7.5 Suzuki-Miyaura Coupling

In the 1980s, Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of aryl chlorides with organoboron compounds were reported for the first time by Terashima (Eq. 7.14) [45]. In this reaction, the desired bipyridine was obtained from 2-chloropyridine as a coupling partner by using  $Pd(PPh_3)_4$  as the catalyst.



Through the use of palladium with triarylphosphine ligands, the cross-coupling reactions of a variety of heteroaromatic chlorides were achieved. In the 1990s, it began to be reported that the cross-coupling reactions of arylboronic acids with aryl chlorides afforded the target biaryls utilizing a substrate bearing electron-withdrawing groups, such as nitro, cyano, and acetyl groups, in the presence of the palladium catalysts ligated with arylphosphines [46]. Moreover, reactions using the catalysts with high turnover numbers (TONs) were reported (Eq. 7.15) [47]



Pioneering research in this field was reported in 1998. Fu accomplished the cross-coupling of electron-rich aryl chlorides utilizing a bulky alkylated phosphine ligand (Eq. 7.16, condition A) [48]. Meanwhile, Buchwald succeeded in obtaining the cross-coupled products in high yields from unactivated aryl chlorides by using the phosphine ligand **18**, consisting of a biaryl backbone (Eq. 7.16, condition B) [49–52].



Since the initial discovery, a large number of researchers have created a myriad of these catalysts for effective Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of aryl chlorides (Fig. 7.2). In recent years, copious examples of the Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions accomplished with highly electron-donating, bulky phosphorus-containing ligands [53–60], the biaryl-type phosphine ligands [61–63], and the NHC (*N*-hetrocyclic carbene) ligands [64–67] of the palladium catalysts have been reported [53, 54, 63, 68].



Fig. 7.2 Various palladium catalysts effective for Suzuki-Miyaura couplings of aryl chlorides

Enhancements such as milder reaction conditions have also been attained; for instance, the room-temperature reactions of highly active catalysts have been developed. In 2004, the NHC ligands with a powerful ability to accelerate Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions toward the bulky and electron-rich substrates were synthesized (Eq. 7.17) [69]. In these reactions, even if both the aryl chlorides and the arylboronic acids were sterically congested, the corresponding biaryl compounds were obtained in high yields.



In 2005, Buchwald similarly reported that the Suzuki–Miyaura couplings occured for the bulky substrates in water by introducing sodium sulphonate into the aryl group of the biaryl-type ligands [70]. It was reported that other ligands involving polymers such as the silica gel, tetraethylene glycol, and polystyrenes also showed a high performance [58, 71–74]. In the reactions reported by Tsuji, the TEG-containing ligand **19** captures the metal catalysts, generating coordinatively unsaturated catalyst species (Fig. 7.3). The formed active catalysts accelerate oxidative addition of the carbon-chlorine bond, leading to the smooth cross-coupling reactions of the electron-rich aryl chlorides [75–78].



Fig. 7.3 Active ligand containing the TEG moieties

In addition to the aforementioned active catalysts, recently recyclable heterogeneous catalysts were synthesized for use in Suzuki–Miyaura couplings [79]. This new type of catalyst consists of nano particles of iron oxide ( $Fe_3O_4$ ) on silica gel; the film-supported catalysts have been used for the Suzuki–Miyaura couplings. The catalysts were found to be easily separable from the reaction mixtures with a magnet after completion of the reactions, and they can be recycled many times. Moreover, the catalysts can be applicable to Sonogashira–Hagiwara as well as Migita–Kosugi–Stille couplings under slightly modified reaction conditions. Although arylboronic acids have been widely utilized as coupling partners in the Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of aryl chlorides, in 2004 Buchwald reported coupling reactions utilizing potassium aryltrifluoroborates [80]. Furthermore, Molander reported Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of aryl chlorides with alkoxymethyltrifluoroborates (Eq. 7.18) [81] and with cyclopropyl- and cyclobutyltrifluoroborates (Scheme 7.4) [82].



Scheme 7.4 Suzuki-Miyaura coupling of aryl chlorides with cyclopropyl- and cyclobutyltrifluoroborates

Colobert reported the NHC-ligated-palladium-catalyzed Suzuki–Miyaura crosscoupling reactions of aryl chlorides with lithium alkynylborates as coupling partners to give the corresponding internal ethynes (Eq. 7.19) [83].







In 2010, Dreher synthesized the corresponding biaryls **20** from the subsequent Suzuki–Miyaura cross-coupling reactions of tetrahydroxydiborane with two different aryl chlorides in one pot (Scheme 7.5) [84].

In this reaction, it is thought that solubility and reactivity are enhanced by using ethanol as the solvent. The equilibrium between tetrahydroxydiborane (21) and ethanol creates a variety of ethyl ethers to generate dipinacolboron-like species, as shown in Scheme 7.6.

HO OH 
$$\xrightarrow{\text{EtOH}}$$
 HO OEt  $\xrightarrow{\text{EtOH}}$   $\xrightarrow{\text{EtO}}$   $\xrightarrow{\text{B-B}}$   
HO OH  $\xrightarrow{\text{H}_2\text{O}}$  HO OH  $\xrightarrow{\text{H}_2\text{O}}$   $\xrightarrow{\text{H}_2\text{O}}$   $\xrightarrow{\text{H}_2\text{O}}$   $\xrightarrow{\text{EtO}}$   $\xrightarrow{\text{EtO}}$   $\xrightarrow{\text{OEt}}$   $\xrightarrow{\text{OEt}}$   $\xrightarrow{\text{OEt}}$   $\xrightarrow{\text{B-B}}$ 

Scheme 7.6 The equilibrium between tetrahydroxydiborane (21) and tetraethoxydiborane

On the other hand, Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of aryl mesylates bearing electron-withdrawing groups, catalyzed by nickel, were reported for the first time by the research group of Hill in 1995 [85]. Moreover, in 1996 Kobayashi et al. similarly reported the Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of aryl tosylates and mesylates with phenylboronic acid in the presence of the nickel catalysts (Eq. 7.20) [86]. Unfortunately, the substrate scope was found to be very narrow, and the reaction only took place with aryl tosylates and mesylates that have electron-withdrawing substituents.

$$MeOC \longrightarrow X + (HO)_2B-Ph \xrightarrow{X} THF \\ 67 °C, 24 h \\ X = OTs, 40\% \\ X = OMs, 51\%$$

$$(7.20)$$

After 2000, Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of aryl tosylates with arylboronic acids bearing various substituents were reported by Monteiro using the alkylphosphine ligands under nickel catalysis [87]. In 2002 Boggess reported the coupling reactions of heteroaryl tosylates with arylboronic acids by using the sterically bulky phosphine ligand, XPhos (see, Scheme 7.4), in the presence of the palladium catalysts [88]. In 2004 Buchwald et al. reported Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of various aryl tosylates, which greatly contributed to the expansion of the substrate scope (Eq. 7.21) [89].

$$Ar^{1}-OTs + (HO)_{2}B-Ar^{2} \xrightarrow{Pd(OAc)_{2} (2-3 \text{ mol}\%)} Ar^{1}-Ar^{2}$$

$$THF \text{ or } {}^{t}BuOH Ar^{1}-Ar^{2}$$

$$80 \ {}^{\circ}C$$

$$84-92\%$$

$$(7.21)$$

With these nickel catalysts in hand, coupling reactions of a series of aryl mesylates were reported [90]. The analogous coupling reactions with aryl tosylates were attained at room temperature by Hu et al. (Eq. 7.22) [91]. As the result of the precedent works, a large number of reactions were reported using similar ligands [92–95]. Later, improvements of amounts and ease of handling of the catalysts were achieved to realize more coupling reactions [96–99].

Ar<sup>1</sup>-OTs + (HO)<sub>2</sub>B-Ar<sup>2</sup> 
$$\xrightarrow{K_3PO_4}$$
 Ar<sup>1</sup>-Ar<sup>2</sup> (7.22)  
 $K_1 = M_2 = M_1 = M_2$  Ar<sup>1</sup>-Ar<sup>2</sup> (7.22)

Furthermore, it has been reported that the preparation of the corresponding arylboronic acids from aryl halides, followed by the coupling reactions with aryl tosylates or mesylates can obtain the target biaryl compounds **22** (Scheme 7.7) [100].



Scheme 7.7 Suzuki-Miyaura coupling with aryl tosylates or mesylates

#### 7.6 Hiyama Coupling

In 1975 Matsumoto et al. were the first to succeed in the trimethylsilylation of aryl chlorides bearing a nitro group with hexamethyldisilane (Eq. 7.23) [101]. They also proved that the carbon–carbon bonds are easily formed by cleavage of the carbon-chlorine bond in the 2-position, analogous to the reactions with 2,5-di-chloronitorobenzene as the coupling partner [102].

$$\bigvee_{-CI}^{NO_2} + Me_3Si-SiMe_3 \xrightarrow{Pd(PPh_3)_4 (0.5 \text{ mol}\%)}_{toluene} \xrightarrow{NO_2}_{-SiMe_3} (7.23)$$

Since the latter half of the 1990s, many researchers have reported coupling reactions for a variety of aryl compounds bearing the silicon functional groups [103–106]. Hatanaka and Hiyama expanded the substrate scope in 1996, reporting the coupling reactions of aryl chlorides bearing various electron-withdrawing groups with arylsilicon compounds (Eq. 7.24) [107].



In addition, Hiyama et al. also reported coupling reactions with alkenylsilicon compounds (Eq. 7.25). The reactivity of alkenylchlorosilanes was found to be strongly influenced by the structure of the silyl groups; the cross-coupling reaction of (E)-1-octenylchlorosilanes bearing a SiCl<sub>3</sub> group was the fastest. It should be noted that these coupling reactions proceeded with the retention of the double bond geometry of the alkenylchlorosilanes.



Very recently, Verkade et al. synthesized the new phosphine ligand **23**, with a high electron-donating ability, which was found to smoothly undergo the reactions of various substituted aryl chlorides (Eq. 7.26) [108]. With this catalyst system in hand, the corresponding biaryls were obtained with the electron-rich aryl chlorides.



One of many examples of Hiyama coupling, the reaction of aryl tosylates, has been reported by Wu in 2008 (Eq. 7.27) [109]. Subsequently, the extended coupling reactions with aryl mesylates were reported by the same research group [110]. In 2009 Kwong et al. succeeded in more efficient reactions by using the indole-type ligands under the palladium catalysis [111].

Only one example of a nickel version of coupling reactions of aryl tosylates was reported; Hiyama et al. very recently accomplished this by using the mixed system of two different phosphine ligands (Eq. 7.28) [112]. Importantly, an aryl mesylate also participated in the coupling reaction to give the biaryl.



#### 7.7 Sonogashira–Hagihara Coupling

The Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling reactions of aryl chlorides with terminal alkynes were ardently researched by many chemists in the latter half of the 1980s. More recently, the Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling reactions of aryl chlorides bearing the electron-withdrawing groups have gradually been investigated (Scheme 7.8) [113, 114]. The coupling reaction of 4-chloro-3-cyanopyridine with phenylethyne gave 4-(phenylethynyl)pyridine, which smoothly underwent the intramolecular cyclization under acidic conditions to afford 3-pheynl-1*H*-pyrano[3,4-c]pyridin-1-one (**24**).



Scheme 7.8 Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling with aryl chlorides

Meanwhile, Lanza et al. synthesized the corresponding arylethynes from aryl chlorides having a nitro group in the 2-position. They further demonstrated the synthesis of an indole **25** bearing a substituent in the 6-position by four steps (Scheme 7.9) [115].



Scheme 7.9 Synthesis of arylethynes from aryl chlorides having a nitro group in the 2-position

Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling reactions with aryl chlorides that bear various substituents have been manifestly reported since 2000. For instance, in 2003 Plenio reported Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling of the unactivated aryl chlorides without copper (I) salts as a co-catalyst (Eq. 7.29) [116].

$$R^{1} \longrightarrow CI + R^{2} \xrightarrow{R^{2} = {}^{n}C_{6}H_{13}, \\ 4-CF_{3}} K^{2} \xrightarrow{R^{2} = {}^{n}C_{6}H_{13}, \\ K^{2} = {}^{n}C_{6}H_{13}, \\ K^{2$$

In the same year, Buchwald reported that Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling reactions of a variety of aryl chlorides smoothly proceeded in the presence of the palladium catalysts ligated by XPhos (see Scheme 7.4) (Eq. 7.30) [117]. This reaction overcame the prior limitations of substrates. In the past, coupling reactions of aryl chlorides bearing electron-rich substituents at the ortho position had not taken place easily.



In 2007, Hua et al. reported the reactions of aryl chlorides affording the symmetrical diarylethynes in one pot (Eq. 7.31) [118]. In this reaction, the same aryl groups can be introduced to both ends of the ethyne by using 1,1-

dimethylpropargylalcohol as a substrate. Although most of the reactions reported thus far have employed the palladium catalysts [119–125], Prajapati reported the Sonogashira–Hagihara reactions catalyzed by indium(III) in 2005 [126].



In 2008 the unsymmetrical diarylethynes were synthesized directly by activating the silicon–carbon bond of trimethylsilylethyne derivatives with copper(I) chloride, rather than using the terminal alkynes as the substrates in the classical Sonogashira–Hagihara couplings (Eq. 7.32) [127].



In 2003, for the first time, Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling reactions with aryl tosylates were reported by Buchwald (Eq. 7.33) [128]. In these reactions, slow addition of the alkynes is essential to form the desired products in high yields.

PdCl<sub>2</sub>(CH<sub>3</sub>CN)<sub>2</sub> (5 mol%) XPhos (15 mol%) Cs<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> -R Ar-OTs + Ar-(7.33)C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>5</sub>CN reflux, 10 h  $Ar = 4 - CN - C_6H_4$  $R = C_6 H_{13}$ , Ph, 62-78% 3-CF<sub>3</sub>-C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>4</sub>, 1-cyclohexene 3,5-(CO<sub>2</sub>Me)<sub>2</sub>-C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>4</sub>

Recently Kwong has reported Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling reactions with aryl mesylates by using the indole-containing phosphine ligand **26** (Fig. 7.4, left) under palladium catalysis [129]. Furthermore, the coupling reactions of aryl mesylates and -tosylates have been attained more efficiently by using ligand **27** (Fig. 7.4, right) [130].



# 7.8 Summary

In this chapter, examples of the cross-coupling reactions with aryl chlorides, mesylates, and -tosylates reported in recent years have been introduced. One can expect to utilize these reactions further for innovative syntheses of natural products and of functional materials with new physical properties. Moreover, in the future, not only the carbon–chlorine bond but also more inert bonds will likely be selectively activated. As a result, the development of new types of cross-coupling reactions that can precisely introduce the desired substituents at the desired position may be achieved.

# References

- 1. Diederich F, Stang PJ (1998) Metal-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions. Wiley, New York
- 2. Tsuji J (1995) Palladium reagents and catalysts, innovations in organic synthesis. Wiley, New York
- 3. Brandsma L, Vasilevsky SF, Verkruijsse HD (1998) Application of transition metal catalysts in organic synthesis, vol 150. Springer, New York, pp 228–229
- 4. Geissler H (1998) Transition metals for organic synthesis, vol 1. In: Beller M, Bolm C (eds). Wiley, New York
- Grushin VV, Alper H (1999) Activation of unreactive bonds and organic synthesis. In: Murai S (ed) Topics in organometallic chemistry. Springer, Berlin
- 6. Herrmann WA (2002) Applied homogeneous catalysis with organometallic compounds, vol 1 In: Cornils B, Herrmann WA (eds) A comprehensive handbook. Wiley, Weinheim
- 7. Fu GC, Littke AF (2002) Palladium-catalyzed coupling reactions of aryl chlorides. Angew Chem Int Ed 41:4176–4211
- Minato A, Suzuki K, Tamao K, Kumada M (1984) Mixed heteroarene oligomers. J Chem Soc Chem Commun, 511–513
- 9. Katayama T, Umeno M (1991) Selective mono-alkylation and arylation of dichlorobenzenes by palladium-catalyzed Grignard cross-coupling. Chem Lett, 2073–2076
- Huang J, Nolan SP (1999) Efficient cross-coupling of aryl chlorides with aryl Grignard reagents (Kumada reaction) mediated by a palladium/imidazolium chloride system. J Am Chem Soc 121:9889–9890
- Organ MG, Abdel-Hadi M, Avola S, Hadei N, Nasielski J, O'Brien CJ, Valente C (2007) Biaryls made easy: PEPPSI and the Kumada–Tamao–Corriu reaction. Chem Eur J 13:150–157
- 12. Zhang C, Wang Z (2009) *N*-heterocyclic carbene-based nickel complexes: synthesis and catalysis in cross-couplings of aryl chlorides with ArMX (M = Mg or Zn). Organometallics 28:6507–6514

- Ghosh R, Sarkar A (2010) Bidentate P, N–P ligand for nickel-catalyzed cross-coupling of aryl or benzyl chlorides with ArMgX. J Org Chem 75:8283–8286
- Xi Z, Liu B, Chen W (2008) Room-temperature Kumada cross-coupling of unactivated aryl chlorides catalyzed by N-heterocyclic carbene-based nickel(II) complexes. J Org Chem 73:3954–3957
- 15. Liu A, Zhang X, Chen W (2009) New pincer CC'C complexes of nickel(II) via chloronickelation of alkyne-bearing *N*-heterocyclic carbenes. Organometallics 28:4868–4871
- 16. Fürstner A, Leitner A (2002) Iron-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of alkyl-Grignard reagents with aryl chlorides, tosylates, and triflates. Angew Chem Int Ed 41:609–612
- Roy AH, Hartwig JF (2003) Oxidative addition of aryl tosylates to palladium(0) and coupling of unactivated aryl tosylates at room temperature. J Am Chem Soc 125:8704–8705
- Limmert ME, Roy AH, Hartwig JF (2005) Kumada coupling of aryl and vinyl tosylates under mild conditions. J Org Chem 70:9364–9370
- Ackermann L, Althammer A (2006) Air-stable PinP(O)H as preligand for palladiumcatalyzed Kumada couplings of unactivated tosylates. Org Lett 8:3457–3460
- Ackermann L, Kapdi AR, Fenner S, Kornhaaß C, Schulzke C (2011) Well-defined air-stable palladium HASPO complexes for efficient Kumada–Corriu cross-couplings of (hetero)aryl or alkenyl tosylates. Chem Eur J 17:2965–2971
- Korn TJ, Schade MA, Wirth S, Knochel P (2006) Cobalt(II)-catalyzed cross-coupling between polyfunctional arylcopper reagents and aryl fluorides or tosylates. Org Lett 8:725–728
- 22. Korn TJ, Schade MA, Cheemala MN, Wirth S, Guevara SA, Cahiez G, Knochel P (2006) Cobalt-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of heterocyclic chlorides with arylmagnesium halides and of polyfunctionalized arylcopper reagents with aryl bromides, chlorides, fluorides and tosylates. Synthesis, 3547–3574
- 23. Amat M, Hadida S, Pshenichnyi G, Bosch J (1997) Palladium(0)-catalyzed heteroarylation of 2- and 3-indolylzinc derivatives. An efficient general method for the preparation of (2pyridyl)indoles and their application to indole alkaloid synthesis. J Org Chem 62:3158–3175
- 24. Bracher F, Hildebrand D (1994) 1,9-dimetalated  $\beta$ -carbolines. Versatile building blocks for the total synthesis of alkaloids. Tetrahedron 50:12329–12336
- Miller JA, Farrell RP (1998) Synthesis of functionally substituted unsymmetrical biaryls via a novel double metal catalyzed coupling reaction. Tetrahedron Lett 39:7275–7278
- 26. Dai C, Fu GC (2001) The first general method for palladium-catalyzed Negishi crosscoupling of aryl and vinyl chlorides: use of commercially available Pd(P(t-Bu)<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub> as a catalyst. J Am Chem Soc 123:2719–2724
- Palladium catalyzed coupling reaction: Li GY (2002) Highly active, air-stable palladium catalysts for the C–C and C–S bond-forming reactions of vinyl and aryl chlorides: use of commercially available [(t-Bu)<sub>2</sub>P(OH)]<sub>2</sub>PdCl<sub>2</sub>, [(t-Bu)<sub>2</sub>P(OH)PdCl<sub>2</sub>]<sub>2</sub>, and [[(t-Bu)<sub>2</sub>PO···H···OP(t-Bu)<sub>2</sub>]PdCl]<sub>2</sub> as catalysts. J Org Chem 67:3643–3650
- Walla P, Kappe CO (2004) Microwave-assisted Negishi and Kumada cross-coupling reactions of aryl chlorides. Chem Commun, 564–565
- Luzung MR, Patel JS, Yin J (2010) A mild Negishi cross-coupling of 2-heterocyclic organozinc reagents and aryl chlorides. J Org Chem 75:8330–8332
- Wang L, Wang Z (2007) Efficient cross-coupling of aryl chlorides with arylzinc reagents catalyzed by amido pincer complexes of nickel. Org Lett 9:4335–4338
- Xi Z, Zhou Y, Chen W (2008) Efficient Negishi coupling reactions of aryl chlorides catalyzed by binuclear and mononuclear nickel-*N*-heterocyclic carbene complexes. J Org Chem 73:8497–8501
- Liu N, Wang L, Wang Z (2011) Room-temperature nickel-catalysed cross-couplings of aryl chlorides with arylzincs. Chem Commun, 1598–1600

- 33. Zhang C, Wang Z (2009) N-heterocyclic carbene-based nickel complexes: synthesis and catalysis in cross-couplings of aryl chlorides with ArMX (M = Mg or Zn). Organometallics 28:6507–6514
- 34. Çalimsiz S, Sayah M, Mallik D, Organ MG (2010) Pd-PEPPSI-IPent: low-temperature Negishi cross-coupling for the preparation of highly functionalized, tetra-ortho-substituted biaryls. Angew Chem Int Ed 49:2014–2017
- Han C, Buchwald SL (2009) Negishi coupling of secondary alkylzinc halides with aryl bromides and chlorides. J Am Chem Soc 131:7532–7533
- 36. Li J, Chen S, Li X, Niu C, Doyle TW (1998) Efficient synthesis of ribonucleotide reductase inhibitors 3-aminopyridine-2-carboxaldehyde thiosemicarbazone (3-AP) and 3-amino-4methylpyridine-2-carboxaldehyde thiosemicarbazone (3-AMP) via palladium mediated cross-coupling reactions. Tetrahedron 54:393–400
- 37. Grasa GA, Nolan SP (2001) Palladium/imidazolium salt catalyzed coupling of aryl halides with hypervalent organostannates. Org Lett 3:119–122
- Littke AF, Fu GC (1999) The first general method for Stille cross-couplings of aryl chlorides. Angew Chem Int Ed 38:2411–2413
- 39. Littke AF, Schwarz L, Fu GC (2002) Pd/P(t-Bu)<sub>3</sub>: a mild and general catalyst for Stille reactions of aryl chlorides and aryl bromides. J Am Chem Soc 124:6343–6348
- 40. Su W, Urgaonkar S, McLaughlin PA, Verkade JG (2004) Highly active palladium catalysts supported by bulky proazaphosphatrane ligands for Stille cross-coupling: coupling of aryl and vinyl chlorides, room temperature coupling of aryl bromides, coupling of aryl triflates, and synthesis of sterically hindered biaryls. J Am Chem Soc 126:16433–16439
- Mee SPH, Lee V, Baldwin JE (2005) Significant enhancement of the Stille reaction with a new combination of reagents—copper(I) iodide with cesium fluoride. Chem Eur J 11:3294–3308
- 42. Coelho AV, Souza ALF, Lima PG, Wardell JL, Antunes OAC (2008) Stille cross-coupling reaction using Pd/BaSO<sub>4</sub> as catalyst reservoir Appl Organomet Chem 22:39–42
- Naber JR, Buchwald SL (2008) Palladium-catalyzed Stille cross-coupling reaction of aryl chlorides using a pre-milled palladium acetate and XPhos catalyst system. Adv Synth Catal 350:957–961
- 44. Li J, Tang B, Tao L, Xie Y, Liang Y, Zhang M (2006) Reusable copper-catalyzed crosscoupling reactions of aryl halides with organotins in inexpensive ionic liquids. J Org Chem 71:7488–7490
- Ishikura M, Kamada M, Terashima M (1984) An efficient synthesis of 3-heteroarylpyridines via diethyl-(3-pyridyl)-borane. Synthesis, 936–938
- 46. Shen W (1997) Palladium catalyzed coupling of aryl chlorides with arylboronic acids. Tetrahedron Lett 38:5575–5578
- Feuerstein M, Doucet H, Santelli M (2001) Palladium catalysed cross-coupling of aryl chlorides with arylboronic acids in the presence of a new tetraphosphine ligand. Synlett, 1458–1460
- Littke AF, Fu GC (1998) A convenient and general method for Pd-catalyzed Suzuki crosscouplings of aryl chlorides and arylboronic acids. Angew Chem Int Ed 37:3387–3388
- 49. Wolfe JP, Buchwald SL (1999) A highly active catalyst for the room-temperature amination and Suzuki coupling of aryl chlorides. Angew Chem Int Ed 38:2413–2416
- Wolfe JP, Singer RA, Yang BH, Buchwald SL (1999) Highly active palladium catalysts for Suzuki coupling reactions. J Am Chem Soc 121:9550–9561
- Yin J, Buchwald SL (2000) A catalytic asymmetric Suzuki coupling for the synthesis of axially chiral biaryl compounds. J Am Chem Soc 122:12051–12052
- 52. Lakshman MK, Hilmer JH, Martin JQ, Keeler JC, Dinh YQV, Ngassa FN, Russon LM (2001) Palladium catalysis for the synthesis of hydrophobic C-6 and C-2 aryl 2'-deoxynucleosides. Comparison of C–C versus C–N bond formation as well as C-6 versus C-2 reactivity. J Am Chem Soc 123:7779–7787

- 53. Fleckenstein CA, Plenio H (2008) Efficient Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of (hetero)aryl chlorides with thiophene- and furanboronic acids in aqueous n-butanol. J Org Chem 73:3236–3244
- 54. Hoshi T, Nakazawa T, Saitoh I, Mori A, Suzuki T, Sakai J, Hagiwara H (2008) Biphenylene-substituted ruthenocenylphosphine for Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of aryl chlorides. Org Lett 10:2063–2066
- Jackson J, Xia A (2009) Novel bulky pyrazolylphosphine ligands for the Suzuki coupling of aryl chlorides. Tetrahedron Lett 50:7217–7219
- 56. So CM, Yeung CC, Lau CP, Kwong FY (2008) A new family of tunable indolylphosphine ligands by one-pot assembly and their applications in Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of aryl chlorides. J Org Chem 73:7803–7806
- Blug M, Guibert C, Goff X-FL, Mézailles N, Floch PL (2009) 1-Phosphabarrelene complexes of palladium and their use in Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions. Chem Commun, 201–203
- 58. Yang DX, Colletti SL, Wu K, Song M, Li GY, Shen HC (2009) Palladium-catalyzed Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of pyridyl-2-boronic esters with aryl halides using highly active and air-stable phosphine chloride and oxide ligands. Org Lett 11:381–384
- 59. Lü B, Fu C, Ma S (2010) Application of a readily available and air stable monophosphine HBF<sub>4</sub> salt for the Suzuki coupling reaction of aryl or 1-alkenyl chlorides. Tetrahedron Lett 51:1284–1286
- Bobadilla MVE, Teuma E, Bultob AMM, Gomez M (2011) New bicyclic phosphorous ligands: synthesis, structure and catalytic applications in ionic liquids. Tetrahedron 67:421–428
- So CM, Lau CP, Kwong FY (2007) Easily accessible and highly tunable indolyl phosphine ligands for Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of aryl chlorides. Org Lett 9:2795–2798
- 62. So CM, Chow WK, Choy PY, Lau CP, Kwong FY (2010) Remarkably effective phosphanes simply with a PPh<sub>2</sub> moiety: application to Pd-catalysed cross-coupling reactions for tetraortho-substituted biaryl syntheses. Chem Eur J 16:7996–8001
- 63. Molander GA, Shin I, Jean-Gérard L (2010) Palladium-catalyzed Suzuki–Miyaura crosscoupling reactions of enantiomerically enriched potassium β-trifluoroboratoamides with various aryl- and hetaryl chlorides. Org Lett 12:4384–4387
- 64. Brendgen T, Frank M, Schatz J (2006) The Suzuki coupling of aryl chlorides in aqueous media catalyzed by in situ generated calix[4]arene-based *N*-heterocyclic carbene ligands. Eur J Org Chem, 2378–2383
- Fleckenstein C, Roy S, Leuthäußer S, Plenio H (2007) Sulfonated N-heterocyclic carbenes for Suzuki coupling in water. Chem Commun, 2870–2872
- 66. Diebolt O, Braunstein P, Nolan SP, Cazin CSJ (2008) Room-temperature activation of aryl chlorides in Suzuki–Miyaura coupling using a  $[Pd(\mu-Cl)Cl(NHC)]_2$  complex (NHC = *N*-heterocyclic carbene). Chem Commun, 3190–3192
- Karimi B, Akhavan PF (2009) Main-chain NHC-palladium polymer as a recyclable selfsupported catalyst in the Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of aryl chlorides in water. Chem Commun, 3750–3752
- Jackson J, Xia A (2009) Novel bulky pyrazolylphosphine ligands for the Suzuki coupling of aryl chlorides. Tetrahedron Lett 50:7217–7219
- Altenhoff G, Goddard R, Lehmann CW, Glorius F (2004) Sterically demanding, bioxazoline-derived *N*-heterocyclic carbene ligands with restricted flexibility for catalysis. J Am Chem Soc 126:15195–15201
- 70. Anderson KW, Buchwald SL (2005) General catalysts for the Suzuki-Miyaura and Sonogashira coupling reactions of aryl chlorides and for the coupling of challenging substrate combinations in water. Angew Chem Int Ed 44:6173–6177
- 71. Sayah R, Glegoła K, Framery E, Dufaud V (2007) Suzuki–Miyaura reactions of aryl chloride derivatives with arylboronic acids using mesoporous silica-supported aryldicyclohexylphosphine. Adv Synth Catal 349:373–381

- 72. Schweizer S, Becht JM, Drian CL (2007) Highly efficient and reusable supported Pd catalysts for Suzuki–Miyaura reactions of aryl chlorides. Org Lett 9:3777–3780
- 73. Fujihara T, Yoshida S, Terao J, Tsuji Y (2009) A triarylphosphine ligand bearing dodeca(ethylene glycol) chains: enhanced efficiency in the palladium-catalyzed Suzuki– Miyaura coupling reaction. Org Lett 11:2121–2124
- 74. Schweizer S, Becht JM, Drian CL (2010) Highly efficient reusable polymer-supported Pd catalysts of general use for the Suzuki reaction. Tetrahedron 66:765–772
- 75. Niyomura O, Tokunaga M, Obora Y, Iwasawa T, Tsuji Y (2003) Rate enhancement with a bowl-shaped phosphane in the rhodium-catalyzed hydrosilylation of ketones. Angew Chem Int Ed 42:1287–1289
- 76. Niyomura O, Iwasawa T, Sawada N, Tokunaga M, Obora Y, Tsuji Y (2005) A bowl-shaped phosphine as a ligand in rhodium-catalyzed hydrosilylation: rate enhancement by a mono(phosphine) rhodium species. Organometallics 24:3468–3475
- 77. Iwasawa T, Komano T, Tajima A, Tokunaga M, Obora Y, Fujihara T, Tsuji Y (2006) Phosphines having a 2,3,4,5-tetraphenylphenyl moiety: effective ligands in palladiumcatalyzed transformations of aryl chlorides. Organometallics 25:4665–4669
- 78. Ohta H, Tokunaga M, Obora Y, Iwai T, Iwasawa T, Fujihara T, Tsuji Y (2007) A bowlshaped phosphine as a ligand in palladium-catalyzed Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of aryl chlorides: effect of the depth of the bowl. Org Lett 9:89–92
- 79. Jin MJ, Lee DH (2010) A practical heterogeneous catalyst for the Suzuki, Sonogashira, and Stille coupling reactions of unreactive aryl chlorides. Angew Chem Int Ed 49:1119–1122
- Barder TE, Buchwald SL (2004) Efficient catalyst for the Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of potassium aryl trifluoroborates with aryl chlorides. Org Lett 6:2649–2652
- 81. Molander GA, Canturk B (2008) Preparation of potassium alkoxymethyltrifluoroborates and their cross-coupling with aryl chlorides. Org Lett 10:2135–2138
- Molander GA, Gormisky PE (2008) Cross-coupling of cyclopropyl- and cyclobutyltrifluoroborates with aryl and heteroaryl chlorides. J Org Chem 73:7481–7485
- Torres GH, Choppin S, Colobert F (2006) Efficient Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions between lithium alkynyltrimethylborates and aryl chlorides. Eur J Org Chem, 1450–1454
- Molander GA, Trice SLJ, Dreher SD (2010) Palladium-catalyzed, direct boronic acid synthesis from aryl chlorides: a simplified route to diverse boronate ester derivatives. J Am Chem Soc 132:17701–17703
- 85. Percec V, Bae J-Y, Hill DH (1995) Aryl mesylates in metal catalyzed homocoupling and cross-coupling reactions. 2. Suzuki-type nickel-catalyzed cross-coupling of aryl arenesulfonates and aryl mesylates with arylboronic acids. J Org Chem 60:1060–1065
- Kobayashi Y, Mizojiri R (1996) Nickel-catalyzed coupling reaction of lithium organoborates and aryl mesylates possessing an electron withdrawing group. Tetrahedron Lett 37:8531–8534
- Zim D, Lando VR, Dupont J, Monteiro AL (2001) NiCl<sub>2</sub>(PCy<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>: a simple and efficient catalyst precursor for the Suzuki cross-coupling of aryl tosylates and arylboronic acids. Org Lett 3:3049–3051
- Lakshman MK Thomson PF, Nuqui MA, Hilmer JH, Sevova N, Boggess B (2002) Facile Pd-catalyzed cross-coupling of 2'-deoxyguanosine O<sup>6</sup>-arylsulfonates with arylboronic acids, Org Lett 4:1479–1482
- Nguyen HN, Huang X, Buchwald SL (2003) The first general palladium catalyst for the Suzuki–Miyaura and carbonyl enolate coupling of aryl arenesulfonates. J Am Chem Soc 125:11818–11819
- Percec V, Golding GM, Smidrkal J, Weichold O (2004) NiCl<sub>2</sub>(dppe)-catalyzed crosscoupling of aryl mesylates, arenesulfonates, and halides with arylboronic acids. J Org Chem 69:3447–3452
- 91. Tang Z, Hu Q (2004) Room-temperature Ni(0)-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of aryl arenesulfonates with arylboronic acids. J Am Chem Soc 126:3058–3059
- 92. Zhang L, Meng T, Wu J (2007) Palladium-catalyzed Suzuki–Miyaura cross-couplings of aryl tosylates with potassium aryltrifluoroborates. J Org Chem 72:9346–9349

- 7 Recent Advances in Cross-Coupling Reactions
  - So CM, Lau CP, Chan ASC, Kwong FY (2008) Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of aryl tosylates catalyzed by an array of indolyl phosphine–palladium catalysts. J Org Chem 73:7731–7734
  - 94. Bhayana B, Fors BP, Buchwald SL (2009) A versatile catalyst system for Suzuki–Miyaura cross-coupling reactions of C(sp<sup>2</sup>)-tosylates and mesylates. Org Lett 11:3954–3957
  - 95. Chow WK, So CM, Lau CP, Kwong FY (2011) Palladium-catalyzed borylation of aryl mesylates and tosylates and their applications in one-pot sequential Suzuki–Miyaura biaryl synthesis. Chem Eur J 17:6913–6917
  - Kuroda J, Inamoto K, Hiroya K, Doi T (2009) N-heterocyclic carbene derived nickel-pincer complexes: efficient and applicable catalysts for Suzuki-Miyaura coupling reactions of aryl/ alkenyl tosylates and mesylates. Eur J Org Chem, 2251–2261
  - 97. Tu T, Mao H, Herbert C, Xu M, Dötz KH (2010) A pyridine-bridged bisbenzimidazolylidene pincer nickel(II) complex: synthesis and practical catalytic application towards Suzuki–Miyaura coupling with less-activated electrophiles. Chem Commun, 7796–7798
  - 98. Gao H, Li Y, Zhou Y, Han FS, Lin Y (2011) Highly efficient Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of aryl tosylates and mesylates catalyzed by stable, cost-effective [1,3bis(diphenylphosphino)propane]nickel(II) chloride [Ni(dppp)Cl<sub>2</sub>] with only 1 mol% loading. Adv Synth Catal 353:309–314
- 99. Xing C, Lee J, Tang Z, Zheng J, Hu Q (2011) Room temperature nickel(II) complexes [(4-MeOC<sub>6</sub>H<sub>4</sub>)Ni(PCy<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>OTs and Ni(PCy<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>X<sub>2</sub>]-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of aryl/ alkenyl sulfonates with arylboronic acids. Adv Synth Catal 353:2051–2059
- 100. Wilson DA, Wilson CJ, Rosen BM, Percec V (2008) Two-step, one-pot Ni-catalyzed neopentylglycolborylation and complementary Pd/Ni-catalyzed cross-coupling with aryl halides, mesylates, and tosylates. Org Lett 10:4879–4882
- 101. Matsumoto H, Nagashima S, Yoshihiro K, Nagai Y (1975) Silicon–carbon bond formation by the reaction of disilanes with halobenzenes in the presence of tetrakis(triphenylphosphine)palladium(0). J Organomet Chem 85:C1–C3
- 102. Matsumoto H, Shono K, Nagai Y (1981) The reaction of hexamethyldisilane with dihalonitrobenzenes in the presence of tetrakis(triphenylphosphine)palladium(0). Synthesis of bis(trimethylsilyl)nitrobenzenes and (trimethylsilyl)chloronitrobenzenes. J Organomet Chem 208:145–152
- 103. Hagiwara E, Gouda K, Hatanaka Y, Hiyama T (1997) NaOH-promoted cross-coupling reactions of organosilicon compounds with organic halides: practical routes to biaryls, alkenylarenes and conjugated dienes. Tetrahedron Lett 38:439–442
- 104. Mowery ME, DeShong P (1999) Improvements in cross coupling reactions of hypervalent siloxane derivatives. Org Lett 1:2137–2140
- 105. Lee HM, Nolan SP (2000) Efficient cross-coupling reactions of aryl chlorides and bromides with phenyl- or vinyltrimethoxysilane mediated by a palladium/imidazolium chloride system. Org Lett 2:2053–2055
- 106. Ju J, Nam H, Jung HM, Lee S (2006) Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling of trimethoxysilylbenzene with aryl bromides and chlorides using phosphite ligands. Tetrahedron Lett 47:8673–8678
- 107. Gouda K, Hagiwara E, Hatanaka Y, Hiyama T (1996) Cross-coupling reactions of aryl chlorides with organochlorosilanes: highly effective methods for arylation or alkenylation of aryl chlorides. J Org Chem 61:7232–7233
- 108. Raders SM, Kingston JV, Verkade JG (2010) Advantageous use of <sup>t</sup>Bu<sub>2</sub>P-N=P(<sup>i</sup>BuNCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>)<sub>3</sub>N in the Hiyama coupling of aryl bromides and chlorides. J Org Chem 75:1744–1747
- 109. Zhang L, Wu J (2008) Palladium-catalyzed Hiyama cross-couplings of aryl arenesulfonates with arylsilanes. J Am Chem Soc 130:12250–12251
- 110. Zhang L, Qing J, Yang P, Wu J (2008) Palladium-catalyzed Hiyama cross-coupling reactions of aryl mesylates. Org Lett 10:4971–4974
- 111. So CM, Lee HW, Lau CP, Kwong FY (2009) Palladium-indolylphosphine-catalyzed Hiyama cross-coupling of aryl mesylates. Org Lett 11:317–320

- 112. Tang S, Takeda M, Nakao Y, Hiyama T (2011) Nickel-catalysed cross-coupling reaction aryl(trialkyl)silanes with aryl chlorides and tosylates. Chem Commun, 307–309
- 113. Sakamoto T, An-naka M, Kondo Y, Araki T, Yamanaka H (1988) Condensed heteroaromatic ring systems. XV.: synthesis of pyranopyridinones from halopyridinecarbonitriles. Chem Pharm Bull 36:1890–1894
- 114. Sakamoto T, Kondo Y, Yamanaka H (1986) Condensed heteroaromatic ring systems. VI.: synthesis of indoles and pyrrolopyridines from o-nitroarylacetylenes. Chem Pharm Bull 34:2362–2368
- 115. Tischler AN, Lanza TJ (1986) 6-Substituted indoles from o-halonitrobenzenes. Tetrahedron Lett 27:1653–1656
- 116. Köllhofer AK, Pullmann T, Plenio H (2003) A versatile catalyst for the Sonogashira coupling of aryl chlorides. Angew Chem Int Ed 42:1056-1058
- 117. Gelman D, Buchwald SL (2003) Efficient palladium-catalyzed coupling of aryl chlorides and tosylates with terminal alkynes: use of a copper cocatalyst inhibits the reaction. Angew Chem Int Ed 42:5993–5996
- 118. Yi C, Hua R, Zeng H, Huang Q (2007) Palladium-catalyzed efficient and one-pot synthesis of diarylacetylenes from the reaction of aryl chlorides with 2-methyl-3-butyn-2-ol. Adv Synth Catal 349:1738–1742
- 119. Hierso JC, Fihri A, Amardeil R, Meunier P (2004) Catalytic efficiency of a new tridentate ferrocenyl phosphine auxiliary: Sonogashira cross-coupling reactions of alkynes with aryl bromides and chlorides at low catalyst loadings of 10<sup>-1</sup> to 10<sup>-4</sup> mol%. Org Lett 6:3473–3476
- 120. Liang Y, Xie Y, Li J (2006) Modified palladium-catalyzed Sonogashira cross-coupling reactions under copper-, amine-, and solvent-free conditions. J Org Chem 71:379–381
- 121. Yi C, Hua R (2006) Efficient copper-free PdCl<sub>2</sub>(PCy<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>-catalyzed Sonogashira coupling of aryl chlorides with terminal alkynes. J Org Chem 71:2535–2537
- 122. Huang H, Liu H, Jiang H, Chen K (2008) Rapid and efficient Pd-catalyzed Sonogashira coupling of aryl chlorides. J Org Chem 73:6037–6040
- 123. Komáromi A, Novák Z (2008) Efficient copper-free Sonogashira coupling of aryl chlorides with palladium on charcoal. Chem Commun, 4968–4970
- 124. Lee DH, Lee YH, Harrowfield JM, Lee IM, Lee HI, Lim WT, Kim Y, Jin MJ (2009) Phosphine-free Sonogashira coupling: reactions of aryl halides catalysed by palladium(II) complexes of azetidine-derived polyamines under mild conditions. Tetrahedron 65:1630–1634
- 125. Mphahlele MJ (2010) Regioselective alkynylation of 2-aryl-4-chloro-3-iodoquinolines and subsequent arylation or amination of the 2-aryl-3-(alkynyl)-4-chloroquinolines. Tetrahedron 66:8261–8266
- 126. Borah HN, Prajapati D, Boruah RC (2005) A novel indium-catalyzed Sonogashira coupling reaction, effected in the absence of a copper salt, phosphine ligand and palladium. Synlett, 2823–2825
- 127. Nishihara Y, Inoue E, Okada Y, Takagi K (2008) Sila-Sonogashira cross-coupling reactions of activated aryl chlorides with alkynylsilanes. Synlett, 3041–3045
- 128. Gelman D, Buchwald SL (2003) Efficient palladium-catalyzed coupling of aryl chlorides and tosylates with terminal alkynes: use of a copper cocatalyst inhibits the reaction. Angew Chem Int Ed 42:5993–5996
- 129. Choy PY, Chow WK, So CM, Lau CP, Kwong FY (2010) Palladium-catalyzed Sonogashira coupling of aryl mesylates and tosylates. Chem Eur J 16:9982–9985
- 130. R'kyek O, Halland N, Lindenschmidt A, Alonso J, Lindemann P, Urmann M, Nazaré M (2010) A general palladium-catalyzed Sonogashira coupling of aryl and heteroaryl tosylates. Chem Eur J 16:9986–9989

# Chapter 8 Recent Advances in Cross-Coupling Reactions with Alkyl Halides

Arisa Yamamoto, Yugo Nishimura and Yasushi Nishihara

Abstract The alkyl electrophiles with  $\beta$ -hydrogens have been scarcely employed in the transition-metal-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions until recently. This is due to their low electrophilicity and the facile occurrence of  $\beta$ -hydrogen elimination under standard conditions. However, in recent years, the alkyl electrophiles have received a marked increase in attention; numerous synthetic examples using the alkyl electrophiles as coupling partners have been reported. This chapter classifies the recently reported cross-coupling reactions of these alkyl electrophiles, grouping the reactions by organometallic reagent. Introductions to representative synthetic examples are given.

**Keywords** Alkyl electrophiles · Alkyl metal species ·  $\beta$ -hydrogen elimination · Bulky and electron-rich ligands · *N*-heterocyclic carbene (NHC) ligands · Asymmetric synthesis

# 8.1 Introduction

The development of various types of new reactions that form carbon–carbon bonds with high efficiency and selectivity is one of the most important goals in modern synthetic organic chemistry. As described in previous chapters, the catalytic cross-coupling reactions excel in regio- and stereoselectivities. They also enjoy a wide coverage of substrates; therefore, they have been recognized as powerful methods for carbon–carbon bond construction. Furthermore, as described in Chap. 7,

A. Yamamoto · Y. Nishimura · Y. Nishihara (🖂)

Division of Earth, Life, and Molecular Sciences, Graduate School of Natural Science and Technology, Okayama University, 3-1-1 Tsushimanaka, Kita-ku, Okayama, 700-8530, Japan

e-mail: ynishiha@okayama-u.ac.jp

various inert carbon electrophiles such as organic chlorides, as well as mesylates and tosylates converted from a hydroxyl group, have become available as coupling partners in this catalyst system.

However, these cross-couplings have not been able to utilize unreactive electrophiles for the construction of any hybridized carbon–carbon bonds. Thus, the commonly used carbon electrophiles had to have  $\pi$ -electrons, e.g., aryl, alkenyl (sp<sup>2</sup>), or alkynyl (sp) carbons. As described in Chap. 2, the nickel- and palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions proceed according to the catalytic cycle, including: oxidative addition, transmetalation, and reductive elimination. Among these steps, oxidative addition easily occurs because the carbon electrophile's  $\pi$ -electrons can coordinate to the metal centers to generate the  $\pi$ -complex 1, which undergoes oxidative addition to form complex 2 (Scheme 8.1). Therefore, when the substrates with an sp<sup>2</sup> or an sp-hybridized reaction site are used as carbon electrophiles, the cross-coupling reactions occur under much milder conditions.



Scheme 8.1 Oxidative addition of aryl halides through the generation of the  $\pi$ -complex 1

In sharp contrast to the molecules bearing  $\pi$ -bonds, the alkyl electrophiles bearing the  $\beta$ -hydrogens have scarcely been used as carbon electrophiles in the catalytic cross-coupling reactions. The main reasons for the poor success of cross-coupling reactions of the alkyl halides are as follows: (1) the saturated carbon electrophiles have no  $\pi$ -electron that can coordinate to the metal center and (2) the weak electronic attraction of the sp<sup>3</sup> hybridized carbons at a carbon–halogen bond results in slow oxidative addition. Furthermore, when the alkyl electrophiles have  $\beta$ -hydrogens, the d orbital of the transition metals and the C–H  $\sigma$ -bond have an electronic interaction;  $\beta$ -hydrogen elimination in the alkyl complexes occurs smoothly to give the hydrido complexes **3** along with olefins derived from oxidative addition (Eq. 8.1).

Therefore, before the desired cross-coupled products are formed, the thermodynamically favored, rapid  $\beta$ -hydrogen elimination competitively proceeds after either oxidative addition (path A) or transmetalation (path B), generating olefin byproducts (Scheme 8.2). Although a large amount of research has been elucidated for the widely applicable and reliable cross-coupling reactions of aryl and alkenyl electrophiles, development of the cross-coupling reactions of the alkyl electrophiles as synthetic methods was thus forsaken for a long time.



Scheme 8.2 Catalytic cycles involving alkyl electrophiles

However, in the late 1990s, growing concern over this undeveloped field in the catalytic cross-coupling reactions of alkyl electrophiles prompted examination and advancement from the viewpoints of development of new ligands and the use of unprecedented transition-metal catalysts. Gradually, new cross-coupling reactions including the alkyl groups as coupling partners were reported, by retarding  $\beta$ -hydrogen elimination. This chapter presents the cross-coupling reactions of the alkyl electrophiles, focusing on representative examples found after 2000.

#### 8.2 Kumada-Tamao-Corriu Coupling

The first Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling of alkyl halides was the reaction with Grignard reagents catalyzed by silver, reported by Kochi and Tamura in the early 1970s [1–3]. Although a few similar reactions catalyzed by transition metals such as copper and nickel had been reported over the ensuing 20 years, chemical yields of the products were unsatisfactory [4, 5].

After many years of effort, in 1986 Castle and Widdowson finally reported that the desired cross-coupled products could be obtained from the reactions of primary and secondary alkyl iodides with alkyl magnesium bromides in high yields, in the presence of  $PdCl_2(dppf)$  [6]. In 1998 Koten and Cahiez reported Kumada–Tamao–Corriu cross-couplings of primary, secondary, and tertiary alkyl Grignard reagents with *n*-alkyl bromides caused by a paramagnetic manganese (II) catalyst **4** bearing a tridentate ligand and CuCl as a co-catalyst (Eq. 8.2) [7].



In addition, in 2000 Cahiez reported the cross-coupling reactions of alkyl halides with alkyl or aryl magnesium reagents by using the copper catalysts (Eq. 8.3) [8]. When alkyl magnesium compounds were used as nucleophiles in this reaction, *N*-methylpyrrolidone (NMP) solvent promoted the reaction; on the contrary, when the aryl magnesium reagents were employed, NMP suppressed the reaction progress. Unfortunately, secondary and tertiary alkyl halides and a series of alkyl chlorides were found not to be applicable to this reaction.

$$R_{alkyl} - X + XMg - R \xrightarrow{\text{Li}_2\text{CuCl}_4 (3 \text{ mol}\%)}{\text{NMP (4 equiv)}} R_{alkyl} - R \qquad (8.3)$$

$$R = alkyl, aryl \qquad 56-92\%$$

Terao and Kambe reported in 2002 the nickel-catalyzed Kumada-Tamao-Corriu coupling reactions of alkyl Grignard reagents with alkyl chlorides or bromides (Eq. 8.4) [9]. This reaction protocol also enabled the application to alkyl tosylates. A small catalyst loading with the assistance of 1,3-butadiene as the ligand gave the corresponding cross-coupled products in good to excellent yields.

$$\begin{array}{rl} \text{NiCl}_2 \ (1-3 \ \text{mol}\%) \\ \text{R}_{alkyl} - X &+ \ \text{BrMg} - \text{R}_{alkyl} & \xrightarrow{1,3-\text{butadiene} \ (10-100 \ \text{mol}\%)} \\ \text{THF, 0-25 °C, 0.5-20 h} & \text{R}_{alkyl} - \text{R}_{alkyl} & (8.4) \\ \text{X = Cl, Br, OTs} & 56-100\% \end{array}$$

Moreover, Terao and Kambe showed that the 1,3-butadiene ligand stabilized the active species and promoted reductive elimination. The proposed reaction mechanisms are shown in Scheme 8.3. First, NiCl<sub>2</sub> is reduced by R<sup>1</sup>MgX, and then two molar equivalents of 1,3-butadiene react with the generated Ni(0) species to form the bis( $\pi$ -allyl)nickel complex **5**. This complex **5**, which is inert toward oxidative addition of the alkyl halides, selectively reacts with Grignard reagents to afford the nickelate complex **6**. The subsequent oxidative addition of alkyl halides and reductive elimination give the desired cross-coupled products. In addition, in 2003 Terao and Kambe also reported the cross-coupling reactions of alkyl



Scheme 8.3 Ni-catalyzed alkyl-alkyl coupling by using 1,3-butadiene ligand

tosylates or bromides with alkyl magnesium reagents, accelerated by the combination of the palladium catalyst with the 1,3-butadiene ligands [10].

Very recently, several examples of Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling reactions catalyzed by nickel have been reported using  $Cp*CH_2PPh_2$  ( $Cp* = C_5Me_5$ ) as the ligand (Eq. 8.5) [11]. Also, the pincer-type tridentate amido ligands of the nickel (II) complex 7 have been recently described (Eq. 8.6) [12].



An example with palladium catalysis (involving the palladium(II) acetate-tricyclohexylphosphine catalyst system) was reported by Beller in 2002 utilizing the alkyl-aryl-type Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling reactions (Eq. 8.7) [13].

$$R_{alkyl}-Cl + BrMg-R_{aryl} \xrightarrow{Pd(OAc)_2 (4 mol\%)} R_{alkyl}-R_{aryl} \xrightarrow{(8.7)}$$

In addition, Beller reported for the first time in 2003 the analogous Kumada– Tamao–Corriu coupling reactions using the palladium naphthoquinone catalysts **8** ligated with *N*-heterocyclic carbene (NHC) ligands (Eq. 8.8) [14].



Recently, much attention has been paid to the development of the cross-coupling reactions catalyzed by the less expensive, ubiquitous transition-metal catalysts rather than nickel and palladium as the catalysts. Since the report by Kochi in 1971 of iron(III) chloride-catalyzed Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling [15], satisfying results using the iron catalysts had not been obtained for decades. But, Fürstner found in 2002 that acetylacetonato iron could be an effective catalyst for the Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling of aryl chlorides with alkyl magnesium reagents [16].

After this pioneering work, a great deal of research on the Kumada–Tamao– Corriu coupling promoted by the iron catalysts has led to utilization of this chemistry by many other researchers in the recent years [17–24]. Representative synthetic examples of such are shown in Scheme 8.4.

In addition to the iron catalysts, cobalt and vanadium complexes were found by Oshima to be highly effective for catalysis of the alkyl-aryl Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling of the alkyl electrophiles with aryl magnesium reagents (Scheme 8.5) [25–27].

As described herein, it seems that the catalysts for Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling reactions of the alkyl electrophiles are no longer limited to palladium and nickel. In the iron-catalyzed reactions the anionic iron complex is postulated to be the active species, while in the reactions catalyzed by cobalt and vanadium a radical mechanism has been proposed. Therefore, these catalytic cycles might proceed in different manners from the established palladium and nickel-catalyzed cross-couplings. However, the aryl nucleophiles applicable to the cobalt- and vanadium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions are limited to Grignard reagents, significantly limiting the types of coupled products due to poor functional group tolerance. It is noteworthy that the catalytic activities were found to be superior to palladium and nickel in some of the reaction systems mediated by cobalt and vanadium.



Scheme 8.4 Fe-catalyzed Kumada-Tamao-Corriu coupling of alkyl electrophiles

# 8.3 Negishi Coupling

Tucker and Knochel reported the first account of Negishi coupling using alkyl halides in 1993; this work dealt with the reactions of alkyl iodides and dialkyl zinc reagents, mediated by a stoichiometric amount of [Cu(CN)Me<sub>2</sub>(MgCl<sub>2</sub>)] [28]. Two

$$R_{alkyl} = X + BrMg = R_{aryl}$$

$$X = I, Br$$

$$R_{alkyl} = Br + BrMg = R_{aryl}$$

$$R_{alkyl} = Br + BrMg = R_{aryl}$$

$$R_{alkyl} = R_{aryl} = \frac{CoCl_{2} (10 \text{ mol}\%)}{CoCl_{2} (10 \text{ mol}\%)}$$

$$R_{alkyl} = R_{aryl} = \frac{CoCl_{2} (10 \text{ mol}\%)}{THF, -15 \text{ °C}, 30 \text{ min}}$$

$$R_{alkyl} = R_{aryl} = \frac{VCl_{3} (10 \text{ mol}\%)}{THF, 25 \text{ °C}, 1 \text{ h}}$$

$$R_{alkyl} = R_{aryl} = \frac{VCl_{3} (10 \text{ mol}\%)}{THF, 25 \text{ °C}, 1 \text{ h}}$$

$$R_{alkyl} = R_{aryl} = R_{aryl}$$

Scheme 8.5 Co- and V-catalyzed Kumada-Tamao-Corriu coupling of alkyl electrophiles

years later, using a nickel catalyst, Knochel also reported the alkyl–alkyl Negishi coupling of the alkyl zinc reagents with alkyl iodides functionalized with a double bond in the 4- or 5-positions [29]. However, because severe substrate limitations were observed in these reactions, they were not generally exploited.

Finally, Knochel found in 1998 the more preparative Negishi coupling reactions of alkyl iodides (sans double bonds) with organozinc reagents, by adding styrene additives with an electron-withdrawing trifluoromethyl group, under nickel catalysis (Eqs. 8.9, 8.10) [30–32].

Ni(acac)<sub>2</sub> (10 mol%)

$$R_{alkyl}^{1} - I + (R_{alkyl}^{2})_{2}Zn \xrightarrow{F_{3}C} (0.2-1 \text{ eq}) \qquad (8.9)$$

$$THF/NMP, -35 \ ^{\circ}C, 2.5-12 \text{ h} \qquad R_{alkyl}^{1} - R_{alkyl}^{2} - R_{alkyl}^{2}$$

$$Ni(acac)_{2} (10 \text{ mol}\%)$$

$$F_{3}C \xrightarrow{(1 \text{ eq})} (1 \text{ eq}) \qquad (8.10)$$

$$R_{alkyl}^{1} - I + BrZn - R_{alkyl}^{2} \xrightarrow{F_{3}C} (1 \text{ eq}) \qquad R_{alkyl}^{1} - R_{alkyl}^{2}$$

$$THF/NMP, -15 \ ^{\circ}C, 2-5 \text{ h} \qquad R_{alkyl}^{1} - R_{alkyl}^{2}$$

In 2003, Zhou and Fu reported Negishi coupling reactions with alkyl electrophiles by using a palladium catalyst ligated with tricyclopentylphosphine (Eq. 8.11) [33]. The reaction efficiently took place with unactivated primary alkyl iodides, bromides, chlorides, and even tosylates. In addition, it was clarified that the addition of *N*-methylimidazole (NMI) promoted transmetalation from zinc to palladium and that the product yields were dramatically improved.

$$R_{alkyl} - X + BrZn - R \xrightarrow{Pd_2(dba)_3 (2 \text{ mol}\%)} R_{alkyl} - R \xrightarrow{THF/NMP} R_{alkyl} - R \xrightarrow{R} (8.11)$$

$$X = I, Br, Cl, OTs + 8-98\%$$

$$R = alkyl, aryl, alkenyl + NMI = N-methylimida.zole$$

In addition, Fu has also succeeded in an extension of these reactions to include the cross-coupling reactions of secondary alkyl bromides and iodides (Eq. 8.12) [34]. These newer reactions smoothly proceed at room temperature with the aid of the nickel catalyst bearing the bis(oxazolinyl)pyridine (pybox) ligand **11**.

$$R_{alkyl}^{1} = X + BrZn = R_{alkyl}^{2}$$

$$K_{alkyl}^{1} = X + BrZn = R_{alkyl}^{2}$$

$$M_{alkyl}^{2} = I, Br$$

$$K_{alkyl}^{1} = R_{alkyl}^{2}$$

$$K_{alkyl}^{2} = R_{alkyl}^{2}$$

Recently, Organ further expanded the range of the substrate scope in Negishi coupling reactions of alkyl electrophiles involving alkyl chlorides, mesylates, and tosylates by the palladium complexes (PEPPSI) **12** having *N*-heterocyclic carbene (NHC) and 3-chloropyridine as auxiliary ligands (Eq. 8.13) [35].

$$R_{alkyl} = X + Cl/BrZn = R \xrightarrow{LiCl/Br} R_{alkyl} = R$$

$$X = I, Br, Cl, \\ OTf, OMS, OTS$$

$$R = alkyl, aryl$$

$$K = I, Br, Cl, \\ OTf, OMS, OTS$$

$$R = alkyl, aryl$$

$$R = alkyl, aryl$$

$$R_{alkyl} = R$$

Lipshutz reported reactions of alkyl halides at room temperature in water using the organozinc reagents generated in situ from zinc-diamine complexes and the commercially available amphiphile polyoxyethanyl  $\alpha$ -tocopheryl sebacate (PTS); these reactions were catalyzed by palladium complex **13** having bulky and electron-rich phosphine ligands (Eq. 8.14) [36].



The Negishi coupling reactions of alkyl electrophiles catalyzed by the other transition metals (rather than palladium and nickel) have been recently exploited. For instance, in 2005 Nakamura et al. reported the alkyl-aryl Negishi coupling of primary and secondary alkyl halides with aryl zinc reagents, catalyzed by iron(III) chloride in high to excellent yields (Eq. 8.15) [37].

$$\begin{array}{rl} & \operatorname{FeCl}_{3} (5 \text{ mol}\%) \\ & \operatorname{Falkyl} - X + XZn - R_{aryl} & \xrightarrow{\text{TMEDA}} & R_{alkyl} - R_{aryl} \\ & \xrightarrow{\text{THF, 50 °C, 30min}} & R_{alkyl} - R_{aryl} \end{array} \tag{8.15}$$

Very recently, Takagi et al. found that the rhodium complexes ligated with 3-diphenylphosphino-2-(diphenylphoshino)methyl-2-methylpropyl acetate **14** (a tripodal ligand) showed excellent catalytic activity in the alkyl-aryl Negishi coupling reactions. This provides a facile and useful synthetic method for polyfunctionalized alkylbenzenes (Eq. 8.16) [38].



TMU = N, N, N', N'-tetramethylurea

### 8.4 Migita–Kosugi–Stille Coupling

Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling reactions of alkyl halide electrophiles were reported by Fuchikami in 1996, using PdCl<sub>2</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub> as the catalyst [39]. In these reactions, alkyl iodides substituted with an electron-deficient fluorine atom in the  $\beta$ -position reacted with organotin compounds. However, the yields of the coupled products were not satisfactory and heavy catalyst loading was necessary. Later, research disclosed that electron-rich alkyldimonophosphine ligands (rather than simple trialkylphosphines) are effective, especially for Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling of alkyl electrophiles in the palladium-phosphine catalyst system. In 2001, Fuchikami et al. reported Migita–Kosugi–Stille-type coupling reactions of alkynyl stannanes with alkyl iodides bearing a fluorine atom in the  $\gamma$ - or  $\delta$ -position, catalyzed by Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub>. It has been hypothesized that the oxidative addition of these fluorinated alkyl halides generates an alkyl palladium complex, which is stabilized by an internal coordination of fluorine to the metal center, suppressing the undesired  $\beta$ -hydrogen elimination [40].

Fu reported in 2003 that Migita–Kosugi–Stille coupling reactions of tributyl stannanes with primary alkyl bromides bearing substituents in the  $\omega$ -position smoothly occurred at room temperature by using cyclohexyl di pyrrolidinyl phosphine as the ligand in the presence of tetramethylammonium fluoride as an activator (Eq. 8.17) [41].

In 2006, the palladium-catalyzed methylation of alkenyl stannanes was carried out by incorporating a short-lived <sup>11</sup>C-labeled methyl group into biologically significant methylated alkenes with the aim of synthesizing a positron emission tomography (PET) tracer (Eq. 8.18) [42]

$$Me - I + (nBu)_{3}Sn - R^{1} = akyl, aryl R^{2} = H, alkyl$$

$$P(o-toly)_{3} (200 mol\%) = P(o-toly)_{3} (200 mol\%) = CuCl/K_{2}CO_{3} = Me - R^{1} = R^{2} = R$$

# 8.5 Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling

The first palladium-catalyzed alkyl–alkyl-type coupling reactions of primary alkyl iodides with alkyl boron compounds were reported by Suzuki and Miyaura in 1992 (Eq. 8.19) [43]. These reactions can be catalyzed by  $Pd(PPh_3)_4$ ; 9-BBN (9-borabicyclononane)-containing alkyl boron compounds were employed as the substrates, but only primary alkyl iodides were successfully applicable to this protocol.

$$R_{alkyl} = n \cdot alkyl R = alkyl, alkenyl, aryl R = alkyl R =$$

Subsequently, Charette reported Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions in 1996 of aryl and alkenyl boronic acids with the alkyl electrophile iodo cyclopropane under palladium catalysis (Eq. 8.20) [44]. However, the range of applicable alkyl electrophiles was found to be rather limited.

$$BnO \qquad I + (HO)_{2}B-R \qquad \xrightarrow{Pd(OAc)_{2} (10 \text{ mol}\%)}{PPh_{3} (50 \text{ mol}\%)} BnO \qquad R \qquad (8.20)$$
  
R = alkenyl, aryl 90 °C, 20 h  
20-95%
Since 2000, many innovative alkyl–alkyl Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions have been reported by Fu et al. In 2001, they succeeded in the coupling reactions of primary alkyl bromides with alkyl boron compounds using potassium phosphate as the base and tricyclohexylphosphine as the ligand of a palladium catalyst (Eq. 8.21) [45]. Because of the mild conditions, this reaction has tolerance of a wide variety of substituents, with not only the double and triple bonds, but also the polar functional groups such as esters, nitriles, and amides.

In 2002, Fu discovered that the palladium-catalyzed Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of primary alkyl chlorides with alkyl boron compounds can proceed with cesium hydroxide as the base (Eq. 8.22) [46]. Those reaction conditions are also compatible with a variety of functional groups, including nitriles and amines.

$$R_{alkyl} = n \cdot alkyl = 0 \cdot$$

Subsequently, Fu reported Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of primary alkyl tosylates (Eq. 8.23) [47] and bromides (Eq. 8.24) [48] with alkyl boron reagents, based on the palladium catalyst systems involving the ligand  $P'Bu_2Me$  under various reaction conditions (bases, solvents, etc.); the structures of the alkyl palladium complexes formed by oxidative addition of alkyl bromides to  $Pd(P'Bu_2Me)_2$  were determined by X-ray structural analyses.

$$\begin{array}{rcl} & & & Pd(OAc)_{2} (4 \text{ mo\%}) \\ P^{t}Bu_{2}Me (16 \text{ mol\%}) \\ P^{t}Bu_{2}Me (16 \text{ mol\%}) \\ \hline & & NaOH \\ \hline & & Na$$

Fig. 8.1 A precursor of the NHC ligand 15



In 2004, Caddick and Cloke reported the alkyl–alkyl-type Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of primary alkyl bromides with alkyl boron compounds by using the palladium catalyst with *N*-heterocyclic carbene ligand **15** (Fig. 8.1) [49]. However, yields of the coupled products were below 60% and not satisfactory.

Suzuki–Miyaura couplings of primary alkyl halides with organoboron compounds were successful; whereas until recently, secondary and tertiary alkyl halides had been assumed to be improper substrates for the analogous crosscoupling reactions due to their difficulty of oxidative addition caused by the large steric hindrances [50, 51]. But, Fu has succeeded in Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of inert secondary alkyl iodides and bromides by using nickel (0) complexes with the bathophenanthroline ligand **16** (Eq. 8.25) [52]. Duncton et al. have applied this type of reaction to the cross-coupling reactions of oxetane iodides with azetidine; and they have synthesized the corresponding aromatic azetidines, which are known to be important motifs of the pharmaceuticals [53].



In 2006, Fu enabled the reactions of primary and secondary alkyl bromides (Eq. 8.26) and primary and secondary alkyl chlorides (Eq. 8.27), which were previously reported to be unreactive substrates. Fu catalyzed these reactions via nickel incorporated with the amino alcohol ligands **17** and **18** [54]. In these protocols, an advantageous feature is the use of the air-stable nickel (II) salts as precursors of the nickel catalysts—unlike the highly unstable Ni(cod)<sub>2</sub>.



In addition, Fu succeeded in 2007 in the room temperature Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of primary alkyl iodides and bromides by combining the chiral 1, 2-diamine ligands **19** with the nickel (II) salts (Eq. 8.28) [55]. The mild reaction conditions of these reactions made possible the use of the alkyl boron compounds bearing various functional groups (esters, ethers, carbamic acids, etc.).



Reports have been compiled concerning the stereochemistry in the Suzuki– Miyaura coupling reactions of a series of alkyl halides. In 2007, Rodríguez et al. reported Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of secondary 1-bromoethyl arylsulfoxides with various arylboronic acids using the palladium catalyst (Eq. 8.29) [56]. In this reaction, the conformational inversion of the stereogenic center occurred in a stereo-specific manner.

Later, Fu reported highly enantioselective Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of secondary homobenzylic bromides with alkylboranes by using the chiral diamine ligands **20** (Eq. 8.30) [57]. This reaction is the first example of highly enantioselective Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of the alkyl electrophiles.



Fu has reported the alkyl–alkyl Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of the inert secondary alkyl chlorides—substrates that had been difficult to employ until very recently (Eq. 8.31) [58]. This reaction proceeded at room temperature, using the nickel (II) salts in the catalyst system with the chiral diamine ligands **21**. This reaction can also be applicable to secondary alkyl bromides and primary alkyl chlorides.



#### 8 Recent Advances in Cross-Coupling Reactions with Alkyl Halides

Additionally, Fu succeeded in applying the above-mentioned reactions to enantioselection of the racemic secondary alkyl chlorides, activated by the amide functionalities, with arylboron compounds. The reactions catalyzed by the nickel complex incorporated with the ligand **22** took place under extremely mild reaction conditions at -5 °C and gave optically active alkylamides with up to 94 % (Eq. 8.32) [59].



Subsequently, Fu reported the enantioselective alkyl–alkyl-type Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of inert secondary alkyl chlorides with alkylboron compounds (Eq. 8.33) [60]. In this reaction, the chiral coupled products were synthesized from the racemic acylated halohydrins and alkylboron compounds, yielding high enantioselectivity with the assistance of the nickel catalyst ligated with a chiral diamine ligand **23**.



Very recently, Fu et al. reported the stereoconvergent alkyl-alkyl-type Suzuki– Miyaura coupling reactions of inert secondary alkyl chlorides substituted with amines (Eq. 8.34) [61]. Detailed mechanistic studies indicated that the primary site of coordination of the arylamine substrates to the nickel complex having the diamine ligand **24** was the nitrogen, not the aromatic ring. The kinetics for these asymmetric cross-coupling reactions of unactivated alkyl electrophiles was studied for the first time; the data were consistent with transmetalation being the turnoverlimiting step of the catalytic cycle.



In contrast to their more commonly used nickel catalyst counterparts, the synthetic examples of Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of secondary alkyl electrophile substrates promoted by palladium catalysts are comparatively rare. However, Falck et al. have recently reported the stereo-specific cross-coupling reactions of chiral secondary alkyl-substituted cyanohydrin triflates with the sp<sup>2</sup> hybridized organoboron compounds in the presence of palladium catalyst **25** (Eq. 8.35) [62].



An example of Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of secondary alkyl electrophiles using cheaper transition metals is the iron-catalyzed Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of inert alkyl halides with aromatic pinacolborates, achieved by Nakamura et al. (Eq. 8.36) [63]. Pertinent features of these reactions include the use of the iron catalyst **26** and a magnesium salt as a co-catalyst and the sterically bulky, bidentate phosphine ligands.



The regio- and stereo-selective synthesis of tetra-alkylated olefins has been very recently attained (Eq. 8.37) [64]. The R<sup>2</sup> group was incorporated by Negishi coupling of 1-iodo-1-borylated olefins with primary alkyl bromides through zirconacyclopentene formation (derived from alkynylboronates and the low-valent zirconocene complex). Subsequent Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions of trialkyl-substituted alkenyl boronates afforded the tetra-substituted olefins having four different alkyl groups.



### 8.6 Hiyama Coupling

The synthetic examples of Hiyama coupling reactions of alkyl halides as the coupling partners are comparatively few, but have gradually increased in number in recent years. For instance, in 2003 Fu et al. reported Hiyama coupling reactions of inert primary alkyl halides with aryl silicon compounds, utilizing palladium with the P'Bu<sub>2</sub>Me ligand (Eq. 8.38) [65]. This reaction is based on previously reported Suzuki–Miyaura coupling conditions [45, 48], and is promoted by further

adding  $Bu_4NF$  as an activator to generate highly nucleophilic, hyper-valent siliconcontaining species. As a result, this reaction occurred at room temperature and showed high functional groups tolerance.

In addition, Fu achieved Hiyama coupling of inert secondary alkyl halides with aryltrifluorosilanes by using nickel having the ligand **27** as the catalyst (Eq. 8.39) [66]. This reaction can also be applicable not only to primary alkyl bromides and chlorides but also to the cyclic and non-cyclic secondary alkyl bromides, as well as the cyclic secondary alkyl iodides. It has also been clarified that these reaction conditions can be effective for the analogous Negishi and Suzuki–Miyaura couplings, employing the same types of the substrates.



In 2007, Fu reported Hiyama coupling reactions of secondary alkyl bromides and chlorides with the aromatic silicon compounds, with the aid of the nickel catalyst system, i.e., nickel (II) chloride with the norephedrine ligand **28** (Eq. 8.40) [67]. This reaction was modified with the use of new ligands, based on the previously reported Suzuki–Miyaura coupling conditions [54]. It became clear that this reaction was applicable to secondary alkyl bromides and iodides as well as the activated secondary alkyl chlorides, which had not been successfully used as the substrates prior to this work.

$$R^{1} \rightarrow X + F_{3}Si - R_{aryl} \xrightarrow{\text{NiCl}_{2} \cdot \text{glym (10 mol\%)}} BR^{1} \rightarrow X + F_{3}Si - R_{aryl} \xrightarrow{\text{CsF, LiHMDS, H}_{2}O} \xrightarrow{\text{R1}} R^{1} \rightarrow R_{aryl} \xrightarrow{\text{R2}} R_{aryl} \xrightarrow{\text{R3}} R^{1} \rightarrow R^{2} \xrightarrow{\text{R3}} R^{2} \xrightarrow{\text{R3}} R^{1} \xrightarrow{\text{R3}} R^{2} \xrightarrow{\text{R3}} R^{1} \xrightarrow{\text{R3}} R^{2} \xrightarrow{\text{R3}} \xrightarrow{\text{R3}} R^{2} \xrightarrow{\text{R3}} \xrightarrow{\text{R3}} R^{2} \xrightarrow{\text{R3}} \xrightarrow{\text{R3}} R^{2} \xrightarrow{\text{R3}} \xrightarrow{\text{R3}} \xrightarrow{\text{R3}} R^{2} \xrightarrow{\text{R3}} \xrightarrow{$$

In 2008, Fu et al. reported the nickel-catalyzed asymmetric Hiyama coupling reactions of the racemic secondary  $\alpha$ -bromoesters, employing diamine ligands **29** to give the corresponding chiral secondary esters with high enantioselectivity (Eq. 8.41) [68]. Anhydrated tetrabutylammonium triphenyldifluorosilicate (TBAT), as an activator, was the essential component to accelerate this reaction.



## 8.7 Sonogashira-Hagihara Coupling

In 2003, Fu reported Sonogashira–Hagihara cross-couplings of alkyl bromides and iodides by using a palladium catalyst ligated with *N*-heterocyclic carbene ligands **30** (Eq. 8.42) [69]. It was found that this reaction could be applicable to primary alkyl bromides and iodides even under mild conditions, but the alkyl chlorides were reported to be unsuitable.



In 2006, Glorius et al. reported the first Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling of secondary alkyl bromides using the palladium catalyst bearing the bioxazolinederived *N*-heterocyclic carbene ligands **31** (Eq. 8.43) [70]. This reaction could be extended to the use of primary and secondary alkyl bromides, and the reactive functional groups such as esters and epoxides were compatible with these reactions.



Hu et al. reported in 2009 the nickel-catalyzed Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling reactions of inert alkyl halides by using the nickel complex **32** bearing the pincertype ligands (Eq. 8.44) [71]. In these reactions, a series of alkyl chlorides, bromides, and iodides were used as the substrates. This is the first example for Sonogashira–Hagihara coupling of unactivated alkyl chlorides.



### 8.8 Summary

In this chapter, the recently reported examples of the cross-couplings of the alkyl electrophiles are collectively introduced. The cross-coupling reactions of the alkyl electrophiles have expanded the territory of the stereo-specific reactions toward the asymmetric syntheses. Because these reactions are tremendously useful for the synthesis of complicated organic molecules and the natural products bearing the alkyl chains as functional groups, further development of more efficient and selective reactions is highly anticipated. The further achievement of novel reactions by inexpensive and more active catalysts and the expansion to overcome the limitations of organometallic nucleophiles with reactive functional groups will be important future breakthroughs.

## References

- 1. Kochi JK, Tamura M (1971) Mechanism of the silver-catalyzed reaction of Grignard reagents with alkyl halides. J Am Chem Soc 93:1483–1485
- 2. Kochi JK, Tamura M (1971) Alkylcopper(I) in the coupling of Grignard reagents with alkyl halides. J Am Chem Soc 93:1485–1487
- 3. Tamura M, Kochi JK (1972) Copper-catalyzed coupling of Grignard reagents and alkyl halides in tetrahydrofuran solutions. J Organomet Chem 42:205–228
- Nunomoto S, Kawakami Y, Yamashita Y (1983) Cross-coupling reaction of 2-(1,3butadienyl)magnesium chloride with alkyl or aryl halides by lithium chloride-cupric chloride (Li<sub>2</sub>CuCl<sub>4</sub>), a superior catalyst. J Org Chem 48:1912–1914
- 5. Wright ME, Jin M-J (1990) Bis(pyridyl)-silane and -methanol ligands IV. Catalytic application of nickel(II) complexes in the Kumada cross-coupling reaction. J Organomet Chem 287:373–379

- Castle PL, Widdowson DA (1986) New developments in palladium catalysed cross coupling: the coupling of alkyl iodides with alkyl Grignard reagents. Tetrahedron Lett 27:6013–6016
- Donkervoort JG, Vicario JL, Jastrzebski JTBH, Gossage RA, Cahiez G, van Koten G (1998) Novel tridentate diamino organomanganese(II) complexes as homogeneous catalysts in manganese(II)/copper(I) catalyzed carbon–carbon bond forming reactions. J Organomet Chem 558:61–69
- Cahiez G, Chaboche C, Jezequel M (2000) Cu-catalyzed alkylation of Grignard reagents: a new efficient procedure. Tetrahedron 56:2733–2737
- Terao J, Watanabe H, Ikumi A, Kuniyasu H, Kambe N (2002) Nickel-catalyzed crosscoupling reaction of Grignard reagents with alkyl halides and tosylates: remarkable effect of 1,3-butadienes. J Am Chem Soc 124:4222–4223
- Terao J, Naitoh Y, Kuniyasu H, Kambe N (2003) Pd-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction of alkyl tosylates and bromides with Grignard reagents in the presence of 1,3-butadiene. Chem Lett 32:890–891
- Uemura M, Yorimitsu H, Oshima K (2006) Synthesis of Cp\*CH<sub>2</sub>PPh<sub>2</sub> and its use as a ligand for the nickel-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction of alkyl halides with aryl Grignard reagents. Chem Commun, 4726–4728
- Vechorkin O, Proust V, Hu X (2009) Functional group tolerant Kumada–Corriu–Tamao coupling of nonactivated alkyl halides with aryl and heteroaryl nucleophiles: catalysis by a nickel pincer complex permits the coupling of functionalized Grignard reagents. J Am Chem Soc 131:9756–9766
- Frisch C, Shaikh N, Zapf A, Beller M (2002) Palladium-catalyzed coupling of alkyl chlorides and Grignard reagents. Angew Chem Int Ed 41:4056–4059
- Frisch AC, Rataboul F, Zapf A, Beller M (2003) First Kumada reaction of alkyl chlorides using N-heterocyclic carbene/palladium catalyst systems. J Organomet Chem 687:403–409
- Tamura M, Kochi JK (1971) Vinylation of Grignard reagents. Catalysis by iron. J Am Chem Soc 93:1487–1489
- 16. Fürstner A, Leitner A (2002) Iron-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of alkyl-Grignard reagents with aryl chlorides, tosylates, and triflates. Angew Chem Int Ed 41:609–612
- 17. Martin R, Fürstner A (2004) Cross-coupling of alkyl halides with aryl Grignard reagents catalyzed by a low-valent iron complex. Angew Chem Int Ed 43:3955–3957
- 18. Nagano T, Hayashi T (2004) Iron-catalyzed Grignard cross-coupling with alkyl halides possessing  $\beta$ -hydrogens. Org Lett 6:1297–1299
- Nakamura M, Matsuo K, Ito S, Nakamura E (2004) Iron-catalyzed cross-coupling of primary and secondary alkyl halides with aryl Grignard reagents. J Am Chem Soc 126:3686–3687
- 20. Bedford RB, Bruce DW, Frost RM, Goodby JW, Hird M (2004) Iron(III) salen-type catalysts for the cross-coupling of aryl Grignards with alkyl halides bearing  $\beta$ -hydrogens. Chem Commun, 2822–2823
- 21. Bedford RB, Bruce DW, Frost RM, Hird M (2005) Simple iron-amine catalysts for the crosscoupling of aryl Grignards with alkyl halides bearing  $\beta$ -hydrogens. Chem Commun, 4161–4163
- 22. Bedford RB, Betham M, Bruce DW, Danopoulos AA, Frost RM, Hird M (2006) Ironphosphine, -phosphite, -arsine, and -carbene catalysts for the coupling of primary and secondary alkyl halides with aryl Grignard reagents. J Org Chem 71:1104–1110
- Cahiez G, Habiak V, Duplais C, Moyeux A (2007) Iron-catalyzed alkylations of aromatic Grignard reagents. Angew Chem Int Ed 46:4364–4366
- Chowdhury RR, Crane AK, Fowler C, Kwong P, Kozak CM (2008) Iron(III) aminebis(phenolate) complexes as catalysts for the coupling of alkyl halides with aryl Grignard reagents. Chem Commun, 94–96
- 25. Ohmiya H, Yorimitsu H, Oshima K (2006) Cobalt(diamine)-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction of alkyl halides with aryImagnesium reagents: stereoselective constructions of arylated asymmetric carbons and application to total synthesis of AH13205. J Am Chem Soc 128:1886–1889

- 8 Recent Advances in Cross-Coupling Reactions with Alkyl Halides
- 26. Ohmiya H, Wakabayashi K, Yorimitsu H, Oshima K (2006) Cobalt-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of alkyl halides with aryl Grignard reagents and their application to sequential radical cyclization/cross-coupling reactions. Tetrahedron 62:2207–2213
- Yasuda S, Yorimitsu H, Oshima K (2008) Vanadium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of alkyl halides with aryl Grignard reagents. Bull Chem Soc Jpn 81:287–290
- Tucker CE, Knochel P (1993) Cross-coupling between functionalized alkylcopper reagents and functionalized alkyl halides. J Org Chem 58:4781–4782
- 29. Devasagayaraj A, Stüdemann T, Knochel P (1995) A new nickel-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction between sp<sup>3</sup> carbon centers. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 34:2723–2725
- Giovannini R, Stüdemann T, Dussin G, Knochel P (1998) An efficient nickel-catalyzed crosscoupling between sp<sup>3</sup> carbon centers. Angew Chem Int Ed 37:2387–2390
- Giovannini R, Knochel P (1998) Ni(II)-catalyzed cross-coupling between polyfunctional arylzinc derivatives and primary alkyl iodides. J Am Chem Soc 120:11186–11187
- Giovannini R, Stüdemann T, Devasagayaraj A, Dussin G, Knochel P (1999) New efficient nickel-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction between two Csp<sup>3</sup> centers. J Org Chem 64:3544–3553
- Zhou J, Fu GC (2003) Palladium-catalyzed Negishi cross-coupling reactions of unactivated alkyl iodides, bromides, chlorides, and tosylates. J Am Chem Soc 125:12527–12530
- 34. Zhou J, Fu GC (2003) Cross-couplings of unactivated secondary alkyl halides: roomtemperature nickel-catalyzed Negishi reactions of alkyl bromides and iodides. J Am Chem Soc 125:14726–14727
- 35. Organ MG, Avola S, Dubovyk I, Hadei N, Kantchev EAB, O'Brien CJ, Valente C (2006) A user-friendly, all-purpose Pd-NHC(NHC = N-heterocyclic carbene) precatalyst for the Negishi reaction: a step towards a universal cross-coupling catalyst. Chem Eur J 12:4749–4755
- 36. Krasovskiy A, Duplais C, Lipshutz BH (2009) Zn-mediated, Pd-catalyzed cross-couplings in water at room temperature without prior formation of organozinc reagents. J Am Chem Soc 131:15592–15593
- Nakamura M, Ito S, Matsuo K, Nakamura E (2005) Iron-catalyzed chemoselective crosscoupling of primary and secondary alkyl halides with arylzinc reagents. Synlett, 1794–1798
- 38. Ejiri S, Odo S, Takahashi H, Nishimura Y, Gotoh K, Nishihara Y, Takagi K (2010) Negishi alkyl–aryl cross-coupling catalyzed by Rh: efficiency of novel tripodal 3-diphenylphosphino-2-(diphenylphosphino)methyl-2-methylpropyl acetate ligand. Org Lett 12:1692–1695
- Shimizu R, Fuchikami T (1996) Palladium catalyzed coupling reactions of β-perfluoroalkylsubstituted alkyl halides with organostannanes. Tetrahedron Lett 37:8405–8408
- 40. Shimizu R, Fuchikami T (2001) Effect of fluorine substituents on functionalizations of alkyl halides with organostannanes. Tetrahedron Lett 42:6891–6894
- 41. Tang H, Menzel K, Fu GC (2003) Ligands for palladium-catalyzed cross-couplings of alkyl halides: use of an alkyldiaminophosphane expands the scope of the Stille reaction. Angew Chem Int Ed 42:5079–5082
- 42. Hosoya T, Sumi K, Doi H, Wakao M, Suzuki M (2006) Rapid methylation on carbon frameworks useful for the synthesis of <sup>11</sup>CH<sub>3</sub>-incorporated PET tracers: Pd(0)-mediated rapid coupling of methyliodide with an alkenyltributylstannane leading to a 1-methylalkene. Org Biomol Chem, 410–415
- 43. Ishiyama T, Abe S, Miyaura N, Suzuki A (1992) Palladium-catalyzed alkyl-Alkyl crosscoupling reaction of 9-alkyl-9-BBN derivatives with iodoalkanes possessing  $\beta$ -hydrogens. Chem Lett, 691–694
- 44. Charette AB, Giroux A (1996) Palladium-catalyzed Suzuki-type cross-couplings of iodocyclopropanes with boronic acid: synthesis of trans-1,2-dicycopropyl alkenes. J Org Chem 61:8718–8719
- 45. Netherton MR, Dai C, Neuschütz K, Fu GC (2001) Room-temperature alkyl–alkyl Suzuki cross-coupling of alkyl bromides that possess  $\beta$  hydrogens. J Am Chem Soc 123:10099–10100

- 46. Kirchhoff JH, Dai C, Fu GC (2002) A method for palladium-catalyzed crosscouplings of simple alkyl chlorides: Suzuki reactions catalyzed by [Pd<sub>2</sub>(dba)<sub>3</sub>]/PCy<sub>3</sub>. Angew Chem Int Ed 41:1945–1947
- 47. Netherton MR, Fu GC (2002) Suzuki cross-couplings of alkyl tosylates that possess  $\beta$  hydrogen atoms: synthetic and mechanistic studies. Angew Chem Int Ed 41:3910–3912
- Kirchhoff JH, Netherton MR, Hills ID, Fu GC (2002) Boronic acids: new coupling partners in room-temperature Suzuki reactions of alkyl bromides. Crystallographic characterization of an oxidative-addition adduct generated under remarkably mild conditions. J Am Chem Soc 124:13662–13663
- 49. Arentsen K, Caddick S, Cloke FGN, Herring AP, Hitchcock PB (2004) Suzuki–Miyaura cross-coupling of aryl and alkyl halides using palladium/imidazolium salt protocols. Tetrahedron Lett 45:3511–3515
- 50. Hills ID, Netherton MR, Fu GC (2003) Toward an improved understanding of the unusual reactivity of Pd<sup>0</sup>/trialkylphosphane catalysts in cross-coupling of alkyl electrophiles: quantifying the factors that determine the rate of oxidative addition. Angew Chem Int Ed 42:5749–5752
- Terao J, Kambe N (2006) Transition metal-catalyzed C–C bond formation reactions using alkyl halides. Bull Chem Soc Jpn 79:663–672
- 52. Zhou J, Fu GC (2004) Suzuki cross-couplings of unactivated secondary alkyl bromides and iodides. J Am Chem Soc 126:1340–1341
- 53. Duncton MAJ, Estiarte MA, Tan D, Kaub C, O'Mahony DJR, Johnson RJ, Cox M, Edwards WT, Wan M, Kincaid J, Kelly MG (2008) Preparation of aryloxetanes and arylazetidines by use of an alkyl-aryl Suzuki coupling. Org Lett 10:3259–3262
- 54. González-Bobes F, Fu GC (2006) Amino alcohols as ligands for nickel-catalyzed Suzuki reactions of unactivated alkyl halides, including secondary alkyl chlorides, with arylboronic acids. J Am Chem Soc 128:5360–5361
- 55. Saito B, Fu GC (2007) Alkyl–alkyl Suzuki cross-couplings of unactivated secondary alkyl halides at room temperature. J Am Chem Soc 129:9602–9603
- 56. Rodríguez N, de Arellano CR, Asensio G, Medio-Simón M (2007) Palladium-catalyzed Suzuki–Miyaura reaction involving a secondary sp<sup>3</sup> carbon: studies of stereochemistry and scope of the reaction. Chem Eur J 13:4223–4229
- Saito B, Fu GC (2008) Enantioselective alkyl–alkyl Suzuki cross-couplings of unactivated homobenzylic halides. J Am Chem Soc 130:6694–6695
- Lu Z, Fu GC (2010) Alkyl–alkyl Suzuki cross-coupling of unactivated secondary alkyl chlorides. Angew Chem Int Ed 49:6676–6678
- 59. Lundin PM, Fu GC (2010) Asymmetric Suzuki cross-couplings of activated secondary alkyl electrophiles: arylations of racemic α-chloroamides. J Am Chem Soc 132:11027–11029
- 60. Owston NA, Fu GC (2010) Asymmetric alkyl–alkyl cross-coupling of unactivated secondary alkyl electrophiles: stereoconvergent Suzuki reactions of racemic acylated halohydrins. J Am Chem Soc 132:11908–11909
- 61. Lu Z, Wisily A, Fu GC (2011) Stereoconvergent amine-directed alkyl–alkyl Suzuki reactions of unactivated secondary alkyl chlorides. J Am Chem Soc 133:8154–8155
- 62. He A, Falk JR (2010) Stereospecific Suzuki cross-coupling of alkyl  $\alpha$ -cyanohydrin triflates. J Am Chem Soc 132:2524–2525
- Hatakeyama T, Hashimoto T, Kondo Y, Fujiwara Y, Seike H, Takaya H, Tamada Y, Ono T, Nakamura M (2010) Iron-catalyzed Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of alkyl halides. J Am Chem Soc 132:10674–10676
- 64. Nishihara Y, Okada Y, Jiao J, Suetsugu M, Lan M-T, Kinoshita M, Iwasaki M, Takagi K (2011) Highly regio- and stereoselective synthesis of multialkylated olefins through carbozirconation of alkynylboronates and sequential Negishi and Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reactions. Angew Chem Int Ed 50:8660–8664
- 65. Lee J-Y, Fu GC (2003) Room-temperature Hiyama cross-couplings of arylsilanes with alkyl bromides and iodides. J Am Chem Soc 125:5616–5617

- 66. Powell DA, Fu GC (2004) Nickel-catalyzed cross-couplings of organosilicon reagents with unactivated secondary alkyl bromides. J Am Chem Soc 126:7788–7789
- 67. Strotman NA, Sommer S, Fu GC (2007) Hiyama reactions of activated and unactivated secondary alkyl halides catalyzed by a nickel/norephedrine complex. Angew Chem Int Ed 46:3556–3558
- 68. Dai X, Strotman NA, Fu GC (2008) Catalytic asymmetric Hiyama cross-couplings of racemic  $\alpha$ -bromo ester. J Am Chem Soc 130:3302–3303
- 69. Eckhardt M, Fu GC (2003) The first applications of carbene ligands in cross-couplings of alkyl electrophilics: Sonogashira reactions of unactivated alkyl bromides and iodides. J Am Chem Soc 125:13642–13643
- Altenhoff G, Wurtz S, Glorius F (2006) The first palladium-catalyzed Sonogashira coupling of unactivated secondary alkyl bromides. Tetrahedron Lett 47:2925–2928
- Vechorkin O, Barmaz D, Proust V, Hu X (2009) Ni-catalyzed Sonogashira coupling of nonactivated alkyl halides: orthogonal functionalization of alkyl iodides, bromides, and chlorides. J Am Chem Soc 131:12078–12079

# Erratum to: A Historic Overview of the Metal-Catalyzed Cross-Coupling Reactions

Yasushi Nishihara

Erratum to: Chapter 1 in: Y. Nishihara (ed.), *Applied Cross-Coupling Reactions*, Lecture Notes in Chemistry 80, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-32368-3\_1

The subjected book was inadvertently published with an incorrect first name of the contributor in Chap. 1 as Yaushi Nishihara, whereas the correct first name is Yasushi Nishihara. The chapter has been updated.

Y. Nishihara (🖂)

The updated original online version for this chapter can be found at DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-32368-3\_1

Division of Earth, Life, and Molecular Sciences, Graduate School of Natural Science and Technology, Okayama University, 3-1-1 Tsushimanaka, Kita-ku, Okayama 700-8530, Japan

# Appendix Reviews and Books of Cross-Coupling Reactions

## General

- 1. Diederich F, Stang PJ (1998) Metal-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim
- 2. Tamao K, Hiyama T, Negishi E (2002) J Organomet Chem 653:1-303
- 3. Miyaura N (2002) Cross-coupling reactions: a practical guide (topics in current chemistry). Springer, Berlin
- Tamao K, Miyaura N (2002) Introduction to cross-coupling reactions. Cross-Coupling Reactions 219:1–9
- 5. de Meijere A, Diederich F (2004) Metal-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim
- 6. Christmann U, Vilar R (2005) Monoligated palladium species as catalysts in cross-coupling reactions. Angew Chem Int Ed 44:366–374
- Roglans A, Pla-Quintana A, Moreno-MaÇas M (2006) Diazonium salts as substrates in palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions. Chem Rev 106: 4622–4643
- 8. Negishi, E (2007) Transition metal-catalyzed organometallic reactions that have revolutionized organic synthesis. Bull Chem Soc Jpn 80: 233–257
- Marion N, Nolan SP (2008) Well-defined N-heterocyclic carbenespalladium(II) precatalysts for cross-coupling reactions. Acc Chem Res 41: 1440–1449
- 10. Ackermann L (2009) Modern arylation methods. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim
- Knochel P, Thaler T, Diene C (2010) Pd-, Ni-, Fe-, and Co-catalyzed crosscouplings using functionalized Zn-, Mg-, Fe-, and In-organometallics. Israel J Chem 50:547–557
- Yu DG, Li BJ, Shi ZJ (2010) Exploration of new C–O electrophiles in crosscoupling reactions. Acc Chem Res 43:1486–1495
- Rosen BM, Quasdorf KW, Wilson DA, Zhang N, Resmerita AM, Garg NK, Percec V (2011) Nickel-catalyzed cross-couplings involving carbon–oxygen bonds. Chem Rev 111:1346–1416

## Palladium-Catalyzed Carbon–Carbon Bond Formation

- 1. Negishi E, de Meijere A (2002) Handbook of organopalladium chemistry for organic synthesis. Wiley, New York
- 2. Tsuji J (2004) Palladium reagents and catalysts, new perspective for the 21st century. Wiley, Chichester
- 3. Tsuji J (2005) Palladium in organic synthesis (topics in current chemistry). Springer, Berlin
- 4. Molnár A (2011) Efficient, selective, and recyclable palladium catalysts in carbon-carbon coupling reactions. Chem Rev 111:2251-2320
- 5. Negishi E (2011) Magical power of transition metals: past, present, and future (nobel lecture). Angew Chem Int Ed 50:6738–6764

## **Tsuji-Trost Reaction**

- 1. Trost BM (1996) Asymmetric transition metal-catalyzed allylic alkylations. Chem Rev 96:395–422
- 2. Trost BM (1996) Designing a receptor for molecular recognition in a catalytic synthetic reaction: Allylic alkylation. Acc Chem Res 29:355–364
- 3. Trost BM, Lee C (2000) Asymmetric allylic alkylation reactions. In: Ojima I (ed) Catalytic asymmetric synthesis, 2nd edn. Wiley-VCH, New York
- 4. Trost BM, Crawley ML (2003) Asymmetric transition-metal-catalyzed allylic alkylations: applications in total synthesis. Chem Rev 103:2921–2944
- Trost BM, Machacek MR, Aponick A (2006) Predicting the stereochemistry of diphenylphosphino benzoic acid (DPPBA)-based palladium-catalyzed asymmetric allylic alkylation reactions: a working model. Acc Chem Res 39:747–760

## **Mizoroki-Heck Reaction**

- 1. Heck RF (1979) Palladium-catalyzed reactions of organic halides with olefins. Acc Chem Res 12:146–151
- 2. Heck RF (1982) Palladium-catalyzed vinylation of organic halides. Org React 27:345–390
- 3. Daves GD Jr, Hallberg A (1989) 1,2-Additions to heteroatom-substituted olefins by organopalladium reagent. Chem Rev 89:1433–1445
- 4. de Meijere A, Meyer FE (1994) Fine feathers make fine birds: the Heck reaction in modern garb. Angew Chem Int Ed 33:2379–2411
- 5. Cabri W, Candiani I (1995) Recent developments and new perspectives in the Heck reaction. Acc Chem Res 28:2–7
- 6. Gibson SE, Middleton RJ (1996) The intramolecular Heck reaction. Contemp Org Synth 3:447–471

- 7. Ikeda M, El Bialy SAA, Yakura T (1999) Synthesis of heterocycles using the intramolecular Heck reaction involving a 'formal' anti-elimination process. Heterocycles 51:1957–1970
- 8. Shibasaki M, Vogl EM (1999) The palladium-catalysed arylation and vinylation of alkenes—enantioselective fashion. J Organomet Chem 576:1–15
- 9. Beletskaya IP, Cheprakov AV (2000) The Heck reaction as a sharpening stone of palladium catalysis. Chem Rev 100:3009–3066
- 10. Whitcombe NJ, Hii KK, Gibson SE (2001) Advances in the Heck chemistry of aryl bromides and chlorides. Tetrahedron 57:7449–7476
- 11. Dounay AB; Overman LE (2003) The asymmetric intramolecular Heck reaction in natural product total synthesis. Chem Rev 103:2945–2963
- 12. Shibasaki M, Vogl EM, Ohshima T (2004) Asymmetric Heck reaction. Adv Synth Catal 346:1533–1552
- 13. Iyer S, Kulkarni GM, Ramesh C, Sattar AK (2005) Nitrogen ligands: the transition metal catalyzed reaction of aryl halides with olefins (Mizoroki-Heck), phenylboronic acid (Suzuki coupling) and Buchwald-Hartwig amination, new catalysts and effect of co-catalysts—aryl halide activation—part I. Indian J Chem B Org 44:1894–1908
- Mo J, Xu LJ, Xiao JL (2005) Ionic liquid-promoted, highly regioselective Heck arylation of electron-rich olefins by aryl halides. J Am Chem Soc 127:751–760
- Trzeciak AM, Ziołkowski JJ (2005) Structural and mechanistic studies of Pdcatalyzed C–C bond formation: the case of carbonylation and Heck reaction. Coord Chem Rev 249:2308–2322
- 16. Phan NTS, Van Der Sluys M, Jones CW (2006) On the nature of the active species in palladium catalyzed Mizoroki-Heck and Suzuki-Miyaura couplings—homogeneous or heterogeneous catalysis, a critical review. Adv Synth Catal 348:609–679
- de Vries JG (2006) A unifying mechanism for all high-temperature Heck reactions. The role of palladium colloids and anionic species. Dalton Trans, 421–429
- Trzeciak AM, Ziołkowski JJ (2007) Monomolecular, nanosized and heterogenized palladium catalysts for the Heck reaction. Coord Chem Rev 251:1281–1293
- 19. Knowles JP, Whiting A (2007) The Heck-Mizoroki cross-coupling reaction: a mechanistic perspective. Org Biomol Chem 5:31–44
- Weck M, Jones CW (2007) Mizoroki-Heck coupling using immobilized molecular precatalysts: leaching active species from Pd pincers, entrapped Pd salts, and PdNHC complexes. Inorg Chem 46:1865–1875
- 21. Knowles JP, Whiting A (2007) The Heck-Mizoroki cross-coupling reaction: a mechanistic perspective. Org Biomol Chem 5:31–44
- 22. Oestreich M (2009) The Mizoroki-Heck reaction. Wiley, Chichester
- 23. Ruan JJ, Xiao JJ (2011) From alpha-arylation of olefins to acylation with aldehydes: a journey in regiocontrol of the Heck reaction. Acc Chem Res 44:614–626

## **Buchwald-Hartwig Amination/Etherification**

- 1. Wolfe JP, Wagaw S, Marcoux JF, Buchwald SL (1998) Rational development of practical catalysts for aromatic carbon–nitrogen bond formation. Acc Chem Res 31:805–818
- 2. Hartwig JF (1998) Carbon-heteroatom bond-forming reductive eliminations of amines, ethers, and sulfides. Acc Chem Res 31:852-860
- 3. Hartwig JF (1998) Transition metal catalyzed synthesis of arylamines and aryl ethers from aryl halides and triflates: scope and mechanism. Angew Chem Int Ed 37:2047–2067
- Yang BH, Buchwald SL (1999) Palladium-catalyzed amination of aryl halides and sulfonates. J Organomet Chem 576:125–146
- 5. Muci AR, Buchwald SL (2002) Practical palladium catalysts for C–N and C–O bond formation. Cross-Coupling React 219:131–209
- 6. Ley SV, Thomas AW (2003) Modern synthetic methods for copper-mediated C(aryl)–O, C(aryl)–N, and C(aryl)–S bond formation. Angew Chem Int Ed 42:5400–5449
- Beletskaya IP, Cheprakov AV (2004) Copper in cross-coupling reactions: the post-Ullmann chemistry. Coord Chem Rev 248:2337–2364
- Buchwald SL, Mauger C, Mignani G, Scholzc U (2006) Industrial-scale palladium-catalyzed coupling of aryl halides and amines—a personal account. Adv Synth Catal 348:23–39
- 9. Hartwig JF (2008) Evolution of a fourth generation catalyst for the amination and thioetherification of aryl halides. Acc Chem Res 41:1534–1544
- 10. Surry DS, Buchwald SL (2008) Biaryl phosphane ligands in palladiumcatalyzed amination. Angew Chem Int Ed 47:6338-6361
- Evano G, Blanchard N, Toumi M (2008) Copper-mediated coupling reactions and their applications in natural products and designed biomolecules synthesis. Chem Rev 108:3054–3131
- 12. Sadig JER, Willis MC (2011) Palladium- and copper-catalyzed aryl halide amination, etherification and thioetherification reactions in the synthesis of aromatic heterocycles. Synthesis, 1–22

## Kumada-Tamao-Corriu Coupling

- 1. Tamao K (2002) Discovery of the cross-coupling reaction between Grignard reagents and  $C(sp^2)$  halides catalyzed by nickel–phosphine complexes. J Organomet Chem 653:23–26
- 2. Li Z, Fu Y, Liu L, Guo QX (2005) Ni-catalyzed C(sp(2))-carbon and C(sp(2))heteroatom cross-coupling reactions. Chin J Org Chem 25:1508–1529
- Knappke CEI, von Wangelin AJ (2011) 35 Years of palladium-catalyzed crosscoupling with Grignard reagents: how far have we come? Chem Soc Rev 40: 4948–4962

## **Murahashi Coupling**

1. Murahashi SI (2002) Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction of organic halides with Grignard reagents, organolithium compounds and heteroatom nucleophiles. J Organomet Chem 653:27–33

## Negishi Coupling

- 1. Negishi E (1982) Palladium- or nickel-catalyzed cross-coupling. A new selective method for carbon–carbon bond formation. Acc Chem Res 15:340–348
- 2. Erdik E (1992) Transition metal catalyzed reactions of organozinc reagents. Tetrahedron 48:9577–9648
- 3. Negishi E, Hu Q, Huang Z, Qian M, Wang G (2005) Palladium-catalyzed alkenylation by the Negishi coupling. Aldrichimica Acta 38:71–88
- 4. Negishi E (2007) Transition metal-catalyzed organometallic reactions that have revolutionized organic synthesis. Bull Chem Soc Jpn 80:233–257
- 5. Phapale VB, Cárdenas DJ (2009) Nickel-catalysed Negishi cross-coupling reactions: scope and mechanisms. Chem Soc Rev 38:1598–1607
- 6. Valente C, Belowich ME, Hadei N, Organ MG (2010) Pd-PEPPSI complexes and the Negishi reaction. Eur J Org Chem, 4343–4354

## Sonogashira-Hagihara Coupling

- 1. Campbell IB (1994) In: Taylor RJK (ed) Organocopper reagents; a practical approach. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp 217–235
- 2. Brandsma L, Vasilevsky SF, Verkruijsse HD (1998) Couplings of acetylenes with sp<sup>2</sup>-halides in Application of transition metal catalysts in organic synthesis. Springer, Berlin
- Negishi E, Anastasia L (2003) Palladium-catalyzed alkynylation. Chem Rev 103:1979–2017
- 4. Nicolaou KC, Bulger PG, Sarlah D (2005) Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions in total synthesis. Angew Chem Int Ed 44:4442–4489
- 5. Yin L, Liebscher J (2007) Carbon-carbon coupling reactions catalyzed by heterogeneous palladium catalysts. Chem Rev 107:133-173
- 6. Chinchilla R, Nájera C (2007) The Sonogashira reaction: a booming methodology in synthetic organic chemistry. Chem Rev 107:874–922
- Doucet H, Hierso JC (2007) Palladium-based catalytic systems for the synthesis of conjugated enynes by Sonogashira reactions and related alkynylations. Angew Chem Int Ed 46:834–871

- 8. Viciu MS, Nolan SP (2009) Arylation reactions of alkynes: the Sonogashira reaction. In: Ackermann L (ed) Modern arylation methods. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim
- Heravi MM, Sadjadi S (2009) Recent advances in the application of the Sonogashira method in the synthesis of heterocyclic compounds. Tetrahedron 65:7761–7775

## Migita-Kosugi-Stille Coupling

- 1. Stille JK (1986) The palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of organotin reagents with organic electrophiles [new synthetic methods (58)]. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 25:508–524
- 2. Mitchell TN (1992) Palladium-catalysed reactions of organotin compounds. Synthesis, 803–815
- 3. Farina V (1995) Chapter 3, 4. In: Abel EW, Stone FGA, Wilkinson G (eds) Comprehensive organometallic chemistry II, Vol 12. Pergamon, Oxford
- 4. Farina V (1996) New perspectives in the cross-coupling reactions of organostannanes. Pure Appl Chem 68:73–78
- 5. Farina V, Roth GP (1996) Recent advances in the Stille reaction. Adv Met-Org Chem 5:1–53
- 6. Farina V, Krishnamurthy V, Scott WJ (1997) The Stille reaction. Org React 50:1–652
- Duncton MAJ, Pattenden G (1999) The intramolecular Stille reaction. J Chem Soc Perkin Trans 1, 1235–1246
- 8. Pattenden G, Sinclair DJ (2002) The intramolecular Stille reaction in some target natural product syntheses. J Organomet Chem 653:261–268
- 9. Espinet P, Echavarren AM (2004) The mechanism of the Stille reaction. Angew Chem Int Ed 43:4704–4734
- Espinet P, Genov M (2008) In: Davies AG (ed) Tin chemistry. Wiley, Chichester, pp 561–578
- 11. Echavarren AM, Pascual S (2008) In: Davies AG (ed) Tin chemistry. Wiley, Chichester, pp 579–606
- Peng Y, Li W-DZ (2010) *Cine* substitution and the Cu effect in Stille crosscoupling reactions: mechanistic perspectives and synthetic utility. Eur J Org Chem, 6703–6718

## Suzuki-Miyaura Coupling

- 1. Miyaura N, Suzuki A (1995) Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of organoboron compounds. Chem Rev 95:2457–2483
- Suzuki A (1999) Recent advances in the cross-coupling reactions of organoboron derivatives with organic electrophiles, 1995–1998. J Organomet Chem 576:147–168

- Kotha S, Lahiri K, Kashinath D (2002) Recent applications of the Suzuki-Miyaura cross-coupling reaction in organic synthesis. Tetrahedron 58: 9633–9695
- 4. Suzuki A (2003) Suzuki coupling in organic syntheses via boranes, vol 3.13. Aldrich, Milwaukee
- 5. Bellina F, Carpita A, Rossi R (2004) Palladium catalysts for the Suzuki crosscoupling reaction: an overview of recent advances. Synthesis 2419–2440
- 6. Suzuki A (2004) Organoborane coupling reactions (Suzuki coupling). Proc Jpn Acad Ser B 80:359–371
- Suzuki A (2005) Recent developments of biaryl synthesis via cross-coupling reactions of areneboronic acid derivatives. J Synth Org Chem Jpn 63:312–324
- Bai L, Wang JX (2005) Environmentally friendly Suzuki aryl-aryl crosscoupling reaction. Curr Org Chem 9:535–553
- 9. Hall DG (2005) Boronic acids: preparation and applications in organic synthesis and medicine. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim
- Phan NTS, Van Der Sluys M, Jones CW (2006) On the nature of the active species in palladium catalyzed Mizoroki-Heck and Suzuki-Miyaura couplingshomogeneous or heterogeneous catalysis, a critical review. Adv Synth Catal 348:609–679
- Molander GA, Ellis N (2007) Organotrifluoroborates: protected boronic acids that expand the versatility of the Suzuki coupling reaction. Acc Chem Res 40:275–286
- Martin R, Buchwald SL (2008) Palladium-catalyzed Suzuki-Miyaura crosscoupling reactions employing dialkylbiaryl phosphine ligands. Acc Chem Res 41:1461–1473
- Molander GA, Canturk B (2009) Organotrifluoroborates and monocoordinated palladium complexes as catalysts—a perfect combination for Suzuki-Miyaura coupling. Angew Chem Int Ed 48:9240–9261
- 14. Suzuki A, Yamamoto Y (2011) Cross-coupling reactions of organoboranes: an easy method for C–C bonding. Chem Lett 40:894–901
- 15. Suzuki A (2011) Cross-coupling reactions of organoboranes: an easy way to construct C–C bonds (Nobel Lecture). Angew Chem Int Ed 50:6722–6737

## **Hiyama Coupling**

- 1. Hiyama T, Shirakawa E (2002) Organosilicon compounds. Top Curr Chem 219:61–85
- Spivey AC, Gripton CJG, Hannah JP (2004) Recent advances in group 14 crosscoupling: Si and Ge-based alternatives to the Stille reaction. Curr Org Synth 1:211–226
- 3. Denmark SE, Regens CS (2008) Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of organosilanols and their salts: practical alternatives to boron- and tin-based methods. Acc Chem Res 41:1486–1499

- 4. Denmark SE (2009) The interplay of invention, discovery, development, and application in organic synthetic methodology: a case study. J Org Chem 74: 2915–2927
- 5. Denmark SE, Liu JH-C (2010) Sequential processes in palladium-catalyzed silicon-based cross-coupling. Israel J Chem 50:577–587
- 6. Denmark SE, Liu JH-C (2010) Silicon-based cross-coupling reactions in the total synthesis of natural products. Angew Chem Int Ed 49:2978–2986
- 7. Hiyama T (2010) Transition metal-catalyzed reactions of organosilicon reagents through intramolecular activation. J Synth Org Chem Jpn 68:729–737
- 8. Nakao Y, Hiyama T (2011) Silicon-based cross-coupling reaction: an environmentally benign version. Chem Soc Rev 40:4893–4901

# Index

#### A

A-224817.0 1A, 94 Acetylene, 7, 103, 166 Acyl halide, 54 AG-28262, 94 Aldol reaction, 43 Alkali metal ion, 148 Alkenyl halide, 4, 5, 7, 45, 56, 69 Alkenyl iodide, 9, 49, 71 Alkenylsilane, 71, 166, 167 Alkenylzinc, 49 Alkenylzirconium, 49 Alkoxymethyltrifluoroborate, 188 Alkyl electrophile, 10, 34, 203-205, 208, 211-214, 218-220, 225 Alkyl metal species, 203 Alkvl-substituted 2,5-diiodothiophene, 138 3-Alkylthiophene, 138 Alkylzinc chloride, 50 Alkylzinc reagent, 8, 50, 51, 181 2-Alkynyl-1-(1-ethoxyethoxy)benzene, 100  $\pi$ -Allylpalladium complex, 4, 63 Allylphosphate, 60 Altenuene, 69 3-Amino-1,2,4-thiadiazole, 89 3-Amino-2-chloropyridine, 87 3-Amino-2-phenylpiperidine, 87 3-Amino-2-phenylpyridine, 87 Amphidinolide A, 61 Amphidinolide derivative, 54 Amphidinolide E, 71 Amphidinolide H, 60 Amphidinolide H1, 62 Amphidinolides B1, B4, G1, H1, 62 28-<sup>19</sup>F-amphotericin B, 62 Amphotericin B macrolide, 69 Angelmicin B (hibarimicin B), 62, 68

Anguinomycin C, 50, 70 Anguinomycin D, 50, 70 Anti-elimination, 31 3-AP (3-aminopyridine-2-carboxaldehyde thiosemicarbazonea), 182 Apoptolidinone, 65 Aromatic bisabolene, 50 Aryl halide, 6, 10, 17, 45, 48, 50, 52, 88, 97, 177.190 Aryl triflate, 126, 165 5-Aryl-1-methyl-4-nitroimidazole, 90 3-Aryl-2,2-dimethylpropanoate, 98 Arylethyne, 48, 193 3-Arylethynyltriazolyl ribonucleoside, 104 Asymmetric synthesis, 203 [<sup>18</sup>F]AZAN, 101 Azaspiracid-1, 63 Azetidine, 216 2,2'Azino-bis(3-Ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid, 93

#### B

9-BBN (9-borabicyclononane), 69, 214 Benzenediboronic acid, 152 Benzimidazole, 150 6-Benzofuryl- and styrylpurine, 100  $\pi$ -Benzyl- and  $\pi$ -Allylpalladium complexes, 63 Biaryl and conjugate diene, 64 Biaryl hybrids of allocolchicine and steganacin, 69 Bioxazoline, 224 Biphenomycin B, 68 2-Biphenylated thiophene rod, 120 3,3'-Bipyridine, 116 **B** (cont.) 2,7-Bis(4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3,2-dioxaborolan-2-yl)-9,9-dioctylfluorene, 153 2,5-Bis(5-bromo-2-thienyl)silole, 153 2,5-Bis(hexyloxy)-4-iodophenylboronic acid, 157 (E)-1,2-Bis(isopropoxydimethylsilyl)ethane, 167 Bis(oxazolinyl)pyridine (pybox) ligand, 211 1,1-Bis(silyl)ethane, 167 (E)-1,2-Bis(tributylstannyl)ethane, 150 Bis(tributylstannyl)ethane, 115, 147, 150 1,4-Bis(trimethylsilylbutadiyne), 166 Bis(trimethylsilylethyne), 166 2,5-Bis(trimethylstannyl)thiophene, 150 [4,7']Bis-isoquinolinyl-1-yl-(2-tert-butylpyrimidine-5-yl)amine, 96 Bithiophene, 143, 151, 164 Bongkrekic and isobongkrekic acids, 47 Borrelidin, 49, 51, 54 (+)-Brasilenyne, 73 (+)-Brefeldin C, 71 Brevenal, 62, 69 Brevesin, 71 Brevisamide, 49 Brominated spirooxazine, 123 4-Bromo-1-chloroisoquinoline, 96 1-Bromo-2-iodoethene, 53 2-Bromo-3-alkyl-5-bromomagnesiothiophene, 140 2-Bromo-3-alkylthiophene, 138 2-Bromo-3-hexyl-5-iodothiophene, 142 2-Bromo-5-chloromagnesio-3-hexylthiophene, 142 2-(7-Bromo-9,9-dioctyl-9H-fluoren-2-yl)-4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3,2-dioxaborolane, 157 2-Bromomagnesio-3-alkyl-5-bromothiophene, 140 2-Bromopyridine, 101 3-Bromo-triazole nucleoside, 104 Buchwald-Hartwig amination, 22 Bupleurynol, 49, 50, 52 1,3-Butadiene, 206, 207 1,3-Butadiyne, 166 Butylcycloheptylprodigiosin, 69

## С

Calamitic diarylethene, 128 Callipeltoside A, 49 Callystatin A, 50, 51, 62 Capensifuranone, 51 Carbometalation, 53 Carbon-Carbon bond formation, 3, 9, 18, 43, 44. 64. 68. 85 Carbostannation, 56  $\beta$ -Carotene, 52, 53 Carotenoid, 52 Catalyst-transfer polycondensation, 143 C-H functionalization, 143 Chemoselective reduction, 47 Chiral 2-bromo 3-[2-(S-methylbutoxy)ethyl]thiophene, 139 Chiral spirooxazine, 123 5-Chloro-1-methyl-4-nitroimidazole, 90 4-Chloro-3-cyanopyridine, 193 2-Chloro-5-(pyridin-2-yl)pyrimidine, 97 4-Chlorofluorobenzene, 86 2,6-Chloropyridine, 178 4-Chloropyridine, 102 2-Chloropyridine, 184 (-)-Chlorothricolide, 64 Cholesteryl benzoate, 111 Ciguatoxin, 70 Cine substitution reaction, 30-32 Coenzyme  $Q_{10}$ , 51, 53 (+)-Complanadine A, 64 Conjugate diene, 8, 47, 57, 64, 72 Conjugate enyne, 47, 52  $\pi$ -Conjugated compound, 5  $\pi$ -Conjugated polymer, 137, 144 Conjugation length, 137, 151 Convergent synthesis, 43 Copper effect, 17, 30, 32, 33 Copper iodide, 32-34, 46, 100 Copper(I) 2-thiophenecarboxylate (CuTC), 21 CP-225,917, 70 CP-263,114, 70 CP-99,994, 87 (-)-Crispatene, 62 (+)-Crocacin C, 62, 68 Cross-coupling-based polymerization, 137 Cyclic 1,1-bis(silyl)ethane, 167  $(\pm)$ -Cyclocolorenone, 69 Cyclodiborazane, 161 Cyclohexyl di pyrrolidinyl phosphine, 213 trans-Cyclohexyltolan, 130 Cyclopropyl- and cyclobutyltrifluoroborate, 188

## D

DavePhos, 105 6,7-Dehydrostipiamide, 50, 52, 54 (-)-Delactonmycin, 51 Deoxyvariolin B, 58 12,13-Desoxyepothilone F, 70

#### Index

1,4-Dialkoxybenzene, 154 2,5-Dialkoxy-substituted diethynylbenzene, 162 9,10-Dialkylated anthracene, 129 1,1-Diaryl-1-alkene, 88 4,5-Diaryl-2,3-dihydroselenophene, 93 2,5-Diarylated thiophene derivative, 114 Diarylethyne, 48, 194 Diarylquinazoline, 91  $\beta,\beta$ -Diarylvinylboronate, 88 Diazonamide A. 68 p-Dibromo[2.2]paracyclophane, 162 4,7-Dibromo-2,1,3-benzothiadiazole, 156 5,5'-Dibromo-2,2'-dithienylethene, 147 2,5-Dibromo-3-alkylselenophene, 150 2,5-Dibromo-3-alkylthiophene, 140 2,5-Dibromo-4-alkylthiazole, 150 2,7-Dibromofluorene, 156 2,5-Dibromopyridine, 103 2,5-Dibromothiophene, 144 4,7-Dichloro-2-(2-methylprop-1-enyl)-6-nitroquinazoline, 91 2,5-Dichloronitorobenzene, 191 Dictyostatin, 61 3,3'-Didodecyl-2,2'-diethynyl-5,5'-bithiophene, 164 2,5-Didodecyloxy-1,4-diethynylbenzene, 161 1,4-Didodecyloxy-benzene, 154 Diels-Alder reaction, 161 Diethyl-3-pyridylborane, 93 1,4-Diethynyl-2,5-dihexadecyloxybenzene, 164 1,4-Diethynylbenzene, 161, 166 Di-halogenated thiophene, 147 5,6-DiHETE methyl esters, 64 (-)-4a,5-Dihydrostreptazolin, 51 Diiodoarene, 115, 166 Diiodobenzene-functionalized aza-borondipyrromethene, 164 Diisopropylamine, 46 1,3-Dimethoxybenzene, 94 Dimethoxydiethynylbenzene, 162 2,6-Dimethylphenyl chloride, 179 1,1-Dimethylpropargylalcohol, 195 9,9-Dioctylfluorene, 153 3-Diphenylphosphino-2-(diphenylphoshino)methyl-2-methylpropyl acetate, 212 Disc-like mesogens, 131 (+)-Discodermolide, 51 (-)-Disorazole C1, 47 3,5-(Disubstituted)-1,2,4-oxadiazole core, 130 Doliculide, 54

Dragmacidin D, 68 (+)-Dragmacidin F, 68 Dunnianol, 69 Dysiherbaine, 51

## Е

(-)-Ebelactone A, 71
Electric field characteristics, 148
Electrochemical oxidative reaction, 137
Electrochemical polymerization, 138, 168
Electroluminescence (EL), 111, 159
Enyne, 46, 47, 52
Epothilone A, 51, 70
(-)-Erythramine and 3-epi-(+)-erythramine, 69
Ethyl malonate, 4
3,4-Ethylenedioxythiophene (EDOT), 144
Eunicenone A, 50
Eupomatilone, 66, 68
(-)-Exiguolide, 69

## F

Ferrocene, 6, 163 Fluorene, 124, 153, 154, 157, 159, 166 Fluorinated tolane, 112 Fluoropyrazine, 115 Formamicin, 61 Fortuneanoside E, 69 (+)-Fostriecin, 68 (-)-FR182877, 68, 69 FR901464, 50 Frondosin B, 49 Furan-dialkylphenylene, 148 Furopyran, 49, 68

## G

GABAA R<sub>2/3</sub> agonist, 86 Gambierol, 61, 70 (±)-Geigerin, 71 (*E*,*Z*,*E*)-Geranylgeranoil, 51, 53 GEX1A, 69 (±)-Goniomitine, 62 Grignard reaction, 43 Grignard reagent, 5, 6, 17, 44, 45, 95, 101, 138–140, 143, 178–180, 205, 206, 208 (±)-α-Gurjunene, 69 Gymnocin-A, 71

#### H

Harveynone, 52  $(\pm)$ -Hasubanonine, 69  $(\pm)$ -Havellockate, 62 Head-to-tail (HT) random copolymer, 139 (-)-Hennoxazole A, 144 Herboxidiene/GEX 1A, 71 Heteroaromatic ring, 137, 168 Hexakis(4-iodophenyl)-peri-hexabenzocoronene, 127 Hexamethyldisilane, 191 Hexa-peri-hexabenzocoronene derivative, 128 Hexyl end-capped bis-terthienylanthracene oligomer, 116 Hirtellanine A, 69 Hiyama coupling, 9, 10, 71–74, 166, 167, 191, 192, 221-223 HT-poly(3-hexylthiophene) (HT-P3HT), 142 Hybridization, 43 Hydridopalladium complex, 31, 32 Hydroboration, 9, 69  $\beta$ -Hydrogen, 6, 203, 204  $\beta$ -Hydrogen elimination, 31, 34, 63, 203-205, 213 1,3-Hydrogen shift, 32 Hydrostannation, 56 Hydroxopalladium complex, 24, 25, 35 4-Hydroxy-2-methylbenzofuran, 105 34-Hydroxyasimicin, 49 4-Hydroxydictyolactone, 71 Hydrozirconation, 49 Hyper-valent silicon, 222

#### I

Imidazolylstannane, 99 Imidazopyrimidine, 87 Iodo cyclopropane, 214 4-Iodo-2,3-dihydroselenophene, 92 5-Iodo-2-chloropyrimidine, 97 2-Iodo-3- hexyl-5-tributylstannylthiophene, 151 Iodoresorcinol, 105 Iodothienopyridine, 99 Ionomycin, 52 I-propylmagnesium chloride, 142 Iron oxide ( $Fe_3O_4$ ), 187 Iso- and bongkrekic acids, 49, 62, 68 Isoaltenuene, 69 Isodomoic acid G, 71 Isoechinulin A, 63 Isotetronic acid, 69

## K

Kinetic and thermodynamic effect, 140 Kumada–Tamao–Corriu coupling, 3, 5, 6, 44, 45, 101, 102, 113, 115, 138, 139, 141, 178–180, 205–208

## L

Ladder type polymer, 149 Lamellarin D, 64 Lamellarin G trimethyl ether, 68 Large-membered ring, 48 Leiodolide B, 49, 62 Leucascandrolide A, 49 Liebeskind–Srogl coupling, 21 Light-emitting diodes (LEDs), 137 Lindlar's catalyst, 47 Liquid crystal, 48, 111–123, 125, 128–132 Lithium 2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine, 86 Lithium diisopropylamide (LDA), 138 (–)-Longithorone A, 51 Lukianol A, 49, 68

### M

Macbecin I, 49 Macrolactonization, 48 (S)-Macrostomine, 45 Magnesium, 44 Magnesium amide, 143 Magnesium bromide, 44, 101, 102, 139, 205 Magnesium-halogen exchange reaction, 140 Maleic anhydride, 52, 68 Maleimide, 58, 68, 161 Marinomycin A, 59 Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight (MALDI-TOF) mass spectroscopy, 141 (+)-4-Epi-nor-Me brefeldin A, 71 Mesylate, 5, 10, 177, 178, 189, 190, 192, 195, 196, 204, 211 Metathesis, 48, 140, 159 Methyl-3-bromophenylsulfone, 93 2-Methyl-3-butyn-2-ol, 103 Methylalumination, 53 Methylation, 44, 69, 101, 214 Methylboronic acid, 69 Migita-Kosugi-Stille coupling, 8, 17, 22, 30-35, 56-64, 99-101, 115-117, 132, 147-151, 182, 183, 187, 213 Milrinone. 91 Mizoroki-Heck reaction, 4, 6, 88 Monospirooxazine-substituted binaphthyl derivative, 123

Index

Moracin O, 49 Moracin P, 49 (-)-Motuporin, 50 Mucocin, 49 Multi-substituted aliphatic olefin, 51 Murahashi coupling, 6, 7 (+)-Murisolin, 51 Mycolactones , 51

#### N

Nakadomarin A, 168 Natural product, 5, 7, 8, 18, 43-46, 49, 50, 52, 53, 55–57, 62–64, 67–69, 71, 74, 181, 196.225 Near-infrared, 164 Negishi coupling, 7, 8, 49-55, 94-96, 98, 99, 116, 144, 145, 180-182, 209-212, 221  $(\pm)$ -Neodolabellane-type diterpenoid, 62 (+)-Neopeltolide, 49 N-Heterocyclic carbene (NHC) ligand, 4, 91, 143, 178, 203, 208, 211, 216, 223, 224 Nicandrenone, 57 Nickel-catalyzed, 143, 145, 206, 208, 223, 224 Nitrogen-containing heteroaromatic ring, 137 Nitrogen-containing heterocyclic poly(9-alkylcarbazole-3,6-diyl), 141 N-Methylimidazole (NMI), 211 N-Methyliminodiacetic acid(MIDA), 9, 67 N-Methylpyrrolidone (NMP), 206 N-Octyl-2,7-diiodoc arbazole, 153 N-Shifted and ring-expanded buflavine, 69

### 0

Octafluoroanthracene core, 129 (E)-1-Octenylchlorosilane, 191 OF4949-III, K-13, 52 Oleandolide, 51, 70 Oligomycin c, 58 Oligothiophene, 114 (+)-Oocydin a, 71 Organic halide, 3, 17 Organoboronic acid, 8, 9, 18, 20, 22, 67 Organolithium, 6-8, 56 Organometallic nucleophile, 3, 225 Organosilicon, 9, 17, 73, 167 Organotin, 8, 56, 182, 213 Organotrifluoroborate, 67 Organozinc, 7, 8, 18, 53, 94, 180, 210, 212 Oxazoline, 151, 224 Oxetane iodide, 216 Oxidative addition, 6, 17-20, 22, 30, 33, 34, 143, 177, 187, 204, 206, 213, 215, 216 Oxidative polymerization, 137 Oximidine II, 49, 67 Oxopalladium complex, 20

## P

Palladium-catalyzed, 3, 4, 8, 30, 85, 86, 89, 92, 105, 141, 145, 150, 151, 154, 159, 166, 167, 177, 188, 214, 215 Palmerolide A, 69 Palvtoxin. 66 Paracentrone, 49, 62 [2.2]Paracyclophane, 162 Pentabromophenol derivative, 125 Pentacyclic skeleton, 62 4-Pentyl-4'-cyanobiphenyl, 112 PEPPSI, 182, 211 (-)-Peridinin, 67 Peroxyacarnoates A and D, 49 Pharmaceutical, 3, 43, 85 1,10-Phenanthroline, 154 Phenylacetylene, 128 Phenylboronic acid, 29, 87, 158, 189 4-(Phenylethynyl)pyridine, 193 3-Pheynl-1H-pyrano[3,4-c]pyridin-1-one, 193 (+)-Phomactin, 71 Phomactin D, 70 Phoslactomycin A, 60 Phosphodiesterase-4D isoenzyme, 102 Photoluminescence, 137, 148, 164 Piericidin A1 and B1, 62 Pinacolborane, 64 Pitiamide A, 50 Poly(3-alkyl-2,5-selenylenevinylene), 150 Poly(3-alkylthiophene), 138, 144 Poly(3-hexylthiophene), 142, 151 Poly(arylene vinylene), 156, 167 Poly(aryleneethynylene) (PAE), 166 Poly(cyclodiborazane), 161 Poly(p-phenyleneethynylene) (PPE), 159 Poly(thiophene-2,5-divlvinylene), 147 Polyene, 52 Polyoxyethanyl a-tocopheryl sebacate (PTS), 212 Polypyrrole, 137 Polythiophene, 138 Potassium trifluoroborate, 28 Psycholeine, 62 Pulvinic acid, 69 (+)-Pumiliotoxin B, 50 Pyridal[2,1,3]thiadiazole (PT), 152 Pyridazine unit, 129 2,5-Pyridine derivative, 128 3-Pyridylboronic acid, 87

# **P**(*cont.*) 4-Pyridylboronic acid, 91

2-Pyridylzinc chloride, 97

### Q

Quadrigemine C, 62 Quinidine, 68 Quinine, 68

## R

Ratanhine, 69
Rate-determining step, 19, 22, 32–34
Reaction mechanism, 17, 31, 177, 206
Reductive elimination, 6, 17–20, 30, 32, 143, 204, 206
Regioregularity, 137–140, 144, 147, 150–152
9Z-Retinoic acid, 100
(–)-Reveromycin B, 62
RK-397, 72
Rutamycin B, 57, 64
Ruthenium-catalyzed ring opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP), 159

### S

Salicylihalamide A and B, 52 Sanglifehrin A, 62 SB-245570, 86 Schwartz reagent, 49 (+)-Scyphostatin, 52 Scyphostatin, 51 Selectivity, 3, 9, 32, 43-45, 74, 203 Silole-2,5-diboronic acid, 153 Silole-phenylene, 153 Silole-pyridine, 153 Silole-thiazole, 153 Silole-thiophene, 153 (-)-Siphonodiol, 49 Size exclusion chromatography (SEC), 141 (-)-SNF4435 C, 62 (+)-SNF4435 D, 62 Sonogashira-Hagihara coupling, 7, 45-49, 52, 103-105, 125, 127, 128, 130-132, 158-164, 166, 193-195, 223, 224 Sphingofungin E, 70 Sphingofungin F, 51 SPhos, 66 (-)-Spirofungin A, 69 (+)-Spirofungin B, 69  $(\pm)$ -Spiroxin C, 68 Stannation, 56 (-)-Stemoamide, 52

Stereoregularity, 137, 156 Stereoselective, 9, 53, 54, 156 Styelsamine C, 68 (*E*)-Styryl bromide, 156 Suzuki–Miyaura coupling, 8, 9, 17–20, 22, 23, 25, 28–30, 63–70, 86–93, 114, 118–121, 123, 124, 152–154, 156, 157, 184, 186–190, 214–222

## Т

Tardioxopiperazine A, 63 **TBAF**, 71 tert-Butoxycarbonyl, 152 tert-Butylacetylene, 105 Tetrabutylammonium triphenyldifluorosilicate (TBAT), 223 (-)-Tetrahydrosiphonodiol, 49 Tetramethylammonium fluoride, 213 Tetrodotoxin, 49 Thallium hydroxide, 65 2-Thienylzinc reagent, 145 Thiophene-dialkoxyphenylene, 148 Tin chloride, 56 Tin halide, 34, 56 TMC-95, 62 TMPMgCl•LiCl, 143 Tosylate, 5, 10, 177-180, 189, 190, 192, 195, 196, 204, 206, 207, 211, 215 Total synthesis, 43, 46-50, 52-54, 58-61, 64-67, 69-73  $\pi$ - $\pi$ \* transition band, 139 Transition metal catalyst, 3, 7, 85, 138, 178, 205, 208 Transmetalation, 6, 7, 9, 17-20, 22, 23, 25, 26, 28, 30-35, 50, 58, 204, 211, 220 Tricholomenyn A, 52 Tricyclohexylphosphine, 207, 215 Triethylamine, 46, 158 Trifluoromethanesulfonic acid isoquinoline-7yl ester, 96 Trimethylboroxine, 69 2,4,6-Trimethylphenyl Grignard reagent, 179 (trimethylsilyl)ethyne, 126 Triphenylamine moietie, 131 Tri-tert-butyl-phosphine, 181, 183 Tsuji-Trost reaction, 4 Turnover numbers (TONs), 185  $(\pm)$ -Tylophorine, 48

## v

Vacidin A, 69 VEGFR kinase inhibitor, 94, 99 Index

Vindoline, 69 Vinyltrimethylsilane, 9 Vitamin A, 53, 100

## W

Withasomnine, 69

### Х

Xerulin, 50, 52

Xerulinic acid, 50 XPhos, 190, 194 [<sup>18</sup>F]XTRA, 101

## Z

(–)-Zampanolide, 45 Zirconacyclopentene, 89, 221 Zr-catalyzed, 53